

Chihab BenMoussa









Supporting the Sales Force through Mobile Information and Communication Technologies Focusing on the Pharmaceutical Sales Force

TURKU CENTRE for COMPUTER SCIENCE

TUCS Dissertations No 75, August 2006

Supporting the Sales Force through Mobile Information and Communication Technologies:

Focusing on the Pharmaceutical Sales Force

Chihab BenMoussa

Åbo Akademi University Faculty of Technology Department of Information Technologies Joukahainengatan 3-5 A, 20520 Åbo

2006

Supervised by

Professor Dr. Christer Carlsson Institute for Advanced Management Systems Research Department of Information Technologies Faculty of Technology Åbo Akademi University Åbo, Finland

Reviewed by

Professor Dr. Bo-Christer Björk Department of Management and Organisation Swedish School of Economics and Business Administration Helsinki, Finland

Professor Dr. Minna Isomursu Department of Information Processing Science University of Oulu Oulu, Finland

Opponent

Professor Dr. Jan Damsgaard Department of Informatics Copenhagen Business School Copenhagen, Denmark

ISBN 952-12-1746-4 ISSN 1239-1883

Painosalama Oy, 2006 Turku, Finland To the Memory of My Father

ٱلْحَمَدُ لِلَهِ ٱلَّذِى هَدَىنَا لِهَندَا وَمَاكُنَا لِنَهْتَدِى لَوْلَا أَنْ هَدَىنَا ٱللَّهُ *

^{*} Praise to God who has guided us to this; and we would never have been guided, if God had not guided us." (Translated from Quran)

Abstract

This dissertation sets out to explore how mobile information and communication technologies (M-ICT) could provide the pharmaceutical sales force with a value adding support when operating within a mobile work setting.

Investments in information and communication technologies to support the sales force, though costly, have not been always successful. Firms face the challenge to predict the impact of specific technologies and productively apply new technologies to enhance the performance of their sales force.

In this dissertation, two normative models that would support managers in proactively determining how M-ICT could provide their sales force with a value adding support when operating within a mobile work setting, have been developed.

To examine the functioning of the normative models developed, an in-depth case study involving the sales force of a multinational pharmaceutical company (Pharma) operating in Finland has been carried out.

The results of the empirical study allowed to demonstrate the usability of the models developed and to refine those models based on the case study's findings. In particular, the models developed showed how M-ICT could provide a value adding support to the sales force of the case company. Additionally the case study's findings indicated the nature of the accompanying organisational factors that would ensure a successful implementation of M-ICT for the pharmaceutical sales force.

Keywords: Mobile information and communication technologies, sales force, technology acceptance, barriers to performance, training

Acknowledgements

It has been said that the doctoral dissertation process is about identifying paths and breaking barriers. For my part, this process has been challenging, but still enjoyable, thanks to the many people who supported me in both identifying the paths and breaking the barriers.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor, Professor Dr. Christer Carlsson. Christer has always had the ability to encourage, inspire and motivate his doctoral students. Also, thanks to his wide network of international public relations, Christer has managed to motivate the best international experts in the field of Information Systems to come to our Institute and share their knowledge with us. I seize this opportunity to thank Dr. Peter Keen, Chairman of Keen Innovations, for the insightful comments he gave me during his seminars at our research centre.

I am also grateful to Professor Dr. Pirkko Walden, the leader of our mobile commerce research centre, for her comments and support. I would also like to thank Professor Dr. Barbro Back, the head of our Information Technologies department, for her commentaries and encouragements particularly during the post-graduate seminars.

I sincerely thank Professor Dr. Bo-Christer Björk from the Swedish School of Economics and Business Administration and Professor Dr. Minna Isomursu from the University of Oulu, who kindly functioned as the reviewers of the thesis. Their comments have helped me improve many parts of my thesis.

I would also like to thank Professor Dr. Jan Damsgaard from the Copenhagen Business School, Denmark for accepting the invitation to function as my opponent at the public examination.

I owe a special thank to the management of the pharmaceutical company where I applied my methods. I sincerely thank the managing director, the business development manager, the marketing manager and the sales manager for the opportunity to work with them. I also gratefully acknowledge the company's sales representatives who took part in my surveys and research activities.

I would like to thank the entire management of TUCS for providing me with a generous and steady financial support that allowed me to concentrate my full-time efforts on my doctoral research. Three other organizations have also supported this work financially. I gratefully acknowledge the support of M-Com project (Tekes), Institute for Advanced Management Systems Research and Stiftelsens för Åbo Akademi forsknongsinstitut. I wish also to thank the administrative staff, Stina, Leena, Sirpa, Irmeli, Nina, Monika, and Anne for their kind and helpful support during the dissertation process.

My many friends at IAMSR deserve my gratitude for the nice and constructive discussions we have had particularly during coffee breaks. I am very grateful to the members of the mobile commerce research centre, Joanna Carlsson, Anna Sell, Pär Landor, Ruggerio Rossi de Mio, Dr. Shengnan Han, Dr. Ville Harkke, Dr. Franck Tétard and Dr. Erkki Patokorpi.

I wish sincerely to thank my MBA professors Dr. Mina Baliamoune from the University of North Florida and Dr. Karin Braunsberger from the University of South Florida for encouraging me to undertake the challenge of carrying out a doctoral research. I would like also to thank my friends at PriceWaterhouseCoopers, my former employer, for their encouragements.

I would also like to thank all my Finnish friends for making the period of time I have spent in Finland so memorable and full of fun. I would especially like to thank my friend Tiina for her strong support and encouragement as well as for introducing me to many aspects of the Finnish culture. A special thank goes also to my friends Louis and Lotfi for their friendship.

My Moroccan friends also deserve a special thank for keeping our friendship strong despite the long distance that has separated us. I would like to thank especially Farah, Myriem, hicham, chakib, Mohssin, and houda.

Last but not least, my thanks go to my family. My mother Noufissa, my two sisters Samira and Mouna and my brothers-in-law have always supported my decisions and have been very proud of my achievements. My cousins especially Jawad and Anas deserve my gratitude for their encouragement and support during the dissertation process. Finally my little nephews Anas, Alae, Marouan, Nabil and my sweet little niece Rania have nothing to do with this; only they told me about their wish to see their names printed in their uncle's book.

Chihab BenMoussa Åbo, June, 8, 2006

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	INTRODUTION	1
1.1	Motivation and general overview	1
	1.1.1 Sales force's adoption of SFA technologies	3
	1.1.2 IT acceptance theory	4
	1.1.3 Sales force and sales activities	7
	1.1.4 Mobile commerce	8
	1.1.5 Mobility and mobile work	10
1.2	Research focus and research questions	13
	1.2.1 Context description	14
	1.2.2 Research questions	16
1.3	Outline of the dissertation	17
2	RESEARCH APPROACH	25
21	The constructivist approach	25
$\frac{2.1}{2.2}$	The case study approach	23
2.2	Choosing a research strategy	30
	2 3 1 Getting started	31
	2.3.1 Setting stated	32
	2.3.3 Demonstrate that the solution works	
2.4	Design of empirical work	
	2.4.1 Selecting the case	
	2.4.2 Crafting instruments and protocols	
	2.4.3 Entering the field	35
	2.4.4 Analysing the data	
	2.4.5 Shaping hypothesis	
	2.4.6 Show the theoretical connections	
	2.4.7 Reaching closure	37
2.5	Rigour and relevance of the research	37
2	A DODTION AND SUCCESS OF INFORMATION	
3	SYSTEMS	41
3.1	Technology Acceptance Model	41
3.2	The Information Systems Success Model	
3.3	Task-technology fit theory	49
3.4	Summary and conclusions	54

4	BARRIERS TO THE SALES FORCE ADOPTION OF SFA SYSTEMS
4.1 4.2 4.3	Personal barriers
5	MOBILE INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGIES
5.1	Characteristics of mobile information and communicationtechnologies
5.2 5.3	Factors influencing mobile technologies adoption74 Summary and conclusions
6	RESEARCH MODELS81
6.16.26.36.4	Technology adoption in Braudel's history of capitalism
6.5 6.6	Research Questions Revisited
7	EMPIRICAL STUDIES ON M-ICT FOR THE PHARMACEUTICAL SALES FORCE
7.1 7.2 7.3	Company Background
8	CONCLUSIONS
8.1 8.2	Contribution to research and practice
REFE	RENCES146

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- BenMoussa, C. (2005): <u>"Supporting Salespersons' CRM efforts</u> <u>through Location-based Mobile Supports Systems"</u>, Journal of Systems Science and Systems Engineering. Vol. 14, No.1, pp.97-114.
- BenMoussa, C. (2005): <u>"Supporting Sales Representatives on the Move: A Study of the Information Needs of Pharmaceutical Sales Representatives"</u>. In Proceedings of the 18th Bled e-conference, Bled, Slovenia: June 6-8, 2005.
- BenMoussa, C. (2006): <u>"Supporting the Pharmaceutical Sales Force</u> through Mobile Information and Communication Technologies: An <u>Exploratory Investigation</u>", In Proceedings of the Helsinki Mobility Roundtable, Helsinki, Finland: June 1-2, 2006.
- 4. BenMoussa, C. (2006): <u>"Mobile Information and Communication</u> technologies in the Context of the Pharmaceutical Sales Force <u>Work</u>". TUCS Technical Reports Publications, No. 749, ISBN 952-12-1692.
- BenMoussa, C. (2004): <u>"A Task-based Framework for Mobile Applications to Enhance Salespersons' Performance</u>", In Proceedings of IFIP TC8 Conference on Mobile Information Systems, Oslo Norway, 15-17 September 2004.
- BenMoussa, C. (2003): <u>"The effects of mobile commerce on salespersons' performance"</u>, In Proceedings of the Second International Conference on Mobile business, Vienna, Austria, 23 th-24 th June, 2003.

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

Figure 1.1	Interrelationship among the topics discussed in the two parts of the thesis	20
Figure 2.1	March and Smith's Research framework	27
Figure 3.1	Technology Acceptance Model (TAM)	42
Figure 3.2	Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology.	46
Figure 3.3	DeLone and McLean's Model of IS Success	47
Figure 3.4	DeLone and McLean's Reformulated Model of IS	
C	Success	49
Figure 3.5	A basic task-technology fit model	50
Figure 6.1	The activity system	88
Figure 6.2	The barrier-to-Support framework	90
Figure 6.3	The Barrier-Technology-Fit framework	94
Figure 7.1	Empirical studies design	105
Figure 7.2	Scan of the barriers faced by Pharma's sales representa	tives
	through the BTS matrix	115
Figure 7.3	The BTF framework applied to Pharma case	124
Figure 7.4	Framework based on results of the qualitative	
	investigation	127
Figure 7.5	The BTF framework revised	133
Table 1.1	Research questions	16
Table 2.1	Eisenhardt's 8-step model of building theories based on	n case
	studies	
Table 2.2	Steps of the research process	
Table 4.1	Barriers to the adoption of SFA systems by the sales for	orce
	based on literature review	67
Table 6.1	Research questions revisited	100
Table 7.1	Survey results of leading sources of barriers to perform	nance
	for the sales representatives interviewed	109
Table 7.2	Ranking the barriers to performance based on the frequ	iency
	of their occurrence	111
Table 7.3	Analysis of the effectiveness of existing ICT support in	ı
	helping the sales representatives to deal with the barrie	rs
	identified	112

Chapter 1

Introduction

"Too often technology is used only to automate production and thus reduce skill and labour requirement. But its potential to inform organizational members about the work process and thus improve operations and increase innovation is the aspect of technology that will be most important to long-term organizational success." Zuboff, S, (1985)

1.1 Motivation and general overview

The impact of information technology (IT) on productivity remains a subject of debate among both academics and practitioners alike. Researchers have expended great effort in attempting to understand the impact of IT on productivity at the economic, organisational and individual levels. A number of those research endeavours have delivered controversial results. For certain researchers, IT has a positive impact on productivity. While others claim that there is a paradox when it comes to the relationship between IT and productivity. According to the productivity paradox of information technology, investments in IT do not improve productivity (Brynjolfsson, 1993).

Brynjolfsson & Hitt (1998) took a moderate position when they claimed that IT does not necessarily increase productivity, but it is a major component of a broader system of organisational changes that increase productivity (Brynjolfsson & Hitt, p. 55). They suggested shifting the focus from merely computerisation into exploring ways to understand the transformative potential of IT and making the introduction of those technologies to organisations effective.

Zubboff (1985) in her influential study about information technology in the workplace coined the term "informate" as a key characteristic of information technology. She argued that IT is characterised by a fundamental duality. First, the technology can be applied to automate operations with the aim of replacing human efforts and skills. Second, technology can be used to "informate", i.e. to generate information about the underlying process. According to Zubboff (1985) companies could achieve certain short-term economic benefits through automation. However, the most powerful and unique contribution of information technology rests on its "informating" capacity, which can enhance comprehension of the operations through which an organisation does its work. She wrote "A strategy that emphasizes automation focuses on the smart machine. An

informating strategy recognizes the value and function of the smart machine, but only in the context of its interdependencies with smart people" (Zubboff, S, 1985, p.12).

The application of information technology to the sales force's work has long been characterised by the automotive view of IT. Companies have invested significant sums in what is referred to as Sales Force Automation Systems (SFA), with the assumption that providing their sales force with information technology will contribute to enhancing productivity, communication and relationships.

The concept of SFA refers to the application of information technology to the selling and administrative activities of the sales force. According to Morgan & Inks (2001), regardless of their form, SFA systems aim at achieving one overriding goal: enhancement of the collection, assimilation, analysis and distribution of information to improve the productivity of the sales force, while enhancing customer relationships.

SFA technologies have been applied to automate many of the routine information flows associated with the sales process (Speier & Venkatesh, 2002). This includes such activities as contact management, sales routes planning, sales calls targeting, enhancement of sales presentations, automation of administrative tasks (e.g. sales calls and expenses reporting), prospecting, retrieving products' information, configuring products to customers' specifications, checking inventory, and information access and exchange with different stakeholders such as colleagues, supervisors or the customers (Widmier et al. 2002).

Common SFA includes the use of e-mail, mobile phones, presentation creation, word processing, financial management, lead management, training, order management, customer profiling, market information, forecasting capabilities, report generations, and access to Internet services as well as to corporate databases (Mirani et al. 2001; <u>www.salesforce.com</u>; <u>www.siebel.com</u>).

SFA technology is currently a large market involving more than 600 vendors (Speier & Venkatesh, 2002). The forecast sales of SFA software for 2004 is US\$4.05 billion, and Customer Relationship Management (CRM) systems are predicted to reach US\$74 billion in sales by 2007 (Honeycutt, 2005).

However, studies have shown that the adoption and use of SFA technologies by the sales force have been less successful than originally expected (Blodgett 1995; Rigby et al. 2002). The failure rates of SFA implementations have been reported in some cases to be as high as 55–80% (Honeycutt, 2005; Rigby et al. 2002).

Given the magnitude of SFA investments and failures, the academic community has called for more research in the area. According to Ahearne & Schillewaert (2001) organisations need justifications for substantial investments in IT for their sales force and cannot continue investing in such technologies as a matter of blind faith alone. Jones et al. (2002) point out that, given the level of SFA failures, firms cannot afford to invest in SFA technology while getting lacklustre results. This may, in turn, result in the sales force becoming stagnant and obsolete. Similarly Buehrer (2005) suggested that the pressing question now seems to be how we can prevent repetition of any firm's failures in information technology investment for their sales force.

1.1.1 Sales force's adoption of SFA technologies

The adoption of SFA technologies has been a more recent topic of interest among researchers, although the literature has shown that adoption and use of SFA has been less successful than originally hoped (Buehrer, 2005).

Researchers identified a number of possible reasons for underutilisation of the technology by the sales force. Jones et al. (2002) performed a longitudinal study to investigate what individual variables influence both sales representatives' intention to use and the extent of usage of a new SFA system. They found that three variables explained sales representatives' intention to use a new system: perceived usefulness, attitude towards the new system, and compatibility with the existing system. They also found that only the innovativeness of sales representatives influences the extent of their usage of the new system.

Avlonitis et al. (2005) investigated the antecedents of SFA acceptance and its impact on sales representatives. They found that among the antecedents, the most prevailing effect comes from salespersons' beliefs regarding the system. That is, sales representatives who perceive a system to be useful and easy to use in performing their everyday work tasks are more likely to adopt and use it in their work routines. A study by Buehrer et al. (2005) investigated reasons why sales representatives use technology and barriers that may impede their successful adoption of SFA systems. Their findings indicated that sales representatives use technology because it is useful. They also found that the lack of organisational support, like training, is the main barrier that hampers the sales force adoption of SFA systems.

Indeed, a number of studies showed how SFA technologies, once adopted, have failed because management has either failed to provide adequate support (e.g. training and technical support) of the technology or was unaware of the complexity of the system (Buehrer et al. 2005).

Speier & Venkatesh (2002) conducted a longitudinal study on the sales force's adoption of SFA systems. Their study revealed that sales representatives reacted favourably to SFA immediately after release. However, negative perceptions of SFA emerged six months after implementation. The technology was widely rejected by the sales force. In addition, absenteeism and voluntary turnover had significantly increased. They also reported a significant decrease in perceptions of organisational commitment, job satisfaction, person-organisation fit, and person-job fit. The authors conclude that for a SFA project to succeed; sales representatives should be actively involved with management in understanding the degree to which SFA will augment their sales activities before purchase and implementation.

An exploratory study by Erffmeyer & Johnson (2001) revealed that almost half of the SFA initiatives were initiated by management and improved efficiencies were the main organisational objective for automation. The authors were surprised that in some cases SFA planning efforts were made with little or no input from representatives of the sales force.

A study by Gohmann et al. (2005 a) investigated the difference between the perceptions of SFA systems held by management and the sales force. Their findings revealed a discrepancy between the management and the sales force in terms of their perceptions of SFA. This led to the management having productivity expectations higher than what the sales force can achieve with the system.

1.1.2 IT acceptance theory

The information systems literature is characterised by a long-standing tradition of research that focuses on explaining users' adoption of

information technology (e.g. TAM, DeLone & McLean model of IS success, task technology fit theory).

The technology acceptance model (TAM) attempts to explain the determinants of computer use across a broad range of end-user computing technologies and populations. According to TAM, an individual's acceptance of information technology is based on two beliefs: perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use. Perceived usefulness is defined as the prospective user's subjective probability that using a specific technology will increase his/her job performance (Davis et al. 1989). Perceived ease of use refers to the degree to which the prospective user expects the technology to be free of effort (Davis, 1989).

Venkatesh & Davis (2000) introduced TAM 2. It extended the original model by defining the external variables of perceived usefulness in terms of social influence processes (subjective norm, voluntariness, and image) and cognitive processes (job relevance, output quality, result demonstrability and perceived ease of use). According to TAM 2, subjective norms influence perceived usefulness via both internalisation, a process by which, when one perceives that an important referent thinks one should use a system, one incorporates the referent's belief into one's own belief; and identification, in which people use the system to achieve status and influence within their work group and thereby improve their performance.

Venkatesh et al. (2003) developed a unified model of user acceptance of information technology (UTAUT) based on studies of eight prominent models in IS adoption.

UTAUT posits three direct determinants of intention to use: performance expectancy, effort expectancy and social influence as well as two direct determinants of usage behaviour (intention and facilitating conditions).

UTAUT was empirically examined and found to outperform the eight individual models, including TAM. However, despite its strong explanatory power the model has a number of limitations. One limitation is that UTAUT, like TAM, remains incomplete in terms of linking the individual usage and adoption of an IS to the bottom-line impact. This was recognised by UTAUT's authors themselves when they called for more research investigating the relationship between an IS success in terms of individuals' adoption and the success of the same system from an organisational perspective (Venkatesh et al. 2003). In their model of information systems (IS) success, DeLone & McLean (1992) linked individuals' use of information systems to the impact at the organisational level. They argued that the quality of an information system together with the quality of information would lead to both use of the system and user satisfaction. This use then leads to an individual impact resulting in some organisational impact.

Recently DeLone & McLean (2003) have provided an update of their original model of IS success. They extend it by adding a new construct, service quality, and combining the individual and organisational impact constructs into a single variable, "net benefits".

The task technology-fit (TTF) framework offers another way of looking at IS utilisation and performance. It allows us to assess the system value in a pragmatic way. That is in relation to users' tasks, which the system developed is meant to support. Goodhue (1992) observed that many existing user evaluations blurred the distinction between task needs and personal needs and thus would provide less clear linkage to performance. He suggested that user evaluation of system success based on task-system fit would be more closely linked with task performance.

Goodhue (1992) developed and tested a model that determines IS success based on users' evaluation of TTF. According to his model, users will evaluate more highly an IS based not only on the system's characteristics (technology) but also on the extent to which that system meets their tasks needs and their individual abilities (task-technology-fit). He performed an empirical study in order to test his model. The result of his study provides support for the relevance of the concept of TTF as a measure of users' evaluations of IS success. He found that the value of the technology appeared to depend on the users' tasks characteristics. His study also showed that users seem to be capable of evaluating the task-technology fit of their technologies. He concluded that users' evaluation of IS success can be inconclusive if task characteristics are not included in the analysis.

Zigurs & Buckland (1998) developed a theory of task-technology fit to support the development and deployment of group support to back up groups' tasks. They proposed that the type of task and characteristics of group support systems (GSS) technology should fit in such a way as to enhance group performance.

The above literature suggests that sales representatives' adoption of SFA systems is not always guaranteed. In addition, even if firms can get sales

representatives to adopt the technology, there remains the problem of how much of this technology is actually used by the sales force. For sales technologies to yield any benefits for the organisation, the sales force must utilise them. As a result, how SFA implementation should be effectively managed is a key question facing companies' management. According to Ingram et al. (2002) predicting the impact of specific technologies and productively applying new technologies within a sales organisation is a challenge that firms have to deal with in the new millennium.

1.1.3 Sales force and sales activities

Marshall & Moncrief's (1999) taxonomy of sales representatives' activities in the 1990s revealed that the single great change in selling activities has been the increase in the use of advanced information technology in the dayto-day activities of sales representatives.

The advent of customer relationship marketing, where sales representatives play a vital role, has led to the development of technologies aimed at enhancing sales representatives' customer orientation.

The concept of customer-oriented selling was brought to the forefront in research conducted by Saxe & Weitz (1982). They define customer-oriented selling as "the degree to which salespeople practice the marketing concept by trying to help their customer make purchase decisions that will satisfy customers need". Salespeople who are customer-oriented take actions aimed at increasing long-term customer satisfaction and avoid behaviours that may lead to customer dissatisfaction. Saxe & Weitz (1982) characterise customer orientation as (i) the desire to help customers make satisfactory purchase decisions; (ii) helping customers assess their needs; (iii) offering products that will satisfy those needs; and (iv) describing products accurately.

Numerous studies have examined the concept of customer orientation and found it to be an important characteristic of salespersons with high performance (Keillor et al.1999).

In a study involving 487 business-to-business insurance salespeople, Boles et al. (2000) examine the effects of relationship selling activities on salespersons' performance. The results of their study indicate that regular contacts of the salesperson with the customer are associated with increased sales. They also found that disclosure of information by the salesperson about him/ herself or the selling firm can lead to a stronger relationship

between the salesperson and the customer and to superior sales performance.

In another study Boles et al. (2001) examined the relationship between retail salespersons' selling orientation, customer orientation and job performance. The results of their study indicate that salespersons' customer orientation was positively related to their job performance, while selling orientation was not related. They also found that a firm's customer orientation and employee perceptions of support from individuals in the organisation were positively related to a salesperson's degree of customer orientation and negatively related to selling orientation.

Keillor et al. (1999) examined the relationship between relational selling and sales performance from the perspective of salespersons' satisfaction with their individual performance. The results of their work show that the sampled salespersons, who see themselves at a high level of performance, reported a high level of customer and service orientations.

William & Attaway (1996) investigated the effect of salespersons' customer orientation from an organisational perspective. Their study indicates that the salespersons' customer orientation appears to help both the salesperson and his or her firm.

The existing sales literature generally agrees that customer orientation selling leads to increased sales and customer satisfaction. However, as Saxe & Weitz (1982) noted, the practice of customer orientation selling has its costs, though salespeople can realise long-term benefits from using such approach. One source of the costs that salespeople incur as a result of using the customer orientation approach comes from the time they have to spend in collecting information about customers' needs and demonstrating how their products fit with the customer requirements. According to Saxe & Weitz (1982), the time the salespersons devote to information-gathering activities might be spent more productively on attempting to persuade the customer or in calling on other customers. As a result, firms are constantly looking for effective information technology support that would enhance their sales representatives' customer orientation, while freeing them from spending time in information-gathering tasks at the expense of selling.

1.1.4 Mobile commerce

The advent of mobile information and communication technologies (M-ICT) has been seen as a revolution that will mark the way of doing commerce. A number of analysts suggest that the first decade of the 21^{st}

century will be the era of mobile computing and mobile commerce (Han, 2005).

Broadly defined mobile commerce (m-commerce) is the extension of electronic commerce (e-commerce) from wired to wireless computer and telecommunications and from fixed locations to anytime, anywhere and anyone (Keen & Mackintosh, 2001). For this dissertation m-commerce refers to any service that can be provided through mobile devices over a wireless telecommunications network in a wireless environment. Hence, from the demand side perspective, m-commerce can involve actors within the areas of B2B (business-to-business), B2E (business-to-employee) and B2C (business-to-consumer).

M-commerce continues to trigger an ongoing debate in both the academic and the practitioner communities. For some analysts m-commerce marks a new era that will revolutionise the way of doing commerce and they believe in the "mobile commerce killer applications". Others, on the other hand, express reservations about its value potential and see the costly UMTS licences and the downfall of the stock quotes of m-commerce companies in Europe as symptoms of m-commerce failure. Yet another group of analysts takes a more realistic position. They believe that the business value of mcommerce exists and it is huge; but the hunt for m-commerce killer applications is a vain endeavour. Companies should rather start by understanding the "target users" needs and then work back to develop mcommerce products and services that would respond to such needs, i.e. shifting the focus from production and supply (e.g. offering what can be produced) to demand and market (e.g. producing what can be sold). How to detect prospective m-commerce users' needs and develop value-adding responses to such needs are key questions firms operating in the mcommerce industry face.

Carlsson & Walden (2001; 2002a and 2002 b) developed a conceptual framework for m-commerce products and services from three perspectives: the customer, the producer, and management. From the customer perspective, the authors described m-commerce products and services as durable technological products and technology-based-services where repeat purchases are triggered by an increase in user-perceived functionality.

From the producer perspective, m-commerce products and services are newconcept products that will boost companies' profits. From the management perspective, they are new information systems for decision-making or business models that need a new strategy to push companies ahead of their competitors in the future. Lee & Benbasat (2004) developed an extended framework for interface design for m-commerce that has the potential to reduce customers' reluctance to adopt m-commerce applications and services. The elements of their framework include the mobile setting; mobile device constraints; context; content; community; customisation; communication; and commerce.

Keen & Mackintosh (2001) identified three areas where m-commerce has the potential to provide value to mobile users: customer relationship management, logistics and knowledge mobilisation. They argued that in customer relationship, m-commerce can provide a value-adding support to mobile users through safety, location responsiveness and moment of value. M-commerce safety provides customers with freedom from anxiety, and worry (e.g. car breakdown in a dark rural area). It also allows them to be more flexible in their routines, take more risks and deal with unexpected situations. Locations responsiveness adds freedom to customers by removing the need to know their location when they are in a crisis situation. Moreover, the knowledge of their location allows targeted support to come to them instead of them looking for the information. The moment of value dimension of m-commerce frees the customers from delay, hassles and bureaucracy. The support is provided to customers exactly when they need it and irrespective where they are.

In logistics Keen & Mackintosh (2001) argued that m-commerce could provide companies with value by placing intelligence anywhere along the logistic chain. Information travel with the goods and processes, and even stored in the goods, e.g. remote monitoring of goods through smart tags.

In the area of work, they stated that m-commerce could provide value to workers through knowledge mobilisation. M-commerce liberates the workforce from the constraints of location and limited access to information and knowledge. Knowledge mobilisation puts the user at the centre of the knowledge's value chain by liberating mobile users from the need to be tied to their desks. M-commerce could provide workers with information and communication at the moment of relevance; despite their intensive work mobility (Keen & Mackintosh, 2001).

1.1.5 Mobility and mobile work

In recent years, there have been numerous research endeavours tending to focus on mobility and mobile work issues especially in the research fields of Computer-Supported-Cooperative-Work and mobile informatics. Some of

these studies have produced significant results. For example, Kristoffersen and Ljungberg (1998) proposed a generic model of mobile IT use that aims at understanding mobile work and designing new mobile technologies to support it. By identifying what they call "typical instances of a type of mobility", they created a classification with three distinct types of mobility: travelling, visiting and wandering.

Fagrell (2000) investigates ways of designing applications in order to provide news journalists with timely knowledge despite their high work mobility. He suggested a complementary approach to IT-support for mobile knowledge management emphasizing that (i) there is a need to step away from the focus on problem solving and instead incorporate knowledge management support in the task, (ii) that the information architecture should consider records from sources internal as well as external to the organization, and (iii) that direct communication should be actively favoured and based on people's current context.

Wiberg (2001) focuses on exploring collaboration among service technicians whose work is dispersed and mobile. The results of his studies showed a number of practical limitations of the "anytime, anywhere" vision of mobility. First "anytime, anywhere" does not by necessity mean "every time, every where". The ideal mobile situation is not to work continually without any stops. Field workers need to meet to get some breaks and socialize. Second, mobility goes beyond mobile support for "here and now". Mobile workers need support also regarding both the place where to go and the place left behind. Third, the mobile worker is to some extent a "stationary worker". The technicians participating in his studies always have to stop the car in order to carry out "office" tasks including scheduling work and reporting activities.

Weilenmann (2003) investigated the nature of mobility in very different mobile settings ranging from practically stationary work to truly mobile work: in a traffic information central, workers cleaning runways from snow, a group of ski instructors using a mobile awareness device, mobile phone use among young people in public places, and recording of real mobile phone conversations. The results of her studies questioned the assumption that the advent of mobile technologies have made people independent of place. She found that in mobile situations the "place" and "local" are still important in a number of ways: (i) a lot of work needs to be done in order to negotiate a mutual understanding of the situation at hand. Context, including the part of it that is location, is not something which is easily provided; it is interactionally and continually negotiated, (ii) the local is often used as a resource in the communication, between co-located and distributed participants, and (iii) there is not one part in the communication that has the overall perspective, the localities of both parties are relevant. Coordination is then achieved through negotiations between different localities.

Bellotti and Bly (1996) studied collaboration in product design teams and coined the term "local mobility". They found that collaboration among team members was not done statically at their desk offices but through walking between rooms and building at local sites. They coined local mobility: short-distance mobility in the local environment, such as walking between rooms and buildings. Such local mobility, they argued, provides a certain level of access to colleagues that enable them to keep up to date on what is going in the organisation.

Luff and Heath (1998) made ethnographic observations at a number of sites including medical consultations, construction and underground train control and discussed not only the local mobility of people but also the mobility of artefacts (micro-mobility). They define micro-mobility as "the way in which an artefact can be mobilized and manipulated for various purposes around a relatively circumscribed, or at hand domain (e.g. blueprint or a doctor's journal).

In a study involving 17 mobile workers in the UK Perry et al. (2001) looked at the various social implications of mobility and mobile technology in human interaction. They identified different facets of access to remote people and information, and different facet of anytime, anywhere. Their study also identified common features that characterise mobile workers' behaviour when they are away from their stationary work setting. These features include the preparation for a trip and planning for the unpredictable, effective use of "dead time" by mobile workers, use of mobile phone as a device "proxy", and use of technologies for remote awareness monitoring.

Sørensen & Pica (2005) investigated mobility within the context of mobile police work. Specifically, they explored the role of mobile technologies for operational policing. Their study highlighted a number of general activity types where mobile technologies apply to police work including providing legitimacy by symbolically representing the institution; rendering the officers accountable through documentation and control actions; providing a sense of security through connecting control rooms and colleagues; and providing some emancipation of officers through the ability to provide global and individually tailored views of police database and activity logs. In a study involving more than sixty mobile professionals in Tokyo, Kakihara & Sørensen (2003) demonstrated that the conventional understanding of mobility, confined to geographic aspects, does not suffice for grasping the dynamic work practices of contemporary mobile professionals. They suggested that emerging mobile professional work should be studied from three interrelated aspects of mobility: *location* mobility related to workers' extensive geographical movement, *operational* mobility concerned with their capability for flexible operation as an independent unit of business, and *interactional* mobility associated with their intense and fluid interaction with a wide range of people.

1.2 Research focus and research questions

Hitherto, information systems adoption and the evaluation of their effects have been two main foci of information systems research (Hevner et al.2004).

Orlikowski and Iacono (2001) concluded, from their analysis of 177 articles from the first ten years of Information Systems Research Journal, that around a quarter of all papers did not have any explicit view of the IT artefact. Most studies concentrate mainly on the effects of IT; or abstract it from practice and context of use to focus mainly on their computational capabilities. They propose that IS researchers should begin to conceptualize and theorize IT artefacts and to incorporate such conceptualisations and theories of IT artefact expressly into their studies (Orlikowski and Iacono 2001, p. 130). They also suggested developing and using greater interdisciplinary theories to inform studies about IT artefact. They wrote *"The diversity of IS researchers uniquely qualifies our field to pay special attention to the multiple social, psychological, economic, historical, and computational aspects of an evolving array of technologies and the way in which they are developed, implemented, used and changed*" (Orlikowski and Iacono, 2001, p. 130).

The overall focus of this dissertation is to investigate how mobile information and communication technologies (M-ICT) could provide a value adding support to pharmaceutical sales representatives when they are operating within a mobile work setting. This dissertation defines M-ICT as information and communication applications run over a wireless network using a mobile device and in a wireless environment. A mobile device is any lightweight device connected to the Internet or other networks through wireless networking using any standard wireless communication protocol. They may include such devices as PDAs, communicators or smart-phones. Pharmaceutical sales representatives play a vital role in the marketing and selling of pharmaceutical products. Unlike traditional industries, the decision maker in the pharmaceutical market is the physician who decides on the best therapeutic treatment for the patient who ultimately pays for and takes the medications. The main work duty of pharmaceutical sales representatives is to target physicians in an effort to provide them with accurate and the latest product information, and to encourage them in prescribing the presented drugs for their patients who fit the specific diagnosis criteria. Hence, in the pharmaceutical market the sales force is used as both a marketing medium and an information source for physicians.

1.2.1 Context description

After enjoying the glory of being the most profitable legal industry in the 1990s, the pharmaceutical industry is coming under growing pressure. Pharmaceutical companies are faced with margin pressure, the treat from generic products, a hostile regulatory and economical environment, increasing media and public scrutiny and limited opportunities to deploy sales force to influence prescribing decision makers (i.e. physicians).

In a way to deal with the above disruptors, most pharmaceutical firms have moved towards a larger sales force in order to secure greater market penetration and to maximize revenues from products that are already on the market. In the US alone there were more than 70 000 pharmaceutical sales representatives by the end of 2000, up from about 40 000 in 1994. In the UK, it is now estimated that there is one medical representative for every three general practitioners (Mackintosh, 2004).

Although the sales force expanded in size, there has only been a marginal rise in the number of contacts. According to a study by IBM Business Consulting Services (2002), every dollar spent in the sales force in 2002 generates just US\$10.3 in sales, a 22% decrease since 1996. Similarly in Europe the number of pharmaceutical sales representatives doubled during the last five years. Yet the productivity of the sales representatives had declined by 25% during the same period (Skelton, 2004).

The decline of the pharmaceutical sales force productivity has been explained by a number of challenges in conventional detailing including:

• Increasingly busy doctors with little time to see the sales representatives. Doctors are under increasing time pressure and make a limited amount of time available to see an ever growing number of sales

representatives. Detailing visits last on average between three and four minutes in the US; in Europe around nine minutes. With a constantly increasing number of drugs to sell, these lengths of time are inadequate to provide a doctor with a comprehensive product presentation. In Finland, some hospitals forbid physicians to meet pharmaceutical sales representatives during working hours. This situation is problematic for pharmaceutical companies knowing that studies have showed that in Europe physicians will remain the main decision makers regarding drugs' selection although the affluence of other stakeholders (i.e. pharmacists, patients, and health authorities) is increasing.

A survey conducted by the European Institute of Business Administration (INSEAD) in conjunction with Cap Gemini Ernest & Young (2003) brought to the fore a number of issues that face the marketing and sales teams of pharmaceutical companies. The survey's finding showed that physicians still regard contacts with pharmaceutical sales representatives as an important way of learning about diseases and treatments and building a relationship trust with the pharmaceutical company. However according to the same survey, 38% of the surveyed physicians have decided, over the past two years, to make less time for sales representatives. The survey also showed that physicians want most of all unbiased, evidence-based scientific information about products including head-to head comparison as well as risks and side effects (Mackintosh, 2004). Moreover, the survey showed that 57% of physicians are willing to spend more time with representatives who bring additional information and value adding service (Mackintosh, 2004).

- Large intervals between sales calls. The low visit frequency associated with the limited opportunities to meet physicians mean that it may be several months after the launch of new products that a pharmaceutical representative is able to present them to the doctor.
- **High costs.** High costs associated with travelling and waiting time mean that an effective hour of detailing time incurs costs of up to £625 in the UK and US\$2,000 in the USA (Heutshi et al. 2003).
- **Raised regulatory pressure on physicians' prescribing freedom**. The primary criterion that applies to drug selection by physicians is the therapeutic need to patients (Kvanov, 2002). However, physicians' freedom to access all available medicines is increasingly restricted by health authorities. Health authorities increasingly monitor physicians'

prescribing practices to make sure that the patient was treated costeffectively. They also charge patients higher co-payments if they purchase a pharmaceutical product when a generic version is available or if the drug is in the list of products which are excluded from reimbursement. This trend has increasingly reduced the physicians' decision-making role over the years. Thus reducing their sensitivity to the sales force's promotion efforts (Yi et al. 2003).

Information technology is expected to play a dual role in pharmaceutical sales representatives' work. First, information technology could support pharmaceutical sales representatives for a better performance during their sales encounters with physicians. Second, IT (e.g. e-detailing) could compliment the work of pharmaceutical sales force by allowing physicians to keep abreast of the developments in the pharmaceutical companies' products in their own time and their own pace (IBM Consulting Services, 2002).

1.2.2 Research questions

Since my focus is on how M-ICT could provide pharmaceutical sales representatives with value-adding support when they are operating within a mobile work setting, the dissertation seeks to address the following research questions (table 1):

Question 1: What factors would influence the pharmaceutical sales force's adoption of M-ICT?

Question 2: Could M-ICT provide value-adding support to pharmaceutical sales representatives when they are operating within a mobile work setting?

Question 3: If yes, what accompanying organisational factors would ensure successful implementation of M-ICT for the pharmaceutical sales force?

Table 1.1 Research questions

By answering those questions I aim:

• to study the important factors that might influence pharmaceutical sales representatives' adoption of M-ICT;

- to propose an approach that would allow management to assess how M-ICT could provide value-adding support to pharmaceutical sales representatives when they are operating within a mobile work setting;
- to explain the organisational support factors that might allow pharmaceutical sales representatives to successfully integrate M-ICT into their everyday mobile work.

1.3 Outline of the dissertation

In this dissertation the focus is on studying how M-ICT could provide value-adding support to pharmaceutical sales representatives when they are operating within a mobile work setting.

The literature about both users' adoption of information technology (chapter 3) and the sales force's acceptance of the SFA systems (chapter 4) allowed me to answer the research question 1. That is to understand the factors that might influence pharmaceutical sales representatives' adoption of M-ICT.

In addition, studying the key characteristics of M-ICT and reviewing empirical studies about the factors influencing their adoption (chapter 5) allowed me to assess the suitability of M-ICT support to the sales force's everyday tasks. This review indicated that perceived usefulness is a major factor that influences mobile users' behaviours. The review also showed that given the limitations of mobile technologies, they should not be examined as stand-alone devices to support prospective users in carrying out their job related tasks. Rather, their potential support should relate to other technological support available to the users and that can support certain dimensions of their tasks better than mobile technologies.

In order to answer question 2, i.e. could M-ICT provide value-adding support to pharmaceutical sales representatives when they are operating within a mobile work setting? I constructed two models. The first model that I labelled, the Barrier-to-Support Framework (BTS) for a new IT artefact, draws upon Fernand Braudel's view of technology adoption by people in his study of the economic, social and technological changes in the 15th -18th century. The BTS framework aims at finding the targeted needs where a new IT support is required, based on both prospective users' barriers that hamper their performance and the effectiveness of existing IT support available to them. The purpose is to uncover the areas where a new IT is needed and could provide a value adding support to users. The ultimate objective is to ensure that the new technological support offered to people makes sense to them, and that they find it useful to integrate into their every day life routines. The BTS framework is based on two dimensions: (i) the barriers individuals face during the structures of their everyday life, and (ii) the limit of the possible of existing technologies in terms of supporting people to deal with the barriers they face.

The second model, which I labelled the Barriers-Technology-Fit Framework (BTF), builds upon Goodhue & Thompson's (1995) general theory of task technology fit as well as Zigurs & Buckland's (1998) specific theory of task-technology fit for group support systems. The BTF framework aims at providing guidance on how to select the appropriate technology support for the target barriers detected through the BTS model. Hence the BTF framework builds upon the output of the BTS framework.

To understand better how M-ICT could provide pharmaceutical sales representatives with value-adding support when they are operating within a mobile work setting, I conducted a case study involving the subsidiary of a multinational pharmaceutical company (Pharma) in Finland. The results of the empirical study allowed me both to demonstrate the usability of the BTS and BTF models I developed and to refine those models based on the case study's findings. In addition, the case study enabled me to collect insights that would allow me to answer the research question 3, i.e. what accompanying organizational factors would ensure a successful implementation of M-ICT for a pharmaceutical sales force?

The empirical work at Pharma was conducted in two stages: (i) the preimplementation stage of the mobile system and (ii) the post-implementation stage.

The purpose of the empirical work at the *pre-implementation stage* was to study, with the aid of the BTS and BTF frameworks, how M-ICT could provide value-adding support to Pharma's sales force when they are operating within a mobile work setting.

Firstly, in order to learn about the nature of the barriers to performance Pharma's sales representatives (sales reps) face when they are operating within a mobile work setting, I collected data with the aid of field sales trips. In the field, observations and informal interviews with the sales representative constituted the primary mode of investigation. The purpose of the field sales trips was twofold: (i) to assess the nature of barriers to performance the sales representative faces in the field, and (ii) to observe the sales representative's application of the information technology support available to him in order to deal with the barriers. Then, in order to both validate and complement the qualitative study's findings, I conducted a survey involving all Pharma's sales representatives. Based on the results of those two studies I was able to build a list of the barriers that the sales representatives face in the field together with their occurrence's frequency. *Secondly,* in order to identify the barriers requiring new IT support, I used the BTS framework as a tool. The analysis involved examining both the frequency of each barrier and the effectiveness of the existing IT support available to the sales representatives to deal with those barriers. This analysis led to a list of barriers that require new IT support. I labelled those barriers as target-barriers.

Thirdly, to examine whether or not M-ICT could provide appropriate support to the sales representatives for dealing with target barriers, I used the BTF framework. I first constructed a predefined profile for the barriers' requirement in terms of a new IT support. Then I examined how well M-ICT fits with that predefined profile of IT support for the target barriers. As I will show in detail in chapter 7, the analysis showed that M-ICT fits the barriers' requirements in terms of the new IT support. Based on the results of those studies, Pharma management decided to implement M-ICT support for its sales force.

The purpose of the field work at the *post-implementation stage* was to assess the success of the mobile system implemented in terms of supporting the sales representatives to deal with the barriers they face in the field. To this end, I performed a follow-up study. Firstly, I carried out a qualitative study in order to both observe the sales representative's application of the implemented mobile system to deal with the barriers and to identify implementation issues associated with the mobile system implemented. Then I carried out a survey involving all Pharma's sales force to both validate and complement the findings derived from the field study with regard to the sales representatives' adoption of the mobile system and the nature of the organisational support required in order to ensure a successful implementation of the mobile system developed.

The dissertation consists of two major parts: *first* the introduction, where I identify the research questions, the methodology, the literature and the normative models I constructed in order to approach the question of how M-ICT could provide a value adding support to pharmaceutical sales representatives when they are operating within a mobile work setting, and *second*, six research papers. An outline of the dissertation is shown in Fig. 1-1 where I point out how the topics addressed in the dissertation are related to the objectives and questions.



Figure 1.1 Interrelationship among the topics discussed in the two parts of the dissertation

The introduction part, Chapter 1, starts with en explanation of the objectives, motives and the primary research question. It is followed by an outline of the structure of the dissertation.

Chapter 2 provides the methodological basis for the dissertation and explains the approach I followed in my research process.

Chapter 3 presents a literature review of key models dealing with information systems adoption and success. Specifically, I reviewed the technology acceptance model (TAM), the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT), the DeLone & McLean information systems success model and task-technology-fit theory (TTF). Those models provided me with a theoretical basis that helped me to understand the dynamics of information systems adoption and success. Paper 4 reviews this briefly.

Chapter 4 presents a literature review on the barriers that impede the adoption of information technology by the sales force. This chapter helped me to understand the dynamics of IT adoption by the sales force. Papers 3 and 4 review this briefly.

Chapter 5 discusses the key characteristics of M-ICT. It also gives a review of the literature in terms of the factors influencing adoption of mobile technologies. Such reviews enabled me to identify areas where M-ICT has

the potential to provide value-adding support to salespeople during the course of their everyday mobile work. Papers 1, 5 and 6 discuss this briefly.

Chapter 6 introduces the normative models that I developed and used in order to understand how M-ICT could provide pharmaceutical sales representatives with value-adding support when they are operating within a mobile work setting. In this chapter I also revisited the primary research question presented in Chapter 1.

Chapter 7 explains how I applied and refined the models I developed and introduced in Chapter 6, through a case study. Papers 2, 3 and 4 discuss the results of the empirical work.

Chapter 8 summarises the research results and the contribution of the dissertation. The limitations of the dissertation are pointed out and some avenues for future research are also discussed

Part two of the dissertation consists of a collection of six original papers. In the following I will present a summary of each research paper.

Paper 1(*) BenMoussa, C. (2005): "Supporting Salespersons' CRM efforts through Location-based Mobile Supports Systems", published in the Journal of Systems Science and Systems Engineering. The paper examines how location-based mobile information support systems could provide value-adding support to salespersons' CRM activities when they are operating within a mobile work setting. Based on both the categorisation of salespersons' tasks in relation to their potential to be supported by location-based mobile information support systems and the examination of the key characteristics of location-based mobile information and communication support system, the paper identifies several location-based mobile applications and services that could support the sales force in their CRM activities. The paper then showed how those applications could enhance salespersons' performance.

Paper 2 BenMoussa, C. (2005): "Supporting Sales Representatives on the Move: A Study of the Information Needs of Pharmaceutical Sales Representatives". Presented and published after a blind peer review process in the proceedings of the 18^{th} Bled e-conference, Bled, Slovenia: June 6-8, 2005. This paper reports initial empirical results on the nature of the barriers to performance pharmaceutical sales representatives face when operating in a mobile work setting. It also discusses both the implications of such barriers on the sales force information needs and the nature of the

information and communication support systems that could support the pharmaceutical sales force in dealing with those barriers.

Paper 3 BenMoussa, C. (2006): "Supporting the Pharmaceutical Sales Force through Mobile Information and Communication Technologies: An Exploratory Investigation". Presented and published after a blind peer review process in the proceedings of the Helsinki Mobility Roundtable, Helsinki, Finland: June 1-2, 2006. This paper presents, based on a survey involving a pharmaceutical company's sales force, the barriers to performance that the sales force faces when operating in a mobile working setting, The paper also explores the perception of the sales force with regard to a number of mobile solutions that could provide the sales representatives with the necessary support to deal with the barriers to performance they face in the course of their everyday mobile work.

Paper 4 BenMoussa, C. (2006): "Mobile Information and Communication technologies in the Context of the Pharmaceutical Sales Force Work": TUCS Technical Reports Publications. No. 749, ISBN 952-12-1692. This paper presents a case study about the implementation of M-ICT to support pharmaceutical sales representatives to deal with the barriers to performance they face in the field. The paper investigates the mobile system's adoption by the sales force and examined issues associated with its implementation.

Paper 5 BenMoussa, C. (2004): "A Task-based Framework for Mobile Applications to Enhance Salespersons' Performance". Presented and published after a blind peer review process in the proceedings of IFIP TC8 Conference on Mobile Information Systems, Oslo Norway, 15-17 September 2004. This paper elaborates on the task technology fit theory, and introduced a research model for developing mobile applications that could enhance the sales force's performance. The model serves as a preliminary framework in designing the field work.

Paper 6 BenMoussa, C. (2003): "The effects of mobile commerce on salespersons' performance", presented and published after a blind peer review process in the proceedings of the Second International Conference on Mobile Business, Vienna, Austria, June 23-24. The paper proposes a conceptual model of the effects of mobile commerce on salespersons' performance. The paper identifies variables that have been shown to be important to salespersons' performance and linked them to the properties of m-commerce in terms of information, location and interaction.
It is important to note that each paper was written separately and communicated to the academic community as the research progressed. However, the whole is a cumulative report of a single research endeavour. Enhancing the readability of each article independently of the others necessitated some duplication of the general sections (e.g. the sections on theoretical background, research methodology, study context and company background and some discussion of the results).

^{*}An earlier version of that paper has been presented and published after blind peer review process, in the proceedings of the 13E: Fourth IFIP Conference on e-Commerce, e-Business, and e-Government, 18TH IFIP World Computer Congress, Toulouse, France, 22-27 August 2004, Kluwer Academic Publishers.

Chapter 2

Research approach

The overall focus of this dissertation is to investigate how M-ICT could provide a value-adding support to pharmaceutical sales representatives when they are operating within a mobile work setting. The research objectives that I have set in the introduction are: (i) studying the important factors that would influence pharmaceutical sales representatives' adoption of M-ICT, (ii) proposing an approach that would allow management to assess how M-ICT could provide value-adding support to pharmaceutical sales representatives when they are operating within a mobile work setting, and (iii) explaining the organisational support factors that would allow pharmaceutical sales representatives to integrate successfully M-ICT into their everyday life mobile work.

In this chapter I will discuss the methodological foundation for the research programme and present my own research framework.

2.1 The constructivist approach

Generally defined, the constructivist research deals with problem-solving through the construction of organisational procedures or models (Kasanen et al.1993). It involves the creation of entities (e.g. models, diagrams, plans, etc.) that produce solutions to explicit problems, and their usability can be demonstrated through the actual implementation of the solution. In the case of information systems, the construction is not necessarily technical (e.g. artefact, systems, software), it can be also conceptual e.g. conceptual, intellectual or social constructs, models and frameworks (Livari et al. 1998).

March & Smith (1995) proposed a research framework that distinguishes between research output and research activities (c.f. Fig. 2.1). In terms of research outputs they make the distinction between constructs, models, methods and instantiation. Constructs help conceptualise a research problem and its solution. Models are composed of constructs and depict the relationships among them. A method is a set of steps used to perform a task, and is based on a set of underlying constructs and the model of solution.

Finally, an instantiation refers to the realisation of an artefact in its environment. The purpose is to demonstrate the feasibility and the effectiveness of the models and the methods they prescribe. According to March & Smith (1995), especially in IT research instantiation might precede the underlying constructs, models and methods. This might happen in situations where the artefact needs to be studied and used in order to formalise the constructs, models and methods on which it is based.

With regard to research activities, within the framework of design science, March & Smith (1995) made a distinction between two types of activities: build and evaluate. *Build* refers to the actual construction of the artefact and the demonstration that the artefact can actually be constructed. *Evaluate* on the other hand concerns the development of evaluation criteria and the assessment of the performance of the artefact with respect to the established goals. The authors suggested a list of metrics for the evaluation of artefacts. They propose five evaluation criteria for evaluating models. These are their fidelity with real world phenomena, completeness, level of detail, robustness and internal consistency.

Hevner et al. (2004) stated that the result of design-science research in IS research is an IT artefact created to address an important organisational problem. They argued that the IT artefact does not include only instantiations but also constructs models and methods applied to the development and use of information systems. In addition they define seven guidelines for design science (constructive research) in IS research: (i) the construct must be innovative and purposeful, (ii) it must be applied to a specified problem domain, (iii) evaluation is crucial, (iv) the construct must solve a heretofore unsolved problem, or solve a known one in a more effective or efficient manner, (v) the artefact must be rigorously defined, formally represented, coherent, and internally consistent, (vi) problemsolving should use available means to reach desired ends while satisfying laws existing in the environment, and (vii) the results must be effectively communicated to an academic audience as well as practitioners and managers.

According to Kasanen et al. (1993) the constructivist approach can be divided into the following six phases:

- 1. Find a particularly relevant problem, which also has a research potential,
- 2. Obtain a general and comprehensive understanding of the topic,
- 3. Innovate, i.e. construct a solution idea,
- 4. Demonstrate that the solution works,
- 5. Show the theoretical connections and the research contributions of the solution concept,
- 6. Examine the scope of applicability of the solution.



Figure 2.1 March & Smith's Research Framework (March and Smith, 1995)

2.2 The case-study approach

A case study is "an empirical inquiry that investigates a contemporary phenomenon within its real-life context, especially when the boundaries between phenomenon and context are not clearly evident" (Yin 1994, p.13).

Galliers (1992) provides an extensive review of different information systems research approaches, and developed a taxonomy where the different approaches are classified as either scientific or interpretive. He classified the case study as a scientific method which has the strength of capturing the real world in greater detail compared to experiments in a controlled environment.

Benbasat et al. (1987) identified three reasons why the case study is a viable IS research method: (i) it enables the researchers to study information systems in a natural setting, learn about the state of the art, and to generate theories from practice, (ii) it allows the researcher to understand the nature of the complexity of the process taking place in the organisation, and (iii) case research is an appropriate way to research an area in which few previous studies have been carried out.

Eisenhardt (1989) developed an 8-step iterative model for building theories from case-study research (c.f. table 2.1)

Step	Activity
1. Getting started	-Definition of research questions
	-Possible a priori constructs
2. Selecting Cases	-Neither theory nor hypothesis
	-Specified population
3. Crafting instruments and Protocols	-Multiple data collection methods
	-Qualitative and quantitative data combined
	-Multiple investigators
4. Entering the field	-Overlap data collection and analysis,
	including field notes
	-Flexible and opportunistic data collection
5- Analysing the data	- Within case analysis
	-Cross-case pattern search using divergent
	techniques
6. Shaping hypothesis	-Iterative tabulation of evidence for each
	construct
	-Replication, not sampling, logic across
	cases
	-Search evidence for "why" behind
	relationship
7. Enfolding literature	-Comparison with conflicting literature
	-Comparison with similar literature
8. Reaching closure	-Theoretical saturation
-	

Table 2.1 Eisenhardt's 8-step model of building theories based on casestudies (1989, p.533)

The major criticism of the use of case-study research concerns the bias of the researcher and the difficulty of generalising results. The first point is related to the issue of the researcher's involvement in the research process, which may put the validity of the results of the research in doubt. The second point concerns the difficulty of drawing conclusions and making generalisations to other case settings.

Based on Popper's ideas of falsifiability, logical consistency, relative explanatory power and survival, Lee (1989) demonstrated the legitimacy of conducting case studies to test theories in addition to theory generation. He identified four methodological problems raised by case-study research: (i) making controlled observations, (ii) making controlled deductions, (iii) allowing for replicability, and (iv) allowing for generalisability. In order to deal with those problems he recommended that that case researchers (i) use natural control in order to make controlled observations, (ii) use the formal rules of formal logic in order to make controlled deductions, and (iii) apply the same theory as tested in the original case study to a different set of initial conditions. Consequently, even though the observations in a particular case study are not replicable, the case study's finding in terms of confirmation or disconfirmation would be replicable, and (iv) achieve generalisability by conducting additional case studies to test the theory (Lee, 1989).

Gummesson (2000) argued that an important advantage with case-study research is the opportunity for a holistic view of a process. Holism may be viewed as the opposite of reductionism. Reductionism consists of breaking down the object of study into small, well-defined parts. This leads to a large number of fragmented, well defined studies of parts in the belief that they can be fitted together to form a whole picture. In the holistic approach, the whole is not identical to the sum of its parts. Consequently, the whole can be understood only by treating it as the central object of the study.

According to Gummesson (2000) case-study research seeks to obtain a holistic view of a specific phenomenon. However, he observed that such research is time-consuming and it is generally not possible to carry out more than one or a very limited number of in-depth case studies in a research project.

Walsham (1995) proposed four types of generalisations from interpretive case studies: (i) development of concepts; (ii) generation of theory; (iii) drawing of specific implications and; (iii) contribution of rich insights.

Gummesson, (2000) argued that generalisation from case studies should be approached in a different way from generalisation from statistical samples. Generalisation from case studies is closely related to validity. Validity means that a theory, model, concept or category describes reality with a good fit. He advocated that theories in management be validated in action. In addition, he observed that there is a risk that generalisation in the social context can act as a prejudice that blocks understanding rather than constituting supportive pre-understanding. Hence, he argued that in a social context, it would be more appropriate to speak about particularisation rather than generalisation. Particularisation means that social phenomena are parts of a specific situation and are far too liable to change to allow meaningful generalisation. In social contexts, theories become "local theories" and knowledge arises when one is able to deal with a specific situation. Gummesson (2000) wrote "As long as you keep searching for new knowledge and not believe you have found the ultimate truth, but rather, the best available for the moment, the traditional demand for generalisation becomes less urgent" (Gummesson, 2000, p. 97).

2.3 Choosing a research strategy

Fitzgerald & Howcroft (1998) distinguished between four strategies that a researcher can adopt to carry out his or her research endeavours: (i) isolationist, (ii) supremacist, (iii) integrationist and (iv) pluralistic strategy. An *isolationist* strategy requires from the researcher that he or she operates strictly according to the chosen paradigm and ignores other alternatives. The problem of that strategy is that the researcher may discard issues that are "not researchable" under the paradigm he or she selected. The supremacist strategy strives to establish one paradigm that would universally provide the best possible ways of handling all situations. This is the case of the positivist research approach that has long dominated IS research. The downside of this approach is that by focusing on one "imperialist" approach, it prevents itself from benefiting from the strengths of other research approaches. The *integrationist* strategy aims to integrate alternative approaches into a single coherent analytical approach. The adoption of this strategy allows the researcher to use the strength of several approaches. However, its weakness is that it requires a fair degree of tolerance of incommensurability between paradigms, which could lead to each approach sacrificing its particular strength. The *pluralistic* strategy allows different paradigms and methods to be applied in a research situation. In this strategy research approaches are viewed as not mutually exclusive.

This dissertation addresses how M-ICT could provide pharmaceutical sales representatives with value-adding support when they are operating within a mobile work setting. Specifically, it aims at: (i) studying the important factors that would influence pharmaceutical sales representatives' adoption of M-ICT, (ii) proposing an approach that would allow the management to assess how M-ICT could provide value-adding support to pharmaceutical sales representatives when they are operating within a mobile work setting, and (iii) explaining the organisational support factors that would allow pharmaceutical sales representatives to integrate M-ICT successfully into their everyday life mobile work.

To fulfil the above research objectives, I adopted a pluralist approach and used a combination of qualitative and quantitative methods. Several authors recommend the use of a combination of research approaches in order to compensate for the limitation of each individual approach (Eisenhardt, 1989, Mingers, 2001; Lee, 1991).

The dissertation followed a combination of the constructivist and the casestudy approaches. I believe that the two approaches should be used in a mutually supportive way in order to enhance the research output. The main aim of the constructivist approach is to provide solutions to real-world problems and the quality of its research output lies in the contribution of the constructed solution to solving the problem identified. On the other hand, one of the strengths of the case-study approach is that it allows the researcher to capture the real world in greater detail. Hence, the case-study approach allows the constructivist researcher not only to demonstrate the usability of his or her solution in solving the problem within its natural environment but also the enhancement of the solution constructed. Such enhancement would happen through the iterations between the case-study material and the normative constructions, which in turn can enhance the usefulness and the fidelity of the normative models developed.

First, I followed the constructivist research approach to produce normative models (i.e. BTS and BTF frameworks) that would support companies' management in determining how M-ICT could provide a value-adding support to their sales force when it is operating in a mobile work setting.

Then I used the case-study approach to (i) evaluate the normative models developed, and (ii) to enhance the models based on the insights collected from the case study.

Therefore to design the research process I followed a combination of Kasanen's et al. (1993) constructive research process, and Eisenhardt's (1989) 8-step iterative model for building theories from case-study research. Eisenhardt's (1989) model can be seen as a combination of the grounded theory approach and case-study approach designed for business and organisational research. Moreover, her model offers a detailed and iterative framework for designing the research process. The following sections discuss how this research applied the two frameworks to coordinate the research process.

2.3.1 Getting started

This step involves finding a particularly relevant problem, which also has a research potential and povides a general and comprehensive understanding of the topic (Kasanen et al. 1993). The relevant problem in this research is that companies' management face the challenge that sales representatives reject or underutilise the technology implemented when its usefulness is not apparent to them. Hence management needs a feasible tool to analyse how a

particular technology such as M-ICT could provide support that sales representatives would perceive as useful and thus integrate it into their everyday life routines.

The *priori* definition of constructs helped my research at the initial stage. The literature review on information systems adoption and success (chapter 3), the barriers that impede the sales force's adoption of information technology (chapter 4) provided me with useful theoretical ground to identify the problem tackled in my research programme.

2.3.2 Innovate

This step involves constructing a solution to the problem identified in stage 2.3.1. According to Kasanen et al. (1993), in a constructive approach innovation is the core of a successful constructive study because if the researcher is not able to produce any solution to the problem under investigation, then there is no point in going on with the study. The solution in this research consists of two normative models, the BTS and BTF frameworks that I introduced in Chapter 1 and will discuss in more detail in Chapter 6.

It is important, however, to recognise that the initial definition of the research questions and the construct are only tentative. Eisenhardt insists that "no construct is guaranteed a place in the resultant theory". Also, the research questions may shift during the research programme. Important shifts of focus and/or changes of the research direction might happen in the iterative process between data collection and data analysis. Moreover, new constructs might emerge even at a late stage of the research.

2.3.3 Demonstrate that the solution works

This step involves the real-world exposure of the normative models developed through a case study. The purpose of this step is twofold: (i) to demonstrate the usability of the normative models developed, and (ii) to refine the models based on the case-study findings. As discussed in 2.3.2 at that stage the constructs in the models are only tentative. According to Hevener et al. (2004), as a design is inherently an iterative and incremental activity, the evaluation phase provides feedback on the construction phase.

2.4. Design of empirical work

The design of the empirical work involved the following steps (c.f. Table 2.2).

2.4.1 Selecting the case

To examine the functioning of the normative models that I constructed, I chose Pharma, a subsidiary of a multinational pharmaceutical company, as a single fieldwork site for my research. The reasons for choosing that particular site are twofold. *First*, at the time I gained access to Pharma, the company's management was considering investing in a mobile information support system in order to support the sales force in the field. However, it questioned the viability of such an investment. They were not sure whether or not M-ICT support would bring an added value to the sales force in terms of enhancing its performance. Hence, such a research site proved to be an ideal research setting for applying my normative models, which aim at helping management to determine how M-ICT could provide value-adding support to the sales force.

Second, the pharmaceutical selling context is highly information-intensive and mobile. The pharmaceutical sales representatives spend their working day in the field visiting physicians and interacting with their colleagues. Thus information technologies such as M-ICT would be relevant for supporting them throughout the sales process.

With regard to the choice of a single case-study frame, Yin (1989) suggests that a single case study is an appropriate research approach under any of the following conditions:

- Where the organisation can be considered a *critical case* (i.e. one which meets all the conditions needed to test the theory),
- Where an extreme or unique case can be defined,
- Where the organization can be considered a *revelatory case*, (i.e. one where there are very few examples, so that the investigation of even one can be considered valuable).

I decided to make use of a single, in-depth analysis of Pharma that would support both the first and the third of Yin's conditions. Firstly, as discussed earlier, in order to apply the normative models that I developed, it was critical that management in the potential case study has the authority to decide whether or not to provide the sales force with mobile support. Pharma meets that condition. Second, at the time when I needed to start the empirical research (i.e. March 2004), there were not a lot of companies considering providing M-ICT support to their sales force. Many companies were questioning the effectiveness of such technologies. As a result Pharma was quite an exception at that time as it considered giving M-ICT support to its sales force. Finally, the decision to conduct a single in-depth case study was motivated by the constraints imposed by time and limited funding.

2.4.2 Crafting instruments and protocols

Two complementary data collection methods were used in this research. The first method is observation (i.e. shadowing) in the field. According to Barley & Kunda (2001), although the interview method is especially useful for "understanding how people make sense of their work and the issues they believe important", it is not a credible source of information on "what people actually do or how they do it" (p.84). They argued that observation-based techniques should be mixed with interview methods.

However, applying an observation method raises some practical difficulties to the researcher. Observation techniques require the researcher to spend an extended period of time in the field (Myers, 1999) and be close together with the subjects. As Kakihara (2003) argued, this makes sense only if the field could be geographically defined and fixed (like office, factory, or home). The sales representatives, the main subjects of this field work, were operating in different regions of the country and they extensively move across various geographical areas. They rarely visit their head office. Furthermore, the sales representatives will constantly feel that the researcher will interfere with the sales process.

In order to deal with the above research constraints, I first collected data by shadowing one sales representative in the field. Then I used the material collected from observing the sales representative to design a survey involving all Pharma's sales force.

As Lyytinen & Yoo (2002) argued, studying emerging mobile and nomadic work environments requires considerable tailoring of the research methodology. In order to collect highly contextualised data of work practices, researchers need to adapt their research strategy in order to benefit from the strength of certain research methods while dealing with obstacles they may encounter especially in terms of the availability of informants.

Member validation (Linclon & Guba, 1984) was used as a part of the research method. Executive and detailed reports describing the findings of the case study and providing recommendations were presented to Pharma's management.

2.4.3 Entering the field

The empirical work at Pharma was conducted in two stages: (i) the preimplementation stage for the mobile system, and (ii) the postimplementation stage.

The *pre-implementation* empirical work took place from April to December 2004. The purpose of the field work at the *pre-implementation stage* was to study, with the aid of BTS and BTF frameworks, how M-ICT could provide value-adding support to Pharma's sales force when operating within a mobile work setting.

First, in order to learn about the nature of the barriers to performance Pharma's sales representatives (sales reps) face when they are operating in a mobile work setting, I collected data with the aid of two field sales trips. In the field, observations and informal interviews with the sales representative constituted the primary mode of investigation. The purpose of the field sales trips was twofold: (i) to assess the nature of barriers to performance the sales representative faces in the field and, (ii) to observe the sales representative's application of the information technology support available to him in order to deal with the barriers. Then in order to validate the findings from the qualitative study, I conducted a survey involving all Pharma's sales representatives.

The *post-implementation* empirical work was conducted from May to August 2005. The purpose of the field work at the *post-implementation stage* was to (i) assess the success of the mobile system implemented in helping the sales representatives to deal with barriers they face in the field, and (ii) derive lessons regarding the accompanying organizational factors that would ensure a successful implementation of M-ICT for the sales force. To this end, I performed a follow-up study. Firstly, I carried out a qualitative study in order to both observe the sales representative's application of the implemented mobile system to deal with the barriers and to detect implementation issues associated with the M-ICT implemented. Secondly, I carried out a survey involving all Pharma's sales representatives in order to both validate and complement the findings derived form the field study with regard to the sales reps' adoption of the M-ICT and the nature of organisational support required in order to ensure a successful implementation of the mobile system developed.

2.4.4 Analysing the data

I performed the data-analysis work in two stages. Data collected prior to the implementation of the mobile information systems was analysed using the normative models I developed. The purpose was to determine (i) whether or not Pharma's sales force needs new ICT support to deal with the barriers it faces, and (ii) if so, to determine whether or not M-ICT could provide appropriate support to the Pharma's sales force.

Data collected after the implementation of the mobile information system was used both to test the usability and to refine the normative models that I developed.

2.4.5 Shaping hypothesis

Eisenhardt argued that one step in shaping hypotheses is the sharpening of the constructs. This is a two-stage process involving (i) refining the definition of the constructs and (2) building evidence which measures the construct in each case. This is an iterative process where the researcher compares systematically the emergent frame with the evidence derived from the case material in order to assess how well or poorly it fits with the case data. If the data and the theory fit well, then the construct converges and represents reality. According to Eisenhardt, such a process is "judgmental because researchers cannot apply statistical tests such as F statistic" (ibid. p.544).

In this research the normative models were first constructed and introduced in Chapter 6. They were then applied and iteratively adjusted based on the data collected in the case study (Chapter 7).

2.4.6 Show the theoretical connections and the research contributions of the solution

This step involves the comparison of the emergent concepts and theory or hypothesis with the existing literature. Eisenhardt insisted that "tying the emergent theory to existing literature enhances the internal validity, generalisability, and theoretical level of theory building" (ibid. p.545). Literature discussing both similar and conflicting findings is important. The literature used for the comparison with the developed models will be presented in Chapters 6 and 7.

2.4.7 Reaching closure

At this stage the researcher faces two problems in terms of reaching closure. The first one concerns when to stop adding cases and the second one is when to stop iterating between theory and data. Eisenhardt argued that in the first problem, the researcher has to rely on pragmatic considerations such as time and budget. In this research, there were time and budget constraints. In the second problem Eisenhardt suggested that generally the researcher stops adding new cases when theoretical saturation is reached.

In this research the iteration between the data and theoretical constructs continued until the patterns in the case material reached an adequate level of clarity. Those results will be presented in Chapter 7.

Step	Activity
1. Getting started	*Find a particularly relevant problem, which also has
	research potential.
	*Definition of research questions.
	* Obtain a general and comprehensive understanding
	of the topic.
	* Possible <i>a priori</i> constructs.
2. Innovate	*Constructing the normative models
3.Demonstrate that the solution	* Selecting cases.
works	*Crafting instruments and protocols for multiple data
	collection.
	*Entering the field.
	*Analysing the data.
	*Shaping hypothesis.
4.Show the theoretical	*Comparison with conflicting literature.
connections and the research	*Comparison with similar literature.
contributions of the solution	
5.Reaching closure	*Theoretical saturation.
	*Examine the scope of applicability of the solution.

Table 2.2 Steps of the research process based on Eisenhardt (1989, p.533) and Kasanen et al. (1993)

2.5 Rigour and relevance of the research

Within the IS discipline, the issues of rigour and relevance have been a subject of debate among researchers. For certain scholars, rigour should be emphasised for the research to qualify as academic. Others argued, on the other hand, that overemphasis on rigour in IS research has lessened

relevance (Benbasat & Zmud, 1999; Davenport & Markus, 1999) and that rigour should be seen as subordinate to relevance (Keen, 1991). According to Moody (2000), for example, IS as an applied discipline that needs to address the problems determined by the need of practice and society, rather than issues driven by research. As a result, there has been a call in the IS field for adopting research approaches that make a balance between rigour and relevance.

Hevener et al. (2004) argued that the contributions of IS research efforts are assessed as they fill business needs in an appropriate environment and as they add to the content of the knowledge base for future research. They wrote "*a justified theory that is not useful for the environment contributes as little to the IS literature as an artefact that solves a nonexistent problem*" (Hevener et al. 2004, p. 81). However, they emphasised the role of rigour in establishing the credibility of the research results.

Davenport & Markus (1999) suggested that IS research ought to emulate research in medicine and law where the inquiry pursues the objective of effectiveness in action (Lee, 1999).

Carlsson (1991) advocated that in the context of management research, the ultimate aim of any serious research endeavour should be to develop effective theories as guidance and support for managers. He noted that for those theories to be effective they should prove to be valid scientifically.

Keen (1991) observed that in some of the mainstream thinking in the IS discipline, rigour is seen as equivalent to "science" and thus treated as an end rather than a means to achieve a good research output. He argued that rigour does not create relevance. Rather rigour reinforces relevance through grounding, evidence and persuasiveness. He also noted that relevance implies a particular style of rigour. He wrote "In some instances, the type of hypothesis testing, experimentation, and statistical treatment most associated with scientific methodology may be absolutely essential to establish credibility of research results. In others, it may be totally inappropriate" (Keen, 1991, p.28).

In order to achieve a balance between rigour and relevance in my research, I followed some of the recommendations formulated by Keen (1991) for improving (i) relevance, (ii) rigour and (iii) impact.

As recommended by Keen (1991) I set at the outset the target audience of my researcher programme. My target audience is sales managers, or IS managers, depending on the organisational structure of the company, who

have to select, justify, implement and evaluate ICT support for their sales force. The target audience faces the challenge of selecting a technology that the sales force can accept and integrate into the structure of their everyday work life in order to enhance its performance. As I discussed in the introduction, investment in information and communication technologies to support the sales force, though costly, has not been always successful. I developed two normative models (i.e. BTS and BTF frameworks) that would support the target audience in trying to provide effective ICT support for the sales force. I focused on one target technology, M-ICT, and applied the normative models that I developed to reveal how such technology could provide value-adding support to pharmaceutical sales representatives.

To improve the rigour of my research, as recommended by Keen (1991) I placed the study in its wider context and surveyed the relevant knowledge base within the IS discipline (i.e. adoption theories, information success models, mobile-technology characteristics and adoption); outside the IS discipline (i.e. history) and in terms of scientific research methodology (e.g. research approaches to develop and evaluate the normative models I constructed). Then, to assess the impact of my research output, I exposed the models I constructed to a real-world case study in order to both evaluate and assess them. I also communicated the results of my research to the IS research community in order to receive their feedback through a blind peer review process and presentations in conferences. By adopting this strategy I aimed to achieve a balance between relevance and rigour.

Chapter 3

Adoption and Success of Information Systems

The overall aim of this dissertation is to examine how M-ICT could provide a value adding support to pharmaceutical sales representatives when they are operating within a mobile work setting. It is important, therefore, to understand the dynamics of information systems adoption and success. Indeed the information systems literature has accumulated a variety of theoretical perspectives that have tackled the problem of users' adoption and usage of technology in the workplace.

The theories that I discuss here are: (i) the technology acceptance model, (ii) the information system success model, and (iii) the task-technology fit theory.

3.1. Technology Acceptance Model

Research into technology adoption has a long tradition in the area of information technology. The most widely used framework is the technology acceptance model (Davis, 1989). TAM (cf. Fig. 3.1) is theoretically derived from Fishbein & Ajzein's (1975) Theory of Reasoned Action, which posits that a person's performance in a specified behaviour is logically the result of his or her behavioural intention to perform the behaviour. A person's behavioural intention is jointly determined by the person's attitudes and subjective norms concerning the behaviour in question.

According to TAM an individual's acceptance of information technology is based on two beliefs: perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use. Perceived usefulness is defined as the prospective user's subjective probability that using a specific technology will increase his/her job performance (Davis et al. 1989). Perceived ease of use refers to the degree to which the prospective user expects the technology to be free of effort (Davis, 1989). TAM suggests that perceived ease of use influences perceived usefulness. Indeed, other things being equal, the easier the system is to use, the more useful it can be. Moreover, effort saved by improved ease of use may be reused to carry out more work for the same effort (Davis, 1989). However, TAM does not include subjective norms as determinants of behavioural intention. A subjective norm refers to the person's perception that most people who are important to him think he should or should not perform the behaviour in question (Davis, 1989).



Figure 3.1 Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) EV: external variables; PU: perceived usefulness; EU: perceived ease of use; A: attitude; BI: behavioural intentions. Source: (Davis et al. 1989, Management Science, 35:8, p.985)

TAM has accumulated some strong empirical support. The validation of TAM has focused on both its instrument in order to prove its psychometrics properties and the causal links between constructs, e.g. Davis et al. (1989); Adams et al., (1992); Taylor & Todd, (1995); Chau et al. (2002); Hu et al. (1999); Karahanna et al. (1999); Subramanian (1994); Szajna, (1994); Venkatesh & Davis, (1996); Venkatesh et al. (2002). For example, Davis et al. (1989) found that perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use correlated significantly with both self-reported current usage and self-predicted future usage. Similarly, Adams et al. (1992) conducted two studies in order to evaluate the psychometric ease of use and perceived usefulness scales, and to empirically examine the relationship between the constructs of usefulness and ease of use and reported level of usage. The results of their studies demonstrate the validity of the scales employed to measure perceived ease of use is less important in determining use of the system.

Szajan (1996) tested TAM in both the pre-implementation and postimplementation stages of an information system (IS). The results of her study indicate that at the pre-implementation stage, perceived usefulness has significant effects on intentions, but ease of use did not. At the postimplementation, usefulness has again a significant direct effect on intentions, but ease of use affects intentions only through perceived usefulness. The author concludes that unless users perceived an IS as being useful, its ease of use had no effect on the formation of intentions.

However, despite many studies validating TAM, the model has been challenged in a number of dimensions. One limitation is related to the relationship between TAM constructs: perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, behavioural intentions, and behaviour. For example, some studies minimise the role of perceived ease of use in predicting behavioural intention or behaviour toward a system, e.g. Subramanian, (1994); Chau (1996); Hu et al. (1999). Likewise, the use of behavioural intention as a proxy to understand and predict users' behaviour toward a particular system has not been proved by some studies. For example, Taylor & Todd, (1995 a) found that behavioural intention predicted behaviour more strongly for experienced users.

Another limitation of TAM discussed in the literature is that the original model does not include moderating variables that would enable a deeper understanding of the factors contributing to users' attitudes and behaviour towards a specific information system. For example, such factors as users' past experience with a specific system (e.g. Taylor & Todd, 1995a;), cultural differences (e.g. Straub et al. 1997), gender (Venkatesh et. al.2000; Gefen & Straub 1997), personal innovativeness (Agarwal & Prasad, 1997; Agarwal & Prasad, 1998); mandatory use versus voluntary usage (e.g. Moore & Benbasat, 1991; Hartwick & Barki, 1994) and subjective norms (Taylor & Todd, 1995b; Venkatesh & Davis, 1996) have been shown to influence users' attitudes and behaviour with regard to adopting a given information technology.

Another cited limitation of TAM is related to the approach used to conduct TAM studies. Lee et al. (2004) performed a meta-analysis of TAM research from 1986 to 2003, followed by a survey involving 32 leading IS researchers. The results of their study indicate ten major reported limitations of TAM studies: (1) using self-reported measures instead of actual usage, (2) the focus on only a single IS, (3) the use of student samples rather than potential adopters of the system operating in real work environments, (4) the dominance of collecting data via cross-sectional surveys, (5) low explanation of variances in human behaviour when testing the models, (6) ignoring external variables other than TAM variables, (7) not distinguishing between use under a mandatory compared to a voluntary situation, (8) the tendency to examine only one single task with the target information system and at one point of time, thus making it difficult to generalise the results of

the study, (9) the problem of measuring new development scales, and (10) other limitations such as short exposure time to the new IS before testing and self-selection biases to the subjects. Other studies questioned the applicability of TAM to modern and complex technologies (e.g. Chau and Hu, 2002).

As a result, TAM has been revised and elaborated in various ways. One extension of TAM focuses on extending the perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use constructs. For example, Chau (1996) expands the construct of perceived usefulness into two different constructs: perceived near-term usefulness and perceived long-term usefulness. Near-term usefulness refers to how the user perceives the capability of the technology to improve his performance while long-term perceived usefulness refers to the user's career prospects or social status. His study revealed that near-term perceived usefulness has the most significant influence on intention. It also had a significant and positive influence on long-term usefulness. That is, a user who perceives the technology as useful in accomplishing his or her tasks is predisposed to believe it will help him or her in his future career.

Another extension of the original TAM goes to the definition of the antecedents of perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness. Venkatesh & Davis (2000) introduced TAM 2. It extended the original model by defining the external variables of perceived usefulness in terms of social influence processes (subjective norm, voluntariness, and image) and cognitive processes (job relevance, output quality, result demonstrability and perceived ease of use). According to TAM 2, subjective norms influence perceived usefulness via both internalisation, a process by which, when one perceives that an important referent thinks one should use a system, one incorporates the referent's belief into one's own belief; and identification, in which people use the system to achieve status and influence within their work group and thereby improve their performance. With increasing experience of using the system, users rely less on social information but continue to judge the system's usefulness on the basis of the benefits they could achieve in terms of their status by using the system (Venkatesh & Davis, 2000).

Venkatesh (2000) focused on the antecedents of ease of use in three studies involving employees from three different organisations. He developed a model of the antecedents of the perceived ease-of-use construct. The model suggests that control (defined as the individual perception of the availability of resources to perform the specific behaviour), intrinsic motivation (defined as the degree of a user's computer playfulness), and emotion (defined as the individual's anxiety when he or she is faced with the situation of using a computer) are anchors that influenced users' early perceptions of the ease of use of a new system.

Venkatesh et al. (2003) developed a unified model of user acceptance of information technology (UTAUT) based on studies of eight prominent models in IS adoption. According to Lee et al. (2004), UTAUT is the most intensive elaboration of TAM. UTAUT (cf. Fig. 3.2) posits three direct determinants of intention to use: performance expectancy, effort expectancy and social influence as well as two direct determinants of usage behaviour (intention and facilitating conditions). Performance expectancy is defined as the degree to which an individual believes that using the system will help him or her to attain gains on performance; effort expectancy is defined as the degree of ease associated with the use of the system; social influence refers to the degree to which an individual perceives that others of importance believe that he or she should use the new system. Facilitating conditions are defined as the degree to which an individual perceives that an organisational and technical infrastructure exists to support the use of the system. According to UTAUT, the effect of performance expectancy on a user's behavioural intention is stronger for men and younger workers; the effects of effort expectancy on behavioural intention are stronger for women, older workers and those with limited experience; the effects of social influence on behavioural intention are stronger for women, older workers, under the condition of mandatory use and with limited experience. The effect of facilitating conditions on usage is significant only in conjunction with the moderating effects of age and experience.

UTAUT was empirically examined and found to outperform the eight individual models, including TAM. However, despite its strong explanatory power the model has a number of limitations. One limitation is that UTAUT, like TAM, remains incomplete in terms of linking the individual usage and adoption of an IS to the bottom-line impact. This was recognised by the UTAUT authors themselves when they called for more research investigating the relationship between IS success in terms of individuals' adoption and the success of the same system from an organisational perspective (Venkatesh et al. 2003).



Figure 3.2 Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT)

Source: (Venkatesh et al., 2003, MISQ 27:3, P.447)

3.2 The Information Systems Success Model

DeLone & McLean (1992) developed a model of information systems success based on a review of 100 papers containing empirical IS success measures published in 1981-1987. They synthesise the success measures they identify into a six-factor taxonomy of IS success: system quality, information quality, IS user, user satisfaction, individual impact and organisational impact (cf. Fig. 3.3). DeLone & McLean (1992) conceptualise their model based on ideas developed by Shannon & Weaver (1949) about group communication problems. Shannon & Weaver defined the technical level of communications as the accuracy and efficiency of the success of the information in conveying the intended meaning. The effectiveness level is the effect of the information on the receiver (DeLone & McLean, 1992).

According to the DeLone & McLean model (1992) the quality of an information system together with the quality of information will lead to both the use of the system and user satisfaction. This use then leads to an individual impact resulting in some organisational impact.

DeLone & McLean did not provide any empirical validation for their model. However, elements of the model have been subjected to empirical tests (Seddon & Kiew, 1994; Rai et al. 2002). For example, Seddon & Kiew (1994) tested five of the nine relationships and found them to be significant.



Figure 3.3 DeLone & McLean's Model of IS Success Source: DeLone & McLean, 1992, Information System Research Vol.3, No.1, P. 87.

Despite being used widely, the model has been subject to criticism and calls for respecification and extension. For example, according to Alter (1999) the distinction between the work system and the information system that supports it does not appear clearly in the DeLone & McLean success model. As a result, the model's constructs can be interpreted differently depending on whether they are seen from the perspective of a work system or an information system. For example, while information quality can be measured in terms of the demands of a work system; the same construct can be measured from an information system perspective based on the information *per se* regardless of whether the information is needed or not by the work system.

Seddon (1997) observes that three distinct models are implicitly intermingled in DeLone & McLean's model, each reflecting a different interpretation of IS use. One is a process model of IS success that depicts the sequences of events that lead to IS success in terms of the consumption of the IS output. A second is a variance model of IS success, which links systems quality and information quality as independent variables to IS use and user satisfaction as dependent variables. A third, embedded model is a representation of IS use as a behaviour that is a consequence of IS success rather than an integral part of it.

According to Seddon (1997) the integration of the above three models in one model of IS success creates confusion concerning the interpretation of boxes and arrows in the DeLone & McLean model. In some cases the boxes and arrows suggest process interpretation and in other cases they suggest a causal link. As a result, Seddon (1997) suggests a respecification of the DeLone & McLean model by disentangling the process model from the variance models and separating the variance model of IS success from the variance model of behaviour that occurs as a consequence of IS success.

Seddon's (1997) argument is that use must precede impacts and benefits but it does not cause them. He considers IS use a consequence of IS success rather than an inherent characteristic of IS success. Therefore, in his effort to respecify the DeLone & McLean model, he argues that the expectation of net future benefits from using a system is the causal variable that drives IS use, rather than the three constructs of system quality, information quality and user satisfaction that could be implied from the DeLone & McLean model as variables predicting future use. According to Seddon (1997), system quality, information quality and the net benefits of IS use to individuals, organisations and society are independent variables that have direct causal links with two perceptual measures of net benefits: perceived usefulness and user satisfaction. Perceived usefulness in Seddon's model is similar to that of Davis' model (1989). However, it is assessed ex post (rather than *ex ante* as in the TAM model) and relates to the degree to which a person believes that using a particular system has enhanced his or her job performance or organisational performance (Seddon, 1997, pp.249). Perceived usefulness in Seddon's model provides, then, a measure of actualised net benefits. User satisfaction refers to the user's subjective evaluation of the consequences of IS use on a pleasant-unpleasant scale. Perceived usefulness has in turn a direct causal connection with user satisfaction. User satisfaction is linked to a behavioural measure of IS use indirectly through revised expectations concerning the net benefits that will result from future IS use.

Other extensions of the original DeLone & McLean's (1992) model of information systems success has undergone include adding a service quality measure to IS success (Wilkin & Hewitt, 1999); and work group impacts (Meyers et al. 1998; Ishman, 1998).

Based on the calls for respecification and extension of their original IS success model, DeLone & McLean (2003) have provided an update of the model (cf. Fig.3.4). They extend it by adding a new construct, service quality, and combining the individual and organisational impact constructs into a single variable, "net benefits". According to this updated model, information quality, system quality and service quality, singularly or jointly affect both intention to use and user satisfaction in a process sense. User satisfaction in turn affects intention to use in a causal sense, as increased

user satisfaction will lead to increased intention to use and thus use. Both use and user satisfaction will result in certain net benefits from the perspective of a system stakeholder (e.g. user, sponsor of the owner of the system) that would either reinforce subsequent use and user satisfaction in the event of positive benefits; or result in decreased use and potential discontinuance if the net benefits are negative. DeLone & McLean (2003) recommend that the researcher should carefully define the stakeholders and the context in which net benefits are to be measured. The same recommendation is provided by Seddon et al. (1999) in his discussion of the dimensions of IS success. Such authors argue that different measures of IS effectiveness or success are required for different contexts.

According to DeLone & McLean (2003), no single variable is better than another; the choice of success variables is often a function of the objective of the study as well as the organisational context.



Figure 3.4 DeLone & McLean's Reformulated Model of IS Succes Source: DeLone & McLean's, 2003, Journal of Management Information System, Vol. 19, No.4, pp.24

3.3 Task/technology fit theory

The theory of task/technology fit (c.f. Fig 3.5) offers another way of looking at IS utilisation and performance. Goodhue (1992) observed that many existing user evaluations blurred the distinction between task needs and personal needs, and thus would provide less clear linkage to performance.

He suggested that user evaluation of system success based on task/system fit would be more closely linked with task performance.



Figure 3.5 A basic task-technology fit (TTF) model Source: Dishaw & Strong (1999), Information and Management, Vol.36, p.11

Goodhue (1988) proposed a model of IS "satisfactoriness". He defines IS satisfactoriness as "*the degree to which IS environment assists individuals in performing their job related tasks*" (Goodhue, 1988, p.13). According to Goodhue (1988) systems and functionality have no value in themselves, but only in their relation to tasks and that the correspondence between task requirements and system functionality is the mechanism by which system creates value (Goodhue, 1988).

Goodhue (1992) regarded task/system fit as an objective quantity, susceptible to an engineering analysis of task needs, system functionalities and the fit between the two. That is, all things being equal, changes to tasks that require the user to make greater demands on the systems' environment should reduce task/system fit. Likewise, changes in the system environment (more appropriate functionality or policies) along the lines needed for the tasks should increase the fit (Goodhue, 1992). According to Goodhue (1992) conducting an engineering analysis would be one way of measuring task/system fit. Asking users to express their beliefs about the extent of the task/technology system fit would be another way to measure it.

In his model of IS satisfactoriness, Goodhue (1988) argued that in evaluating IS success the focus should be on the beliefs, not the attitude of the users. That is, users should be asked to report their beliefs, as expert witnesses, on the objective correspondence between their tasks and the system they have access to, rather than eliciting attitudes or feelings about the system or its use (Goodhue, 1988). He wrote "we should ask individuals not whether or not the system has accurate data (a question the individual may not be qualified to answer objectively), but rather whether it has data

accurate enough for his tasks. We should not ask whether data on a system is accessible, but whether it is accessible enough for them in carrying out their tasks" Goodhue (1988. p.13).

In distinguishing between beliefs and attitudes, Goodhue (1988) adopts the definition developed by Petty & Cacioppo (1981):

"The term attitude should be used to refer to a general and enduring positive or negative feeling about some person, object or issue...the term belief is reserved for the information that a person has about other people, object and issues. The information may be factual or it may be only one person's opinion. Furthermore, the information may have positive, negative, or no evaluative implication." (Goodhue, 1988, p. 9)

Goodhue (1995) developed and tested a model that determines IS success based on users' evaluation of TTF. According to his model, users will evaluate more highly an IS based not only on the system's characteristics (technology) but also on the extent to which that system meets their task needs and their individual abilities (task/ technology fit). He then performed an empirical study in order to test his model. The result of his study provides support for the relevance of the concept of TTF as a measure of users' evaluations of IS success. He found that the value of the technology appeared to depend on the characteristics of the users' tasks. His study also showed that users seem to be capable of evaluating the task-technology fit of their technologies. He concluded that users' evaluation of IS success can be inconclusive if task characteristics are not included in the analysis.

In an attempt to elaborate the TTF model, Goodhue & Thompson (1995) developed a model that they labelled the technology-to-performance chain (TPC). TPC combines theories focusing on TTF and utilisation studies. The model included such constructs as characteristics of technology, task characteristics, and the task/technology fit as explanatory variables for technology use and individual performance. According to TPC, for technologies to lead to a change in individual performance, they must be exploited and fit the tasks they support.

Goodhue & Thompson (1995) subjected a simpler version of TPC to an empirical test involving a sample of 662 users of multiple technologies to support multiple tasks, omitting individual utilisation from the analysis. The empirical test found strong evidence that TTF and utilisation together predicted performance better than each construct alone. However, they found an ambiguous causal link between TTF and utilisation and a strong effect of task characteristics on TTF only for non-routine tasks. Their conclusion is that users' involvement in IS design influences not only their commitment but also the quality of fit of the resulting system. They recommend that in order for the TPC model to serve as a useful diagnostic tool for an IS system within a particular company, the focus should go beyond the general constructs of such a model to more detailed constructs that can clearly identify the gap between the users' needs and system capabilities. The identified gaps would then assist managers in making decisions about the system: (i) discontinue or redesign systems or policies, (ii) embark on training or selection programmes to increase the ability of users, or (iii) redesign tasks to take better advantage of IT potential (Goodhue & Thompson, 1995).

Goodhue et al. (2000) focused on user evaluations of task/technology fit for mandatory use of a system and developed a theoretical argument for the link to performance. They then test their hypothesis in a controlled experiment using two objective measures of performance: speed and accuracy. The result of their empirical study indicated that task/technology fit affects performance (speed, accuracy) and that users can evaluate the task/technology fit (consistency of data, adequacy of training), but there was mixed evidence regarding the issue of whether perceived task/technology fit predicts performance.

Dishaw & Strong (1999) presented a model that integrated the task/technology fit construct into the technology acceptance model developed by Davis et al. (1989). Their model provided greater explanatory power (51 per cent of variance explained) than the technology acceptance model alone (36 per cent of variance explained) or task/technology fit theory alone (41 per cent).

Mathieson & Keil (1998) presented the results of a laboratory experiment investigating the link between TTF and ease of use. They found that TTF affects perceived ease of use, independent of the system interface. In other words, a system that is difficult to use shows problems related to TTF that cannot be solved by merely changing the interface.

Another stream of research investigated TTF within group support systems environments. Zigurs & Buckland (1998) developed a theory of task/technology fit to support the development and deployment of group support to support groups' tasks. They proposed that the type of task and characteristics of GSS technology should fit in such a way as to enhance group performance.

Murthy & Kerr (2004) employed Zigurs & Buckland's (1998) theory of task/technology fit to examine the relative effectiveness of alternative modes of audit team communication in tasks requiring the exchange and processing of uniquely held information. According to the authors, those tasks require computer-mediated tools that provide both high levels of communication support and information-processing support. In their experiments the authors examined two computer-mediated communication tools: chat tools and bulletin board: (i) chat tools allow synchronous communication with all comments stored in a single location and updated in real time; (ii) bulletin boards tools facilitate the organisation of comments by topic, with related comments stored together. Chat tools provide high communication support, as they allow a simultaneous input of all participants' comments. However, their level of information-processing support is low. On the other hand, bulletin board tools provide high communication support as they allow simultaneous conveyance of information. They also provide high information-processing support through their message-organising features. Using the TTF theory, the authors predicted that teams using the bulletin board tools would outperform teams using chat tools, which would outperform teams interacting face-to-face. The results of their study indicate that teams using the bulletin board tool significantly outperformed those using the chat tool or interacting face to face. However, they found no significant difference in performance between teams using chat tools and those interacting face-to-face.

Barkhi (2002) examined the effect of problem-structuring and modelling with a group support system on the coordinated decision-making of managers in a group faced with mixed-motive production-planning tasks. The results of their empirical study indicated that the groups using a group support system with a problem-modelling tool outperformed the groups using a system without a problem-modelling tool, but they were less efficient with respect to the time and number of messages it took the group to converge to a final solution.

Dennis et al. (2001) developed a fit appropriation-model for interpreting the effects of group support systems on performance. They suggested that the performance of group support is affected by (i) the fit between the task and GSS structures selected for use, and (ii) by the appropriation support the group receives in the form of training, facilitation, and software restrictiveness to help them effectively incorporate selected GSS structures

into their meeting process. The results of their empirical study show that fitting the GSS to the task had the greatest impact on outcome effectiveness (e.g. decision quality and ideas); while appropriation support had the greatest impact on the process time (e.g. time required and process satisfaction).

Murthy & Kerr (2000) employed the TTF concept to investigate the difference in performance of teams using the GSS tools relative to teams interacting face-to-face when performing tasks of varying information richness requirements. The results of their experiment showed that teams performed better when communicating face-to-face for the problem-solving task. This would be due to the fact that an "intellective" task increases the need for member interdependence which may result in a poor "fit" between the task and the technology. On the other hand, they found that subjects perform better when communicating via GSS for the idea-generation tasks. Such kinds of tasks require reduced levels of interdependence and coordination resulting in a better "fit" between the tasks and the technology.

3.4 Summary and conclusions

This chapter presents theoretical frameworks and concepts about the adoption and success of information systems. The review of those models raised three observations that I will take into account in achieving my research aim which is to examine how M-ICT could provide a value adding support to pharmaceutical sales representatives when they are operating within a mobile work setting. Those observations are as followed.

Firstly, the frameworks presented suggest different views about the adoption and success of information systems. Such views can be regarded as mutually supportive rather than exclusive. TAM, TAM2 and UTAUT enhances our understanding of the mechanisms that influence an individual's decision to use a particular IT. However, those models do not elicit the consequences of the usage of the particular IT on individuals and their organisations. Rather, they predict individual use. However, does individual usage of an IS (technology) mean that the system succeeded in achieving the objectives that triggered its implementation?

As Goodhue (1992) argued, use is a problematic surrogate for MIS success. Depending on the task, more use can indicate that the system is "poor", since for a given task the longer it takes to complete it the less efficient the system. Use is also an ambiguous indicator of the efficacy of the system unless the alternatives to using the system are also considered. In some cases, the next alternative might be so poor as to justify the use of a specific

system though it is poorly designed and difficult to use. Goodhue (1992) then concluded that quantifying the amount of use as an absolute quantity (e.g. number of hours per day) may be inappropriate if we want to examine the performance impact of a particular system. He wrote "*It is not clear for a specific manager carrying out a set of tasks that his or her performance would double if he or she doubled the units of time he or she used the system*" (Goodhue, 1992, p.307). As a result, he suggested that it would be difficult to link use with performance by merely measuring the absolute amount of use.

Similarly, Seddon (1997) suggested that the critical factor for IS success measurement is not system use, but the net benefits that result from use.

DeLone & McLean's model of IS success (1992) enhanced our understanding of how an IS can lead to an impact from the both the individual and the organisational perspectives. They linked the IS use construct to user satisfaction, individual impact and organisational impact. However, the theoretical interpretation of the use construct in their models was not clear (IS use as an event versus use as an antecedent variable) as explained by Seddon (1997). Subsequently, DeLone & McLean's reformulated model of IS success attempted to address this problem by going beyond IS use and introduced the construct of net benefit, to the system's stakeholders, resulting from IS use as a measure of IS success.

The task/technology fit allows us to assess the system value in a pragmatic way. That is in relation to users' tasks that the system developed is meant to support.

The review also point to the importance, when making decisions about a particular IS, to set at the outset the dimension against which to carry out the analysis. Goodhue and Thompson (1995) recommend that the analysis should focus on identifying gaps between the users' work needs and system capabilities that are supposed to meet those needs. Indeed Alter (2000) made a point when he builds an analogy between the work system and the information system that supports it as Siamese twins that are distinguishable but still so deeply connected that examining them separately is meaningless.

Secondly, the above models, when they attempt to predict users' adoption of information technology or assess the success of a specific technology do not take into account the fact that prospective users have other technologies available to them to carry out their tasks other than the system under study.

In other words, they do not place the specific technology within the context of the "web of technologies" as coined by Nielson (2001).

Thirdly, the models, though they identified important variables that influence the adoption and success of information systems, provide only partial guidance to the practitioner. Practitioners are interested not only in knowing the dynamics between the pieces of the system implementation puzzle but also how such pieces should be arranged in order to attain the expected system success (Newman & Robey, 1992).

Chapter 4

Barriers to Adoption by the Sales Force of Sales Force Automation (SFA) Systems

In this chapter, I will present the state-of-the-art on barriers that impede the adoption of SFA technologies by the sales force.

The overall aim of this dissertation is to examine how M-ICT could provide value-adding support to pharmaceutical sales representatives when they are operating within a mobile work setting. It is important, therefore, to understand the barriers that hinder the sales force's adoption of SFA systems. The literature highlights a number of barriers as well as offers recommendations for avoiding the pitfalls when introducing technology into the sales force's work process.

I classify the barriers to the sales force's adoption of SFA systems that I identified based upon the literature review into two main categories:

- *Personal barriers.* Those are related to the attitudes and behaviours of individual salespersons in terms of adopting the technology.
- *Organizational barriers*. Such barriers are related to the organisational factors that hinder the sales force's adoption of SFA systems.

4.1 Personal barriers

Research on the sales force's adoption of SFA systems has uncovered several personal factors that hinder its adoption by members of the sales force.

In a study involving salespersons from a Fortune 500 company, Robinson et al. (2005) found that salespeople who believe that a technology tool will be useful will also have a positive attitude towards using that tool. They conclude that salespersons as autonomous workers, who are generally managed by outcome-based control mechanisms will not choose to adopt the technology if they do not believe that it will help them achieve their job-related goals, enhance their performance and achieve a desired reward. That is, they will use only those technologies with the highest cost /benefit ratio.

The results of their study also indicate that perceived ease of use indirectly impacts on the salespersons' willingness to use the technology through its impact on perceived usefulness. Salespersons may not consider adopting the new technology if they believe that the effort required to both master and use it is too much to be acceptable.

In another study involving the salespersons of five pharmaceutical companies, Avlonitis et al. (2005) found that salespersons are more likely not to adopt and use implemented information systems in day-to-day activities if they believe that such systems are not useful and/or are difficult to use.

Jones et al. (2002) examined factors leading to SFA use in a longitudinal study involving the sales force of a Fortune 500 insurance company. The results of their study show that usage of the technology may depend on its benefit as perceived by the individual salesperson. The authors also found that salespersons who demonstrate a low level of personal innovativeness may experience problems in adopting the technology.

Schillewaert et al. (2005) studied 229 salespeople from different industries in order to investigate their adoption of information technology. In their study the authors used the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) to understand perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use of SFA systems. They also examined such constructs as personal innovativeness, computer self-efficacy, training, technical support, supervisor support, peer usage, and customer interest. The results of their studies indicate that usefulness is a fundamental driver of sales technology usage by the sales force and ease of use is a secondary driver. Also they found that salespersons' technological innovativeness and the role of supervisor are significant factors in the adoption of technology.

Rangarajan et al. (2005) examined the impact of SFA systems on technology-related stress, effort and technology usage among sales people. The results of their study show that the role conflict increases when salespersons believe that the time used to master the technology could be used better to talk to customers. They also found that the effort and cognitive resources that the salespersons are willing to invest in integrating a new technology into their everyday work routines will depend on the extent to which they perceive that the technology causes conflicting demands on their job. As a result, they encourage managers to clarify expectations tied to technology and to invest in a technology that salespeople perceive to be useful. They also recommend that sales managers
minimise the complexity of integrating technology into the sales force's everyday work routines by providing support to reduce the increased work demand caused by the technology.

Increased work stress resulting from implementation of an SFA system has also been discussed by Honeycutt et al. (2005). According to those authors, upon implementation of an SFA system, salespersons may find themselves assigned other activities such as database analysis or report writing. This resulted in salespersons experiencing role ambiguity in terms of their role within the organisation. In other words, salespersons may question their new role within the organisation: were they salespersons, administrators or IT specialists?

Keillor et al. (1997) investigated salespersons' attitudes towards a new technology. The results of their study indicate that less experienced salespersons were positive to using the technology in the sales process. However, experienced salespeople, especially the less productive, perceived the technology as a threat to their sales job.

Another source of fear instilled in salespersons by technology comes from loss of independence in the field (Honeycutt et al. 2005). Indeed as Morgan et al. (2001) observed, most SFA systems will provide sales management with real-time access to salespersons' performance information. As a result, salespeople that enjoy working autonomously and with limited supervision in the field may perceive the technology threatens their freedom or even makes them constantly feel "monitored" by their sales managers.

Loss of power is another source of fear from technology that salespersons may experience. According to Honeycutt et al. (2005), salespersons may regard knowledge about customers as a competitive advantage over peers. As a result, they may fear losing their "expert" status if, as a result of an implementation of an SFA system, they are forced to share their knowledge, via a database, with anyone in the organisation. Furthermore, salespeople may perceive the SFA system as a threat if the technology makes it easier for a replacement to assume control of accounts.

The issue of salespersons fearing the loss of their power as a result of technology implementation has also been discussed by Morgan et al. (2001). According to those authors, to many salespeople the more information they possess about their customers, the more dependent their organisation becomes. As a result, salespeople may resist transferring their customer

knowledge base into a format that is standardised, readily accessible and easily transferable.

Buchrer et al. (2005) investigated barriers to the use of technology by the sales force in a study involving salespeople from two companies: an automotive dealership and a pharmaceutical firm. One key personal barrier that emerged from their study is the low computer skills of the sales force. That is, the sales force's members feel that they are not capable of using the technology.

4.2 Organizational barriers

Research on organizational barriers that impede successful adoption of SFA systems has focused on the role of the organisation prior to, during and after implementation of the technology. Erffmeyer et al. (2005) investigated companies' expectations and outcomes from SFA investment in a study involving 43 companies. They found that a very limited number of firms participating in their study were able to offer details with regard to the goals of their sales force automation. For example, the majority of the respondents mentioned improving the sales force efficiency as a goal of SFA. However, when asked what specific areas that need improvement, a typical response was "our goal is to get as many things automated as possible". They also observed that in some cases planning efforts were made with little or no involvement of the sales force. In addition, their study revealed that training is a major implementation issue. Some companies offer no training to support the SFA effort. They found that lack of training was a common characteristic to the majority of respondents who indicated that their organisation did not achieve their SFA goals. Their recommendation to managers is to set explicit goals for the SFA investment and make sure that they are accepted by both the sales force and the customers; involve a multidisciplinary team in the planning process; provide adequate training to the sales force members and develop evaluation measures for SFA outcomes.

Gohmann et al. (2005 a) investigated the difference between the perceptions of SFA systems held by management and the sales force in a study involving 2782 U.S. Army recruiters and 237 of their supervisors. The results of their studies showed that while the sales force perceives that the technology inhibited its productivity, management has a more positive perception of its productivity benefits. According to the authors, such a discrepancy in the perceptions may result in the management having productivity expectations that are higher than what the sales force can achieve with the system. Their study also revealed that the majority of the

sales force members have the impression that the implemented system serves as a micro-management tool but does not result in increased productivity. The authors conclude that when salespeople are excluded from the decision-making process they may view the adoption of SFA technology as an imposition at best or an odious addition to a job at worst. Their recommendation is that managers should solicit input from the sales force during the initial stages of the decision-making process about the technology and communicate how the new technology will improve its performance. Sales force input may create a sense of ownership and increase the likelihood that the technology will be accepted and used. They also recommend that managers communicate consistently to the members of the sales force that the technology was implemented to support them in performing their tasks rather than to monitor their activities. The purpose is to counter any possibility that the sales force perceives that the technology is a micro-management tool, which may result in its unwillingness to use the system. Finally, they highlighted the important role of training in alleviating many of those issues associated with the technology implementations. According to Gohmann et al. (2005 a), the lack of effective training can negate any potential benefits the sales force may perceive in terms of the benefits of using the technology, especially if the sales force's members are novices or lacking in computer skills.

Bush et al. (2005) examined the sales force automation outcome from a managerial perspective in a study involving key executives from three companies. The results of their study indicate that the success of the SFA initiative depends on two factors: (i) whether or not the sales force accepts technology process that the the change new will cause, and (ii) the sales force's perception that the technology will help them to perform their tasks better under the new process. They recommend that managers (i) set concrete goals about what the technology is supposed to accomplish, (ii) assess the fit between the technology characteristics and objectives of the investment, (iii) discuss the benefits of the technology with the sales force, and (iv) provide the sales force with training during the early stages of the technology development.

The critical role of sales force training in using the technology was also investigated by Ahearne et al. (2005) in a study involving 108 sales representative of a large consumer packaged-goods firm in the US. The results of their study show that users' training and support moderate the relationship between technology usage and sales force performance measures. Indeed they found that when salespersons are provided with sufficient training and support, increased use of technology enhanced both their efficiency and effectiveness. On the other hand, under conditions of low support, the use of technology by salespeople resulted in decreased effectiveness and efficiency. One interesting finding of their study is that sufficient training does not moderate the relationship between the use of technology and efficiency. They also found that salespersons who had low technology usage and low training exhibit higher performance levels than those with low technology usage and high training. According to the authors this might be due to the fact that salespersons not using the technology will not seek to spend valuable selling time in training. As a result they are more productive than those who do not use the technology but devote some of their time to training and support.

In a study involving Canadian medium-sized manufacturers, Rivers & Dart (1999) investigated the factors relating to the adoption and effective use of sales force automation systems. A key finding of their study is that companies that look to the SFA investment as a means to achieve administrative efficiencies and strategic advantages are more likely to achieve better return than those who seek simply to automate existing tasks. That is, companies that simply apply the technology to day-to-day operational problems (e.g. existing tasks) without any attention to organisational issues such as training and delegation of responsibility are unlikely to generate a positive return on their SFA investment.

Speier & Venkatesh (2002) examined salespersons' perceptions and behaviour regarding a SFA tool both immediately after release and six months after implementation, in a study involving 454 salespeople from two firms. The results of their studies showed that immediately after training salespeople had positive perceptions of the technology. However, six months after implementation salespersons' reaction turned negative. The negative reaction manifested itself not only as a wide rejection of the technology but also in the form of increased absenteeism and voluntary turnover. According to the authors, the reason for such a reversal stems from the lack of fit between the SFA and the sales force, resulting in salespeople perceiving the technology as disruptive to the sales process. They also found that salespeople with stronger professional commitment indicate stronger negative job-related perceptions as experience with the technology increased. Their recommendation to managers is to provide the sales force with knowledge about the degree to which the technology will augment the sales role and sales process well before the design and implementation. They also recommend that management should manage appropriately any negative perception such as the feeling of being replaced by the SFA tool that the sales force may experience.

Parthasarathy & Sohi (1997) proposed a two-stage model of adoption of technological innovation by salespeople. The first part of the model outlines organisational issues that influence the decision to adopt the technology by the management. The second stage of the model explores factors that may influence the adoption of the technology by salespeople. This results in what they term as dual adoption first by the organisation and then by the sales force. According to the authors, following a firm's investment in SFA, salespeople will either accept the change or resist it. For those who resist, the technology adoption will be similar to forced adoption and thus they will tend to underutilise the system. Based on the literature, they classify the factors that may influence individual salespersons adoption into three categories (i) non-monetary costs of adoption; (ii) personal demographic and environmental factors (e.g. age, education and experience); and (iii) interpersonal communication. Non-monetary costs include the time and effort that the individual salesperson must devote to learning how to operate the technology. According to the authors, a busy salesperson may be reluctant to spend a long time learning the working of a technology, time that he or she can spend in more productive activities such as selling. They note that if non-monetary costs are high, the initial adoption of the technology by salespeople is likely to be low. They recommend managers to provide appropriate support and training in order to reduce the time and effort salespeople need to learn and use the implemented technology.

Ahearne et al. (2004) examined the effects of CRM technology usage on salespersons' performance in a study involving 131 sales representatives of a mid-sized pharmaceutical company. The results of their study indicate that the relationship between technology usage and performance is curvilinear. Increasing usage of the technology by salespersons will have a positive impact on their performance until a point of inflection where diminishing returns set in, and beyond that point the effect on performance tapers off to zero (Ahearne et al.2004). Their recommendation to mangers is to identify both over-users and under-users of the technology and provide them with training. Training will support under-users to reach the optimum point faster; while it will help over-users to reduce their extent of technology usage to the level that yields the highest performance.

Gohmann et al. (2005 b) examined how the sales force's perception of SFA can be affected by the accuracy of the information that the system can provide in a study involving 1647 sales representatives of US Army Recruiting Command. The results of their studies show that if the sales force members perceive that the accuracy of the information it receives from the SFA system is poor, they will be less likely to accept the system. They

recommend that managers plan the SFA initiative well by bringing information accuracy issues to the fore. They also recommend including in the initial design such procedures as data cleansing and involving the sales force in the initial design phase in order to ensure its buy-in and know what information they want to access.

Pullig et al. (2002) investigated specific organisational factors that are likely to lead to an effective implementation of an SFA system. The results of their study indicate that four organisational factors are likely to be necessary conditions for the effective implementation of the SFA: (i) training (ii) encouragement (e.g. providing incentives to use the system) (iii) facilitative leadership (e.g. good climate for learning), and (iv) support. According to the authors, insufficient training is a major barrier that must be overcome in order to insure a "minimum" enabling condition necessary to the successful implementation of the SFA. Their results indicate that training should provide both general computing skills and knowledge capabilities.

The lack of continuous training and support has been found to be a major potential barrier to the sales force's adoption of SFA systems in the studies performed by Buehrer et al. (2005); Jones et al. (2002); Morgan & Inks (2001); Schillewaert et al. (2005).

4.3. Summary and conclusions

In this chapter, I reviewed the state-of-the-art of the barriers that hinder the sales force's successful adoption of SFA systems. In section 4.1 I reviewed the personal barriers. In section 4.2 I presented the organizational barriers to SFA adoption.

As shown in Table 4.1, if the usefulness of the SFA systems is not apparent to the sales representatives and if they receive inadequate training to use those systems, constitute the major barriers to the sales force's adoption of SFA systems.

One observation is that the results of the above review are consistent with research findings about information technology adoption and success that I described in chapter 3. As advocated by TAM, perceived usefulness seems to be a strong factor that influences the sales force adoption. The review showed that when the usefulness of the information technology support is not apparent to the sales force, salespersons may regard the technology as a disturbing rather than a supporting factor for the sales process. Hence they either reject it or underutilized it. Moreover the lack of task-technology-fit would cause a number of adoption barriers such as usefulness not apparent

to the sales force, increased stress and lot of effort needed to learn the technology. Finally the lack of facilitative conditions (i.e. training) is also a strong barrier that hinders the sales force's adoption of SFA technologies.

A second observation is that both the personal and organizational barriers are interrelated. That is, the organizational barriers to the sales force adoption may cause a number of personal barriers. For instance the inappropriate planning of an SFA initiative would lead the management to investing in technologies that may not fit the sales force's work requirement. As a result, the sales force may not perceive the technology as useful for its work and thus regard it as an imposition from the management. Similarly, inadequate training of the sales force in the diverse capabilities of the technology and how it could support their work would make it difficult for the sales force members to assess its usefulness for their tasks and routines. Sales force members, especially the ones with low computer skills and/or low personal innovativeness, may lack the necessary expertise that would allow them to link the technology's capabilities with the needs of their job. Also poor technical support may cause the sales force to perceive the technology as difficult to use and to absorb too much of the time that can be devoted to more value-adding activities such as selling. Finally, lack of communication with the sales force about the benefits of the SFA investments regarding their jobs may cause the sales force to see the technology as a potential threat to their freedom in the field or even to the security of their job. Therefore, they may resist its adoption. In order to ensure the success of SFA implementation a number of authors recommend that sales force should be actively involved with management in understanding the potential value of the technology as to their everyday tasks, before purchase and implementation.

The focus of my research is to examine how M-ICT could provide a value adding support to pharmaceutical sales representatives when they are operating within a mobile work setting. The results of the literature review about the sales force's adoption of SFA allows me to conclude that for M-ICT to provide a value adding support to the sales force members, they should perceive it as useful regarding supporting their every day work routines. The review also point to the crucial role of management in ensuring the success of the M-ICT investment for the sales force. Management should involve the sales force in M-ICT investment decision. In addition management should deal with the problem of proactively determining how M-ICT could productively support its sales force in order to be able to communicate its benefits. The review also suggests that training is an important accompanying organizational factor that would ensure the success of M-ICT implementation for the sales force. In chapter 6 I will present an approach that would help management to deal with the problem of proactively determining how M-ICT could provide a value adding support to its sales force. Before that, in the next chapter I will discuss the characteristics of M-ICT and present relevant empirical studies that tackled users' adoption of mobile technologies.

Author (s)	method						Ba	urriers to adoption					
		nformation naccuracy	Poor com- puter skills	Usefulness not apparent	Loss of power	Loss of indepen- dence in the field	Too much effort required	Low personal innovativeness	Increased stress	Inadequate Training	Poor technical support	Poor planning	Not involving the sales force
Robinson et .,(2005)	Survey			>			>						
Avlonitis et al. (2005)	Survey			>			•						
Jones et al. (2002)	Survey			>				>		>			
Schillewaert et al. 2005	Survey			>			>	>		>			
Ranjarajan et al.(2005)	Survey			>			>		>		>		
Keillor et al.(1997)	Survey								>				
Honeycutt et al.(2005)	Literature review				>	>							
Morgan et al. (2001)	Survey		>		>	>				>			
Buehrer et al. (2005)	Survey		>	>						>	>		
Errffmeyer et al. (2005')	Personal Interviews									>		>	>
Gohmann et al.(2005 (a)	Survey			>		>				>		>	>
Ahearne et al. 2005	Survey									>	>		
Bush et al. (2005)	Personal Interviews		>	>			*			>			>
Rivers and Dart (1999)	Survey									>		*	
Parthasarathy and Sohi, (1997)	Survey						*			>	>		
Ahearne et al. (2004)	Survey									>			
Gohmann et al.(2005 b)	Survey	>											>
Pullig et al.(2002)	Qualita- tive study & survey									`	•		
Speier and Venkatesh, (2002)	Survey			*	>							~	*
Total		(1)	(3)	(6)	(3)	(3)	(9)	(2)	(2)	(12)	(2)	(4)	(5)

Table 4.1 Barriers to the adoption of SFA systems by the sales force based on literature review

Chapter 5

Mobile Information and Communication Technologies

The aim of this dissertation is to investigate how M-ICT could provide value-adding support to pharmaceutical sales representatives when they are operating within a mobile work setting. I need therefore to understand the key characteristics of M-ICT and make an account of the state-of-the-art about relevant empirical studies that tackled users' adoption of mobile technologies.

As this dissertation focuses on M-ICT for the sales force, in the following review I will focus mainly on mobile support for the workforce.

In recent years a sizeable body of research on mobile information systems has evolved. Ngai & Gunasekaran (2005) concluded from their review of research activities into m-commerce that such an area of research is becoming increasingly pervasive.

The longitudinal study performed by Scornavacca et al. (2005) on mobile business research revealed that research into mobile business more than doubled during the four-year period that they covered in their study. The main focus of research ranges from conceptualisation of business models, overviews of the industry value chain and mobile technology issues to mcommerce value-adding services as well as adoption and usage of mobile technologies. They also found that the largest body of research on mobile business was usually carried out from a consumer perspective. Recently the trend has started to converge on business-to-business and business-toemployee mobile information systems in such areas as field force automation, wireless applications in health care, mobile technologies for businesses and government.

In the following, I will first discuss the key characteristics of M-ICT and then I present the factors influencing the adoption of the various parts of the technology.

5.1 Characteristics of mobile information and communication technologies

5.1.1 Timely information support

Timely information support refers to the users' access to information resources they need when the information is relevant and needed.

M-ICT can allow users to have timely information support in a number of ways.

First, with a mobile device and a wireless connection (i.e. GPRS or UMTS), the mobile user can access the Internet as well as diverse databases whenever time is available and irrespective of location to get the information he or she needs.

Wireless bandwidth is increasing which supports the demands of business applications such as e-mail with attachments, multimedia contents and Web services. During the past decades mobile technologies leaders have deployed great efforts to achieve high-speed wireless networks. The mobile evolution was often depicted as a linear progression from analog to digital to multimedia to broadband: 1 G, 2 G, 3 G and 4 G (Steinbock, 2005). While analog technology represents the first generation of mobile communication, the digital represents the second (2G), the third generation (3G) provides more bandwidth. A speed of 384 Kbs could be possible while on foot and144 Kbs while travelling (Aungst and Wilson, 2005). 4G is the next generation of wireless networks to replace 3G through the use of satellites, GPS positioning and tight integration with wireless LAN (Aungst and Wilson, 2005).

Other enabling technologies such as the Bluetooth or W-LAN could also allow mobile users to have access to information within a specific area. Bluetooth is a chip that senses which other Bluetooth devices are within its radio range and can build a connection with them (Keen and Mackintosh, 2001). The W-LAN concept originates from local area networks. W-LAN can provide a wireless access (e.g. to the Internet) to mobile users within the limits of its network.

Second, the current development of positioning technologies has the potential to enhance the timely information support enabled by mobile technologies. Location-awareness has been regarded by many researchers as among the most distinctive features of M-ICT. Knowledge of the mobile user's current location makes it possible to establish the relevance of the

information support and thus to provide the mobile user with information support adapted to his or her context (Keen & Mackintosh, 2001). A mobile user's location can be found with different positioning techniques. If the user's device has a Global Positioning System (GPS), the location can be identified relatively accurately. However, the mobile device must have visual contact with the satellites to get the position. Hence a GPS cannot be used indoors or in "urban canyons". A mobile phone can also be located by the telecom operator in the network. The positioning is based on identifying the mobile network cell in which the phone is located, or in measuring the distances of overlapping cells.

Balasubramanian et al. (2002) suggested that location-based mobile applications are interesting as they have the potential to be integrated into a wide range of everyday life (e.g. activate vending machines, pay for a car wash and taxi ride). They could also increase the product and service demand margin by offering customers alternative payment methods.

Rao & Minakakis (2003) identified four categories of location-based services (LBS), these are:

- *"Where am I" queries.* This type of LBS provides information about locations such as driving directions, information about location and navigation.
- *Point-of-need information delivery*. It relates to usable, personalised information delivered to the point of need. Such services include information about new products and services, promotions and targeting of customers based on their profiles and preferences.
- *Niche customer applications*. This type of services relates to specialised applications focused on certain segments such as individual customers or business and industrial buyers. An example of niche customer LBS includes the "People Finder" program that gives users of handheld devices maps with the location of other cell phone users.
- *Industrial and corporate applications*. These services include applications in such areas as fleet tracking, asset management, personal and asset safety.

Derekenaris et al. (2001) described a system offering a solution to the problem of ambulance management. Their solution is based on the integration of a geographical information system (GIS), a global positioning system and a global system for mobile communication (GSM). The system makes it possible to choose the appropriate ambulance to handle an

emergency situation based on the ambulance's position, the type and location of the incident and traffic conditions. Then the system routes the ambulance to the incident site and from there to the closest appropriate hospital.

Oloufa et al. (2003) found that using Global Positioning System (GPS) and wireless communication significantly reduced collisions at a construction site.

The third enabler of providing mobile users with timely information support is the proactive delivery of information. Relevant information comes to the user rather than the user having to look for it (Keen & Mackintosh, 2001). One key enabler of delivering information support proactively to the user is the ubiquity and instant connectivity characteristics of the mobile device. Users have their mobile devices mobilised for action with them anytime and irrespective of location. The proactive delivery of information support has the potential to be more enhanced through notification cues that provide meta-information, i.e. information about information to their intended recipients (Tarasewich & Campbell, 2004, p. 2). The cue may be as simple as indicating an incoming mobile phone call or as complex as providing the priority, the sender, and a summary of a new e-mail message. Based on the information provided by the cue, the recipient can decide whether or not to seek additional details. According to Tarasewich & Campbell (2004), to be successful a cue must have four characteristics: (i) get the intended recipient information, (ii) clearly convey its information to the recipient, (iii) minimise the disruption of the recipient's current task(s), and (iv) minimise the disruption of other people near the recipient. Tarasewich et al. (2004) tested the use and effectiveness of a set of user-customised visual notification cues (e.g. three-colour lights) on pocket PCs where notification was viewed as meta-information about a waiting task, message or event. The results of their experiment indicate that most users correctly related the notification cues with the appropriate message and regarded the system as useful.

5.1.2 Ubiquitous terminals

Ubiquity is a key characteristic of mobile terminals. A mobile device in the form of a mobile phone, a mobile smart phone, Personal Digital Assistant (PDA) or a communicator can be mobilised to meet the users' demands for information access, storing and communication at any time and irrespective of location as they are at hand all the time (BenMoussa, 2004; Tarasewich 2003).

- *Mobile phones* are designed mainly for voice calls and shortmessage services (SMS). These types of devices have limited memory capacity, processing speed and display.
- Mobile smart phones, on the other hand, are mainly designed to support both voice and data communication. These devices have larger displays which are more suitable for viewing hypertext pages, in the Wireless Markup Language (WML) or Extensible HyperText Markup Language (XHTML) formats (Casademont et al. 2004). Their memory, processing capabilities, and display size are higher than those of ordinary mobile phones. Smart phones support the creation of e-mail, Multimedia Message Services (MMS), send and receive e-mails, store contact, create and view Word and Excel documents, etc. The user can enter information using a stylus on the touch-sensitive screen. They provide connectivity to the Internet through a Wide Area Network (WAN) such as GSM/GPRS, CDMA or 3G. Other smart mobile phones include GPS functionalities (i.e. Benefon's TWIG) intended for several areas of use such as navigation, real-time traffic reports, SOS messages, family and friends finding and location.
- *PDAs* are small devices with the basic functions of organisers, providing the management with contact lists, calendars, diaries, calculators. They run on one of three major operating systems platforms: Palm OS, Windows CE, and EPOC OS. Compared to smart phones they have more memory, and more processing power and greater connectivity possibilities through WLAN and through the Bluetooth protocol.
- *The Communicator* is a combination of an advanced mobile phone and a PDA. Its displays are monochrome and they use a keyboard as well as a stylus to input data into the device.

The ubiquitous features of mobile terminals free the users from the time and space constraints that may impede their access to the information systems capabilities. This is a key characteristic of mobile information systems compared to traditional (wired) information systems, where users have to be in a specific place, e.g. the office or home in order to use the system's capabilities (Keen & Mackintosh, 2001). For instance technologically speaking mobile digital calendars are not very different from their PC based calendar systems, but they naturally incorporate portability benefits, a key desired feature in calendaring (Sell and Walden, 2006). Similarly, as the

mobile device is "always on" it enables the user to get access to the mobile system's functionalities at any time and with reduced booting time compared to laptop computers, especially in situations where the user has only little time to satisfy his or her information and communication needs.

5.1.3 Adaptive communication

Another attribute of M-ICT is that they provide flexibility in terms of the communication medium that the mobile user can select. The communication medium carrying the information support can take the form of SMS, MMS, e-mail, phone call, pushed alert or real-time access to a database.

The selection of the communication medium depends on both the environment where the mobile user is operating (e.g. face-to-face meeting with a customer, in a train or restaurant) and his or her information support value chain (provider versus receiver of the support). The fit between the communicative medium and the contextual environment has the potential to reduce the functional deficiency associated with information overload, where the amount of information the individual user encounters extends his/her cognitive processing capacity (Sørensen et al. 2002). Mobile location-community services such as Instant Messaging and Locator, Location-Based Chat and Anonymous Instant Messaging (AIM) have the potential to assist users in selecting the communication medium that fits their context. For example, Instant Messaging and Locator enable users to view their friends' relative location. The vicinity can be depicted at four levels: very near (0-0.6 Km), moderate distance (0.6-1.3 km), far (1.3-2 km), and out of zone (more than 2 km). The user can also be presented with a textual description of the cell's area, with the time of relevancy (Burak & Sharon, 2004).

5.1.4 Simple and natural input/output

A further key characteristic of M-ICT is the ability of the users to use speech and audio for their everyday interactions. Using the audio-based augmentation enables the mobile user to get information in an environment where his or her eyes are busy (e.g. when driving a car or walking).

5.2 Factors influencing the adoption of mobile technologies

There have been a number of studies that investigated what constraints may impede users' adoption of mobile technologies.

Chan et al. (2002) conducted a study of usability issues for ten consumer Web sites across three form factors: Palm OS-based wireless PDAs, Internet-enabled WAP phones, and Windows CE-based Pocket PCs. The result of their study showed a number of usability issues:

- Long downloads and broken connections,
- Problems with vertical scrolling that prevent the user from working the button after entering the string,
- Information overload. They found that the system places too many demands on users' memory (e.g. entering the airport code rather than the airport name),
- Depth of site structure. Information in the wireless applications was organised as a hierarchical structure and thus requires a lot of time to connect to the server and download the pages,
- Problems of carrying out search in wireless areas,
- Lack of connection feedback and latency in terms of signal strength and the progress in downloading Web pages,
- Limited instructions were provided about how to browse the wireless sites, making it difficult for novice users to use the system in order to accomplish their tasks.

Tarasewish et al. (2002) identified numerous issues associated with mcommerce. They classified those issues into the following five categories:

- *Mobile client issues* such as user interface on devices with physical limitations, design of applications for use on different mobile client devices, control of personalisation of information presented to a mobile client;
- *Infrastructure issues* such as the efficient use of limited bandwidth, difficulties with mobile devices interfacing with multiple-communication environments, addressing compliance with current and future mobile phone standards and speeds;
- *Technology issues* including security of data travelling over wireless networks, virus management and the need for seamless transfer between locations and services;
- *Application issues* such as determining tasks users want to do without regard to temporal and spatial constraints, the appropriate use of devices and applications in social settings, the protection of users' privacy in location-based applications;
- *Global issues* including addressing the lack of global standards, identification of wireless services around the world and impact of access-pricing variations around the world on wireless service use.

In another study Tarasewich (2003), observed that compared to an office environment, mobile users tend to be distracted more often because many activities aside from the application itself compete for their attention when they are operating in a dynamic environment. He also pointed out other challenges to m-commerce such as the security of sensitive data stored in the mobile device, safety issues when the location and activities of the user can vary widely (e.g. web access in cars while driving) and social concerns such as the appropriateness of using mobile technologies in certain circumstances (e.g. in a theatre or restaurant).

Nah et al. (2005) examined the value of mobile applications in a major utility company. They conducted a study involving 425 employees; about half of them work in the field. The results of their study revealed several employees' expectations from mobile applications. Such expectations include (i) an ability to maximise efficiency (e.g. able to do the job quicker); (ii) to maximise effectiveness (e.g. make better decisions); (iii) to minimise cost (e.g. reduce business expenses); (iv) to maximise security (e.g. ensure security of data and business transactions); and (v) to maximise employee acceptance (e.g. user-friendly interface, appropriate form factors). They also identified three adoption conditions that were emphasised by almost all interviewees:

- Accessibility. That is, accessing information whenever the need arises and regardless of location,
- Real-time access and update. This refers to the ability to access and update data while on the move. This eliminates the need for driving back from the field to the main office in order to check minor details and,
- Integration with existing systems.

However, their study revealed many challenges that hinder the adoption of mobile applications. Those challenges include the limitations of mobile devices and quality of mobile services. The limitation of mobile devices (e.g. small screen, poor resolution, low memory and disk capacity) prevents certain information such as maps, blueprints and drawings being clearly displayed. Constraints related to mobile service quality include low speed, limited bandwidth, unstable connections and limited coverage areas (Nah et al. 2005).

Sarker & Wells (2003) discussed three determinants influencing the implementation and acceptance of wireless handheld phones. Those determinants include individual characteristics, technology characteristics,

context, communication/task characteristics, and modalities of mobility. These can be described as follows:

- <u>Individual characteristics</u> include such factors as the age of the potential adopter, technology self-efficacy (difficulty in switching from existing technological frames) and cultural origins (e.g. impact of power-distance).
- <u>*Technology characteristics*</u> involve interface characteristics (e.g. physical limitation of the mobile device) and network capabilities (e.g. coverage, capability to communicate across networks, responsiveness in case of downtime).
- <u>Communication/task characteristics</u> refer to use patterns and include such factors as the number of interacting participants (unilateral versus multilateral use of data features using the mobile device); immediacy of response required; volume of communication desired (e.g. high-volume text exchange versus short messages); and communication's objectives such as conveyance, convergence and passive reception.
- <u>Context</u> (e.g. budget factor; social factors; size of a user's social network needed to be the same users of the wireless service).
- <u>Modalities of mobility</u> such as travelling, wandering or visiting. For example, size requirement of an optimal device is lower when wandering compared with travelling or visiting. Similarly, larger network coverage is needed more when travelling than when visiting (Sarker & Wells, 2003).

Gebauer & Shaw (2004) investigated success factors and the impacts of a mobile electronic procurement system implemented at a Fortune 100 company. The results of their study indicate that several factors inhibited the usage of the mobile application, especially by the managers that operate in a mobile work setting. The inhibiting factors include screen and keyboard size of the mobile devices, set up and login procedures, as well as training and support. In terms of the impact of task characteristics on usage, their study showed that users value notification especially in connection with high mobility and support for simple activities such as tracking. Their study also showed that mobility can predict the usage of the mobile applications. The mobile application was valued most highly by users who spent a long time on the move. or who occasionally left the office but reported high task frequency. Users also found the mobile applications useful in helping them to deal with handling emergencies, especially for managers who travel frequently and were the final decision-makers. The mobile application helped such users to handle the emergency situation by way of notification and system access. The authors' conclusions, based on the lessons derived from the case study, are that users of mobile applications need simple yet functional solutions. They argued that mobile technologies can compliment existing applications by adding an ad hoc element for data-processing, information access, communication and notification (Gebauer & Shaw, 2004).

Han (2005) examined in her doctoral dissertation the adoption of a medical mobile information system run over the Nokia Communicator by physicians in Finland. The results of her research showed that the physicians participating in her study had an overall positive attitude towards the mobile system. Her study also showed that perceived usefulness was the strongest and dominating factor that influenced physicians' behaviour towards the system. Ease of use influenced physicians during early exposure to the mobile system but its effects weakened as the physicians acquired more hand-on experience.

5.3 Summary and conclusions

In this chapter I presented the key characteristics of M-ICT. I also discussed several factors influencing the adoption of mobile technologies as discussed in the literature. Those factors include technology issues such as the limitations of mobile devices and network connectivity. Individual characteristics include age, culture and acceptance factors. Acceptance factors include the usefulness of the mobile applications, users' exposure to mobile technologies as well as the degree of fit between the mobile applications and the users' task characteristics.

The literature review on M-ICT allowed me to raise the following two observations that I will take into account in achieving my research aim, i.e. to examine how M-ICT could provide a value adding support to pharmaceutical sales representatives when they are operating within a mobile work setting.

The first observation is that a number of studies on M-ICT adoption show that the limitations of mobile technologies in terms of device constraints and network connectivity bandwidth are an issue for users' adoption of mobile applications. As Tarasewich (2003) observed, mobile devices continue to

shrink in size and weight in order to provide higher portability. On the other hand, the usability of a device may suffer. However in many studies, the limitations of mobile technologies, though important, have not been seriously taken into account. A number of mobile applications have been used for certain tasks that are defined broadly and that have technological requirements (e.g. display, bandwidth, memory, length of battery, etc.) that mobile technologies cannot support appropriately compared with their wired counterparts. Thus prospective users may have too high expectations in terms of what the mobile application can be used for. As a result certain mobile users believe that a mobile system can replace the traditional information system run over a desktop or a laptop computer, in supporting their everyday routines. For example, in the Nah et al. (2005) study, the users were disappointed because the mobile system did not support them in carrying out certain tasks in the field. They expected the mobile system to allow them to display maps and blueprints in the field; as one user said "Everything can be displayed on these small devices" (Nah et al. 2005, p.89). However, the mobile device's small screen and poor resolution prevented the users from displaying maps, blueprints and drawings. Additionally, it is important to note that the advertising of a number of mobile industry players contributes to exaggerated perceptions of the capabilities of mobile technologies. For instance, certain manufacturers emphasise the fact that the mobile device would allow the user to finish his or her work even before getting to the office. As Nielson (2001) observed, this would leave the prospective mobile user with the perception that the mobile device is a small desktop computer that would allow him to run various applications with the same functionality.

The second observation is that a number of studies treated mobile devices as stand-alone technology to support the prospective users in carrying out their job-related tasks. They do not assess the value-adding potential of mobile technologies in relation to other technological support available to the users and which can support them better than mobile technologies. Gebauer et al. (2004) showed that mobile applications can complement rather than replace existing applications and provide support in terms of helping users to deal with specific tasks. Likewise, Nielson (2001) argued that mobile technology support should be examined as one component among the "web-of-technologies" available to support the user's tasks and routines. Hence, she suggested that mobile devices need to fulfil at least one of the following demands in order to be successful: (i) expand existing services or systems by giving them mobility and making it possible to solve a set of specific tasks, i.e. provide here-and-now related information.

Chapter 6

Research models

In Chapter 3 I reviewed key theories that the IS literature has proposed to explain the dynamics of IT adoption and usage in the workplace. Specifically, I reviewed the technology acceptance model, the DeLone & McLean (1992) model of information systems success and the task/technology fit framework. Those models provide useful insights into explaining variances in the adoption and success of information systems. My conclusions based on the review are that those models could be used in a mutually supportive rather than a mutually exclusive way, in order to avoid the pitfalls associated with IT introduction into the sales force's work.

In Chapter 4 I presented, based upon the literature review, the nature of the barriers that impede the sales force's adoption of IT. The review showed that perceived usefulness is a strong factor influencing the sales force's adoption of IT. The review also showed that when the usefulness of the information technology support is not apparent to sales representatives, they may regard the technology as a disturbing rather than a supporting factor for the sales process. Hence, they either reject it or underutilise it. As Jones et al. (2002) observed, adopting the technology is one of the many decisions independent sales representatives make regarding their work. Moreover, sales representatives are evaluated according to their sales results. Therefore, if they do not see a clear benefit from how use of the technology will enhance their productivity, they may choose to reject the SFA. The review also point out to the crucial role of management in ensuring the success of the M-ICT investment for the sales force. Management should involve the sales force in M-ICT investment decision. In addition management should deal with the problem of proactively determining how M-ICT could support its sales force in order to be able to communicate its benefits. The review also suggests that training is an important accompanying organizational factor that would ensure the success of M-ICT implementation for the sales force. In Chapter 5, I reviewed the state-of-the-art about M-ICT. The review of empirical studies about the users' adoption of mobile technologies revealed that perceived usefulness is a major factor that influences users' behaviours. Users of mobile applications need simple yet functional solutions. The review also showed that given the limitations of mobile technologies, they should not be examined as stand-alone devices to support prospective users in carrying out their job-related tasks. Rather their potential support should be assessed in relation to other technologies

available to the users and which can support their tasks better than mobile technologies.

In this chapter I will present an approach that would help management to deal with the problem of proactively determining how M-ICT could provide a value adding support to its sales force when it is operating in a mobile work setting. As I will show later in this chapter, the approach is based on the fact that for M-ICT to be perceived as useful and value adding for the sales force, it has to provide solutions to clearly targeted sales force's needs. Additionally the approach takes into account the fact that given the limitations of mobile technologies, they should be assessed in relation to other technologies available to the users and which can support their tasks better than mobile technologies.

The first model called "the Barrier-to-Support (BTS) framework" for new ICT artefacts draws upon the work of Fernand Braudel and aims at determining whether or not users, given the existing technologies available to them, need new ICT support in order to carry out their everyday work routines.

The second model called the "Barrier-Technology-Fit (BTF) framework", builds on the BTS framework in terms of whether or not prospective users need new ICT support, and provides directions on how to select an appropriate technology that has the potential to be value-adding for the prospective users.

In the following I will first present the Barrier-to-Support framework, and then I will introduce the Barrier-Technology-Fit framework.

6.1 Technology adoption in Braudel's history of capitalism (15-18th centuries)

The BTS framework draws upon the work of Fernand Braudel, one of the most influential historians of the last century. In the following I will briefly introduce Braudel's view of how technology is adopted by people in his study of the economic, social and technological changes in 15^{th} - 18^{th} century. In the next section the Keen and Mckintosh (2001) concept of the "Braudel rule", that links the technology and the freedom economy, will be discussed. I will then extend and translate the Braudel Rule as defined by Keen and Mckintosh (2001) into a general barriers-based framework for new IT artefacts.

Before introducing the mechanism of technology adoption in the 15-18th century as presented by Braudel (1979) some background about that great historian is worth to mention.

Fernand Braudel belongs to the line of historians from the annals school of history. He is known for his insistence on challenging the contemporary dominance of political and diplomatic history and builds the narrative of events in favour of social, economic, and cultural history. In Braudel's approach to history, all aspects of life from climate to topography to architecture, from popular culture to capitalist values to high art are sketched in order to create a comprehensive multidimensional Cubist portrait of society (Henretta, 1979). Instead of building history around the acts of "great men", political or military personalities, his approach involves detecting insights into history based on people's everyday life. For example, in the first of his three volumes about civilisation and capitalism in the 15-18th centuries, entitled *The Structures of Everyday Life: the Possible and the* Impossible, he began the book with a discussion of the world population during the 15th to 18th centuries. He followed with chapters on the major categories of consumer expenditure, e.g. bread and cereals, food and drink, clothing, fashion and housing. This chapter, enriched with fine illustrations, includes the diets of the poor, food fashions of the rich, the lack of the furnishing of the homes of the poor and middle classes and the increasingly elaborate interiors of the more affluent.

Braudel's interest in studying people's day-to-day life was motivated by his ambition to define "the limits of the possible" within the structure of people's everyday life and examine how those limits were expanding all the time (Halprin-Donghi, 2002).

Certain research centres have been created exclusively in order to focus on many aspects of his work. Examples of those centres include the Fernand Braudel Centre in Binghamton.

Braudel discussed a number of technological developments, or what he called "techniques" in such areas as the military, transport, and agriculture. According to him, those techniques pushed higher the limits of the possible for people, enabling them to achieve what was taught to be impossible. However, based on his examination of the various innovations, Braudel came to the conclusion that for a technological innovation to succeed it has to win the authorisation of society. Society can either trigger or stop what he labelled as "progress".

According to Braudel (1979) as long as everyday life runs without problems, within the structures inherited from the past, society will not have any economic motivation to adopt a new technology. Hence, inventions will remain locked in their "packages" as society sees no need to adopt them. However, people start examining new technological inventions when they face barriers, within the structure of their everyday life, and the technology they have fails to help them deal with those barriers.

As an illustration, Braudel gave the example of the 1979 oil crisis. He argued that the crisis put the developed world in front of a wall: either innovate or stagnate or even disappear. Faced with the "wall", the developed countries turned to technology, the only solution to overcome the crisis and its consequences in terms of inflation and unemployment. Developing countries started to look for alternative sources of energy. Braudel observed that, prior to the 1979 oil crisis, there were a number of research discoveries related to alternative energy sources. Some of those research discoveries were used in World War II. However, after the war those inventions were neglected because at that time, there was no oil crisis that would motivate people to turn to those alternative energy innovations.

6.2 The Braudel Rule in Keen and Mackintosh's freedom economy

In their book, the Freedom Economy, Keen & Mackintosh (2001) draw upon Braudel's first volume of his Civilisation and Capitalism: 15th-18th Century trilogy to define what they labelled the Braudel Rule. They specifically used Braudel's two concepts of "the structures of everyday life" and "the limit of the possible". They define the Braudel Rule as "changing the limit of the possible within the structures of everyday life". They then use this rule as a tool to analyse the value of a number of technologies for people, based on the extent to which those technologies can change the limit of the possible within the structures of individuals' everyday life, i.e. to provide people with new sources of freedom. For example, according to Keen & Mackintosh (2001), ATMs satisfy the Braudel Rule since they do not merely substitute for tellers in banks; they provide customers with valuable freedoms. Customers no longer have to worry about handling a sudden need for cash when they are away from home, at night, on the weekend or when they are in a supermarket doing their shopping (Keen & Mackintosh, 2001). Likewise, online securities trading fit the Braudel Rule as it enables customers to trade after hours, to get information and even to consult with other traders. By contrast Keen & Mackintosh (2001) regard interactive television as a technology that does not fit the Braudel Rule as it does not affect the limit of the possible in the structures of people's everyday life. Interactive TV would allow people to participate in a vote or to order a pay-per-view movie. However, none of those services changes the structure of people's everyday life. Most people like to use their TV as a TV and the PC as a PC (Keen & Mackintosh, 2001).

Using the "Braudel rule" as a framework, Keen & Mackintosh (2001) classified technology impacts into Freedom, Convenience and Features. Freedoms are technologies that pass the Braudel Rule. They change the limit of the possible in the structures of everyday life. Conveniences and features, on the other hand, do not fit the Braudel Rule. They are neat ideas that are solutions to problems that no one may care about (Keen & Mackintosh, 2001).

Within the m-commerce context, Keen & Mackintosh (2001) employed the Braudel Rule to identify freedom opportunities in three areas: customer relationships, logistics and knowledge mobilisation. They argued that in customer relationships, m-commerce can create freedom through safety, location responsiveness and moments of value. M-commerce safety provides customers with freedom from anxiety, and worry (e.g. a car breakdown in a dark rural area). It also allows them to be more flexible in their routines, to take more risk and to deal with unexpected situations. Location responsiveness adds freedom to customers by removing the need to know their location when they are in a crisis situation. Moreover, the knowledge of their location allows targeted support to come to them instead of them looking for the information. The value dimension of m-commerce frees the customers from delay, hassle and bureaucracy. The support is provided to customers when they need it and irrespective where they are.

In logistics Keen & Mackintosh (2001) argued that m-commerce changes the limit of the possible by placing intelligence anywhere along the logistics chain. Information travels with the goods and processes, and is even stored in the goods.

In the area of work, they stated that m-commerce can create freedom through knowledge mobilisation. M-commerce can liberate the workforce from the constraints of location and limited access to information and knowledge. Knowledge mobilisation puts the user at the centre of the knowledge world by liberating people who do the real work from the need to be tied to their desks and provides them with information and communication at the moment of relevance (Keen & Mackintosh, 2001).

6.3 The Braudel rule in action: the Barrier-to-Support framework for new ICT artefacts

As Keen & Mackintosh (2001) observed, though Braudel's studies do not address the era of modern technology and did not focus on computers and communications, his insights apply profoundly to this new aspect of civilisation and capitalism. However, their interpretation of Braudel's view of technology adoption by the members of society remains incomplete with regards to the mechanisms through which the Braudel Rule could be applied. For example, the Braudel Rule is based on the claim that a specific technology will bring value to people if it can change the limit of the possible within the structures of their everyday life. However, the phrase "limit of the possible" remains ambiguous. It does not explicitly clarify how the limit of the possible related to a specific technology could be defined, and, through which mechanisms a new technology has the potential to change the limit of the possible within people's structure of every day life. In my opinion, the answer to the above question can be found in Braudel's studies of how people adopted technological innovations in the 15th -18th centuries, which I discussed in section 6.1. According to Braudel, as long as everyday life runs without problems, society will not have any economic motivation to adopt a new technology. However, people start examining new technological inventions when they face the "wall". That is, they face barriers, within the structure of their everyday life, and the technology they

Hence according to Braudel, for people to consider adopting a new technology the following two conditions have to be met: (i) there should be barriers that hinder the structures of people's everyday life, and (ii) the existing technologies available to people have reached their "ceiling" in terms of helping them to deal with the barriers they face. Although used at their maximum capabilities, the existing technologies fail to provide the appropriate support to people in terms of dealing with the barriers that hamper their everyday life. In the following I will present how each of the above-mentioned conditions has been addressed by the literature.

6.3.1 Barriers within the structures of workers' everyday life

have fails to help them deal effectively with those barriers.

In studies of work, the concept that barriers within workers' structures of everyday life are a major driver for change has been highlighted by the activity theory framework. Activity theory has its origin in the Russian psychologist Vygotsky's (1978) concept of tool mediation and Leont's notion of activity. It examines different forms of human practices as development processes, with both individual and social levels interlinked at the same time (Kuutti, 1996). In the areas of Computer-Supported Cooperative Work (CSCW) and Human Computer Interaction (HCI), activity theory has been employed to understand work practices (e.g. Nardi, 1996), as a theoretical foundation for the design of computer applications (e.g. Raeithel, 1992) and as a design paradigm for CSCW to analyse real work settings (e.g. Kuutti, 1996; Boldker, 1996)

Engeström's (1987) interpretation of activity theory provides a model for describing and analysing activities. His model depicts the process through which both language and technologies mediate the relationship between a worker (subject) and his or her object of activity (Boer et al. 2002).

Engeström's (1987) activity system incorporates the following components: subjects, objects, community, tools, rules and the division of labour. The object refers to the "raw material" or the problem to which the activity is directed and which is transformed to give an outcome with the help of mediating tools. The subject component of the model refers to both the individual and collective nature of human activity through the use of tools in a social context so as to fulfil the object of the activity. The tool component reflects both the mediating physical and psychological tools which are used to transform the object. They can take different forms including tools, machines, computer applications, language, visual representations and procedural tools (Boer et al. 2002). The community component represents stakeholders in a particular activity or those who share the same overall objectives. The rules component reflects the explicit and implicit norms and regulations that affect the means by which an activity is carried out. The division of labour is the allocation of responsibilities and power among subjects involved in carrying out a particular activity within a community.

According to Engeström's (1987) activity system, the relationship between subject and object is mediated by tools, the relationship between subject and community by rules, and that between object and community by the division of labour (cf. Fig. 6.1).

Activity theory uses the term contradiction to indicate misfits, disturbances, problems or breakdowns that occur in the activity system of human practices being examined (Kuutti, 1996, p.34). According to Engeström (1987), "contradictions" reflect a source of development and represent the

presence of unfamiliar elements whose study is necessary to establish the kind of new developments that are taking place within an activity system. Breakdowns happen when the work process is interrupted by something, perhaps the tool behaved differently from what was anticipated, thus causing the triggering of inappropriate operations or not triggering any at all (Bodker, 1996).

In Engeström's model of work development, he sees contradictions in what he calls the activity system as the major driving force for a change. He looks at contradictions in how tools, objects, and subjects are seen. He suggests studying contradictions between for example, the tool currently used and the object created, and proposes that this may facilitate a change-oriented perspective in work.

Boldker (1996) emphasises the need to identify breakdowns in computer use as a means to understand the use situation. Breakdowns manifest themselves as contradictions or unexpected problems that occur when using a computer system to support everyday tasks. According to Boldker (1996) breakdowns are openings for learning.



Figure 6.1 the activity system (Engeström, 1987)

6.3.2 The support of existing technologies to deal with the barriers

In Braudel's view of how technology is adopted by people, the effectiveness of existing technologies influences people's decisions to adopt a new

technology. Individuals will consider switching to a new technology only if they think that the technology they use has reached its limit in terms of the support it can provide. This makes it important to look at the introduction of a new technology in relation to existing technologies to deal with the barriers people face. Hence, shifting from "examining how the new technology can support people to deal with the barriers they face in their work" to "examining how the new technology can support people to deal with the barriers they face in work in relation to what support existing technologies provide".

From a technical design perspective, examining a new technology in relation to existing technologies has been advocated by several researchers. For example, Roman et al. (1999) explored the challenges of integrating a PDA in a distributed environment. They argued for the importance of using PDAs as "enabling bridges" to services rather than treating the PDAs as isolated entities.

May & Bogh (2000) investigated IT support for work on maritime bridges and found out that the user of the bridge may combine different instruments to better support the task he or she is engaged in.

Nielson & Søndergaard (2000) introduced a mobile support system for workers at a wastewater treatment plant in Denmark. The result of their study showed that when operating within a mobile work environment, users require only an overview of the process rather than a detailed view. For a more detailed and cross-referential view they prefer the PC system. They thus introduced mobile support as an integrated part of what they labelled existing "web of technologies", rather than as an independent device with the ability to access all system information (Nielson & Søndergaard, 2000). The researchers argued that placing the prospective technology within the array of existing technologies should be a natural part of any design process.

In Braudel's view of technology adoption, the integration of existing technologies extends beyond being an integral part of the design process of the new technology to being a part of the motives that trigger the development of useful new technologies. The failures of existing technologies to help people to deal with the barriers they face make them look for alternative technologies that will provide them with the needed support.

6.3.3 The Barrier-to-Support matrix for new ICT artefacts

This section synthesises the theoretical elements presented in the previous sections. Using Braudel's insights with regard to the mechanisms of individuals' adoption of technology innovations as a framework, I developed a Barrier-to-Support framework for new ICT artefacts. The framework captures Braudel's two dimensions of individual adoption of technological innovations: (i) the barriers individuals face in the structures of their everyday life, and (ii) the limit of the possible of existing technologies in terms of supporting people to deal with the barriers they face. For the barriers dimension, using a simple "high, low" scale, I segment them based on the frequency with which people face the barriers within the structures of their everyday lives. For the existing ICT support dimension, I categorise it using a "high, low" scale, based on the effectiveness of the existing support available to users to deal with barriers. In the following I will outline the four analytical categories described by the metaphors: "help me", "show me", "do not disturb me" and "why not" (cf. Fig. 6.2).



Figure 6.2 the barrier-to-support framework

Frequency of the barrier to performance

<u>6.3.3.1 Help me (High barrier frequency; low effectiveness of existing ICT).</u> This refers to situations where people frequently face certain barriers despite the support of the existing arrays of technologies they have. For those barriers, the available technologies have reached the limits of the possible without helping people to remove the barriers. Hence, a new technology is needed and its value-adding potential rests on its ability to free people from the barriers that still hamper them in their everyday life routines.

Detecting those barriers makes it possible to build value-based ICT support on the premise of freeing people from something negative, i.e. providing people with a useful ICT that has the potential to free them from the barriers that still hinder them within the structure of their everyday life. This is important within the context of a sales force's work where employee resistance has been identified by many researchers as a major risk associated with SFA implementation. According to Xu et al. (2002) in most companies, SFA efforts often never get off the ground because they encounter stiff resistance from users. Among the many reasons for resistance by the sales force to the technology is the failure to convince salespeople of the advantages and benefits of the new technology (Gilbert, 2004; Patton, 2001; Bush et al. 2005; Gohmann et al. 2005). Consequently, salespeople question the benefits of the SFA system. For example, according to Patton (2001), many SFA projects falter because the sales force needs to be sold on the idea. The nature of their job means that salespeople are autonomous decision-makers who are accustomed to assessing the features, advantages, and benefits of a new product or service. Therefore, they are more likely to be influenced by their own perceptions of the benefits of the technology than their peers, their superiors or their clients (Patton, 2001). Providing the sales force with new ICT support to free them from the barriers that hinder their every day life routines, would make it possible for management to show the sales force the benefits of the new ICT support. It would also enable the sales force's members to assess the potential usefulness of the new ICT support for freeing them from the barriers that hinder their sales job.

In terms of M-ICT, the identification of the barriers requiring new ICT support would allow organisations to assess, before the implementation, whether or not M-ICT, given its limitations could be an appropriate form of ICT support to help their sales force deal with those barriers. If M-ICT proved to meet the requirements of the barriers in terms of support, then its added value would be clear and rests on meeting an unanswered need among the members of the sales force since it provides them with freedom from the barriers that still impede their performance.

6.3.3.2 Show me (High barrier frequency; High effectiveness of existing ICT). In this situation, people frequently face certain barriers within the structures of their everyday life. However, the existing technology provides appropriate technology support. In this case the new technology must offer superior capabilities (e.g. easier use, better performance, lower cost) that would entice people to adopt it. In other words, people should be "sold" on the opportunities offered by the new technology compared with the existing one in order for them to consider a change.

In terms of M-ICT support for the sales force the question will be to assess, how M-ICT, given its key characteristics and limitations, could expand the possibilities of ICT support better than the technologies available to the sales force. If M-ICT can provide the sales force with better support than existing technologies, then its added value potential would rest on the expanding possibilities that an ICT support could offer to the sales force. Indeed, there would be no reason to provide the sales force with M-ICT unless doing so adds better possibilities in terms of support.

6.3.3.3 Don't disturb me (Low barrier frequency; High effectiveness of existing ICT). This refers to the situation where people occasionally face certain barriers and the existing technologies provide an appropriate support to deal with them. In this case, the new technology would have merely a feature impact. It would add new features to technologies that support people appropriately in dealing with the barriers that they face occasionally. Moreover, the new technology may have a disturbing impact on people if they have to spend time learning how to operate it.

For the sales force, a main goal of ICT support is to re-direct less productive time and effort toward the sales force's main priority: selling (Honeycutt et al.2005). However, if M-ICT support could provide solutions to barriers that the sales force face only occasionally and existing ICT support is effective in helping them deal with those barriers, then it would be difficult to justify its usefulness. Moreover, providing those technologies to the sales force may be value-eroding if the sales force has to spend time learning how to operate M-ICT at the expense of selling.

<u>6.3.3.4 Why not?</u> (Low barrier frequency; low effectiveness of existing <u>ICT</u>). In this situation people occasionally face certain barriers and the existing technologies do not provide them with appropriate support to deal with them. In this case the new technology would be merely a convenience for people by offering support for barriers that individuals do not care a lot

about. Hence, the new technology would be a "nice to have" rather than a "must have" technology.

In terms of M-ICT support for the sales force, providing it with M-ICT to deal with those barriers should not be seen as a priority. Moreover, in this case it would be difficult for companies to demonstrate the usefulness of the M-ICT to the sales force's members, especially if it requires time and effort from them in order to master the new technology. According to Honeycutt et al. (2005), organisations must understand that time devoted to learning a new technology is a sacrifice that salespeople will undertake only if they understand how the technology will help them serve their customers and meet their sales goals.

6.4 Research framework 2: The Barrier-Technology-Fit (BTF) framework

The barrier-to-support matrix (cf. Fig. 6.2) does not aim to specify which new technology would create freedoms or provide superior technology support for people. Rather, it enables a scan of the barriers people face in relation to the effectiveness of the technological support available to them to deal with those barriers. The goal is to sort out targets where new technology support is needed and has the potential to provide added value to people. The ultimate objective is to ensure that the new technological support offered to people makes sense to them, and that they find it useful to integrate it into the structures of their everyday life.

In the following I will present a model that depicts how to select an appropriate new technology, once the target barriers are sorted out through the BTS framework.

The BTF framework draws upon Goodhue & Thompson's (1995) general theory of task/technology fit, and Zigurs & Buckland's (1998) specific theory of task/technology fit for group support systems. I followed Goodhue & Thompson's (1995) recommendation that task/technology fit, when decomposed into its more detailed components, could be the basis for a strong diagnostic tool to evaluate whether information systems in a given organisation meet users' needs. In the proposed BTF framework, I focused on the barriers that impede workers' efforts to carry out their everyday tasks.

Fig. 6.3 depicts the BTF framework. The arrows in Fig. 6.3 indicate sequence in a process way. Starting at the top left of the figure, the BTF framework involves pre-defining a profile of ICT support for the target

barriers. The next step in the model is to analyse the degree of fit between the constructed profile of the ICT support and the characteristics of the candidate ICT. If the fit is achieved, then useful ICT solutions will be designed to support the workers in dealing with the identified targetbarriers; otherwise an alternative candidate for ICT support has to be considered. Moving clockwise in Fig. 6.3, as the prospective adopters will perceive the ICT applications as useful in supporting them to deal with the target barriers; they will integrate their usage into the structure of their everyday life routines. This is intended to be consistent with the work of Davis et al. (1989), and Adams et al. (1989), who have used perceived usefulness to predict IS use. In the BTF framework, however, perceived usefulness is interpreted in a process way (an event that necessarily precedes the outcome) rather than in a variant way (variance in the independent variable is necessary and sufficient to cause variance in the dependent variables). Moving again clockwise, if prospective users perceive ICT support useful, then they will use it to deal with the target barriers that hinder their performance within the structure of their everyday life.



Figure 6.3 The Barrier-Technology Fit framework (BTF)
In the following I will discuss the constructs of the BTF framework described in Fig.6.3.

6.4.1 Target-Barriers

The target-barriers construct refers to the list of barriers detected as requiring new ICT support based on a scan through the BTS framework. They refer to the barriers that workers face frequently during the structure of their everyday life. However, the available ICT support reached the limit of the possible without providing the necessary support; new ICT support is therefore needed. Additionally, the target-barriers construct includes the barriers identified as frequently faced by people and for which existing ICT provides appropriate support for the workers. For those barriers, the value of a new technology rests on its ability to propose new and innovative support compared to the existing one.

6.4.2 Predefined profile for ICT support to deal with the target-barriers

This construct refers to building a predefined profile of the ICT support that can help the workers to deal with the target barriers identified through the BTS framework.

Depending on the nature of the identified barriers, the analysis might include such dimensions as time, space, and the context of the required ICT support. The *temporal* dimension concerns analysing the mobilisation urgency required for the support to create added value for the prospective users. As an example, these involve analysing the value of getting the support "Now" in order to establish the time relevance of the prospective ICT support (Keen & Mackintosh, 2001).

The *spatial* dimension refers to analysing the implications of the workers' spatial movement for the characteristics of the prospective ICT support. In the modern era, workers perform their work in different places including stationary work settings and mobile work settings. *A stationary work* setting means workers do their job mostly in a physical space that does not involve geographical movement locally or globally (Han, 2005). *Mobile work settings* involve different degrees of geographical movement, depending on the nature of the job. For example, Kristoffersen & Ljungberg (1998) propose a generic model of mobile IT use that aims at understanding mobile work and designing new mobile technologies to support it. By identifying what they call "typical instances" of a type of mobility, they created a classification with three distinct types of mobility: travelling, visiting and wandering. <u>Travelling</u> denotes the kind of mobility where you move from

one place to another using a vehicle, like commuters. <u>Visiting</u> denotes the type of mobility where you spend some time at one physical location before going somewhere else, e.g. consultants. <u>Wandering</u> denotes local mobility within a smaller area such as a building with very little time spent in any one place e.g. the night watchman going on his round. Sarker & Wells (2003) pointed out that the modalities of users' mobility have implications in terms of the characteristics of the required mobile support. They suggested that the optimal size requirement of a device is lower when wandering compared to travelling or visiting. Similarly, larger network coverage is needed more when travelling than when visiting.

The *contextual* dimension refers to the characteristics of the use situation for ICT support, which may include cultural factors such as usage etiquette (e.g. you should not use the IT support during a face-to-face encounter with a customer) or power distance. Power distance refers to the symbolic meaning of what communication a medium carries depending on the nature of the relationship between individuals. For example, in countries with a high power-distance culture, such as Korea, text messaging to supervisors might be seen as a serious offence (Sarker & Wells, 2003). The contextual dimension may include distraction factors characterizing the use situation. Tarasewich (2003), for example, found that users operating in a mobile work setting tend to be distracted more often compared with those in a typical office environment. This is because in a mobile setting many activities compete for the attention of the mobile user. According to Tarasewich (2003) safety issues can also limit the attention that the user can give to the IT support (e.g. driving the car).

6.4.3 Candidate IT support characteristics

This involves analysing the key features of a candidate ICT in order to find out how well it fits the predefined multidimensional ICT profile constructed for the target barriers. The analysis might include such dimensions as functionality, form factors and media-richness.

The use of functionality as a dimension to characterise technology has been employed in applications of the task/technology fit theory. Dishaw & Strong (1998) used a functional view of technology and made a distinction of two dimensions of the technology's functionalities: production and coordination. Production refers to the functionalities that support the software development process; coordination within the organisation refers to the functionalities that support coordination among the software developers. Zigurs & Buckland (1998) also used the functional view of technology and defined group support systems technology as "the set of communication, structuring, and information processing tools that are designed to work together to support the accomplishment of group tasks". Goodhue & Thompson (1995) focused on functionality when they used information systems as a proxy for their technology construct.

Form factors may include the analysis of the candidate ICT in terms of portability and interface characteristics.

Media-richness as developed by Daft & Lengel (1986) is a prescriptive model positing that achieving a match between information-processing requirements (e.g. uncertainty and equivocality reduction) and communication media (e.g. face-to-face interactions and writing memos) is essential for organisational effectiveness (Markus, 1994). According to the media-richness theory rich media, including the telephone and face-to-face meetings, are needed to process complex situations, such as setting organisational goals, strategies, communicating managerial intentions, and managing employee motivation. Media low in information richness, such as written information sources, technical manuals and mathematical formula were best to deal with simple topics, such as inventory control. The mediarichness theory has been validated in a number of studies. For example, Lim & Benbasat (2000) use the media-richness theory as a framework for investigating whether or not a rich representation of information (multimedia) can better support the information-processing needs of decision-makers. The results of their studies indicated that task analysability influenced both the type of information representation that was most appropriate for equivocality reduction, and the usefulness of an information system. Specifically, they found that multimedia support them in coping with less analysable tasks.

6.4.4 Fit

The concept of fit has been widely used in a variety of models that deal with contingencies among variables (Zigurs & Buckland, 1998). Within the framework of strategy research, Venkatraman (1989) identified six perspectives of fit: fit as moderation, as mediation, as matching, as gestalts, as profile deviation and as covariance.

In GSS research, achieving a fit between a group's tasks and GSS technology was suggested as a principle for effective use of group support systems (Zigurs & Buckland, 1998). Dennis et al. (2001) performed a metaanalysis to summarise and synthesise the results of 15 years of research on GSS effectiveness. The results of their study indicate that when there is a fit between the GSS structures and the tasks, GSS had the greatest impact on outcome effectiveness (decision quality and idea). They also found that the support the group receives had the highest impact on the process (time required and satisfaction).

Zigurs & Buckland (1998) applied the task/technology framework to examine GSS effectiveness. They considered the conceptualisation of fit as an adherence to an ideal profile to be the most appropriate for task/technology fit in a GSS context, compared with the other perspective of fit (fit as matching, moderation, gestalts and covariance). They argued that the perspective of fit as an ideal profile, allows for a holistic approach to examining complexity in an organisation (Zigurs & Buckland, 1998). Zigurs & Buckland's TTF theory in the context of group support systems was later tested by Zigurs, Buckland, Connolly and Wilson (1999) on a selected set of published GSS experiments. They found that GSS groups perform better than non-GSS groups when the GSS and the task fit. Their study also revealed that GSS either performs worse or the same as non-GSS groups, when there is a mismatch between the GSS and the task.

Dishaw & Strong (1999) used the task/technology fit framework to assess the fit between the characteristics of a maintenance task and a software maintenance tool. The fit was assessed by comparing the actual functionality of the maintenance tool with the anticipation of users regarding the functionality required to complete various tasks. The greater the number of anticipation functionalities available in an actual tool, the better the fit was determined.

In the area of mobile information systems, Gebauer & Shaw (2004) applied the theory of task/technology fit to assess the success factors and impacts of mobile information systems. They employed the concept of fit as a predefined ideal profile between the task characteristics (e.g. structure, frequency, mobility and need for emergency handling) and mobile information system characteristics in terms of functionality, portability and performance.

Liang & Wei (2004) used the concept of fit to develop a fit viability framework for assessing the likely success or failure of m-commerce applications. Their framework is based on the fit between three criteria for task requirements: location-sensitive, time-critical, and personal; and five m-commerce attributes: ubiquity, convenience, instant connectivity, personalisation and localisation.

Lee et al. (2005) use the concept of fit to explore factors affecting the effective adoption of PDA devices among insurance agents. The results of their study indicated that PDA technologies fit the tasks of insurance agents especially in post-contract customer services, tax and legal information.

I employed the concept of fit as a degree of adherence to a predefined ideal profile. Therefore the analysis of the fit in the BTF framework involves the following three steps: (i) predefining a multidimensional profile of ICT support for the target barriers; (ii) analysing the characteristics of the candidate ICT support, and (iii) finding out how well the candidate ICT fits the predefined multidimensional profile.

6.4.5 ICT solutions

This refers to solutions enabled by the selected ICT (e.g. M-ICT) that will help prospective users deal with the target barriers. Those solutions could be *freedom ICT*, designed to free the users from the barriers identified as frequently faced and for which the existing ICT fails to provide appropriate support. They could also be *opportunity ICT* developed to provide superior support to prospective users.

6.4.6 Perceived usefulness

Davis (1989) defines perceived usefulness for a specific IT to be "the degree to which a person believes that using a particular system would enhance his or her job performance". In the BTF framework, perceived usefulness is perceived *ex post* and is based on the Seddon (1997) definition as "the degree to which a person believes that using a particular system <u>has</u> enhanced his or her job performance or his or her organizational performance" (Seddon 1997 p.249).

6.4.7 ICT usage to deal with the barriers

ICT usage refers to the degree to which the users actually use the implemented ICT solutions to deal with the target barriers they face within the structure of their everyday life.

6.5 Research Questions Revisited

By combining knowledge from the previous chapters and insights from both the BTS and BTF frameworks, I am able to specify my research questions more precisely. The research questions revisited are summarised below (Table 6.1) <u>Research question 1:</u> What barriers to performance do pharmaceutical sales representatives face when they are operating in a mobile work setting?

<u>Research question 2</u>: To what extent will existing ICT support help pharmaceutical sales representatives deal with those barriers?

<u>Research question 3</u>: What type of ICT support will help pharmaceutical sales representatives remove the barriers to performance they face when they are operating within a mobile work setting?

<u>Research question 4:</u> Will M-ICT fit the ICT support required to remove the barriers to performance that pharmaceutical sales representatives face when they are operating within a mobile work setting?

<u>Research question 5:</u> If yes, what accompanying organisational factors would ensure a successful implementation of the M-ICT?

Table 6.1 Research Questions Revisited

6.6 Summary

This chapter presented an analytical framework for targeting areas where a new technology could bring an added value to prospective adopters. The BTS framework places users at the centre of the analysis. It starts from the potential user's everyday barriers, and works back to the technological support required to help them, while taking into consideration the effectiveness of existing technology support. The framework can be used as a diagnostic tool to scan areas where a new technology can provide value to people within the structures of their everyday life. Using the BTS framework as a diagnostic tool for a potentially new technology introduction, would allow distinguishing between:

- *Freedom technologies.* These free people from the barriers that hamper their everyday life routines; and for which existing technologies fail to provide the required support. Hence, for those barriers a new technology is needed in order to free people from the barriers that hinder their every day life routines (cf. lower- right quadrant in Fig.6.2),
- *Opportunity technologies*. These compete with existing technologies in terms of helping people to deal with their everyday life barriers. Their success rests on their abilities to provide new and innovative support that outperforms existing technologies and would thus justify their adoption (cf. upper-right quadrant in Fig.6.2),

- *Feature technologies.* These provide some new functions that help people to deal with certain barriers that they face occasionally and for which the support of existing technologies is appropriate. For these barriers, the new technology may have a disturbing rather than a supportive effect on potential adopters, if they have to invest time in learning how to operate a new technology that would not provide them with sufficiently tangible values (c.f. upper-left quadrant in Fig.6.3),
- *Conveniences technologies.* These are technologies that are merely a convenience to people. They offer support for barriers that individuals do not face frequently. Hence, a new technology would be "nice to have" rather than a "must have" technology (cf. lower-left quadrant in Fig 6.2).

The BTS framework does not specify which new technology would create value for people. Rather, it enables a scan of the barriers people face in their everyday life in relation to the effectiveness of the technological support available to them to deal with those barriers. The goal is to sort out targets where the new technology is needed by potential users.

The barrier-technology fit framework builds on the output of the BTS framework and aims at providing guidance about how to select the appropriate technology support for the target barriers detected through the BTS tool. The BTF framework involves pre-defining a profile of ICT support for the target barriers. Additionally the model involves analyzing the degree of fit between the constructed ideal ICT support and the characteristics of the candidate IT. If the fit is achieved, then useful ICT applications will be designed to support the workers in dealing with the identified barriers, otherwise an alternative candidate IT support has to be considered. As the prospective adopters will perceive the ICT applications to be useful in supporting them to deal with the target barrier; they will integrate their usage within the structure of their everyday life routines in order to deal with the target barriers

In the next chapter I will employ the frameworks developed in this chapter to examine how M-ICT could provide a value adding support to the sales force of a multinational pharmaceutical company.

Chapter 7

Empirical Studies on M-ICT support for the Pharmaceutical Sales Force

In this chapter I will present the findings of the empirical studies that I carried out in order to answer the primary research questions and the revisited research questions. The empirical studies were guided by the BTS and BTF frameworks presented in Chapter 6.

It is important to note that the results of the empirical studies are reported in the original papers 2; 3 and 4. However, as I want to show how I used the research models I discussed in Chapter 6, I need to duplicate some of the results in this chapter.

As can be seen in Fig. 7.1, the research design builds on several concepts that I covered in the previous chapter.

Firstly, in order to learn about the nature of the barriers to performance sales representatives (reps) face when they are operating within a mobile work setting, I collected data with the aid of two field sales trips with one Pharma sales representative. In the field, observations and informal interviews with the sales representative constituted the primary mode of investigation. The purpose of the field sales trips was twofold: (i) to understand the nature of the barriers to performance the sales representative faces in the field, and (ii) to observe the sales representative's application of the information technology support available to him in order to deal with the barriers.

In order to validate and compliment the findings derived from the field sales trips, I carried out a survey involving all Pharma's sales representatives. Based on the results of those two studies I was able to build a list of the barriers that the sales representatives face in the field together with the frequency of their occurrence.

<u>Secondly</u>, in order to identify the barriers requiring new ICT support, I used the BTS framework (cf. Fig. 6.2) as a tool. The analysis involved examining both the frequency of occurrence of each barrier and the effectiveness of the existing ICT support available to the sales representatives to deal with those barriers. This analysis led to a list of barriers that require new ICT support, i.e. target-barriers.

<u>Thirdly</u>, to examine whether or not M-ICT could provide appropriate support to the representatives to deal with target barriers, I used the BTF framework (Fig. 6.3). I first constructed a predefined profile for the ICT support required to resolve the target barriers. Then I examined how well M-ICT fits this predefined profile. As I will show in detail in the following sections, the analysis showed that M-ICT fits the requirements in terms of new ICT support.

Based on the results of those studies, the Pharma management decided to implement a M-ICT support (mobile system) that would help its sales force in dealing with the target barriers.

<u>Fourthly</u>, to assess the success of the mobile system implemented in achieving the objectives by helping the sales representatives to deal with barriers they face in the field, I conducted a follow-up study. First, I carried out a qualitative study with one sales representative in order to both observe the sales representative's application of the implemented mobile system in order to deal with the barriers and to detect implementation issues associated with the mobile system implemented. Then, I carried out a survey involving all Pharma'sales representatives. The purpose of the survey was to validate and complement the findings derived form the field study and to find out about the nature of accompanying organisational support required to ensure successful implementation of the mobile system.

In the following, I will first present background information about Pharma, then I will summarise the results of the empirical work.



Figure 7.1 Empirical studies design

7.1 Company Background

The research project was undertaken in a subsidiary of a multinational pharmaceutical company (Pharma), employing 6000 people worldwide in 2003 with about half of them engaged in sales and marketing activities. Pharma is a relatively small company operating as a niche player with particular expertise in the area of psychiatric and neurological disorders.

The company has a national sales team consisting of 14 sales representatives. These sales representatives report to a sales manager who is ultimately responsible to the marketing manager.

The main role of a Pharma's sales representative is to meet physicians, nurses as well as prescribers in hospitals and pharmacies and provide them with information about the way the company's products operate. It is up to him/her to emphasise the clinical benefits to patients and health professionals in terms of disease management. The purpose is to encourage the health professionals to prescribe Pharma's products rather than those of the competitors.

In addition to their daily encounters with health professionals (mainly physicians), Pharma's sales representatives work duties include managing relationships with their customers. Relationship management with physicians involve providing them with any information they need related to the company's products, entertaining them in order to personalise the relationship with them as well as inviting and accompanying them to scientific conferences and congresses covering the scope of their medical interests. The duties of the sales representatives also include carrying out administrative work. Administrative tasks include preparing reports about both their daily sales encounters with health-care professionals and the expenses they incur during their sales visits (e.g. catering provided to health-care professionals during sales meetings).

Pharma's sales representatives are also responsible for categorising the health-care professionals they plan to visit into groups according to their prescribing potential. On the basis of this profiling the sales representative decides on the frequency of sales visits as well as the intensity of customer relationship effort he/she should devote to each targeted health professional. Once the sales representative groups the health professionals, he/she coordinates with field secretaries in order to book appointments with them. Pharma has four secretaries who coordinate with all the sales representatives. According to Pharma's sales manager, field secretaries are responsible for booking two-thirds of the appointments with health-care professionals; the sales representatives perform the rest.

The management of Pharma's sales force is based on a system of compensation as well as autonomy in the field. Pharma requires each sales representative to make five sales visits per day. The reward system is then based on the number of calls (face-to-face meetings held) with targeted customers as well as the level of the company's product sales within the territory where the sales representative operates. Pharma provides training to its sales force once a year. The course lasts three days and covers both sales and technical training programmes related to Pharma's products.

Before implementation of the mobile system, the information technology support that Pharma provides to its sales force included a mobile phone and a laptop computer. The sales representatives also have a sales support system that runs over their laptops and that enables them to store sales visits information and to access their company's corporate database via a dial-up system.

7.2 Applying the BTS and BTF frameworks to Pharma case

In this section I will show how I applied the BTS and BTF frameworks introduced in chapter 6 (cf. Fig.6.1 and Fig.6.2) in order to find out how M-ICT could provide a value adding support to Pharma's sales force.

<u>Step 1:</u> Understanding the barriers to performance the sales representatives face in the field

In order to understand the nature of the barriers to performance the sales representatives face when they are operating within a mobile work setting. I first collected data through observation by the means of two field sales trips. The field sales trips lasted an entire day and represented "an ordinary day" in the life of a Pharma sales representative. The thematic analysis of the qualitative field material derived from the observations led to a list of emerging barriers to performance that the sales representative faces in the field. The findings from this qualitative study are reported in Paper 2. In order to validate and complement those findings, a survey involving all Pharma's 14 sales representatives was conducted. The instrument used was a questionnaire that was e-mailed to each of the sales representatives working in Pharma. The managers of Pharma regularly use e-mail to communicate with their sales force. Once the e-mail survey was completed by the sales representative, his/her response was sent directly to the researcher to maintain confidentiality. Respondents were assured that the information they provided would be treated as confidential and that only averaged and anonymous data would be used in any report. In the survey, the sales representatives were asked to rank the statements about the barriers to performance they encounter during the course of their work day on a fivepoint Likert-type scale; ranging from 1 to 5, where 1 = always facing the barrier to performance, 2 = often, 3 = sometimes, 4 = seldom and 5 = never. Responses were received from all 14 sales reps.

The data were collected and analysed prior to implementation of the mobile system. The results of the survey are reported in <u>Paper 3.</u>

The survey's results directly replicate the results of the qualitative study in terms of the barriers to performance the sales representatives face during the course of their work day. The sales representatives confirm the existence of most of the efficiency and effectiveness barriers to their performance identified in the qualitative study. Table 7.1 provides the results of the survey.

	Always or often* %	Sometimes ** %	Seldom or never ***	Mode	Mean	SD
How frequently do you face the following barriers to performance			%			
1. Performing administrative work at home	92.9	7.1	0.0	2.0	1.6	0.6
2. Printing out documents before sales trips that might be useful during sales trips	71.4	7.1	21.4	1.0	2.0	1.4
3. Making notes on paper about physicians' outstanding questions during sales visits	71.4	7.1	21.4	1.0	2.0	1.2
4. Physicians requiring a call in advance before arranging a meeting	64.3	0.0	35.7	2.0	2.8	1.6
5. Physicians requiring new information during each meeting	50.0	42.9	7.1	2.0	2.5	0.8
6. Difficulty of identifying alternative contacts to visit if an appointment is cancelled	57.1	28.6	14.3	2.0	2.6	0.8
7. Physicians appreciating hearing the opinion of other physicians about the company's products	50.0	50.0	0.0	2.0	2.5	0.5
8. Spending time gaps between meetings just waiting for the coming meeting to take place	50.0	28.6	21.4	2.0	2.7	1.1
9. Physicians not informing in advance in case they cancel an appointment	42.8	50.0	7.1	3.0	2.6	0.8
10. Difficulty in accessing sales contacts in large hospitals	42.9	28.6	28.6	2.0	2.7	1.1
11.Long delay in providing an answer to physicians' outstanding questions harms my relationship with him or her	42.9	14.3	42.9	4.0	2.9	1.2
12.Difficulty in coordinating with field secretaries during sales trips	21.4	50.0	28.6	3.0	3.1	0.9
13. Physicians do not like me to call them during their work hours	21.4	35.7	42.9	3.0	3.3	0.9

Table 7.1 Survey results of leading sources of barriers to performance for the sales representatives, N=14

*) Percentage of respondents who answered always = 1 or often = 2 **) Percentage of respondents who answered sometimes = 3

***) Percentage of respondents who answered seldom = 4 or never = 5

Step 2: Detecting the target-barriers for support: The BTS framework in action

In this section I will described the steps I followed in applying the BTS framework to the Pharma case.

In order to identify the barriers that require new ICT support, I used the BTS framework as a tool. The procedure involved three steps: (i) ranking the barriers based on the frequency of their occurrence within the structure of the sales representatives' mobile work life, (ii) examining the effectiveness of the existing ICT support available to the sales representatives in helping them deal with the barriers, and (iii) placing the identified barriers into the BTS matrix.

Step 2.1: Determining the frequency of the identified barriers

The frequency of the identified barriers was determined based on the results of the survey (cf. Table 7.1). The following table (cf. Table 7.2) shows the ranking of the barriers based on the frequency of their occurrence.

In terms of ranking the frequency of the barrier as high or low, I consider that the barrier's frequency is high if at least 40 per cent of the respondents report that they always or often face that barrier.

Table 7.2 Ranking the barriers to performance based on the frequency of their occurrence

			Frequency		
Barrier	Percentage *	Mode	High	Low	
1.Performing administrative work at home	92.9	2.0	×		
2.Printing out documents before sales trips that might be useful during sales trips	71.4	1.0	×		
3.Making notes on piece of paper about physicians outstanding questions during sales visits	71.4	1.0	×		
4. Physicians requiring me to call in advance before arranging a meeting	64.3	2.0	×		
5. Physicians requiring new information during each meeting	50.0	2.0	×		
6.Difficulty of identifying alternative contacts to visits if an appointment is cancelled	57.1	2.0	×		
7.Physicians appreciating hearing the opinion of other physicians about the company's products	50.0	2.0	×		
8.Spending time gaps between meetings just waiting for the coming meeting to take place	50.0	2,0	×		
9.Physicians not informing in advance if they cancel an appointment	42.8	3.0	×		
10.Difficulty in accessing sales contacts in large hospitals	42.9	2.0	×		
11.Long delay in providing an answer to physicians' outstanding questions harms my relationship with him or her	42.9	4.0	×		
12. Difficulty in coordinating with field secretaries during sales trips	21.4	3.0		×	
13.Physicians do not like me to call them during their work hours	21.4	3.0		×	

*) Percentage of respondents who answered always = 1 or often = 2

Step 2.2: Examining the effectiveness of the existing ICT support

The effectiveness of the sales representatives' existing ICT support was graded on a high or low basis. High means that the existing technology (e.g. laptop computer, mobile phone) is appropriate in helping the sales

representatives to deal with the barriers. Low means that the technology is inappropriate for dealing with the identified barriers (cf. Table 7.3).

	Laptop Support		Mobile phone support	
Barrier	High	Low	High	Low
1.Performing administrative work at home		×		×
2.Printing out documents before sales trips that might be useful during sales trips		×		×
3.Making notes on piece of paper about physicians outstanding questions during sales visits		×		×
4. Physicians requiring me to call in advance before arranging a meeting		×		×
5. Physicians requiring new information during each meeting	×			×
6.Difficulty of identifying alternative contacts to visit if an appointment is cancelled		×		×
7.Physicians appreciating hearing the opinion of other physicians about the company's products		×		×
8.Spending time gaps between meetings just waiting for the coming meeting to take place		×		×
9.Physicians not informing in advance if they cancel an appointment		×		×
10.Difficulty in accessing sales contacts in large hospitals		×		×
11.Long delay in providing an answer to physicians' outstanding questions harms my relationship with him or her		×		×
12.Difficulty in coordinating with field secretaries during sales trips		×		×
13.Physicians do not like me to call them during their work hours		×		×

Table 7.3 Analysis of the effectiveness of the existing ICT in helping the sales representatives to deal with the barriers identified

The information technology support available to the sales representatives in the form of a laptop and a mobile phone does not seem to help them in dealing with the majority of the barriers they face during the course of their working day. The laptop's physical characteristics (size, weight, boot-up time) prevent it from being carried everywhere. As a result, the majority of the sales representatives do not carry their laptop with them in the field. According to the survey results, 79 per cent of the sales representatives report that they seldom or never use their laptop computer, in the field, to find answers to physicians' questions that are difficult to answer. Furthermore, 92 per cent of the sales representatives report that they seldom or never take their laptop with them to sales meetings with physicians. In order to get access to information whenever needed, the sales representatives print out documents they think they may need before starting their daily sales trips. Indeed, 71 per cent of the sales representatives report that prior to starting their sales trips, they always or often print out all documents they may need during sales trips.

On the other hand, the laptop can provide an appropriate support for the sales representatives to deal with the barrier of giving physicians new information during sales trips. The sales representatives could, once at home use their laptop to search for new information to give to the physicians.

The sales representatives' mobile phones have limited technical functionalities and do not allow the sales representatives to deal appropriately with the identified barriers. For example, there are problems with coordinating in the field with secretaries. The sales representative can use his or her mobile phone to check the secretary's booking actions. Similarly, the secretary can call the sales representative to ask about his or her availability to meet doctors at certain dates. However, as the field study showed, when the sales representative faces un-booked hours in the field and wants to use them to call the secretary to discuss booking actions with physicians, he or she might find the telephone line busy as the secretary is coordinating with other sales representatives.

Similarly, the secretary may need to call the sales representative to check his or her availability to meet a physician at a specific date. However, she might not be able to reach the sales representative if he or she is meeting a physician and the mobile phone is switched off. In addition, if the sales representative faces an unexpected cancellation of an appointment, he or she may call the secretary to ask for her assistance in terms of identifying an alternative physician to visit. However as in most cases, the need may be short-lived, by the time the secretary finds an alternative contact, the sales representative's next meeting may be due.

Step 2.3: Placing the barriers in the BTS matrix

Based on the analysis of the identified barriers, in terms of the frequency of their occurrence and the effectiveness of the existing ICT support, I employed the BTS matrix in order to detect the barriers requiring new forms for ICT support (cf. Fig. 7.2). The BTS framework showed that the majority of the identified barriers belong to the lower-right quadrant (Help me quadrant). The sales representatives face those barriers frequently during their everyday life routines. However, the ICT support available to them in the form of a laptop and mobile phone does not provide them with appropriate support. Hence a new form of ICT support is needed to free the sales representatives from those barriers.

On the other hand, the BTS matrix shows that the sales representatives' barriers in terms of providing physicians with new information during each sales visit belong to the upper-right quadrant (show me quadrant). The sales representatives encounter this barrier frequently. But the existing laptop support is appropriate. The laptop, given its characteristics in terms of memory, speed and user interface, would appropriately support the sales representative, once at home, to gather new information for the physician by searching databases and downloading documents. For this barrier new ICT support would be required only if it could offer superior capabilities to deal with that barrier compared with the laptop.

The lower-left quadrant in the BTS matrix includes the barriers that the sales representatives do not face frequently and for which existing ICT support does not offer an appropriate support to the reps. They include the barriers associated with coordinating with secretaries when in the field and the physicians not appreciating the sales representatives calling them during work hours. For those barriers a new ICT solutions, though not urgently needed, have the potential to add more convenience in terms of the sales force's everyday work. Finally, no barriers were detected as belonging the upper-left square (Don't disturb me quadrant).

High	Don't disturb me	Show me
	New technology: Feature	5. Physicians requiring new information during each meeting. New Technology: Opportunity
logy	Why not	Help me
Effectiveness of existing technol	13. Physicians do not like me to call them during their work hours.12. Difficulty in coordinating with field secretaries during sales trips.	 Performing administrative work at home Printing out documents before sales trips that might be useful during sales trips. Making notes on a piece of paper about physicians' outstanding questions during sales visits. Physicians requiring me to call in advance before arranging a meeting. Difficulty of identifying alternative contacts to visits if an appointment is cancelled. Physicians appreciating hearing the opinion of other physicians about the company's products. Spending time gaps between meetings just waiting for the coming meeting to take place. Physicians not informing in advance if they cancel an appointment. Difficulty in accessing sales contacts in large hospitals. Long delay in providing an answer to physicians' outstanding questions.
ow	New technology: Convenience	New technology: Freedom

Figure 7.2 Scan of the barriers faced by Pharma's sales representatives through the BTS matrix

Low

Low

Frequency of the barrier to performance

High

Step 3: Selecting the new ICT support: The BTF framework in action

In this section I will apply the BTF framework that I introduced in chapter 6. I will apply the BTF framework to the target barriers identified through the BTS framework. Figure 7.3 depicts the BTF framework as applied to the Pharma case. In the following I will describe the steps in applying the BTF framework to Pharma case.

Step 3.1: Predefining the IT support for the target-barriers

This section presents the characteristics of the ICT support required to help the sales representatives to deal with the target barriers identified through the BTS matrix.

3.1.1 <u>Time-dependent ICT support</u>

The study shows that the sales representatives' information needs, when they are operating in a mobile work environment, are unpredictable. For example, the sales representative cannot predict in advance what kind of questions a physician may ask during the sales visits. The study shows that the sales representatives prior to starting their sales visits print out all documents they think might enable them to deal with unexpected information needs.

A further characteristic of the sales representatives' information need is that it is short-lived. When the sales representative faces an unpredictable information need, there is little time available to obtain the information and accomplish the task at hand. The sales representative mentally conducts a quick "cost/benefit analysis" of the time available and the time required to get the information and carry out the task. If he/she perceives that it is worth doing, he/she tries to access the needed information. If not, then the sales representative may decide not to try to get the information because of the risk of missing the next scheduled meeting. In this case the sales representative would delay both accessing the information and carrying out the task that triggered the information need. The sales representative thus ends up with dead time that may be quite prolonged. For example, if a meeting were cancelled at the last minute by a physician, the sales representative then has little time available before the next scheduled meeting to access information that would enable him/her to find an appropriate alternative contact and request a meeting. If the sales representative fails to access such information or it takes too much time to find it, then he/she may end up with the whole time scheduled for the cancelled meeting becoming dead time.

Another characteristic of the sales representatives' information need is that it is highly situational, for example, if the sales representative, just before a meeting, unexpectedly needs scientific information to refer to in discussion with a physician. The value of accessing such information and using it during the meeting with the physician decreases as the topics of the meeting change or the sales representative moves to another context (e.g. another meeting or driving the car).

The above characteristics of the sales representatives' information may have an implication in terms of how information support should be designed for them. The value of the information support for the sales representatives depends on whether or not it reaches them at the right point of time (relevance) and not using too much time to get it mobilised to support the sales representative. The marginal value of the information support decreases as it takes longer to reach the sales representatives or if they move from another context and thus the support loses its relevance. Although the sales representatives have a medium (laptop) enabling them to get information support irrespective of location, the time that the support may take to be mobilised for action may restrict its use. For example, during a meeting the sales representative may be faced with the need to provide a physician with an answer to a question. However, even though equipped with a connected, non-obstructive and portable device, the sales representative may find it inappropriate to use it to satisfy such a situational information need if, during the short sales visit, often not more than 15 minutes, it is necessary to search a database, retrieve and review documents. Likewise, the little time that the sales representatives may have between two meetings may prevent them from downloading and checking e-mails even with a connected and appropriate device, if the process requires too much time. As a result, the traditional knowledge management supply chain, with the standard pull-paradigm (e.g. databases and intranets), may be inappropriate for resolving the sales representatives' situational and shortlived information needs even if they have a network connection available irrespective of location and over a convenient device.

The information support the sales representatives need is time-dependent. It should be a form of information support that is accessible all the time and mobilised for action using the shortest possible amount of the sales representatives' working time.

3.1.2 Space-independent ICT support

Given the short-lived and situation-dependent characteristics associated with the sales representatives' information needs, the sales representatives need information support that can be mobilised anywhere. Having access to information support irrespective of location would make it possible for the sales representatives to work at any time, including when they face unpredictable dead time. The laptop constitutes an inappropriate medium for sales representatives because it supports the opposite. It may enable anytime access to information but fails to support anytime work. Indeed, a connected laptop can enable the sales representative to view and/or pull documents over a network to satisfy an information need. However, its physical characteristics (size, weight, boot-up time) prevent it from being carried anywhere to support unexpected information and communication needs. For example, the sales representative may need to make a report about a sales visit while sitting in the guest room waiting for the next meeting with a physician. To this end, the sales representative needs a form of information support to run on a device that is lightweight and flexible enough, to get mobilised for action in any space and for any time available.

3.1.3 Context-specific ICT support

The value of the information support for the sales representatives depends also on the flexibility the support provides to them in terms of how it can be tailored to changing work contexts.

The context where the sales representatives operate can have implications in terms of the appropriate communication medium that gives the support. For example, during sales visits the mobile phone is not appropriate for communication between the sales representative and his or her colleagues. Indeed, during their sales visits the sales representatives have to adapt to the situation of "technology etiquette" and turn off their mobile phone or put it in a meeting mode. In this case a text message would be more appropriate as the sales representative can read the information and potentially exploit it during his/her interaction with the customer. Likewise, as the sales representative moves to another context, such as driving the car, his or her physical and cognitive abilities become absorbed by the activity he/she is performing.

Step 3.2: Analysing M-ICT support characteristics

In this section I will discuss to what extent the key characteristics of M-ICT could fit the target-barriers requirements in terms of new ICT support (c.f. figure 7.3).

3.2.1 Timely information support

The timely information support attribute of M-ICT could enable the development of mobile solutions that would support the sales representatives in dealing with a number of barriers to efficiency and effectiveness they face in the field. For example, the study shows that identifying an alternative physician to visit in the event of an unexpected cancellation of an appointment is one major barrier to efficiency the sales representatives face. With a wirelessly connected mobile device, the sales representative could have access to sales contacts to identify other possible customers situated near the location of the physician who cancelled the meeting. With this sales contact information, the sales representative could then identify the contacts he or she knows in a large hospital situated nearby where he or she can do prospecting activities to find another physician to visit. In addition, the sales representative could receive, according to his/her location, information support about possible prospects to visit. In this case it would suffice for the sales representative to notify his or her request to the service provider to receive directions about possible physicians located nearby. Similarly, the ability of the sales representative to input into the corporate system the cancellation of a meeting with a physician as soon as it happened would enable the field secretaries to be aware of the problem as it occurred. As a result, the field secretaries, with their experience of booking meetings for the sales representatives with physicians, could help the sales representatives in identifying an alternative contact or prospect located in the same area as the location of the physician who cancelled the meeting. The field secretary could also help the sales representatives identify possible contacts in the area where the sales representative's coming meeting is situated. Furthermore, the sales representative can monitor the booking actions the secretary has undertaken or is planning to take, anytime he/she has time available.

Information alerts in the form of e-mails would enable both the sales management team and colleagues to share useful information on different topics including physicians' experiences with the company drugs, market and intelligence information. With a wirelessly connected device the sales representatives could read such alerts while on the move and proactively reflect them during his or her face-to-face meetings in order to meet physicians' information requirements.

The sales representatives' possibility of accessing the corporate database both before and during sales visits has the potential to enhance their ability to deal with physicians' questions that the sales representatives might find difficult. As the mobile device with a wireless connection is convenient to carry and does not require boot-up time in order to get it ready for action, the sales representative could connect to the corporate database during the sales meeting and try to find the information for the physician.

3.2.2 Ubiquitous terminals

A mobile terminal in the form of a PDA, smart phone or a communicator can be mobilised to meet the sales representatives' information access and communication needs irrespective of location as they are on hand all the time. A connected lightweight terminal on hand anywhere would enable the sales representative to work anywhere and whenever time is available. This would provide the sales representatives with solutions to the barriers they face especially in terms of enhancing the productivity of their working time in the field. For example, immediately after making a call, the sales representatives could complete all reporting by means of a handheld device. This could happen just after the meeting or, if the sales representative has some time available, before the following meeting. At the next available opportunity, the sales representative can upload the sales call information he or she has obtained to the corporate database.

Reporting information gleaned from sales visits after each sales meeting has a number of advantages for the sales representatives' performance. Firstly, the accuracy of the sales information would improve compared with reporting all information obtained from meetings at the end of the working day or the weekend. Secondly, doing all reporting activities during sales trips would obviate the need to do those tasks at home, at the expense of rest time. Furthermore, for the sales representatives to be able to upload their sales reports after each meeting would provide the sales team with quick insights into field activity and physicians' behaviour as well as give useful information about the physicians' experience with the company's drugs. With the insights collected from the sales representatives, the sales management team can provide the sales representatives with orientation such as rebuttals to prepare the sales representatives to deal effectively with physicians' questions and competition dynamics. Finally, quick reporting of information from sales visits by the sales representatives into the corporate database would enable the sales representatives to rapidly share useful information about physicians' experience with the company's drugs. They can then use such information in their interaction with the physicians they visit. This would have the potential to support the sales representatives when dealing with the challenges to both provide physicians with new information during each sales meeting and to disseminate useful experiences of company products among the physicians they visit.

A wirelessly connected mobile device would also enable the sales representative to check e-mails whenever he or she faces opportunities of free time in the field. The ability of the sales representative to access e-mail capabilities whenever time was available would enable him or her to make productive use of his or her time during sales trips. Instead of just waiting for the next meeting, the sales representative could check his or her e-mail and reply to urgent ones.

Access to e-mails during sales trips would shorten the time it takes the sales representative to submit a reply to a physician's question. The sales representative would not need to wait until reaching home and checking whether his or her colleagues at the home office had submitted the answer to the question he or she found difficult. The sales representative could check whether or not he/she had received an answer from colleagues, whenever there was time available. As soon as the colleague submitted the answer, the sales representative could forward it to the physician, which would shorten the process of dealing with physicians' questions. Additionally, the ability to check e-mails during sales trips would enable the sales representatives to be aware of the information the physician requested and reply to them as soon as he/she had some spare time. This would enhance his or her responsiveness as perceived by the physicians. With the possibility of checking e-mail during sales trips and replying to urgent ones, the sales representatives could make efficient use of the working day. Therefore he or she would have more time once at home, which he or she could devote to the family or to more value- generating activities such as updating his or her knowledge base.

3.2.3. Adaptive-communication

Another attribute of M-ICT is that it can provide flexibility to the sales representatives in terms of the communication medium that they could select when it comes to collaboration and coordination in the field with co-workers. The communication medium carrying the information support can take such forms as SMS, MMS, e-mail, phone call, pushed alert or real-time access to database.

The selection of the communication medium would depend on both the environment where the sales representative is operating (e.g. face-to-face meeting with a customer, in a train or restaurant) and his or her information support value chain (provider versus receiver of the support). For example, knowledge of a sales representative's current activity through a shared mobile calendar would enable co-workers to select the communication medium that fits his or her contextual environment. A co-worker could push a text message to the sales representative's smart phone if the sales representative is in a face-to-face meeting, thus enabling him/her to read the alert and potentially exploit it during his/her interaction with the physician. Likewise, depending on the time the sales representative has available for coordination, he/she could make a phone call to the secretary for coordination in terms of booking appointments with physicians, or just connect to the corporate database, check the secretary's booking actions and input his or her comments.

The fit between the medium and the context has the potential to reduce the functional deficiency of information overload, where the amount of information that the sales representatives encounter extends his/her cognitive processing capacity. For example, although information support could be highly relevant to the task on hand for the sales representative, unless it is provided using the appropriate communication medium, it may have an overloading rather than supporting impact (e.g. receiving market information via a phone call during a sales encounter with a physician).

3.2.4. Simple and natural input /output

A hands and eyes-free approach using audio-based augmentation would enable the user to perform simultaneously other tasks while listening or speaking (Martin, 1989). This is of great interest to the sales representative whose need for information support is both time-dependent and spaceindependent. Speech augmentation would provide the sales representatives with a simple and natural mechanism to enhance the productivity of their working time even in situations where their cognitive and physical capabilities are engaged in other activities such as driving the car. For example, with a speech-based data entry, after each sales visit the sales representative could make a voice entry of the information he or she had gained from the meeting with the physician. Likewise, as the sales representatives spend a large proportion of their time driving from one location to another, they can make voice-based entry of the sales reports while driving. They could also update their knowledge base by listening to market and technical information, e-mail notifications, news update and calendar events while driving from one location.

Step 3.3: Analysing the Fit

The above analysis of M-ICT characteristics showed that M-ICT has the potential to fit the target-barrier requirements in terms of information support. Following the metaphors depicted in the BTS matrix (cf. Fig. 7.2), M-ICT can be freedom technology, opportunity technology, and convenience technology for the sales representatives. As discussed in the previous section, M-ICT has the potential to free the sales force from the barriers located in the lower-right quadrant of the BTS matrix (Fig. 7.2). It also has the potential to be an *opportunity ICT* for the barrier related to providing physicians with new information during each sales visit. Although the sales representatives could use the laptop system at home to gather new information for the physicians they plan to visit, M-ICT through alert systems can free the sales representative from such tasks. This would enable the sales representatives to update their knowledge base in the field without the need to devote time at home for knowledge updates, at the expense of family or rest time. Additionally, M-ICT could be a "convenience" for the barrier of coordinating with field secretaries in the field and the barrier of physicians who do not like the sales representatives to call them during work hours (cf. lower-left quadrant in Fig. 7.2). For example, an M-ICT solution could enable the sales representative to check in real time the booking the secretary has made. Similarly, for the barrier of the physicians who do not like the sales representatives calling them during working hours; a convenience mobile solution could be to construct a shared virtual space to link the sales representative with the physician. For example, each time the physician has a drug-related question he or she can enter it into the virtual shared space created, which may be running over the Internet. Then the sales representative would receive notification over his or her mobile device each time the doctor enters a question. When the sales representative has some time available (e.g. between two meetings), he or she may try to enter his answer on the shared page.



Fig.7.3 the BTF framework applied to Pharma case

Step 4: Results of the analysis through the BTS and BTF frameworks

The results of scanning the barriers to performance the sales force face during the course of their mobile work day through the BTS (cf. Fig 7.2) and BTF frameworks (c.f. 7.3 figure) enabled me to conclude that Pharma sales force needs a new ICT support and that M-ICT could provide them with an appropriate support to deal with the target barriers to performance. Hence as shown in the BTF framework (c.f. Figure 7.3) if the M-ICT is implemented, the sales representatives will first perceive it as useful and then integrate its usage into their everyday work life in order to deal with the target barriers.

7.3 Follow up study: Evaluating the success of the implemented mobile system in helping the sales representatives to deal with the barriers

As Pharma implemented a mobile system for its sales force, I carried out a follow-up study. The purpose of this study was to examine to what extent the sales representatives perceived the implemented mobile system useful and integrate it into their work day in order to deal with the target barriers. This study also aimed at refining the BTS and the BTF frameworks and at collecting insights about the nature of the accompanying organizational support that would ensure a successful implementation of the mobile system implemented.

7.3.1 The mobile system implemented

The mobile system implemented consists of providing members of the sales force with wireless access to the business information stored in their company's database, e-mail, calendaring, enterprise applications and to the Internet. Such mobile applications are run over a Nokia 9500 Communicator. In addition to office tools (e.g. Word and Excel, e-mail attachments, PowerPoint editor and viewer), the communicator includes Bluetooth and an integrated camera. It also supports both voice and messaging services such as multimedia messaging (MMS), e-mail, text messaging (SMS) and fax (see <u>www.nokia.com</u> for more details). The sales representatives can also synchronise data between their communicator and desktop. The mobile system runs over the GPRS network.

With the implemented mobile system the sales representatives can check email, view and edit attachments. They can also create presentations, adjust their calendar, locate crucial customer information in the corporate database, instant-message colleagues, enter and upload sales visits reports to the company customer database. Implementation of the mobile system was carried out by a software development company. In addition to implementing the system, the company was responsible for providing training to the sales force as well as support. The training was basically technical and consisted of introducing the mobile system to the sales force and teaching them how to operate its basic functionalities.

7.3.2 A qualitative investigation

In order to explore both the extent to which the implemented mobile system supported the sales representatives in dealing with the barriers to performance we discussed in section 7.2.2 and issues for the implementation of the system, I collected data through observation on two field sales trips with one sales representative. The results of this study are reported in <u>paper 4.</u>

The results showed that the mobile system has been used by the sales representative to deal with certain barriers for which the system's usefulness was apparent to him. However, the system remains under-utilised in terms of helping the sales representative to minimise or remove other barriers that affect his efficiency and effectiveness in the field (e.g. identifying an alternative physician to visit in the event of an unexpected cancellation of a meeting, providing physicians with both new information during sales visits and the experiences with other physicians). For those barriers it appeared that the sales representative lacks knowledge about how the mobile system could support him in dealing with them. As a result, although the system has the potential to provide the necessary support, it is not used, as its usefulness is not apparent to the sales representative.

The results of the qualitative study suggest that Pharma could increase the sales representatives' usage of the system by providing training that goes beyond the technology to focus on the sales representatives' work system. Training from a work-system perspective would demonstrate to the sales representatives how the various features of the system could support their tasks and help them deal with the barriers they encounter. In the light of such knowledge the sales representative could assess the usefulness of the system's features in connection with his or her tasks as well as the barriers to performance he or she faces, and decide which features of the system to integrate into his or her work day (c.f. figure 7.4). The constructs in Figure 7.4 represent the relationship between events and outcomes in a process way.



Figure 7.4 Framework based on results of qualitative investigation

7.3.3 Survey

In order to validate the findings derived from the qualitative investigation, a survey involving all Pharma's 14 sales representatives was conducted. The instrument used was a questionnaire. The design of the questionnaire was based on the information collected during the field sales trips, the literature about information technology adoption as well as input from the company sales managers. An initial draft of the questionnaire was sent to the company sales managers for input and approval. The initial version of the questionnaire was later refined with the help of a pre-test involving one sales representative, the sales representatives' sales manager and an academic expert, which led to some adjustments: some questions were modified to increase their clarity for the respondents, others were deleted or added.

The questionnaires were distributed as attachments via e-mail to all the company's sales representatives. Pharma managers regularly use e-mail to communicate with the sales representatives. The e-mail addresses of the sales representatives were provided by the company sales manager.

Once the e-mail survey was completed by the sales representative, his/her response was sent directly to the researcher to maintain confidentiality. Respondents were assured of the confidentiality of the information they provided and that only averaged and anonymous data would be used in any report. Out of the 14 members of the sales force, 13 responses were received.

In the following I will present a summary of the survey's results. It is important to note that those results are reported in more detail in paper 4.

The specific constructs included in the questionnaire are summarised in the following:

• Perceived usefulness

Seddon (1997) defines perceived usefulness as "the degree to which the stakeholder believes that using a particular system has enhanced his or her job performance or his or her group's performance." Perceived usefulness was measured by adapting Davis's instrument to specifically reference the usefulness of the mobile system in dealing with the barriers to performance the sales representatives face. Also, the future-orientation of Davis's instrument was changed to reflect past usage. Ratings were made on a five-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 1 to 5, where 1 = I agree with the statement, 2 = partially agree, 3 = don't know, 4 = partially disagree and 5 = disagree.

• Perceived ease of use

Davis (1989) defines perceived ease of use as "the degree to which the prospective user expects the technology to be free of effort". Perceived ease of use was measured by adapting Davis's instrument to specifically include factors observed in the field study that make the system difficult to use, such as a slow data connection, small screen and keyboard. Responses were measured on a five-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 1 to 5, where 1=I agree with the statement, 2 = partially agree, 3 = don't know, 4 = partially disagree and 5 = disagree.

• Perceived ease of integration

Ease of integration reflects the degree to which the representative perceives that he/she was provided with appropriate training and support to use the mobile system in order to deal with barriers to performance. Perceived ease of integration was measured by adapting the instrument developed by Jones et al. (2002). All the responses were measured on a five-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 1 to 5, where 1=I agree with the statement, 2 = partially agree, 3 = don't know, 4 = partially disagree and 5 = disagree.

• Usage of mobile system

System usage refers to the frequency with which the system was used by the sales representatives to carry out a list of operations in the field, on a scale

of 1 to 5, where 1= always using the mobile system to carry out the operation described by the statement, 2 = often, 3 = sometimes, 4 = seldom, 5 = never. System usage was measured by adapting an instrument developed by Engel and Barnes (2000).

We also included in the questionnaire internal factors that have been shown to influence user information technology. Such factors include personal innovativeness, subjective norms, and compatibility with existing systems.

• Personal innovativeness

Personal innovativeness refers to the degree to which an individual is earlier in adopting new ideas than other members of a group (Jones et al. 2002). Personal innovativeness was measured by adapting a three-item instrument developed by Jones et al. (2002). Responses were measured on a five-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 1 to 5, where 1= agree with the statement, 2= partially agree, 3 = don't know, 4 = partially disagree and 5 = disagree.

• Subjective norms

Subjective norms indicate the degree to which a person perceives that his or her superiors, peers and customers would want him or her to use a particular system (Jones et al. 2002). Subjective norms were measured by adapting an instrument developed by Jones et al. (2002). Responses were measured on a five-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 1 to 5, where 1= agree with the statement, 2 = partially agree, 3 = don't know, 4 = partially disagree and 5 = disagree.

• Compatibility with existing systems

Compatibility with existing systems is defined as the degree to which the innovation fits with the adopters' existing values, previous experiences, and current needs (Jones et al. 2002). Compatibility with existing systems was measured by adapting a three-item instrument developed by Jones et al. (2002). Responses were measured on a five-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 1 to 5, where 1= agree with the statement, 2 = partially agree, 3 = don't know, 4 = partially disagree and 5 = disagree.

The questionnaire also included two open questions. One was related to suggestions about how the mobile system could be further improved to fit their job requirements. The other was about the number of weekly hours the sales force members carry out work-related tasks at home both before and after implementation of the mobile system.

7.3.3.1 Survey's results

The survey results show that the majority of the sales representatives interviewed regard the mobile system as compatible with their work and they do not use it just because of the influence of their colleagues or supervisor The majority find it easy to use in general; despite some reported barriers such as slow data communication, small screen and keyboard, which were a problem for certain sales representatives.

Moreover, more than half report that they have access to the support they need if they face a problem in operating the mobile. Additionally, more than the half of the interviewed sales representatives agrees with the statement that when they need work-related information in the field about physicians they should visit, they find it available in their company database. The results also reveal certain innovativeness among the sales representatives in terms of using information technology

However, with regard to perceived usefulness, the results show that for certain barriers that do not require advanced training; the perceived usefulness for the majority of the sales representatives was high. Those barriers include making productive use of dead time during sales visits (e.g. sending and receiving e-mails, preparing sales reports), difficulty in coordinating with field secretaries in the field, enhancing the quality of reports on sales visits and carrying out work-related tasks at home. For those barriers the basic technical training the sales representatives received in operating the system (e.g. learning how to access the corporate database, enter and upload sales reports, compose e-mails), allows the representatives to assess how the capabilities of the system could support them in dealing with such barriers, and thus the usefulness of the system was apparent. However, for other barriers such as unexpected cancellations, physicians'

However, for other barriers such as unexpected cancellations, physicians' information requirements, and physicians' unanswered questions; the majority of the sales representatives do not regard the system as useful.

The results regarding the sales representatives' usage of the mobile system to deal with the barriers corroborate the findings about the sales representatives' perceived usefulness of the mobile system. The sales representatives use the mobile system in order to deal with the barriers for which the system's usefulness is quite obvious to them. Indeed, the sales representatives use the mobile system's solutions to deal with such barriers as making productive use of dead time during sales visits, difficulty in coordinating with field secretaries in the field, and carrying out work-related
tasks at home. For those barriers the majority of the sales representatives perceive the mobile system support as useful.

However, the majority of the sales representatives interviewed do not seem to fully use the mobile system to deal with the other barriers such as (i) unexpected cancellations of appointments with physicians, (ii) dealing with physicians' information requirements in terms of providing them with both new information and the experiences of other physicians with the company's drugs and (iii) dealing with long delays in answering physicians' outstanding questions. For those barriers, the survey shows a similar pattern for the sales representatives' perceived usefulness of the mobile system. That is, the majority of the sales representatives do not perceive the mobile system to be useful in helping them deal with those barriers.

The above results suggested that the sales representatives need an advanced training which is not merely technical. The sales representatives need training from a work system perspective that would help them assess how the mobile system functionalities could help them deal with the barriers they face so that they can see its usefulness and integrate its usage into their everyday routines

This was further confirmed by the fact that more than the half of the sales representatives disagree with the statement that the training they received, which was merely technology-driven, was sufficient. Likewise, more than the half of the sales representatives disagree that the information about the capabilities of the mobile system sufficient. Also, more than half of the interviewees report that it would be useful if they could get help and support on how to use each feature of the mobile system to support their tasks and to enhance their performance. The sales representatives' answers to the open question about how the mobile system could be further improved to suit their job requirements strengthened such a pattern. More training in terms of using the system's capabilities was the second most frequently mentioned suggestion for improvements; as one rep wrote:

Everybody knows the basic features. What now should be done is to organise a new training event to go through all the possibilities that you can use the communicator for. I doubt that very many of us truly know all that can be done with the communicator

7.3.4 Revision of the BTF framework

The empirical study focused on the M-ICT success, and showed that the sales representatives were in general pleased with the initiative to use the mobile system. The majority reports that the mobile system is compatible with all aspects of their work, and fits well with both their work style and the way they like to work. They also used it in order to deal with certain

barriers for which its usefulness was clear to them. However, in terms of dealing with other barriers the system was not fully exploited by all members of the sales force.

The study also raised a major implementation issue: training. Many IT scholars have indeed argued that facilitating conditions such as training and support have a favourable impact on technology use (see e.g. Good & Stone, 2000; Venkatesh et al., 2003; Davis, 1989; Igbiria & Tan, 1997). Research reports on adoption of information technology by sales forces also supported those propositions (Jones et al.2002; Pullig et al. 2002; Ahearne, 2005; Buehrer et al. 2005). The researchers recommend providing users with the necessary knowledge of how to operate the technology in order to enhance its adoption. However, to my knowledge none of those studies took the step to specify the nature of training that would enhance adoption by the sales force. In those studies training has been examined broadly together with other variables, such as support, and both included among the facilitating conditions. Moreover, training was approached in the technology adoption studies mainly from a technical perspective, i.e. providing users with instructions and guidelines on how to operate the technology (e.g. Ahearne et al. 2005)

The results of the follow up study suggest that the sales force needs not only technology-driven training (e.g. learning how to operate the technology) but also training from the work-system perspective. In other words, training needs to provide guidance to the sales force on how the various capabilities of the technology could support their tasks and performance. The majority of the sales representatives who participated in the study were not satisfied with the training (only technical) they had received. On the other hand, they wanted a training that would enable them to find out how the various capabilities of the implemented mobile system would support their everyday tasks. Indeed, in a number of information systems implementations, firms tend to provide the sales force with a quick technical training and leave them with the task of finding applications of the system to support their work, believing that their sales force already understands enough of PC basics to make it work. Erffmeyer's et al.(2001) study of firms' expectations from an investment in SFA, reveal that a limited number of firms participating in their study offer training to support their SFA efforts. They also found that a third of the sales representatives were frustrated by the way training was handled. Such an attitude was expressed in a comment by one national sales manager who participated in their study: "the owners think this is overvalued. They refer to my laptop and training as executive time suckers".

The empirical results I found on the need for training from a work-system perspective enable me to revise the BTF framework. That is done by integrating training from a work system perspective as an event that precedes the perceived usefulness construct (cf. Fig. 7.5).



Figure 7.5 The BTF framework revised

Chapter 8

Conclusions

The overall aim of this dissertation has been to investigate how M-ICT could provide a value adding support to pharmaceutical sales representatives when they are operating within a mobile work setting. In the following I will summarize the answers to the primary and revisited questions based on my theoretical and empirical results.

Question 1: What factors would influence pharmaceutical sales force's adoption of *M*-*I*CT?

The literature review about the sales force's adoption of SFA technologies showed that perceived usefulness is a strong factor that influences the sales force adoption. When the usefulness of the information technology support is not apparent to the sales force, salespersons may regard the technology as a disturbing rather than a supporting factor for the sales process. Hence, they either reject it or underutilize it. As Jones et al. (2002) observed, sales representatives are evaluated based on their sales results. Therefore, if they do not see a clear benefit of how the technology use will enhance their productivity, they may choose to reject the SFA. The study carried out by Speier and Venkatesh (2002) showed that the negative reaction of salespeople after an implementation of the SFA system may be detrimental to the company. In their study the reaction manifested itself not only as a wide rejection of the technology but also as an increased absenteeism and voluntary turnover. According to the authors, the reason for such a reaction stems from the lack of fit between the technology and the sales force, resulting in salespeople perceiving the technology as disruptive to the sales process.

The review also showed that the role of management is crucial to ensuring the success of the ICT investment for the sales force. In order to ensure the success of SFA implementation a number of authors recommend that the sales force should be actively involved with management in understanding the potential value of the technology before purchase and implementation (Speier and Venkatesh, 2002). Similarly Rangarajan et al. (2005) encourage managers to clarify expectations tied to technology and to invest in a technology that salespeople perceive to be useful. Gohmann et al. (2005 a) recommend that managers should solicit input from the sales force during the initial stages of the decision making process about the technology and communicate how the new technology will improve its performance. Sales force input may create a sense of ownership and increase the likelihood that the technology will be accepted and utilized. The review also suggests that training is an important accompanying organizational factor that would ensure the success of M-ICT implementation for the sales force

Question 2: Could M-ICT provide value-adding support to pharmaceutical sales representatives when they are operating within a mobile work setting?

The literature review regarding the factor that would influence the sales force's adoption of SFA technologies allowed me to conclude that for M-ICT to provide a value adding support to pharmaceutical sales representatives, they should perceive it as useful regarding supporting their every day work routines. Additionally, management should involve the sales force in M-ICT investment decision. Management should also clearly determine how M-ICT could productively support its sales force in order to be able to communicate its benefits to the sales force members.

With this dissertation I have presented and tested an approach that would help management deal with the problem of proactively determining how M-ICT could provide their sales force with a value adding support when they are operating within a mobile work setting. This approach is based on the two models that I constructed (i.e. BTS and BTF frameworks).

The BTS framework (c.f. Fig.6.2) aims at finding the targeted gaps where a new ICT support is needed, based on both prospective users' barriers that hamper their performance and the effectiveness of existing ICT support available to them. The purpose is to sort out target barriers where a new ICT is needed and could provide a value adding support to users. A value-adding support means here freeing the users from something negative. That is, providing users with a *freedom ICT* that has the potential to free them from the barriers that they the face frequently and for which the ICT support they have fail in supporting them effectively (cf. Help-me quadrant in Fig. 6.2).

The identification of the barriers requiring new ICT (cf. Help-me quadrant in Fig. 6.2) would allow the management to determine proactively whether or not M-ICT could be an appropriate form of ICT to help their sales force deal with target-barriers. If M-ICT proved to meet the requirements of the barriers in terms of support, then its added value would be clear and rests on meeting an unanswered need among the members of the sales force since it provides them with freedom from the barriers that still impede their performance.

A value adding support would also rest on the expansion of possibilities that an ICT could give to the sales force in terms of support in order to deal with the barriers that they face frequently. However, the existing technology provides appropriate technology support (cf. show me quadrant in Fig 6.2). In this case the new technology would be an *opportunity ICT* and must offer superior capabilities (e.g. easier use, better performance, lower cost) that would entice people to adopt it. In other words, people should be "sold" on the opportunities offered by the new technology compared with the existing one in order for them to consider a change. In terms of M-ICT support for the sales force the question will be to assess, how M-ICT, given its key characteristics and limitations, could expand the possibilities of ICT support better than the technologies available to the sales force. If M-ICT can provide the sales force with better support than existing technologies, then its added value potential would rest on expanding possibilities that the ICT support could give to the sales force. Indeed, there would be no reason to provide the sales force with M-ICT unless doing so adds better possibilities in terms of support.

The BTS framework helps also to sort out barriers for which a new ICT is not urgently needed. Those are barriers that people face only occasionally and the existing technologies do not provide them with appropriate support to deal with them (cf. why not quadrant in Fig 6.2). In this case the new technology would be merely a *convenience ICT* for people by offering support for barriers that individuals do not care a lot about. Providing the sales force with M-ICT support to deal with those barriers should not be seen as a priority. Indeed, in this case it would be difficult for management to demonstrate the usefulness of the M-ICT to the sales force, especially if it requires time and effort from them in order to master the new technology.

Finally, the BTS framework helps to sort out barriers where a new ICT is not needed. This refers to the situation where people occasionally face certain barriers and the existing technologies provide an appropriate support to deal with them (cf. don't disturb me quadrant in Fig. 6.2). In this case, the new technology would have merely a *feature* impact. It would add new features to technologies that support people appropriately in dealing with the barriers that they face occasionally. Moreover, the new technology may have a disturbing impact on people if they have to spend time learning how to operate it. For the sales force, the main goal of ICT support is to re-direct less productive time and effort toward the sales force's main priority: selling (Honeycutt et al.2005). However, if M-ICT support could provide solutions to barriers that the sales force face only occasionally and the existing ICT support is effective in helping them deal with those barriers, then it would be difficult to justify its usefulness. Moreover, providing those technologies to the sales force may be value-eroding if the sales force has to spend time learning how to operate M-ICT at the expense of selling.

The BTF framework builds on the output of the BTS framework and aims at providing guidance about how to select the appropriate technology support for the target barriers, i.e. barriers requiring a new ICT, detected through the BTS tool. The BTF framework involves pre-defining a profile of ICT support for the target barriers. Then analyzing the degree of fit between the constructed predefined ICT support and the characteristics of a candidate ICT (e.g. M-ICT). If the fit is achieved, then useful ICT applications will be designed to support the sales force in dealing with the identified barriers, otherwise an alternative candidate ICT support has to be considered. As the prospective adopters will perceive the ICT applications to be useful in supporting them to deal with the target barrier; they will integrate their usage within the structure of their everyday life routines in order to deal with the target barriers.

With the approach I proposed, management could deal with a number of barriers that impede the sales force's adoption of ICT that I discussed in chapter 4. The usefulness is not apparent to the sales force has been shown as a major barrier that hinders the sales force adoption of ICT (cf. table 4.1). A number of researchers (e.g. Rangarajan et al. 2005; Gohmann et al. 2005 a) recommend that management invests in a technology that salespeople perceive to be useful and clearly demonstrates its benefits to the sales force. The proposed approach would help management to select an ICT support whose usefulness to the sales force is clear and could be communicated to the sales force members. For instance, by providing the sales force with a freedom ICT or an opportunity ICT, management can easily demonstrate the benefits of the selected new ICT investment to the sales force regarding supporting its everyday work. In case of *freedom ICT*, as I discussed above, the benefits rest on freeing the sales force members from the barriers that they face frequently and for which the ICT support they have fail in supporting them effectively. Similarly in the case of an opportunity ICT, management can show to the sales force its benefits in terms of providing a better ICT support compared to the existing one.

The approach would also allow the management to select an ICT that fits the requirements of the sales force jobs as recommended by Speier and Venkatesh (2002). Indeed the analysis through the BTS and BTF frameworks is based on the barriers that hinder the sales force performance. Removing the barriers would fit the sales force's work as it would benefit many stakeholders: (i) the individual salesperson through enhancing his or her efficiency and effectiveness, (ii) the organisation which would achieve a better bottom line value from improving the performance of its sales force and (iii) the customers who would benefit from a better experience (e.g. better service, better information) as a result of the removal of the barriers that impede the performance of the sales force with whom they interact. Furthermore as shown in the BTF framework, the selection of the ICT support that would help the sales force deal with the targeted barriers is based on the analysis of the fit between the constructed predefined ICT support for the target barriers and the characteristics of a candidate ICT.

Finally the analysis through the BTS and BTF frameworks could be seen as a way of involving the sales force during the decision making process about the technology investment. The models put the sales force's needs, in terms of ICT support to deal with barriers they face, at the centre of analysis and then work back to select the ICT (e.g. freedom ICT, opportunity ICT) that would fit the requirement of the barriers the sales force faces.

<u>Research question3</u>: What accompanying organizational factors would ensure a successful implementation of the M-ICT?

The literature review about the sales force adoption of ICT showed that training is an important accompanying organizational factor that would ensure the success of M-ICT implementation for the sales force. The researchers recommend providing users with the necessary knowledge of how to operate the technology in order to enhance its adoption.

The follow-up study about the success of the implemented mobile system to help Pharma's sales force deal with the barriers they face, showed that training is a major accompanying organizational factor. However the sales representatives who participated in the study require an advanced training that would allow them to find out how the various capabilities of the implemented mobile system would support their everyday tasks. This training would help them to assess the usefulness of the system implemented, so that they can integrate its usage into their everyday routines. Additionally the follow-up study points out to the role of management in encouraging the sales representatives to share knowledge among each other.

Referring to the research question revisited in chapter 6 in order to validate the BTS and BTF frameworks through action as recommended by Gummesson, (2000), I summarise the answers, in light of the case study I carried out. <u>Revisited research question 1</u>: What barriers to performance do pharmaceutical sales representatives face when they are operating in a mobile work setting?

The studies showed that Pharma's sales representatives face a number of barriers to performance before, during and after their daily sales trips. Prior to starting their sales visits, the sales representatives have to find time to review the content of the previous meetings held with the physician and to find out new information not mentioned in previous meetings that the physician may find helpful and interesting. The sales representatives have also to adapt to the shortcomings associated with the technological support they have (the laptop) in order to make sure that the information they need during the working day is available when and where it is required. They make sure to print out in the evening all the documents they consider might be useful during the following day's sales trip.

In the field, the sales representatives face a number of barriers to efficiency and effectiveness. The barriers to efficiency include:

- Physicians not informing in advance in case they cancel an appointment.
- Spending time gaps between meetings just waiting for the upcoming meeting to take place.
- Difficulty of identifying alternative contacts to visit if an appointment is cancelled.
- Physicians requiring a call in advance before arranging a meeting.
- Difficulty in accessing sales contacts in large hospitals.
- Physicians do not like the sales representative to call them during their work hours.

The barriers to effectiveness include:

- Long delay in providing an answer to physicians' outstanding questions.
- Note-taking difficulties during sales visits.
- Difficulty in coordinating with field secretaries in the field.
- Physicians requiring new information during each meeting.
- Physicians appreciating hearing the opinion of other physicians about the company's products.

Once at home after their daily sales trips, the sales representatives have to accomplish work-related activities that they were not able to do during the

day. The time that the sales representatives devote to accomplishing workrelated tasks at home is used at the expense of their rest and family time.

<u>Revisited research question 2</u>: To what extent will existing ICT support help pharmaceutical sales representatives to deal with those barriers?

The analysis of the barriers, with the aid of the BTS matrix, showed that the majority of the identified barriers belong to the lower-right quadrant (i.e. Help-me quadrant) in the BTS matrix. The sales representatives face those barriers frequently during their everyday life routines. However the ICT support available to them in the form of laptop and mobile phone does not provide them with an appropriate support.

The lack of relevant information that could support the sales representatives' actions whenever needed appears to be the main source of most of the barriers the sales representatives face during their sales trips. Useful information that could support both the sales representatives' effectiveness and efficiency in the field might be available. However, they are not accessible when the sales representatives experience a need for them to support their actions. The information is either locked in the corporate database, which the sales representatives cannot access in the field or it is stored in a laptop computer that most of the sales representatives use as a "desktop" at home. Additionally, useful insights remain locked in the sales representative's heads and are not shared with other sales representatives or with the sales management.

The inability to work whenever time is available is the main factor underlying the barriers to efficiency facing the sales representatives. During their sales trips the sales representatives have many opportunities, i.e. time, where they can carry out some of their daily work activities (i.e. administrative work). However, the sales representatives' efforts to exploit such opportunities productively are hindered by the characteristics of the laptop, which does not support "any time work". As a result, the sales representatives extend their working day at the expense of their rest time and work at home to carry out tasks that they could do during the sales trips if they had access to an appropriate information technology support.

The analysis through the BTS framework showed that a new ICT support is needed to free the sales representatives from the target barriers they face.

<u>Revisited research question 3</u>: What type of ICT support will help pharmaceutical sales representatives to remove the barriers to performance they face when they are operating within a mobile work setting? The analysis of the target barriers through the BTF framework showed that the information and communication support the sales representatives need is time-dependent, space-independent and context specific. That is an ICT support that could be accessible anytime and mobilised for action using the lowest possible units of the sales representatives' time. Also an ICT support which is run on a device that is lightweight and flexible enough to get mobilised for action at any place and any time, regardless of how little time is available. The information and communication support needed should also be adaptable to the sales representatives' changing work contexts.

<u>*Revisited research question 4</u>: Will M-ICT fit the ICT support required to remove the barriers to performance that pharmaceutical sales representatives face when they are operating within a mobile work setting?*</u>

The analysis of M-ICT characteristics (i.e. timely information support, ubiquitous terminals, adaptive communication and simple and natural input/output) showed that M-ICT has the potential to fit the target-barriers requirements in terms of information and communication support the sales representatives need.

Following the metaphors depicted in the BTS matrix, M-ICT can be freedom technology, opportunity technology, and convenience technology for the sales representatives. M-ICT has the potential to free the sales force from the barriers located in the lower- right quadrant of the BTS matrix (e.g. performing administrative work at home, managing physicians' outstanding questions, spending time gaps between meetings just waiting for the upcoming meeting to take place, etc.).

M-ICT has also the potential to be an "opportunity" technology for the barrier related to providing physicians with new information during each sales visit. Although the sales representatives could use the laptop system at home to gather new information for the physicians they plan to visit, M-ICT through alert systems can free the sales representatives from such tasks. This would enable the sales representatives to update their knowledge base without the need to devote time at home for knowledge update, at the expense of family or rest time. Additionally, M-ICT could be a "convenience" for such barriers as coordinating with field secretaries in the field and the barriers of physicians do not like the sales representatives to call them during work hours.

<u>Revisited research question 5:</u> If yes, what accompanying organisational factors would ensure a successful implementation of the M-ICT?

The follow-up studies about the success of the implemented mobile system to help the sales representatives to deal with the target barriers raised a major accompanying organisational factor: training.

The majority of the sales representatives who participated in the study were not satisfied with the training (only technical) they had received. On the other hand, they wanted a training that would enable them to find out how the various capabilities of the implemented mobile system would support their everyday tasks. This training from a work system perspective would help prospective users assess the usefulness of the system

The follow-up study also revealed that the mobile system can enhance knowledge-sharing among the sales representatives. However, management support is needed to encourage the members of the sales force to share knowledge with each other. For example, the study shows that sales visits reports are an information source where the sales representatives enter sales visits information, including the nature of questions that physicians they visit ask or useful information about physicians' experiences with company products. Then other sales representatives could access this information and use it as an argument during their sales encounters with physicians. However, the results indicate that the majority of the sales representatives report that they do not frequently retrieve team members' reports from sales visit in order to obtain useful information about physicians' experiences that they can use during their own sales visits. This could be explained by the fact that the current reporting system does not emphasise knowledge-sharing activities, such as storing a useful insight about a physician's experience with company drugs gleaned by one sales representative, for potential use by his/her colleagues. The current reporting system is mainly used as a medium to provide activity records to the sales management team and to enable the sales representatives to store and subsequently review issues discussed in his or her meeting with the physician. As a result, a sales representative may not think it is important to review another team member's sales report if the report contains mainly sales records or the sales representative's personal observations about his/her meeting with the physician. Therefore management should consider encouraging the sales representatives to see the reporting task as more of a knowledge-sharing activity than an administrative duty. The management team could encourage the sales representatives to include in their sales reports information that they perceive as useful about physicians' questions and experiences with the company drug. The company can then collect such insights based on the sales representatives ' sales reports and re-distribute the useful insights to all the sales force in the form e-mail information alerts, after checking them for accuracy and adding their own comments and evaluations.

To sum up, central to my work has been that for M-ICT to provide a value adding support to pharmaceutical sales representatives, it has (i) to provide solutions to clear targeted needs (i.e. target barriers) of pharmaceutical sales representatives; (ii) to be understood not as a stand-alone technology but in relation to the effectiveness of other technologies, which are available to prospective users. Indeed the evaluation of the value adding mechanisms of M-ICT in relation to the support offered by other technologies is particularly important when we are dealing with M-ICT. The physical and computational limitation of mobile devices makes them unfit for some tasks, e.g. providing an overview of large amounts of information; and (iii) to be supported with training from a work system perspective when implemented, as technical training is not enough. That is, training users about the benefits of using the M-ICT implemented in terms of sharing knowledge and supporting their everyday work tasks. The training from a work system perspective would help prospective users assess the usefulness of the system implemented, so that they can integrate its usage into their everyday routines.

8.1 Contribution to research and practice

This dissertation makes a contribution to IS research by conceptualizing the IT artefact that Orlikowski and Iacono (2001) found as missing in IS research.

IS research has been characterized by a dominance of behavioural and information system evaluation work. Behavioural research in IS build on theories that seek to inform researchers and practitioners of the interaction among people, technology and organizations that must be managed if an information system is to achieve its stated purpose (Hevner et al.2004).

The second dominant direction, information systems evaluation, focuses on the effects of information systems implemented. In my opinion, between the two foci of research, there is a need for a third focus. This focus should build on the previous two foci and provide managers with normative models that show them not only the dynamics between the pieces of the system implementation puzzle but also how such pieces should be arranged in order to attain the expected system success (Newman & Robey, 1992). Indeed as discussed in chapter 2 a number of IS scholars are calling for more relevance in IS research.

This dissertation seeks to contribute to information systems research by drawing on previously published theories about information systems adoption and success to develop two models that would help managers select an ICT support that could respond to prospective users needs and has the potential to provide them with a value adding support during the course of their everyday work life.

The dissertation has implications for practice by providing managers with normative models that would enable them to identify how a M-ICT could provide a value adding support to their sales force.

8.2 Limitations and future work

The limitations of the study stem from the limited empirical material that is used to validate and refine the normative models developed. The empirical study focused on one technology (i.e. M-ICT) and one segment of workers (i.e. pharmaceutical sales representatives).

As always in science, limitations provide avenues for future work. The normative models developed could be tested with other cases studies with other technologies and/or segments of workers in order to increase their external validity. One avenue would be to apply the frameworks developed in this study to another setting in order to examine whether the normative models will survive another empirical sets of tests. Another interesting avenue would be to re-examine the adoption of the mobile system by the sales force after receiving training from the work system perspective in order to see how the sales representatives have been trained will have an influence on their adoption of the M-ICT. A third avenue of research would be to focus on other segments of knowledge workers (e.g. consultants, auditors) and use the model developed to assess how M-ICT could provide them with a value adding support within the structure of their everyday life.

References

[1] Adams, D.A., Nelson, R.R., and Todd, P.A. (1992) "Perceived usefulness, ease of use, and usage of information technology: a replication", *MIS Quarterly*, Vol.16, No.2, pp227-247.

[2] Agarwal, R., and Prasad, J. (1997) "The role of innovation characteristics and perceived voluntariness in the acceptance of information technologies", *Decision Sciences*, Vol. 28, No.3, pp.557-582.

[3] Agarwal, R., and Prasad, J. (1998) 'The antecedents and consequents of user perceptions in information technology adoption', *Decision Support Systems*, Vol.22, No.1, pp.15-29.

[4] Ahearne, M., and Schillewaert, N. (2001) "The effects of information technology on salespersons' performance", *eBusiness Research Centre* Working papers, Penn State university, pp.1-47.

[5] Ahearne, M., Jelinek, R., and Rapp, A. (2005) "Moving beyond the direct effect of SFA adoption on salesperson performance: training and support as key moderating factors", *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol.34, No.4, pp.379-388.

[6] Ahearne, M., Srinivasan, N., and Weinstein, L. (2004) "Effects of technology on salespersons performance: progressing from technology acceptance to technology usage and consequences", *Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management*, Vol.24, No. 4, pp.297-310.

[7] Alter, S. (1999) "The Siamese twin problem: a central issue ignored by dimensions of information system effectiveness", *Communications of AIS*, Vol. 2, No.20, pp.40-55.

[8] Aungst, S.G., Wilson, D.T. (2005) "A primer for navigating the shoals of applying wireless technology to marketing problems", *Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing*, Vol.20, No.2, pp.59-69.

[9] Avlonitis, G.J., and Panagopoulous, N.G. (2005) "Antecedents and consequences of CRM technology acceptance in the sales force", *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol.34, pp.355-368.

[10] Balasubramanian, S., Peterson, R.A., and Jarvenpaa, S.L. (2002) "Exploring the implications of m-commerce for markets and marketing", *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, Vol. 30, No.4, pp.348-361.

[11] Barkhi, R. (2001) "The effects of decision guidance and problem modelling on group decision-making", *Journal of Management Information Systems*, Vol.18, No.3, pp.259-285.

[12] Barley, S.R., and Kunda, G. (2001)"Bringing Work Back In", *Organization and Science*, Vol.12, No. 1, pp.76-95.

[13] Behrman, J., and Perreault, W. (1982) "Measuring the performance of industrial salespersons". *Journal of business research*, Vol.10, pp.355-370.

[14] Bellotti, V and Bly, S. (1996) "Walking away from desktop computer: distributed collaboration and mobility in a product design team", In *Proceedings of the ACM conference on computer supported collaborative work (CSCW), ACM press,* Boston, Massachusetts, USA, 16th-20th November 1996.

[15] Benbasat, I., Goldstein, D.K., and Mead, M. (1987) "The case research strategy in studies of information systems", *MIS Quarterly*, Vol.11, No.3, pp.369-386.

[16] Benbasat, I., and Zmud, R.W. (1999) "Empirical research in information systems: the practice of relevance", *MIS Quarterly*, Vol. 23, No.1, pp.3-16.

[17] BenMoussa, C. (2006): "Supporting the Pharmaceutical Sales Force through mobile information and communication technologies: An exploratory investigation", In *Proceedings of the Helsinki Mobility Roundtable*, Helsinki, Finland: June 1-2, 2006.

[18] BenMoussa, C. (2006) "Mobile information and communication technologies in the context of the pharmaceutical sales force's work", *TUCS technical reports*, No.749, February, 2006.

[19] BenMoussa, C. (2005) "Supporting sales representatives on the move: A study of the information needs of pharmaceutical sales representatives", In *Proceedings of the 18th Bled e-conference*, Bled, Slovenia, 6th-8th June, 2005.

[20] BenMoussa,C. (2004) "A task-based framework for mobile applications to enhance salespersons' performance", In *Proceedings of IFIP Mobile Information Support Conference*, Oslo, Norway, 15 th-17th September 2004, Kluwer Academic Publisher.

[21] BenMoussa, C. (2004) "Supporting salespersons' CRM efforts through location-based mobile supports systems", *Journal of Systems Science and Systems Engineering*, Vol.14, No.1, pp.97-114.

[22] BenMoussa, C. (2004) "Supporting salespersons through location based mobile applications and services", In *Proceedings of 13E: Fourth IFIP Conference on e-Commerce, e-Business, and e-Government, 18TH IFIP World computer Congress,* Toulouse, France, 22 th-27th August 2004.

[23] BenMoussa, C. (2003) "The effects of mobile commerce on salespersons' performance", In *Proceedings of the Second International Conference on Mobile business*, Vienna, Austria, 23 th-24 th June, 2003.

[24] Behrman D.N., and Perreault. W.D. (1984) "A role stress model of the performance and satisfaction of industrial salespersons", Journal of Marketing, Vol.48, pp.9-21.

[25] Bødker, S. (1996) "Applying activity theory to video analysis: how to make sense to video data in HCI", In: Nardi B, ed., Context and Consciousness: Activity Theory and Human-Computer Interaction, Cambridge, Massachusetts, MIT Press, pp. 147-174

[26] Boer, N., Baalen, P.J., Kumar, K. (2002) "An activity theory approach for studying the situatedness of knowledge sharing", In *Proceedings of the 35th Hawaii International Conference on System Science*, Hawaii, USA, 7th-10 th January, 2002.

[27] Boles J.S., Brashear, D. B., and Barkdale, H. (2000) "Relationship selling behaviour: Antecedents and relationship with performance", *Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing*, Vol.15, Number 2/3 pp. 144-153.

[28] Boles, J.S., Babin, B.J., Brashear, T.G., Charles., and Brooks, C. (2001) "An examination of the relationship between retail work environments, salespersons selling orientation-customer orientation and job performance", *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, Vol.9 (summer), pp 1-13.

[29] Boles, J.S., Johnston, M.W., and Hair, J.F. (1997) "Role stress, work-family conflict and emotional exhaustion: inter-relationships and effects on some work-related situations", *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, Volume 17, No.1, pp.17-28.

[30] Braudel, F. (1979) "Civilisation matérielle, économique et capitalisme XV-XVIII siécle-les structures du quotidian: le possible et l'impossible", Librairie Géneral Francaise, ISBN: 2-253-064556.

[31] Brynjolfsson. E. (1993) "The productivity paradox of information technology", *Communications of the ACM*, Vol.36, No.12 (December 1993), pp.67-77.

[32] Brynjolfsson. E., and Hitt, L. (1998) "Beyond the productivity paradox: Computers are the catalysts for bigger changes", *Communications of the ACM*, Vol.41, No.8, pp.49-55.

[33] Buehrer, R.E., Senecal, S., and Pullins, E.B. (2005) "Sales force technology usage-Reasons, barriers, and support: An exploratory

investigation", Industrial Marketing Management, Vol.34, No.4, pp.389-398.

[34] Burak, A., and Sharon, T. (2004) "Usage pattern of FreindZone-mobile location based community services", In *Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Mobile and Ubiquitous Multimedia*, October 27th-29th, 2004, ACM press.

[35] Bush.A.J., Moore.J.B., and Rocco.R. (2005) "Understanding sales force automation outcomes: A managerial perspective", *Industrial marketing management*, Vol.34, Issue 4, pp 369-377.

[36] Carlsson, C. (1991) "New instruments for management research", *Human Systems Management*, Vol.10, pp.203-220.

[37] Carlsson, C., and Walden, P. (2001) "The mobile commerce quest for value-added products and services", In *Proceedings of SSGRR 2001*, L'Aquila, Italy, August 6th-12th 2001.

[38] Carlsson, C., and Walden, P. (2002a) 'Mobile commerce: a summary of quests for value added products and services', In *Proceedings of 15th Bled eCommerce Conference*, Bled, Slovenia, June 6th-8th 2002.

[39] Carlsson, C., and Walden, P. (2002b) "Extended quests for value-added products and services in mobile commerce", In *Proceedings of International Conference on Decision Making and Decision Support in the Internet Age*, Cork, Ireland, July 4th-7th 2002.

[40] Chan, S.S., Fang, X., Brezezinski, J., Zhou, Y., Xu, S., and Lam, J. (2002) "Usability for mobile commerce across multiple form factors", *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, Vol.3, No.3, pp. 187-199.

[41] Chan, Y.E. (2000) "IT value: the Great difference between qualitative and quantitative and individual and organizational measures", *Journal of Management Information Systems*, Vol. 7, No.3, pp. 281-300.

[42] Chau, P.Y.K., and Hu, P.J. (2002) "Examining a model of information technology acceptance by individual professionals: an exploratory study", *Journal of Management Information Systems*, Vol.18, No.4, pp. 191-229.

[43] Chau, P.Y.K., (1996) "An empirical assessment of a modified technology acceptance model", *Journal of Management Information Systems*, Vol.13, No.2, pp.185-204.

[44] Churchill, G.A., Ford, N.M., Hartley, S.W., and Walker, O.C. (1985) "The determinants of salespersons performance: A Meta analysis", *Journal of Marketing Research*, Vol.22 (May), pp.103-118.

[45] Crosby, L. A, Evans, K.R and Cowles, D. (1990) "Relationship quality in services selling: an interpersonal influence approach", *Journal of Marketing*, Vol. 54, No.3, pp.68-81.

[46] Czeipiel, J.A. (1990) "Service encounters and service relationships: Implications for research", *Journal of Business Research*, Vol. 20, No.1, pp.13-21.

[47] Daft, R., and Lengel, R.H. (1986) "Organizational information requirements, media richness and structural Design", *Management Science*, Vol.32, No. 5, pp.554-571.

[48] Davenport, T.H. (1999) "Knowledge management and the broader firm: Strategy, advantage and performance", Knowledge Management Handbook, edited by Liebowitz, J, Florida: CRC press.

[49] Davenport, T., Markus, A.L. (1999) "Rigor vs. Relevance revisited: Response to Benbasat and Zmud", *MIS Quarterly*, Vol.23, No. 1, pp.19-23.

[50] Davis, F.D. (1989) "Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology", *MIS Quarterly*, Vol. 13, No.3, pp.319-340.

[51] Davis, F.D., Bagozzi, R.P., and Warshaw, P.R. (1989) "User acceptance of computer technology: a comparison of two theoretical models", *Management Science*, Vol.35, No.8, pp.982-1003.

[52] Day, G. (2000) "Managing Market Relationships", *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, Vol.28, No.2, pp 24-30.

[53] DeLone, W. H., and McLean, E.R. (1992) "Information Systems Success: The Quest for the dependent variable", *Information Systems Research*, Vol. 3, No.1, pp.60-95.

[54] DeLone, W. H and McLean, E.R. (2003) "The DeLone and McLean Model of Information Systems Success: A ten-year update", *Journal of Management Information Systems*, Vol. 19, No.4, pp9-30.

[55] Dennis, A.R., Wixom, B.H., and Vandenberg, R.J. (2001) "Understanding fit and appropriation effects in group support systems via meta-analysis", *MIS Quarterly*, Vol.25, No.2, pp.167-193.

[56] Derekenaris, J., Garafalakis, C., Markis., C., Prentzas, J., Sioutas, S., and Tsakalidis, A. (2001) "Integrating GIS, GPS, and GSM technologies for the effective management of ambulances", *Computer Environment and Urban Systems*, Vol.25, No.3, pp.267-278.

[57] Dishaw, M.T, and Strong, D.M. (1999) "Extending the technology acceptance model with task-technology fit constructs", *Information and Management*, No.36, pp. 9-21.

[58] Dishaw, M. T., and Strong, D.M. (1998) "Supporting software maintenance with software engineering tools: A computed task-technology fit analysis", *The Journal of Systems and Software*, Vol.44, pp.107-120.

[59] Drucker, P. (1999) "Knowledge-worker productivity: The Biggest challenge", *California Management Review*, Vol.41, pp.79-94.

[60] Dubinsky, A.J., Howell, R.D., Ingram, T.N., and Bellenger, D.N. (1986) "Sales force Socialization", *Journal of Marketing*, Vol.50, pp.192-207.

[61] Durlacher Research Report, (2001) "M-commerce", Durlacher Research Institute, available at http://www.durlacher.com.

[62] Dulaney, K. (1996) "The automated sales force", *American Demographics* (October, 1996), pp. 56–63.

[63] Eisenhardt, K.M. (1989) "Building theory from case study research", *Academy of Management Review*, Vol.14, No. 4, pp.532-550.

[64] Engeström, Y. (1987) "Learning by expanding: an activity theoretical approach to developmental research", Helsinki, Orenta- Konsultit.

[65] Engel, R. L., and Barnes, M. L. (2000) "Sales force automation usage, effectiveness and cost-benefit in Germany, England and United States", *Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing*, Vol.15, No.4, pp.216-241.

[66] Erffmeyer R.C., and Johnson, D.A. (2001) "An exploratory study of sales forces automation practices: Expectations and realities", *Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management*, Vol.21.No.2, pp. 167-175.

[67] Evans, K.R., and Schlacter, J.L. (1985) "The role of sales managers and salespeople in a marketing information system", *Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management*, Vol.5, No.2, pp.49-58, 1985.

[68] Fagrell, H. (2000) "Mobile knowledge" Doctoral dissertation, Department of informatics, Göteborg University, Sweden.

[69] Fishbein, M., and Ajzen, I. (1975) "Belief, attitude, intention and behaviour: An introduction to theory and research", Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.

[70]Fitzgerald, B. and Howcroft, D. (1998) "Toward dissolution of the IS research debate: from polarization to polarity', *Journal of Information Technology*, Vol.13, No.4, pp.313-327.

[71]Funk, J. L. (2003) "Key technological trajectories and the expansion of mobile Internet applications", In *Proceedings of Stockholm mobility Roundtable*, Stockholm, Sweden, 22th -23th May.

[72]Galliers, R.D. (1992) "Choosing information systems research approaches", In: Information System Research-issues, methods and practical guidelines, Galliers, R (ed), pp. 144-162, Oxford, Blackwell Scientific Publications, 1992.

[73] Gebauer, J., Shaw, M.J. (2004) "Success factors and impacts of mobile business applications: Results from a mobile e-procurement study", *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, Vol.8, No.3, pp.19-41.

[74] Gefen, D., and Straub, D.W. (1997) "Gender differences in the perception and use of e-mail: an extension of the technology acceptance model", *MIS Quarterly*, Vol.21, No.4, pp.389-400.

[75]Giaglis, G.M., and Kourouthanassis, P., Tsamakos, A (2003) "Towards a classification framework for mobile location services", Idea Group Publishing, Hershey, PA, USA.

[76] Gohmann S.F., Guan, J., Barker, R.M., Faulds, D.J (2005 a) "Perceptions of sales force automation: Difference between sales force and management", *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol.34, No.4, pp.337-343.

[77] Gohmann, S. F., Barker, R. M., Faulds, D.J., Guan. J (2005 b) "Sales force automation, perceived information accuracy and user satisfaction", *Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing*, Vol.20, No.1, pp.23-32.

[78] Good, D.J., and Stone, R.W. (2000) "The impact of computerization on marketing performance", *Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing*, Vol. 15, No.34, pp.34-56.

[79] Goodhue, D.L, Wixom,B., and Watson.,H. (2002) "Realizing business benefits through CRM: hitting the right target in the right way", *MIS Quarterly Executive*, Vol. 1, Issue. 2, pp 279-94.

[80] Goodhue, D. L (1995) "Understanding user evaluation of information systems", *Management Science*, Vol.41, No.12, pp. 1827-1844.

[81] Goodhue, D., and Thompson, R.L. (1995) "Task-technology fit and individual performance", *MIS Quarterly*, Vol. 19, No. 2, pp.213-236.

[82] Goodhue, D.L. (1992) "User evaluation of MIS success: What are we really measuring", In *Proceeding of the 25TH Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, Hawaii, USA, January 7th -10th, 1992.

[83] Goodhue, D.L. (1988) "I/S attitudes: Toward theoretical and definitional clarity", *Data Base*, Fall/Winter, pp.6-15.

[84] Goodhue, D.L., Klein, B.D., March, S.T. (2000) "User evaluation of IS as surrogates for objective performance", *Information and Management*, No.38, No.2 pp.87-101.

[85] Gummesson, E. (2002) "Qualitative methods in management research", Sage Publications.

[86] Gilbert. (2004) "No strings attached", *Sales and Marketing Management* (July), pp. 22–27.

[87] Halperin-Donghi, T. (2002) "On Braudel", *Journal of Latin American Cultural Studies*, Vol.11, No.2, pp.107-118.

[88] Han, S. (2005) "Understanding user adoption of mobile technology: focusing on physicians in Finland", Doctoral Dissertation, TUCS Dissertations, No.59, April, 2005.

[89] Hartwick, J., and Barki. H. (1994) "Explaining the role of user participation in information systems use", *Management Science*, Vol.40, No.4, pp.440-465.

[90] Hayes, N. (2001) "Boundless and bounded interactions in the knowledge work process: the role of groupware technologies", *Information and organization*, Vol.11, No.2, pp. 79-101.

[91] Henretta, J. (1979) "Social history lived and written", *American History Review*, Vol.84, No.5, pp.1293-1322.

[92] Heutshi, H., Legner, C., Schiesser, A., Barak, V., Österle, H (2003) " Potential benefits and challenges of e-detailing in Europe", *International Journal of Medical Marketing*, Vol. 3, No.4, pp.263-273.

[93] Hevner, A.R., March, S.T., Park. J., and Ram, S. (2004) "Design science in information systems research", *MIS Quarterly*, Vol.28, No.1, pp.75-105.

[94] Honeycutt, J.E. (2005) "Technology improves sales performancedoesn't?", *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol.34, No.4, pp.301-304.

[95] Honeycutt, J.E., Thelen, T.S., and Sharon, K. (2005) "Impediments to sales force automation", *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol.34, No.4, pp.313-322.

[96] Hu, P.J., Chau, P.Y.K, Liu Sheng, O.R., and Tam, K.Y. (1999) "Examining the technology acceptance model using physician acceptance of

telemedicine technology", Journal of Management Information Systems, Vol.16, No.2, pp.91-112.

[97] Huber, G.P. (1990) "A theory of the effects of advanced information technologies or organizational design, intelligence, and decision making", *Academy of Management Review*, Vol.15, No.1, pp.47-71.

[98] Igbaria, M., Guimaraes, T., and Davis G.B.(1995) "Testing the determinants of microcomputer usage via a structural equation model", *Journal of Management Information Systems*, Vol.11, No.4, pp.87-114.

[99] Ingram, T.N., LaForge, R.W., and Leigh, T.W. (2002) "Selling in the new millennium: A joint agenda", *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol.31, No.7, pp.559-567.

[100] Jones, E., Sundaram, S., and Chin, W. (2002) "Factors leading to sales force automation use: A longitudinal analysis", *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, Vol.22, No.3, pp.145-156.

[101] Kakihara, M., and Sørensen, C. (2003) "Mobile urban professional in Tokyo: Tales from locational, operational, and interactional mobility", In *Proceedings of the Stockholm Mobility Roundtable*, Stockholm, Sweden, 22th -23th, May.

[102] Kakihara, M. and Sørensen, C. (2002) "Mobility: An Extended Perspective", In *Proceedings of the 35th Hawaii International Conference on Systems Science*, Hawaii, USA, 7th -10 th January, 2002.

[103] Kakihara, M. (2003) "Emerging work practices of ICT-enabled mobile professionals", Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, Department of information systems, London School of Economics, U.K., available at http://www.kakihara.org/pub.htm [accessed on December 11, 2005].

[104] Kanavos, P. (2002), "Pharmaceutical Regulation in Europe", pp. 2-10, available at http://www.irpp.org/events/archive/sep02/kanavos.pdf. [Accessed on 15 January, 2006].

[105] Karahanna, E., Straub, D.W., and Chervany, N.L. (1999) "Information technology adoption across time: a cross-sectional comparison of preadoption and post-adoption beliefs", *MIS Quarterly*, Vol.23, No.2, pp.183-213.

[106] Kasanen, E.K., Lukka, K., and Siitonen, A. (1993) "The constructive approach in management accounting research", *Journal of Management Accounting Research*, Vol.5, pp.243-264.

[107] Keen, P, G,W (1991) "Relevance and rigor in information systems research: Improving quality, confidence, cohesion and impact", In:

Information Systems Research: Contemporary approaches and emergent traditions, H-Nissen, H.K Klein and R. Hirshleim (editors), Elsevier Academic Publishers (North Holland), IFIP.

[108] Keen, P., and Mackintosh, R. (2001) "The freedom economy: gaining the m-commerce edge in the era of the wireless Internet', Berkeley, CA: Osborne/Mcgraw-Hill.

[109] Kelly, S. (1992) "Developing customer orientation among service employees", *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Sciences*, Vol. 20, No 1, pp.27-36.

[110] Keillor, B.D., Bashaw, R.E., and Pettijohn ,C.E. (1997). "Sales force automation issues prior implementation: The relationship between attitudes toward technology, experience, and productivity", *Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing*, Vol.12, No. (3/4), pp.209-219.

[111] Keillor, B.D., Parker, R.C., and Pettijohn, C.E. (1999) "Sales force performance satisfaction and aspects of relational selling: Implications for sales managers", *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, Winter, pp.101-115.

[112] Klompmaker, J.E. (1985) "Incorporating information from salespeople into the marketing planning process", *Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management*, Vol.1, Fall-Winter, pp76-82.

[113] Kodz, J., Atkinson, J., and Perryman, S. (1997) "Exchanging skill sales and marketing", Institute for employment studies, Brighton: IES, ISBN 1 85184 2691.

[114] Kotler, P. (1994)"Marketing management: Analysis, planning, implementation and control," 8em edition. Prentice Hall, NJ.

[115] Kristoffersen, S., and Ljungberg, F. (1998) "Representing modalities in mobile computing", In *Proceedings of Interactive applications of Mobile Computing*.

[116] Kuutti, K. (1996) "Activity theory as a potential framework for human-computer interaction", In: Nardi B, ed., Context and Consciousness: Activity Theory and Human-Computer Interaction, Cambridge, Massachusetts, MIT Press, (Third printing).

[117] Laitinen., H, Ahonen. S., and Kyriazakos. S (2001) "Cellular Locations Technologies", Information society technologies, project number: IST-2000-25982 CELLO, (2001).

[118] Lambert, D.M., Marmorstein, H., and Sharma, A. (1990) "The

accuracy of salespersons' perception of their customers: A conceptual examination and empirical study", *Journal of Personnel Selling and Sales Management*, Vol.10, No.1, pp.1-9.

[119] Lee, Y.E., Benbasat, I. (2004) "A framework for the study of customer interface design for mobile commerce", *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, Vol. 8, No.3, pp.79-102.

[120] Lee, Y.H., Kozar, K.A., and Larsen, K.R.T. (2004) "The technology acceptance model: past, present, future", *Communications of AIS*, Vo.12, Article 50, pp.752-780.

[121] Lee, A.S. (1989) "A scientific methodology for MIS case studies", MIS Quarterly, Vol. 13, No.1 1989, pp. 33–50.

[122] Lee, A.S. (1999) "Rigour and relevance in MIS research: beyond the approach of positivism alone", *MIS Quarterly*, Vol.23, No.1, pp.29-33.

[123] Lee, Allen S. (1991), "Integrating positivist and interpretive approaches to organizational research", *Organization Science*, Vol.2, No.4 (November), pp.342-365.

[124] Lee, C.C., Cheng, H.K., and Cheng, H.H. (2005) "An empirical study of mobile commerce in insurance industry: Task-technology fit and individuals difference", *Decision Support Systems*, forthcoming.

[125] Leijfer, SC (1999) "Bringing Business Intelligence to sale Force Automation" *American Salesman*, Vol.44, No.55, pp.26-30.

[126] Liang, T.P., and Wei, C.P. (2004) "Introduction to the Special Issue: Mobile Commerce Applications," *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, Vol. 8, No.3, pp. 7-17.

[127] Lincoln, Y.S and Guba, E.G. (1984) "Naturalistic inquiry", Beverrly Hills, CA: Sage Publications.

[128] Lim, K.H., Benbasat, I. (2000) "The effects of multimedia on perceived equivocality and perceived usefulness of information systems", *MIS Quarterly*, Vol.24, No.3, pp.449-471.

[129] Livari, J., Hirschheim, R., and Klein, H. (1998) "A paradigmatic analysis contrasting information systems development approaches and methodologies", *Information Systems Research*, Vol.9, No.2, pp.164-193.

[130] Luff, P., and Heath, C. (1998) "Mobility in collaboration", In *Proceedings of the ACM conference of Computer Supported Cooperative Work, ACM press*, Seattle, Washington, USA.

[131] Lyytinen, K., Yoo, Y. (2002) "Research commentary: the next wave of nomadic computing", *Information Systems Research*, Vol.13, No.4, pp.377-388.

[132] MacInnes, P. (1998) "Sales reps play the field", Computer Dealer News, No.29.

[133] MacKay, H. (1988) "Humanize your selling strategies", *Harvard Business Review*, Vol.66, 2, pp36-37.

[134] Mackintosh, A. (2004) "Innovation in pharmaceutical marketing strategy: How to overcome the 30-second detailing dilemma", *International Journal of Medical Marketing*, Vol. 4, No.1, pp.15-17.

[135] March, S., Hevner, A., and Ram, S. (2000) "Research commentary: An agenda for information technology research in heterogeneous and distributed environments", *Information Systems Research*, Vol.11, No 4, pp.327-341.

[136] March, S.T. and Smith, G.F. (1995) "Design and natural science research on information technology", *Decision Support Systems*, Vol.15, No.4, pp.251-266.

[137] Markus, M.L., and Robey, D. (1988) "Information technology and organizational change: causal structure in theory and research management", *Management Science*, Vol. 34, No.5, pp.583-598.

[138] Markus, M.L. (1994) "Electronic Mail as the Medium of Managerial Choice", *Organisation Sciences*, Vol.5, pp.502-527.

[139] Mathieson, K., Keil, M. (1998) "Beyond the interface: Ease of use and task/technology fit", *Information and Management*, Vol. 34, pp.221-230.

[140] May, M. and Bøgh, P. (2000) "Organisational Semiotics," chapter In: Instrument Semiotics" Kluwer Academic Publishers.

[141] Meyers, B.L., Kappelman, L.A., and Prybutok, V.R. (1998) "A comprehensive model for assessing quality and productivity of information systems function: towards a theory for information systems assessment" In: Garrity, E.J. and L. Sanders (Eds), Information System Success Measurement, Chapter 6, pp.94-121.

[142] Mingers, J. (2001) "Combining IS research methods: Towards a pluralist methodology", *Information Systems Research*, Vol.12, No.3, pp.240-259.

[143] Mohr, L.B. (1982) "Explaining organizational behaviour", Jossey-Bass, San Fransisco.

[144] Moncrief, W.C. (1986) "Selling activities, and sales positions taxonomies for industrial salespersons", *Journal of Marketing Research*, Vol. 23, August, pp261-270.

[145] Mooney, J.G., Gurbaxani, V., and Kraemer, K.L. (1996) "A process oriented framework for assessing the business value of information technology, *The DATA BASE for Advances in Information Systems*, Vol. 27, No2, pp 68-81.

[146] Moore, G.C., and Benbasat, I. (1991) "Development of an instrument to measure the perceptions of adopting an information technology innovation", *Information Systems Research*, Vol. 2, No.3, pp.192-223.

[147] Morgan, A.J, and Inks, S, A. (2001) "Technology and the sales force: Increasing acceptance of sales force automation", *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol. 30. No.5, pp. 463-472.

[148] Moody, D.L. (2000) 'Building the link between information systems research and professional practice: improving the relevance and impact of IS research', In *Proceeding of the twenty-first International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS-2)*, December 10-13, 2000 Brisbane, Australia.

[149] Mirani, R., Moore, D., and Weber, J.A. (2001) "Emerging technologies for enhancing supplier-Reseller partnership", *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol. 30, No.2, pp. 101-114.

[150] Murthy, U.S., and Kerr, D.S. (2004) "Comparing audit team effectiveness via alternative modes of computer-mediated communication", *Auditing: A Journal of Practice and Theory*, Vol. 23.No.1, pp.141-152.

[151] Murthy, U.S., and Kerr, D.S. (2000) "Task-technology fit and the effectiveness of group support systems: evidence in the context of tasks requiring domain specific knowledge", In *Proceedings of the 33 Hawaii International Conference on System Science*, Hawaii, USA, 4th -7 th January, 2000.

[152] Myers, M.D. (1999) "Investigating information systems with ethnographic research, *Communications of AIS*, Vol.2, No.23, pp.1-20.

[153] Nah, F.F., Siau, K.S., and Sheng, H. (2005) "The value of mobile applications: a utility company study", *Communications of the ACM*, Vol.48, No.2, pp. 85-90.

[154] Nardi, B. (1996) "Context and consciousness: Activity theory and human-computer interaction", Cambridge, Massachusetts, MIT Press, (Third printing).

[155] Newman, M., and Robey, D. (1992) "A social process model of useranalyst relationship", *MIS Quarterly*, Vol.16, No. 2, pp.249-266.

[156] Nielson, C. (2001) "Designing to support mobile work with mobile devices", Doctoral Dissertation, Department of Computer Science, University of Aarhus, Denmark.

[157] Nielsen C., and Sondergaard, A. (2000) "Designing for mobility: an integrative approach supporting multiple technologies", *In Proceeding of Nordic CHI 2000*, Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm, Sweden.

[158] Ngai, E., Gunasekaran, A. (2005) "A review of mobile commerce research and applications", *Decision Support Systems*, forthcoming.

[159] Parthasarathy, M and Sohi, R.S.(1997)"Sales force automation and the adoption of technological innovations by salespeople: theory and implications", *Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing*, Vol.12, No.3, pp.196-208.

[160] Patton, S. (2001) "The truth about CRM", *CIO Magazine*, Vol.14, pp. 16–23.

[161] Perry, M., O'Hara, K., Sellen, A., Brown, B. and Harper, R. (2001), "Dealing with mobility: Understanding access anytime, anywhere", ACM *Transactions on Computer Human-Interaction*, Vol.8, No.4, December 2001, pp323-347.

[162] Pharma 2010: The threshold for innovation, IBM business consulting (2004), available at www.pharmanufacturing.com/whitepapers/2004/1.html. [Accessed on 15 January, 2006].

[163] Pullig, C., Maxham, J. G., Hair, J. F. (2002) "Sales force automation systems: An exploratory examination of organizational factors associated with effective implementation and sales force productivity", *Journal of Business Research*, Vol.55, No.5, pp.401-415.

[164] Oloufa, A.A., Ikeda, M., and Oda, H. (2003) "Situational awareness of construction equipment using GPS, wireless and web technologies", *Automation in Construction*, Vol.12, pp.737-748.

[165] Orlikowski, W.J., and Iacono, C.S. (2001) "Research commentary: Desperately seeking the "IT" in IT research- a call to theorizing IT artefact", *Information Systems Research*, Vol. 12, No.2, pp. 121-134.

[166] Raatikainen, K., Christensen, H., and Nakajima, T. (2002) "Application requirements for middleware for mobile and pervasive systems", *Mobile Computing and Communication Review*, Vol. 6, Number 4, pp.16-24. [167] Rai, A., Lang, S.S., and Welker, R.B. (2002) "Assessing the validity of IS success models: an empirical test and theoretical analysis", *Information Systems Research*, Vol.13, No. 1, pp.50-69.

[168] Rangarajan, D., Jones, E., and Chin, W. (2005) "Impact of sales force automation on technology-related stress, effort, and technology usage among salespeople", *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol.34, No.4, pp-345-354.

[169] Rao, B., and Minakakis, L. (2003) "Evolution of mobile locationbased services", *Communications of the ACM*, Vol.46, No. 12, pp.61-65.

[170] Reichheld, F. (1996) "The Loyalty Effect". Harvard Business School Press, ISBN: 1578516870.

[171] Rheault, D., and Sheridan, S. (2002) "Reconstruct your business around customers", *Journal of Business Strategy*, Vol.23, No.2, p. 38-42.

[172] Robinson, L., Marshall, G.W., and Stamps, M.B. (2005) "An empirical investigation of technology acceptance in a field sales force setting", *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol.34, No.4, pp.407-415.

[173] Román, M., Singhai, A., Carvalho, D., Hess, C., and Campbell, R. (1999), Integrating PDAs into distributed systems:2k and PalmORB, In: Gellersen, H., editor, Handheld and Ubiquitous Computing, Springer, pp.137–149.

[174] Rigby, D.K., Reichheld, F.F., and Schefter, P. (2002) "Avoid the four perils of CRM", *Harvard Business Review*, Vol.80, No.2, pp. 101–108.

[175] Rivers, L.M., and Dart, J. (1999) "The acquisition and use of sales force automation by mid-sized manufacturers", *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, Vol. 19, No.2, pp. 59–73.

[176] Sarker, S., and Wells, J.D. (2003) "Understanding mobile handheld device use and adoption", *Communications of the ACM*, Vol. 46, No.12, pp.35-40.

[177] Saxe, R. and Weitz. B. A.(1982)"The SOCO Scale: A measure of the customer orientation of salespeople", *Journal of Marketing Research*, Vol.19, No.3, pp.343-351.

[178] Schillewaert, N., Ahearn, M.J, Frambach, R.T., Moenaert, R.K. (2005) "The adoption of information technology in the sales force", *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol.34, No.4, pp.323-336.

[179] Scornavacca, E., Barnes, S.J., Huff, S.L. (2005) "Mobile business research 2000-2004: Emergence, current status, and future opportunities", In *Proceedings of ECIS 2005*, Regensburg, Germany.

[180] Schafer, S. (1997) "Supercharged sell", *Inc. Magazine*, Vol.19 (July), pp.42-51.

[181] Shoemaker, M.E. (2001) "A Framework for examining IT-enabled market relationships", *Journal of Personnel Selling and Sales Management*, Vol.21, No.2 pp177-185.

[182] Seddon, P.B., Staples, D.S., Patnayakuni, R., and Bowtell, M.J. (1999) "Dimensions of information systems success", *Communications of AIS*, Vol.2, No.3, pp.1-39.

[183] Seddon, P.B. (1997) "A respecification and extension of the DeLone and McLean Model of IS success", *Information Systems Research*, Vol. 8, No. 3, pp.240-253.

[184] Seddon, P.B, Kiew, M.Y. (1994) "A partial test and development of DeLone and McLean's model of IS success", In *Proceeding of the International Conference of Information Systems*, Vancouver, Canada, pp.99-110.

[185] Sell. A., Walden, P. (2006) "Mobile digital calendar: An interview study", In *Proceedings of the 39th Hawaii international conference on systems science*, Hawaii, USA, 4th-7th January, 2006.

[186] Setten, V. (2003) "Personalised information Systems", Telematica Institute. Report reference: GigaCE/D2.3.

[187] Skelton, N. (2004) "Sales force effectiveness: the new strategic imperative:www.imshealth.com/ims/portal/front/articleC/0,2777,6599_5266 _44494580,00.html [Accessed on 15 January, 2006].

[188] Skiba, B., Johnson, M., and Dillon, M. (2000) "Moving in mobile media mode", Lehamn Brothers, Editor.

[189] Sørensen, C., and Pica, P. (2005) "Tales from the police: mobile technologies and context of work", *Information and Organization*, Vol.15, pp.125-149.

[190] Sørensen, C., Kakihara, M., and Mathiassen, L. (2002) "Mobile services functional diversity and overload", In *Proceedings of New Perspectives On 21st-Century Communications*, Budapest, Hungary, May 24th 25th.

[191] Speier, C., and Venkatesh, V. (2002) "The hidden Minefields in the adoption of sales force automation technologies", *Journal of Marketing*, Vol.66, No.3, pp.98-111.

[192] Sujan, H., Weitz, B., Kumar, N. (1994) "Learning orientation, working smart, and effective selling", *Journal of Marketing*, Vol. 58, July, pp 39-52.

[193] Sujan, H., Weitz, B.A., and Sujan, M. (1988), "Increasing sales productivity by getting salespeople to work smarter", *Journal of Personnel Selling and Sales Management*, Vol.8, No.2, pp.9-11.

[194] Steinback, D. (2005) "The mobile revolution: the making of the worldwide mobile market", Kogan Page publisher.

[195] Swan, J.E., Nolan, J. (1985) "Gaining customer trust: a conceptual guide for the salesperson", *Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management*, Vol.5, No.2, pp.39-48.

[196] Swenson, M.L., and Parrella, A. (1992), "Cellular telephones and the national sales force", *Journal of Personnel Selling and Sales Management*, Vol.12, No.4, pp.67-74.

[197] Swift, R. (2002) "Executive response: CRM is changing our eras, the information we require and our process", *MIS Quarterly Executive*, Vol. 1, No.2, pp95-96.

[198] Straub, D., Keil, M., and Brenner, W. (1997) "Testing the technology acceptance model across cultures: a three country study", *Information and Management*, Vol.33, No.1, pp.1-11.

[199] Subramanian, G.H. (1994) "A replication of perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use measurement", *Decision Sciences*, Vol.25, No.5/6, pp.863-874.

[200] Sulek, J., and Maruchek, A. (1992) "A study of the impact of an integrated information technology on the time utilization of information workers", *Decision Sciences*, Vol.23, 1174-1191.

[201] Szajna, B. (1994) "Software evaluation and choice: predictive validation of the technology acceptance instrument", *MIS Quarterly*, Vo. 18, No. 3, pp.319-324.

[202] Szajna, B. (1996) "Empirical evaluation of the revised technology acceptance model", *Management Science*, Vol.42, No.1, pp.85-92.

[203] Tarasewich, P., Nickerson, R.C., and Warkentin, M. (2002) "Issues in mobile e-commerce", *Communications of AIS*, Vol.8, pp.41-64.

[204] Tarasewich, P., and Campbell, S.C. (2004) "Towards notification for mobile response teams", In *Proceedings of Context awareness workshop at MobiSys*, Boston, Massachusettes, USA, June 6-9, 2004.

[205] Tarasewich, P., Bhimdi, T., and Dideles, M. (2004) "Increasing the effectiveness of notification cues in mobile environment", In *Proceedings of the tenth Americas Conference on Information Systems (AMCIS 2004)*, New York August 2004.

[206] Tarasewich, P. (2003) "Designing mobile commerce applications", *Communications of the ACM*, Vol.46, No.12, pp.57-60.

[207] Taylor, T.C. (1993) "Computers bring quick return", *Sales and Marketing Management*, (September,) pp 22-25.

[208] Taylor, S., and Todd, P. (1995 a) "Assessing IT usage: the role of prior experience", *MIS Quarterly*, Vol. 19, No.4, pp.561-570.

[209] Taylor, S., and Todd, P. (1995b) "Understanding information technology usage: a test of competing models", *Information Systems Research*, Vol.6, No.2, pp.144-176.

[210] Thetgy, O. (2000) "Radical makeovers: How three companies use strategic planning, training, and support to implement technology on a grand Scale", *Sales and Marketing Management*, September, pp 78-88.

[211] Zigurs, I., and Buckland, B. K. (1998) "A theory of task-technology fit and group support systems effectiveness", *MIS Quarterly*, Vol. 22, No.3, pp. 313-334.

[212] Zigurs, I., Buckland, B.K., Connoly, J.R., and Wilson, E.V. (1999) "A test of task technology fit theory for group support systems", *The Database for Advances in Information Systems*, Vol.30, No. 3, 4, pp.34-50.

[213] Varshney, U., Vetter, R. "A framework for the emerging mobile commerce applications", In *Proceedings of the 34th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, Hawaii, USA, January 03-06.

[214] Venkatraman, N. (1989) "The concept of fit in strategy research: Towards verbal and statistical correspondence", *Academy of Management Review*, Vol.14, No.3, pp.423-444.

[215] Venkatesh, V., and Davis, F.D. (1996) "A theoretical extension of the technology acceptance model: four longitudinal field studies", *Management Science*, Vol. 46, No.2, pp.186-204.

[216] Venkatesh, V., Morris, M.G., and Ackerman, P.L. (2000) "A longitudinal field investigation of gender differences in individual technology adoption decision making-processes", *Organizational Behaviour and Human Decision Processes*, Vol.83, pp.33-60.

[217] Venkatesh, V. (2000) "Determinants of perceived ease of use: integrating control, intrinsic motivation, and emotion into the technology acceptance model", *Information Systems Research*, Vol.11, No.4, pp.342-365.

[218] Venkatesh, V., Morris, M.G., Davis, F.D. (2003) "User acceptance of information technology: toward unified view", *MIS Quarterly*, Vo.27, No.3, pp.425-478.

[219] Venkatesh, V., Morris, M.G., Gordon, B.D., and Davis, G.B., and Davis, F.D. (2003) "User acceptance of information technology: toward a unified view", *MIS Quarterly*, Vol.27, No.32, pp.425-478.

[220] Venkatesh, V., Speier, C., and Morris, M.G. (2002) "User acceptance enablers in individual decision making about technology: toward an integrated model", *Decision Sciences*, Vol.33, No.2, pp.297-316.

[221] Vision and reality survey (2003): Prescription for the smart and lean pharmaceutical company, available at

http://www.ca.capgemini.com/DownloadLibrary/requestfile.asp?ID=368 [Accessed on 03 April, 2006].

[222] Xu, Y., Yen, D.C., Lin, B., and Chou, D.C (2002) "Adopting customer relationship management technology", *Industrial Management and Data Systems*, Vol.102, No.8, pp.442-452.

[223] Yi, J.C., Anandalingam, G., Sorrell, L.A. (2003) "An expert system to physician-detailing planning", *Expert Systems with Applications*. Vol. 25, No.4, pp.533-544.

[224] Yin, R.K. (1994) "Case study research: Design and method" (2nd), Sage Publications, London.

[225] Walsham, G. (1995), "Interpretive case studies in IS research: Nature and method, *European Journal of Information Systems*, Vol.4, No.2, pp. 74-83.

[226] Weilenmann, A. (2003) "Doing mobility", Doctoral dissertation, Department of informatics, Götborg University, ISNN. 1651-8225.

[227] Wiberg. M. (2001), "In between mobile meetings": Exploring seamless ongoing interaction support for mobile CSCW", Doctoral Dissertation, Umeå University, Umeå, Sweden.

[228] Widmier, S. M., Jackson, D.W., and McCabe, D.B. (2002)" Infusing technology into personal selling", *Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management*, Vol. 22, No.3, pp.189-198.

[229]Weeks, W., and Kahle, L.B. (1990) "Salespeople's time use and performance", *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, Vol. 1, pp. 29-37.

[230] Weitz, B., Sujan, H., and Sujan, M. (1986) "Knowledge, motivation and adaptive behaviour: A framework for improving selling effectiveness", *Journal of Marketing*, Vol.50, pp174-191.

[231] Wilkin, C. and Hewitt, B. (1999) "Quality in a respicification of Delone and McLean's IS Success Model", In: Managing Information Technology Resources in the Next Millennium, pp. 663-672, Idea Group Publishing, Hershey, PA, USA.

[232] Zuboff, S. (1985) "Automate/Informate: the two faces of intelligent technology", *Organizational Dynamic*, Vol.14, No.2, pp.5-18.

Appendices

<u>Appendix 1:</u> the questionnaire used in "Pharma's sales Force performance challenges and potential M-ICT support" survey,

<u>Appendix 2:</u> the questionnaire used in "Pharma's sales force usage of the mobile system study" survey.
Appendix 1

Questionnaire on the Sales Force Productivity Challenges and Information Technology Support within a Mobile Work Setting

Dear recipient,

Your opinion and experience are very important in helping us to figure out the nature of the challenges sales representatives face when they are operating within a mobile work environment and how mobile technologies can support them. This study is conducted by researchers at the Institute for Advanced Management Systems Research. Filling out the questionnaire should take only 10-15 minutes to complete. We would be grateful if you can return the questionnaire by e-mail to cbenmous@abo.fi

Survey, Part 1

Please complete the first set of the questionnaire by picking a number from the following five point scale that best show how frequently you face the productivity feature described by each statement, during the course of your everyday work.

Always	Often	Sometimes	Seldom	Never	
1	2	3	4	5	

For example if you think that you always face when you are in the field the productivity feature described by the statement, you would indicate that by typing the number 1 in front of that statement. If you think that you never face the productivity feature described by the statement, you would indicate that by typing the number 5 in front of that statement. If your feelings are less strong type one of the numbers in the middle that best represent your opinion.

(1)____ Doctors with whom I have booked meetings do not inform me in advance in case they want to cancel a meeting with me.

(2)_____ If a doctor, with whom I have booked a meeting, cancels that meeting, I find it difficult to find an alternative doctor to visit.

(3)._____ Prior to starting my daily sales trips I print out all the documents (i.e. agenda) I think I would need during the day.

(4)_____ In each sales meeting doctors expect that I provide new information about the products I am promoting.

(5)_____ Doctors appreciate it when I provide them with the opinion of other doctors I have visited concerning the products I am promoting.

(6)_____ Doctors like that I call in advance before arranging a meeting with them.

(7)_____ During my meetings with doctors I need to access information stored in my Laptop.

(8)_____ If a doctor asks me a question that I can not answer, it is difficult for me to know exactly when I can provide him/her with the answer.

(9)_____ The fact that I can not check my e-mail during my sales trips, increases the time it takes me to provide doctors with an answer to their difficult questions.

(10)_____ A long delay in answering doctors' questions harm my relationship with them.

(11) _____ During my meeting with the doctor, if he / she asks me a question I cannot answer, I make a note of it on a piece of paper.

(12)_____ When I have time during the day I enter the notes I have written into my Laptop.

(13)_____ During my meetings with doctors I put my mobile phone in a meeting status.

(14)_____ Doctors call me during the day to ask questions about our company's products.

(15)_____ Doctors don't like me to call them during their work hours.

(16)_____ When I have meetings in a big hospital, I find it difficult to access information about the people I know in that hospital.

(17)_____ 3When faced with a time gap between meetings I have to spend that time waiting for the next meeting.

(18)_____ When faced with a time gap between my meetings, I carry out administrative work (i.e. reporting sales information) using my laptop.

(19)_____ During my sales trips, I find it difficult to coordinate with the field secretary about booking meetings with doctors.

(20)_____ I do my administrative work (i.e. sales reports) at home.

(21)_____ I carry my laptop computer with me to each meeting with doctors.

Survey, Part 2

Please complete the next set of questions by picking a number from the following five point scale that represents your opinion.

Extremely	1	2	3	4	5	Extremely
Unimportant						Important

If you see that a statement is extremely unimportant for enhancing your performance in the field type the number 1 in front of that statement. If you see that the statement is extremely important for enhancing your performance in the field type the number 5 in front of it. If your feelings are less strong, type one the numbers in the middle that best represent your opinion

Please answer the following questions

How important is for you?

(1)_____Identifying alternative doctors to visit when planned meetings are not possible,

(2) _____Accessing your company database for information before meeting with a doctor,

(3) Checking your e-mail during your sales trips,

(4)_____ Recording and reporting meetings information just after each sales call,

(5) Accessing your company database during sales meeting in order to address difficult customer objection and issues adequately,

(6)_____Learning about existing, new or competitive products while you are driving from one location to another,

(7)_____Receiving alerts about displays and exhibition during your sales visits,

(8) _____Providing doctors with straight forward answers to their questions,

(9)_____Accessing doctors sales visit information before meetings,

(10)_____ Accessing field secretaries' booking actions while you are in the field,

(11) _____Accessing other team members sales visits information while you are in the field,

(12)_____ Receiving alerts about cancellation of meeting with doctors,

(13)_____ Receiving information alerts about potential new customers to visit, during your sales trips,

(14) _____Receiving alerts about customers that have the highest potential in your territory, during your sales trips,

(15)_____ Receiving information alerts about important events in the pharmaceutical industry,

(16) _____Receiving information alerts about competition, during your sales trips,

(17)_____ Receiving information alerts about potential traffic jams, during your sales trips,

Thank you for your participation!

Appendix 2

Questionnaire on the Usage of Mobile Information and Communication Support System for the Sales Force

Dear recipient,

Your opinion and experience are very important in helping us to figure out the nature of the barriers you face when using the mobile information and communication system (mobile system) that your company provided you with. This study is conducted by researchers at the Institute for Advanced Management Systems Research. Filling out the questionnaire should take only 10-15 minutes to complete. We would be grateful if you can return the questionnaire by e-mail to cbenmous@abo.fi

2.

Gender (Underline

1. Year of birth _____ your choice)

- male
- female
- Education (Underline your choice)
 Vocational//Technical/Trade school
 Institute
 Polytechnic
 - University

4. How many years have you been working as a sales representative (including the years you have been working for Lundbeck)?

5. Estimate the number of hours you work at home <u>per week</u> to perform work related tasks (i.e. administrative tasks) <u>before</u> the implementation of the mobile system: _____

6. Estimate the number of hours you work at home <u>per week</u> to perform work related tasks (i.e. administrative tasks) <u>after</u> the implementation of the mobile system: _____

Survey, Part 1

Please complete the first set of the questionnaire by picking a number from the following five point scale that best represents your opinion. For instance if you totally agree with the statement, type number 1 next to that statement. If you do not agree at all with the statement, type number 5 next to that statement. If your feelings are less strong, type one of the numbers in the middle that best represents your statement.

AgreePartially agreeI don't knowPartially disagreedisagree12345

(1)_____ If I heard about a new information technology, I would look for ways to experiment with it

(2) _____ Among my peers, I am usually the first to try out new information technology

(3)_____ In general I consider myself quite innovative when it comes to information technology

(4)_____ using the mobile system allows me not to print any documents (i.e. agenda) I think I would need, before starting the sales trips

(5) using the mobile system enables me to identify an alternative doctor to visit in case an appointment is unexpectedly cancelled

(6) using the mobile system enables me to provide doctors with new information about the company drugs during each sales visit

(7) _____ using the mobile system enables me to update more often the targeting of doctors I should visit

(8) ______ using the mobile system enables me to inform doctors about experiences other doctors have had with the company drugs I am promoting

(9) using the mobile system enables me to do my administrative work (i.e. sales reports) when I face time gaps betweens meetings

(10) using the mobile system enables me to better coordinate with field secretaries during sales trips

(11) using the mobile system enables me to respond quicker to the questions doctors ask during sales visits if I don't have an immediate answer

(12) using the mobile system enhances the quality of my sales visits reports

(13) using the mobile system frees me from spending time at home on doing work related tasks

(14)_____ In general the mobile system helps me to perform better in my daily work

(15) learning to operate the mobile system was easy for me

(16) _____ I find it easy to become skilful in using the mobile system

(17)_____ I find the mobile system easy to use in accomplishing my everyday work duties

(18)_____ Slow data communication (connection to the database and downloading of files takes too long) is a barrier for me in terms of using the mobile system

(19)_____ the small screen of the communicator (compared to the laptop) is a barrier for me in terms of using the mobile system in the field

(20)_____ I find it difficult to type information using the communicator

(21)_____ I find it difficult to read information I pulled from the database using the communicator

(22)_____ It would be more convenient to report sales visits through voice input to the communicator rather than typing it

(23)_____ It would be more convenient when driving the car to listen to updates about useful work related information using my communicator

(24)_____ When I need work related information in the field about doctors I should visit I find it available in my company database

(25)_____ It will be helpful for me if I can access non company databases to obtain work related information (i.e. market information) during sales trips

(26)_____ I have access to the support I need in case I face a problem in operating the mobile system

(27)_____ I find the training I receive about operating the mobile system sufficient

(28)_____ I find the information I got about the capabilities of the mobile system sufficient

(29)_____ I find it difficult to know how all the capabilities of the mobile system could support my tasks in the filed

(30)_____ It would be helpful for me if I can get help and support on how to use each feature of the mobile system to support my tasks and enhance my performance

(31)_____ I use the mobile system because my colleagues think I should use it

(32)_____ I use the mobile system because my superiors want me to use it

- (33) Using the mobile system is compatible with all aspects of my work
- (34)_____ I think that using the mobile system fits well with the way I like to work
- (35)_____ I think that using the mobile system fits into my work style

Survey, Part 2:

Please complete the following set of the questionnaire by picking a number from the following five point scale that best shows how frequently you use the mobile system in each operation described by the statements.

For example if you think that you always use the mobile system in the operation described by the statement, you would indicate that by typing the number 1 in front of that statement. If you think that you never use the mobile system in the operation described by the statement, you would indicate that by typing the number 5 in front of that statement. If your feelings are less strong type one of the numbers in the middle that best represents your opinion.

Always	Often	Sometimes	Seldom	Never	
1	2	3	4	5	

How frequently do you use the mobile system in the **field** to:

(1)_____ Retrieve sales reports before meeting the doctor

(2)_____ Access the company's database before the sales visit in order to obtain useful information to provide to doctors

(3) _____ Retrieve useful work related information from the Internet

(4)_____ Retrieve information alerts received from team members

(5) Access your calendar during the visit with a doctor to book ahead future meetings with him or her

(6) _____ Retrieve information alerts received from the office

(7)_____ Provide useful information about doctors' questions to team members

(8) Enter and send sales visits reports during sales trips when you have time gaps between meetings

(9) Provide information to doctors about the questions they ask during sales visits and for which you did not have an immediate answer

(10) Identify alternative doctors to visit when a planned visit is not possible

(11)_____ Identify new doctors to visit in your territory (i.e. when you have meetings in large hospitals)

(12)_____ Update the list of doctors you should visit in terms of their importance for visits and continuous targeting when you have free time between meetings

(13) Learn about the company products when you have free time in the field

(14) Learn about competitive products when you have free time in the field

(15)_____ Learn about events in the pharmaceutical industry when you have free time in the field

(16) _____ Retrieve team members' sales reports in order to obtain information about doctors' experiences with the company products that you can use during your own sales visits

(17) _____ Access field secretaries booking actions when you have free time in the field

(18) Access your calendar in the field to book meetings with physicians

(19) Use your communicator to build power point presentations when you have group meetings in a hospital

(20) Read and answer e-mail messages

Survey, Part 3:

requirements?	
1	
	•••••
	•••
	•••

Part 2

Original research publications

1. BenMoussa, C. (2005): "Supporting Salespersons' CRM efforts through Location-based Mobile Supports Systems", Journal of Systems Science and Systems Engineering. Vol. 14, No.1, pp.97-114.

2. BenMoussa, C. (2005): "Supporting Sales Representatives on the Move: A Study of the Information Needs of Pharmaceutical Sales Representatives". In Proceedings of the 18th Bled e-conference, Bled, Slovenia: June 6-8, 2005.

3. BenMoussa, C. (2006): "Supporting the Pharmaceutical Sales Force through Mobile Information and Communication Technologies: An Exploratory Investigation", In Proceedings of the Helsinki Mobility Roundtable, Helsinki, Finland: June 1-2, 2006.

4. BenMoussa, C. (2006): "Mobile Information and Communication technologies in the Context of the Sales Force Work". TUCS Technical Reports Publications, No. 749, ISBN 952-12-1692.

5. BenMoussa, C. (2004): "A Task-based Framework for Mobile Applications to Enhance Salespersons' Performance", In Proceedings of IFIP TC8 Conference on Mobile Information Systems, Oslo Norway, 15-17 September 2004.

6. BenMoussa, C. (2003): "The effects of mobile commerce on salespersons' performance", In Proceedings of the Second International Conference on Mobile business, Vienna, Austria, 23 th-24 th June, 2003.

Paper 1

BenMoussa, C. (2005): "Supporting Salespersons' CRM efforts through Location-based Mobile Supports Systems", Journal of Systems Science and Systems Engineering. Vol. 14, No.1, pp.97-114.

SUPPORTING SALESPERSONS' CRM EFFORTS THROUGH

LOCATION-BASED MOBILE SUPPORT SYSTEMS

Chihab BenMoussa

Institute for Advanced Management Systems Research Turku Centre for Computer Science, Åbo Akademi University. FIN 20520, FINLAND cbenmous@abo.fi

Abstract

This paper aims at assessing how location-based mobile support systems can support salespersons' CRM efforts when they are operating within a highly mobile work environment. After briefly discussing the state-of-the-art issues associated with mobile location technologies, the paper conceptualizes key dimensions for location-based mobile support systems. The paper then discusses the dual role of salespersons in CRM. A fourth section suggests a categorization of salespersons' CRM tasks based on both properties of location-based mobile support and the areas of salespersons' CRM-related tasks that may be affected by mobile location technologies. Finally, the paper suggests potential mobile location services and applications that can help salespersons perform effectively their everyday CRM tasks and links such applications to the determinant of salespersons' performance. The paper concludes with a discussion of some critical issues and suggests areas for further research.

Keywords: Mobile location technologies, Customer relationship management,

Salespersons tasks, salespersons' performance, Personalization.

1. Introduction

Effective customer relationship management (CRM) has emerged as a strategic imperative for companies in virtually every business. The rapid rates at which innovations can be made and copied have made product advantages brief (Shoemaker, 2001). However, as Day (2001) observed, because nurturing customer loyalty is usually resource-intensive, long-term and difficult to manage, loyalty relations can provide a durable competitive advantage.

Today many companies are trying to move closer to their customers by exploiting the wealth of available internal and external data to better understand their customers' needs. preferences and profitability and then leverage that knowledge in every customer contact. Recent studies show that the movement to CRM is gaining momentum. One study by the IDC Group forecasts that the worldwide market for CRM products and services will exceed US \$125 billion while a survey of more than 1500 companies by the Data Warehousing Institute in 2000 found that 91 per cent either have or plan to deploy CRM solutions in the near future (Goodhue and Wixom, et al. 2002). The impetus for this interest in CRM came from Reichheld (1996), who demonstrated a dramatic increase in profits from small increases in customer retention rates. His study showed that as little as a 5 per cent increase in retention had impacts as high as 95 per cent in the net present value delivered bv customers. Today's turbulent business environment, the availability of large amounts of data and the advances in information technology have also driven companies' emphasis on CRM in their quest for excellence.

A central activity in CRM is exploiting customer information and insights to create a "360o view" of customers.

Information technology has long been considered a key enabler for CRM

application applications. Early of information technologies in the sphere of customer relationship management has taken the form of sales force automation (SFA). Broadly defined, SFA refers to the use of computer software hardware. and telecommunication capabilities by the salespeople in their selling and /or administrative activities (Morgan and Inks, 2001). SFA systems are designed to support the representatives in such things as managing contacts, scheduling sales calls, route planning, recording results from sales calls (calls reports), accessing customer database, sending and receiving sales data, generating proposals and receiving various training programs from the head office. Regardless of the form of any particular SFA system, its primary purpose is to free the sales force so it can engage in more direct selling by reducing the time the representatives spend in "non-selling" activities such as sales support tasks. Another purpose of SFA systems is to enable the sales force to enhance customer relationship through information access and sharing across the different actors within the customer value chain.

Companies have invested in SFA in order to benefit from what such technologies promise in terms of cutting costs (Taylor, 1993), reducing cycle time (Thetgy, 2000), improving organization and access to information. In 1996, it was estimated that in the USA alone 2.2 million salespeople were using sales force automation systems with a yearly growth rate of 40 per cent (DeGarmo, 1996). However. the deployment of CRM applications, including SFA, has not always delivered the result that organizations expect. Studies show that for every two successful implementations of a sales force support system, there are three failures (Schafer, 1997). Moreover, given the cost in terms of both money and time associated with the implementation of such systems, some authors start questioning even the benefit of such investment. Thetgyi (2000), for example, believes that SFA has brought many companies more pain than profit.

The inability of CRM applications to deliver the expected benefits has been the subject of many studies. Reasons identified include the lack of robust implementation approaches (Rheault and Sheridan 2002), failure to develop a CRM strategy (Rigby and Reichheld, 2002) and firms' resistance to integrating all their disparate "siloed" data to form a business intelligence environment and mobilize that in every interaction with customers (Swift 2002, Goodhue and Wixom, et al., 2002). According to Swift (2002), for example, teaching salespeople to utilize tools is good, but using intelligence and knowledge to drive the sales force brings much higher rewards.

Salespersons play a dual role in CRM. On the one hand, forging close relationships between firms begins with the initial contact by a salesperson who spans the boundary between the selling firm and the customer. On the other hand, salespersons possess valuable market information that is frequently needed in strategic planning and CRM programs. However, crucial marketing information still remains locked in the heads of salespersons in the form of tacit knowledge.

Salespersons also represent a growing number of employees, with an estimated 1.9 million sales reps in the US alone in 2002 according to the U.S Department of Labor (www.bls.gov). In the UK and Ireland there are about 400 000 sales reps (Kodz and Atkinson et al., 1997), constituting approx. 1.4 per cent of the workforce.

The advent of access to services through mobile and wireless devices has resulted in rapid growth in a number of applications mobile and services. Mobile (or wireless) applications, despite being different in their nature, share a common characteristic that distinguishes them from their wire-line counterparts. They put the user at the centre of information and communication bv providing information. location-specific personalization, immediacy, and service availability (Durlacher, 2001). These characteristics permit the development of innovative mobile applications to firms' salespersons in support developing and nurturing committed customer relationships. How and what mobile applications can support these frontline ambassadors in their CRM-related tasks are key questions facing many stakeholders, including sales managers, today.

The purpose of this paper is to assess how can location-based mobile support systems support salespersons' CRM efforts when they are operating within a highly mobile work environment.

The remainder of the paper is structured as follows. Next the paper discusses the state-of-the-art issues associated with positioning technologies. It then conceptualizes the key properties of location-based mobile support systems. A following section then introduces the dual role of salespeople in CRM through a brief literature review. A fourth section categorization suggests а of salespersons' CRM tasks based on both properties of location-based mobile support and the areas of salespersons' CRM tasks that may be affected by mobile location technologies. Finally the paper suggests potential mobile location services and applications that salespersons can help perform effectively their everyday CRM tasks and links such applications to the determinant of salespersons' performance. The paper concludes with some remarks and suggests some areas for further research.

2. Technology for Locationbased Mobile Support Systems

Positioning techniques can be divided into two main categories: GPS -based positioning techniques and network-based positioning. Each category has its own advantages and disadvantages.

In addition to positioning techniques, supporting technologies. there are Supporting technologies refer to the complementary technologies that provide the contextual and /or infrastructural environment within which mobile location services can be implemented in a value-added fashion (Giaglis and Kourouthanassi, et al.2003; Raatikainen and Christensen, 2002; BenMoussa, 2004).

2.1 GPS Positioning Technologies

The Global Positioning System is a navigation satellite-based system developed and operated by the US. Department of Defense. GPS operations rely mainly on 24 satellites that transmit signals. GPS receivers process the signals to compute positions in 3D latitude, longitude, and altitude with an accuracy of 10 meters or less. Therefore one of the main advantages of GPS technology is its great accuracy, when operating conditions are favorable. However, in order for GPS to accurately determine the location of a mobile user. the handset must be visible to at least three satellites all the times. As a result, GPS cannot be used in indoors and it

may not work in "urban canyons". Yet these are often the areas where demand for location-based services is highest.

In order to overcome the problem of positioning in weak signal environments (i.e. indoors, tunnels); an assisted GPS method (A-GPS) has been developed. A-GPS uses the assistance of the mobile network that directs the handsets to look for specific satellites or collects data from the handset to identify and calculate locations.

2.2 Network-Based Positioning Techniques

The most common network based techniques for mobile positioning are cell of origin, time of arrival, Angle of Arrival and Observed Time Difference.

The Cell of Origin (COO) method is the most basic solution and uses cell identification information within the mobile telephony network to identify the approximate location of the caller. COO method The identifies the approximate location of the user by knowing which cell site the device is using at a particular time. The main advantage of the COO method is that no calculation is needed to obtain location information. Therefore position identification is fast and suitable for applications requiring high capacity. However, the accuracy of the COO method depends on cell radius, which can be very large especially in rural areas. Therefore the accuracy of this

method is higher in dense urban areas and much lower in rural areas.

The Time of Arrival (TOA) method determines the position of a mobile device by measuring the time of arrival of the signal from a user's mobile device to at least three cell sites. TOA offers better accuracy (10-100 meters). Its main drawback is the additional investment needed by network operators equip cell sites with location to measurement units (LMU). The Angle of Arrival (AOA) method seeks to determine the location of the mobile device based on the angle at which signals transmitted from the mobile device reach the cell site (s). The AOA technique requires a line of sight between the cell sites and the mobile device in order to achieve accurate positioning results. Therefore it is not a suitable location method in dense urban areas where the lines of sight of two cell sites may not be possible.

Observed The Time Difference (OTD) technique determines the location of a mobile device by using location receivers that are geographically dispersed over wide areas. The OTD method determines a user's location by calculating the time it takes for a signal from at least three cell sites equipped with LMU to reach the mobile device. The main drawback of the OTD method is that it requires additional investment both for equipping network cell sites with Location Measurement Units (LMU) and for the

required modification of the mobile's device software in order to enable it to perform the necessary positioning calculation (Laitinen. and Kyriazakos, 2001).

2.3 Supporting Location Technologies

location Mobile supporting technologies include standards, protocols and other technological capabilities that contribute to the value-added mechanism stemming from the ability to determine a user's location. Supporting location technologies include mobile communication protocols such as Wireless Application Protocols (WAP), standard technologies such as General Service (GPRS) Packet Radio or Universal Mobile Telecommunication Systems (UMTS) and other supporting capabilities such as Geographic Information Systems (GIS).

Wireless Application Protocol (WAP) provides efficient wireless access to the Internet. The purpose of WAP is to provide operators, infrastructure, terminal manufacturers and content developers with a common environment that should enable development of value-added services for mobile phones. Essentially, WAP is the technology that makes it possible to link wireless devices (such as mobile phones) to the Internet by translating Internet information so it can be displayed on the display screen of a mobile telephone or on other portable

devices. Therefore WAP handles requests from WAP-enabled handsets and then passes such requests to and receives data from a server. The General Packet Radio Service (GPRS) is a 2.5G technology that supplements the existing GSM. TDMA networks. Data transmission speeds are expected to increase tenfold from 9.6 kbps to 115 kbps.

Geographic Information Systems (GIS) refers to the computer-based ability to manipulate geographical data (i.e. data that have spatial attributes). GIS includes functions to support such operations as acquisition, compilation, storage, update and management of geographically related information. (See e.g. Giaglis and Kourouthanassi, et al.,2003;Tarasewich and Nickerson et al., 2002 for a discussion of those technologies).

3. Key Properties of Location-Based Mobile Support Systems

3.1 Personalization

Personalization in information systems is about adapting content and services based upon the user's interests, preferences, and behavior. These allow further optimization, which results in a better experience for the user, (Setten, 2003). One key enabler of providing personalized services to users is ensuring the adaptivity of the system. System adaptivity is the process by which a system adjusts itself based upon some form of model of the user's needs. Location awareness can be a key feature in updating the mobile user's model based on the system's awareness of the current spatial user's context. Information about the user's current geographical position when combined with other elements such as the user's daily schedule of activities, or his/her predefined preferences in terms of content or interests would enable the service provider to proactively deliver a meaningful mobile support. Such support would be based on a continuous update of the user's changing spatial environment. For example, within the sales force work environment, the service provider can deliver, knowing the salesperson's geographical position, personalized support that has the potential to add value within the spatial context where the salesperson is located. Additionally, the service provider can deliver the information support in the form that matches the salesperson current work context (i.e. face-to-face meeting with a customer, in a train or restaurant). For example, the service provider can place an alert on the salesperson's smart phone in the form of a text message if the salesperson is in a face-to-face meeting, thus enabling him/her to read the alert and potentially exploit it during his/her interaction with the customer.

3.2 Relevance

Knowledge of the user's spatial position can be a key element in providing relevant support to him/her. Awareness of the user's geographical position can provide a good filtering mechanism in terms of determining the fit between the mobile support to be provided to the user and his/her current context. This has the potential of functional reducing the deficiency associated with information overload, where the amount of information the individual user encounters extends his/her cognitive processing capacity (Sorensen and Mathiassen et al. 2002). For example, combining knowledge of the salesperson's current geographical location with his/her calendar of daily activities can inform the service provider that the salesperson is about to meet customer X, whose address matches the geographical position where he/she is located. With the aid of such information, the service provider can give salesperson relevant the information that fits his/her predefined preferences about the customer he/she is visiting.

3.3 Convenience

If the service provider knows the geographical position of the mobile user, the process of providing such a user with the targeted support he/ she needs can be accelerated and simplified. Indeed, it will suffice for the mobile user to notify his/her request to the

service provider to get the service needed as the service provider knows where the user is located. Indeed, the user's request can be automatically completed by the current location (i.e. if the user asks about a restaurant nearby, the system can infer from the user's geographic position what nearby means and select restaurants in the area). Similarly, a salesperson seeking road directions to get to a meeting with a potential customer in time can just ask the service provider "How can I get to address x?" The service provider can then locate his/her position and provide the requested directions, taking into account, if need be, potential traffic jams. This constitutes a unique feature of location-based mobile support as the question "How can I get to address x?" without mentioning the current location cannot be answered in a wired context.

3.4 Timeliness

Another kev characteristic of location-based mobile support is the timeliness of the support that service providers can give users with the aid of the knowledge of their locations. The timeliness of location-based mobile support means that the service provider can offer the user support at the moment of value. The moment of value can be defined as "the moment when I, a service provider, can do something for you where you are and regardless of where I am or what time it is"(Keen and Mackintosh 2001). An example of a

location-based service at the user's moment of value is when the service provider, using knowledge of a user's location, sends him/her an alert about an approaching traffic jam together with proposals for alternative paths. In the absence of such an alert at that specific moment (before the traffic jam is reached), the user would not be able to avoid the traffic jam. The possible consequences are time wasted and meetings delayed. Another example of timely location-based support is when a salesperson, during or just before his/her interaction with a major customer, receives a useful alert about this customer, sent by his/her market research department based on awareness of his/her location. The salesperson can then use this latest update about his/her customer during sales presentation and thus practice adaptive selling.

3.5 Proactiveness

Another key property of а location-based mobile support system is the ability of the service provider to proactively enable the user to react to changing trends in the environment. Using the user's situational context and changing environment. the service provider delivers content without receiving a request from him/her. Providing proactive support to users can be of great importance in terms of saving time (i.e. alerts about traffic iams). taking benefit from an opportunity (i.e. notifications about

nearby tradeshows) or avoiding relationship-damaging problems (i.e. getting to a meeting with a new customers on time thanks to road directions or traffic information delivered by the service provider).

4. The Dual Role of Salespersons in CRM

Evidence indicates that salespeople play a central role in the evolution of quality business relationships (Crosby and Evans, et al, 1990). According to Kotler (1994), personal selling is evolving towards the salesperson as a "relational manager" who is able to build strong ties with important customers. Further, Swan and Nolan (1985) contend that firms are seeking closer relationships with their customers and that salespeople are important in helping to build these relationships. One reason for the critical nature of a salesperson's role in developing a quality relationship between the firm and the customer lies in the salesperson's ability to develop strong lines of communication with the customer.

addition their role In to as relationship builders, salespeople serve as CRM enablers by reason of the wealth of market information they possess and which can serve as a basis for developing effective CRM programs. The following discusses such a dual role of salespersons in CRM.

4.1 The Salesperson as Relationship Builder

In the marketplace, salespersons often perform a vital bridging role that links the firm to customers. For some customers the salesperson is virtually synonymous with the firm (Crosby and Evans, et al, 1990, Czeipeil, 1990). Research into buyer-seller relationships suggests that a firm's salespeople are uniquely positioned to address several issues related to building a quality relationship. Through their interaction with buyers, salespeople can increase the customer's confidence in the supplier. This helps reduce uncertainty and increase trust. The relationship-builder role of salespersons is critical throughout the relationship evolution process. Initially, in the pre-relationship stage, the salesperson may be the only link between the two firms and constitute the customer's chief source of information regarding the supplier. During the development stage, the salesperson plays the role of the customer's representative inside the supplier's firm. Salespersons' behavior in terms of commitment, competence and service orientation enhance the customer's perception that the selling firm is committed to the relationship and is capable of delivering acceptable performance. Once a strong relationship has been firmly established, it enters the long-term stage (Boles and Babin et al, 2001). As such a stage involves standardizing between the firms to the point of institutionalization; the number of personal communication lines increases. Hence, the salesperson plays the coordinator role between the selling and the buying firm and ensures that the committed relationship is maintained.

4.2 The Salesperson as CRM Enabler

salesperson's role as CRM The enabler stems from the knowledge he/she possesses about the marketplace and which can serve as a valuable input in feeding information about customers to CRM. Marketing scholars have indeed been advocating that business salespeople be incorporated into the firm's formal marketing information systems. For example, Klompmaker (1980) stated, "Salespeople are used because they possess a great deal of information about the market. To leave this rich source of information untapped, would be foolhardy" (Evans and and Schlacter, 1985).

5.Categorization of Salespersons' CRM tasks

After discussing both state-of-the-art issues associated with technologies for location-based mobile support systems and the dual role of salespersons in CRM, the paper sets up taxonomy of salespersons' CRM tasks based on both the information contained in the personal selling literature about salespersons' tasks, and the properties of location-based mobile support systems. In this structure, the paper discusses

four categories of tasks: targeting, servicing. entertaining, and disseminating tasks. For each category of CRM-related task the paper shows how location-based mobile support systems can support salespersons in performing it when they are operating in highly mobile work setting. а Salespersons typical are indeed examples of mobile workers who are constantly on the move and yet rely on access to information at the moment of relevance in order to accomplish their work. They work at various locations: in their own office, at customers' offices, at other members' offices, at work sites, on the train, plane and car, in a hotel room, etc. Such modalities of mobility impose constraints rigid on salespersons, particularly in terms of both the uncertainty they experience with regard to information and resources they may need to solve the task at hand and the way long-distance collaboration is conducted and coordinated.

Next the paper discusses each category of salespersons' CRM related tasks.

5.1 Targeting

Target selling is defined as a salesperson's ability to identify, select, and call on profitable customers (Kotler 1994). Often called "80-20", the concentration principle says that most of salesperson's sales, costs and profits come from a relatively small proportion of customers and products. Targeting

tasks thus refer to the use by the salespersons of customer information such as the customer's purchasing history, customer demographics, or promotional history to classify customers and direct their relationship efforts to those with the highest sales potential. Targeting tasks involve classifying both current and prospective customers.

Location-based mobile support can help salespersons in their targeting tasks through its ability to mobilise relevant information about customers' status to salespersons despite their being constantly on the move and at the moment of relevance. For example, a salesperson, based on location, can be notified about his/her customers changing orders together with competitors' moves as collected by intelligence systems so that he/she can proactively respond to the threat of losing his/her accounts. Likewise, the salespersons, based on their current location, can be told about sales leads located in the same geographical area together with the degree of attractiveness of such leads. For example, based on the salesperson's geographical position, they can receive alerts together with road instructions, be informed about trade shows in the neighbourhood where there are prospective opportunities to be found.

5.2 Servicing

The quality of customer/salesperson interaction, as perceived by the buyer, is

important in determining customer satisfaction with the interaction (Bitner and Booms, et al., 1990). It has been shown that service quality is an antecedent to customer satisfaction as this has a significantly positive effect on the salesperson/customer relationship. Research suggests several reasons for why salespersons should pay attention to servicing their current set of customers. First. customer's а satisfaction with the quality of service determines whether the buyer-seller This interaction will continue. is fundamental to sales success as future sales opportunities depend on the quality of the relationship (Crosby and Evans, et al, 1990). Second, satisfied customers are likely to be a source of positive word of mouth and might refer new customers. Third, the cost of acquiring new customers is several times higher than the cost of retaining a customer (Reichheld 1996). Thus account servicing can be a critical selling activity.

Examples of salespersons' servicing tasks include presenting the product, handling shipment problems, following up customer's orders, keeping track of invoices, providing product information (Moncrief and Lamb et al., 1986).

Location-based mobile support can affect salespersons' servicing tasks by reducing the time it takes for a salesperson to address customer problems associated with orders or products through empowering him/her to deal with customer problems without referring to head office. For example, with the ability to track the product locations, the salesperson can answer order-related questions without referring to the logistics department.

5.3 Entertaining

Salespersons' entertaining tasks combine entertaining the customer with selling to the customer . (Moncrief and Lamb et al., 1986). The purpose is to form a strong bond between salesperson and customer. Examples of entertaining tasks include taking the customer to dinner, taking the customer out for a drink or hosting a party for the customer.

Location-based mobile support can help salespersons in their entertaining tasks by providing them, according to geographical position, their with information about restaurants located nearby where they can take their customers to lunch or dinner. Furthermore. location-based mobile support can enable the salesperson to receive alerts about the customer he/she is with during the entertaining event and uses the information she receives during the interaction.

5.4 Disseminating

As discussed earlier, salespeople enjoy the unique role of observing the match between an organization's offerings and the market(s) it serves. In addition, salespeople are in a position,

through interaction with their customers, acquire extremely sensitive to information about competitors and developments within the customer's industry (Taylor, 1993). They can, for example, be exposed to rumors about customers' or competitors' projects, learn about new product launches before they take place, discover new products, and gather information about discount competitors' policies and policies. Location-based support systems can enable salespersons to exchange useful information market among their communities of practice based on their knowledge of each other's location. In this case knowledge of the geographical position can serve as a filtering tool that helps the salesperson to assess whether a market alert sent to colleagues would add value for him/her or would result in information overload. For example, a salesperson, identifying a cross-selling opportunity, can check based on the knowledge of her colleague's geographic position whether or not he/she would be able to attend the meeting being held with a customer and during which the cross-selling opportunity emerged. Location-based mobile support systems can also enable the salesperson to receive useful insights about him/her customers based on the market information that he/she, together with colleagues, has already fed into the customer database. For example, a salesperson discovering a threatening competitor's in him/her move

colleague's sales area may proactively alert him/her based on the colleague's location. The salesperson may also send the alert to the customer database and then the service provider can check the colleague's location for the most suitable time to deliver the content together with instructions about the defensive intelligence the salesperson should practice in order to protect him/her accounts.

6. Linking Salespersons' Mobile Location Applications and Services to the Determinants of their Performance

After discussing a taxonomy of salespersons' tasks, which is based on properties both key of mobile location-based support and the areas of salespersons' tasks that may be affected location-based mobile by support systems, the paper now presents potential mobile location applications and services (MLS) that can improve the performance of salespersons in their tasks. The paper categorises such mobile location applications and services as the adaptive, the proactive, the locative and the disseminative. The papers shows how each category of such applications can support salespersons' CRM tasks enhance and overall performance through its impact on a number of mediator variables that constitute the determinants of salespersons' performance. Indeed, several authors (Mooney and Gurbaxani et al. 1996;

Huber, 1990; Davenport 1999) have proposed that in order to uncover the added value mechanisms and the impact information technology of on productivity, studies should include the intermediate benefits of information technology. For example, according to the theory of the effects of advanced information technology (Huber's 1990), benefits individual the in and organisational efficiency occur indirectly through the positive impact the technology has on information and communication processes.

6.1 Adaptive MLS

Location-based mobile adaptive applications are aimed at supporting situations where the salesperson is engaged in interaction with a customer within the framework of servicing and entertaining tasks and needs useful information about the customer so that he/she can practice adaptive selling. Salespeople's adaptive selling is one of the main determinants of their performance (Weitz and Sujan et al, 1988; Sipro and Weitz et al., 1990; Sujan and Weitz, et al, 1994). Indeed, the process of selling requires that the salesperson match the customer's needs with the available range of products. The process of adaptive selling involves two stages. In the first stage, the salesperson uses available information to form impressions about the customer. The next stage is to formulate a sales strategy that maximises the fit between

the customer's preferences and the company's offerings. Through the practice of adaptive selling, salespeople exploit the unique opportunities of personal selling. However, it has been shown that adaptive selling can be improved by providing salespeople with the necessary market information and resources so that they can exploit insights from other sales situations in the customer contacts in which they are currently engaged (Weitz and Sujan et al.1986). For example, the market intelligence department can use knowledge of the salesperson's location to send an alert about a new discount policy introduced by the company's main competitor for the product being sold to the customer. The salesperson can then read the alert and prepare suitable arguments should the customer raise issues associated with new competitor's discount policy. Likewise, the salesperson can receive, according to his/her location, real-time notification about the business of the customer visited and use such information in tailoring his/her proposal to the customer.

Location-based adaptive applications can also help salespersons to alter their sales call schedule by means of alerts about customers changing orders and profitability as well as about moves by competitors so that they can target their relationship efforts on the most profitable customers. For example, the market research department may send an alert to the salespersons that one of their customers, who is located nearby, has just cancelled an important order. Such alerts would enable the salesperson to adjust his/her sales visits schedule so that he/she can devote more efforts to react to the potential account loss.

6.2 Proactive MLS

Proactive MLS enable salespersons to continuously search for market opportunities and experiment with potential responses to a changing Examples of proactive environment. mobile applications location-based include notifications, according to the geographical salesperson's position, about sales leads located nearby. For example, the market research department can send alerts about trade shows in the area where the salesperson is located. Similarly, a telemarketing support centre can provide real-time alerts salesperson to the about high-quality leads that are in the same area as the salesperson. Depending on the quality of the lead (i.e. sales versus no sales) and the salesperson's sales calls schedule, the salesperson can agree or refuse to make a face-to-face sales visit to the sales call identified by the telemarketing support centre. If the salesperson agrees to make the sales visit, then additional information from the marketing research department can be sent to his/her mobile terminal about the lead including a rebuttal to prepare

him/her for any question that the prospect may raise (BenMoussa 2004). Proactive MLS would enhance the salesperson's ability to focus efforts on value-adding activities such as maintaining a quality relationship with his/her customer. In addition, proactive MLS have the potential to enhance the salesperson's customer orientation, which is a key determinant of a salesperson's performance. Support for the use of customer-oriented selling is provided by the contention that customer orientation is an important characteristic of high performers (Kelly 1992, Bragg, 1986, Mackay 1988; Peterson 1988). For example, according "best" MacKav (1988)the to salespeople are genuinely interested in their customers and sales representatives sell to people, not to computers.

6.3 Locative MLS

Locative MLS are aimed at empowering the salesperson to deal with customer requests and problems. The purpose is to shorten the time it takes to address customer problems and concerns. Examples of locative MLS include product tracking mav applications and customer support staff locating applications. Product-tracking applications would enable salespersons, irrespective of their locations, to track the delivery status of products ordered by customers, either by connecting wirelessly to smart tags incorporated in products the receiving or by

location-based alerts about the order status of customers in the same geographical location as the salesperson. This can enhance their ability to answer a customer's order-related inquiries rapidly, accurately and irrespective of their locations, which would enhance their customer orientation. Furthermore, receiving an alert about the status of a customer's order mav enable possible salespersons to react to shipment problems that may result in a delivery delay.

Customer-support staff-locator applications enable salespersons to locate the nearest customer-support staff in order to address a customer's problem. The salesperson can send a request to locate customer-support staff, display their locations on a map and forward the customer's request for service to the nearest field worker. Upon receiving confirmation that the field worker can perform the service, the salesperson can then provide his/her customer with an accurate estimate of the arrival time of the personnel. Dispatching the nearest customer-support field employee has the potential to reduce the time needed to provide support to customers, which in turn enhances the customer's perception of the salesperson's empathy.

Colleague-locator applications support situations where the salesperson needs to collaborate with colleagues in order to deal with a complex sales problem. The salesperson can then identify the colleagues who are in the same area and check whether they are available for a meeting or a conference call.

6.4 Disseminative MLS

Disseminative MLS support the situation where the salesperson wants to alert colleagues to a market opportunity and/or potential threat within the colleague's sales area. The salesperson can use the geographical position of the colleague as a filtering mechanism to assess the potential impact of the alert in terms of information overload. For example, the salesperson can uncover a competitor's deficiency in the colleague's sales area. The salesperson colleague's can then use the geographical position and calls agenda to assess whether or not the insight uncovered may help the colleague in practising adaptive selling with the customer he/she is visiting. Therefore the salesperson may either notify him/ her colleague directly or elect to submit the alert to the corporate customer database for subsequent forwarding to him/ her colleague.

Disseminative MLS have the potential to exploit the wealth of information salespersons possess as a result of their daily interactions in the market place. In addition, disseminative MLS provide salespersons with a tool that can improve collaboration between them even if they are constantly on the move. Furthermore, enabling

salespersons to disseminate a market insight immediately after it has occurred (i.e. after the sales interaction) enhances their accuracy. The importance of accurate customer knowledge to a salesperson's performance is intuitive. If salespersons' perceptions are inaccurate, it can adversely affect the building of a customer relationship in at least two ways. First, inaccuracy in assessing requirements customer by the salesperson will negatively affect both relationship building and corporate profitability, particularly in industries salespersons are given where the latitude in tailor prices and services to Second. individual customers. the inaccuracy on the part of salespersons in company's planning processes, the including CRM programmes, will adversely affect the quality of these plans (Lambert et al. 1990).

7.Conclusion and Implications

The paper explored the area of mobile location technologies within the of one framework category of salespersons every day tasks, which is management. relationship customer More specifically, the paper provides a taxonomy of salespersons CRM tasks based on the areas that might be supported by location based applications and services. Moreover the paper suggests potential location-based mobile

application and services to support salespersons' CRM efforts and linkes such applications to determinants of salespersons performance in achieving their dual role in CRM. The paper aims at assisting stakeholders including sales managers to understand the potential added value that mobile location technologies can provide salespersons with and takes into consideration the nature of their tasks and the determinants of their performance.

It is worth mentioning that the technology for mobile location and services is progressing at fast pace. Moreover, mobile location applications and services can raise a number of issues. Perhaps one main issues is the functional deficiency of information overload, where the number of alerts the salesperson receives extends his or her cognitive capacity.



References

- BenMoussa, C., "The Effects of Mobile Commerce on Salespersons Performance", In the proceedings of *The second International Conference on Mobile Business*, June 2003.
- [2] BenMoussa. C., "Supporting Salespersons through Location Based Mobile Applications and Services". In the proceedings of the IFIP 18th World Computer Congress, Toulouse, France, 2004.
- [3] Bole,J.M., Babin,B.J, Brashear,T.G., and Brooks, C., "An Examination of the Relationships Between Retail Work Environments, Salesperson Selling Orientation-Customer Orientation and Job Performance." *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice Vol.* 9 (Summer)pp1-13, 2001.
- [4] Bitner, M., Booms, B., and Tetreault, M.,
 "The Service Encounter: Diagnosing Favourable and unfavorable incidents". *Journal of Marketing*, Vol. 54, January 1990.
- [5] Bragg. A."Turning Salespeople into Partners", *Sales & Marketing Management*, Vol. 137, 1986.
- [6] Crosby, L. A, Evans, K.R and Cowles, D., "Relationship quality in services selling: an Interpersonal influence approach", *Journal* of Marketing, Vol. 54, 1990.
- [7] Czeipiel, J.A., "Service Encounters And Service Relationships: Implications for Research", *Journal of Marketing*, Vol. 51, 1990.
- [8] Davenport, T.H., "Performance Measures for Knowledge Management", Knowledge management handbook, Edited by Jay

Liebowitz, 1999.

- [9] Day. G.,"Managing Market Relationships". Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, Vol.28, No.2,pp 24-30, 2000.
- [10]DeGarmo, S. "Becoming a sales leader", Selling Success, May, p.4, 1996.
- [11] Engel, R.L, "Sales force automation usage, effectiveness, and cost benefit in Germany, England, and the United States"; *Journal of business and industrial marketing*, Vol.15 No.4, pp216-242, 2000.
- [12]Evans.K and Schlacter.J. "The Role of Sales Managers and Salespeople in a Marketing Information System". Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management (November)Vol.5,No.2,pp 49-58, 1985.
- [13]Giaglis,G., Kourouthanassis,P,Tsamakos, A, "Towards a Classification Framework for Mobile Location Services" *Idea Group Publishing*, Hershey, PA, USA 2003.
- [14]Goodhue,D., Wixom,B., and Watson.,H.,
 "Realizing Business Benefits through CRM: Hitting the Right Target in the Right Way".
 MIS Quarterly Executive. Vol. 1, Issue 2 pp279-94, 2002.
- [15]Huber, G.,"A theory of the effects of advanced information technologies or organizational design, ntelligence, and decision making", *Academy of Management Review*, Vol.15, No.1, pp47-71, 1990.
- [16]Keen, P., Mackintosh,R.., "The Freedom Economy: gaining the m-commerce edge in the era of wireless Internet", Osborne/ McGrew-Hill,USA, (ISBN 0-07-213367-8), 2001.
- [17]Kelly,S,."Developing customer orientation among service employees. *Journal of the* academy of marketing sciences, Vol. 20, No

1, pp.27-36, 1992.

- [18]Klompmaker, J.E, "Incorporating information from salespeople into the marketing planning process", Journal of personal selling and sales management, Vol.1, Fall-Winter, pp76-82, 1985.
- [19]Kodz, J., Atkinson. and Perryman, S. Exchanging Skill Sales and Marketing, Brighton: IES, ISBN 1 85184 269 1,1997.
- [20]Kotler,P.,"Marketing Management: Analysis, Planning, Implementation and Control," 8 edition., Prentice Hall, NJ, 1994.
- [21]Laitinen. H, Ahonen. S and Kyriazakos. S (2001).," Cellular Locations Technologies", *Information society technologies*, project number: IST-2000-25982 CELLO, (2001).
- [22]Lambert,D,.Marmorstein,H,.andSharma,A., "The Accuracy of Salesperson Perception of Their Customers: A Conceptual Exam and Empirical Study". *Journal of personnel selling and sales management*, Vol.10, No.1, pp18, 1990.
- [23]MacKay, H. (1988). "Humanize Your Selling Strategies". *Harvard Business Review*, Vol.66, 2, pp36-37,1988.
- [24]Moncriefs, W.C.,Lamb,C.,and.Mackay, J.M,. "Selling Activities, and Sales Positions Taxonomies for Industrial Salespersons." *Journal of Marketing Research*, Vol. 13, August, pp261-270, 1991.
- [25] Mooney, J.G., Gurbaxani, V., and Kraemer, K.L., "A Process Oriented Framework for Assessing the Business Value of Information Technology, The DATA BASE for Advances in Information Systems, Vol. 27, No2,pp 68-81, 1996.

- [26]Morgan, A and Inks.S, "Technology and the sales force: increasing acceptance of sales force automation". *Industrial Marketing Management* Vol. 30, No.5, pp463-472, 2001.
- [27] Peterson, R., "The Canapé Approach to Personnel Selling". Industrial Distribution, 198.
- [28]Raatikainen,K,.Christensen,H,.andNakajima ,T,. "Application Requirements for Middleware for Mobile and Pervasive Systems". *Mobile Computing and Communication Review*, Vol. 6, Number 4, 2002.
- [29]]Reichheld,F.,"The Loyalty Effect". Harvard Businees School Press ISBN: 1578516870,1996.
- [30]Rheault,D., Sheridan, S., "Reconstruct your business around customers", *Journal of Business Strategy*, March, Vol.23, No.2, p. 38-45.
- [31]Rigby,D.,Reichheld,F.,andSchefter,P.,"Avoi ding the Four Perils of CRM", *Harvard Business Review*.Vol. 78 No 4, PP. 104-13,2002.
- [32]Saxe, R.and Weitz. B:"The SOCO Scale: A Measure of the Customer Orientation of Salespeople". Journal of Marketing Research, Vol.19. 1982.
- [33]Schafer,S,."Supercharged sell", Inc technology supplement, Vol.19 (July), pp42-51, 1997.
- [34]Setten.V,."Personalised information Systems".*Telematica Institute*. Report refernce: GigaCE/D2.3,2003.
- [35]Shoemaker.M,"A Framework for examining IT-enabled market relationships". Journal of Personnel Selling and Sales Management.

Vol.11, No.2 pp177-185,2001.

- [36]Sorensen, C., Mathiassen,L., and Masao,.K.,
 "Mobile Services: Functional Diversity and Overload". New perspectives of the 21st century communications, May 24th-25th Budabest, Hungary,2002.
- [37]Sujan, H., Weitz, B., Kumar, N., "Learning Orientation, Working Smart, and Effective Selling", *Journal of Marketing*, Vol. 58, July,pp 39-52. 1994
- [38]Sujan, H., Weitz, B.A., and M. Sujan (1988), "Increasing Sales Productivity by Getting Salespeople to work smarter", *Journal of personnel selling and sales* management, Vol.8, No.2, pp9-11, 1988.
- [39]Swan, J.E., Nolan,J., "Gaining customer trust:a conceptual guide for the salesperson", *Journal of personal selling* and sales management, Vol.5, No.2,pp31-48, 1985.
- [40]Swift,R., "Executive response: CRM is changing our eras, the information we require and our process". *MIS quarterly Executive*, Vol. 1, No.2, pp95-96,2002.
- [41]Tarasewich, P., Nickerson,R.,and Warkentin,M., "Issues in Mobile E-Commerce", *Communication of the AIS* Vol. 8, pp. 41-64, 2002.
- [42]Taylor,T.C., "Computers bring quick return" Sales and marketing management, Spetember, pp22-25,1993.
- [43]Thetgy,O.,"Radical Makeovers: How Three Companies Use Strategic Planning, Training, and Support to Implement Technology on a Grand Scale" Sales and Marketing Management, Septembe, pp 78-88, 2000.
- [44]Weitz, B., Sujan, H., Sujan, M.,

"Knowledge, Motivation and Adaptive Behavior: A Framework for Improving Selling Effectiveness", *Journal of Marketing*, Vol.50, pp174-191, 1986.

Chihab BenMoussa is a researcher at the

Institute for Advanced Management Systems Research. He is a holder of a master of business administration and is currently working toward a Ph.D in Information Systems. He had a consultant position at PricewaterhouseCoopers. His research interests are in the areas of business process reengineering with wireless technologies as an enabler, mobile work and knowledge management.
Research Paper 2

BenMoussa, C. (2005): "Supporting Sales Representatives on the Move: A Study of the Information Needs of Pharmaceutical Sales Representatives". In Proceedings of the 18th Bled e-conference, Bled, Slovenia: June 6-8, 2005.

18th Bled eConference eIntegration in Action Bled, Slovenia, June 6 - 8, 2005

Supporting Sales Representatives on the Move: A Study of the Information Needs of Pharmaceutical Sales Representatives

Chihab BenMoussa

Turku Centre for Computer Science, Finland cbenmous@abo.fi

Abstract

The purpose of the current study is to understand the nature of the challenges that sales representatives face as a result of operating within a highly mobile and heterogeneous work environment. The paper also focuses on how the sales representatives manage their information needs and discusses the properties of mobile support systems that would enable them to work effectively despite their being extensively mobile. This is achieved through a case study involving the sales representatives of a medium-sized pharmaceutical company

1. Introduction

Sales representatives (sales reps) play a central role in many companies, spanning the boundary between the selling firm and the customer. For some customers the salesperson is virtually synonymous with the firm (Crosby et al., 1990; Czeipeil, 1990).

They also represent a growing number of employees, with an estimated 1.9 million sales reps in US alone in 2002 according to the U.S Department of Labor (<u>www.bls.gov</u>). In the UK and Ireland there are about 400 000 sales reps (Kodz et al., 1997), approximately 1.4 per cent of the workforce.

Given both the size and the role of the sales reps within organisations, it was not surprising that such a group of workers has figured on the agenda of numerous researchers from different disciplines including marketing, organizational behaviour and human resource management (see, for example, Churchill, et al. 1985, Sujan, et al., 1988, Weitz et al., 1986, Kotler, 1994). However, it was surprising to note that the sales force has been relatively overlooked in information systems literature, despite its growing size, role and the boom in the sales force automation (SFA) market. There have been few studies that explicitly considered the information needs of the sales force and examined how to

exploit information and communication technologies to support them effectively despite the great mobility of their work.

Work mobility is indeed one key dimension that characterises the work of sales representatives. Such mobile workers spend most of their working time out of their office, interacting with customers and attempting to bring new orders to their companies.

In recent years, there have been numerous research endeavours tending to focus on mobility and mobile work issues especially in the research fields of computer-supported cooperative work and mobile informatics (see for example, Kristoffersen and Ljungberg, 2000; Fargrell 2000;Bellotti and Bly,2000; Wiberg, 2001) Some of these studies have produced significant results. However in a number of studies focusing on work mobility, there has been a tendency to consider mobile work as a temporary separation from the stationary work setting. That is, the worker temporarily works away from his/her office and then comes back to his/her resource-rich work setting. Studies that focus on situations where mobile work rather than stationary work is the norm, which means that the workers carry out all their work-related activities outside the office moving from one activity to another, are lacking. Additionally, there is a paucity of interpretive empirical studies that consider the challenges that mobile workers face and the information support they might need as they move within both heterogeneous and dispersed work environments(March et al, 2000), during the course of their everyday work. And none have explicitly considered such themes in relation to the sales force's work.

The purpose of the current study is therefore to further understand the nature of the challenges that sales representatives face as the result of operating within a highly mobile and heterogeneous work environments. We focus on how the sales representatives manage their information needs and discuss the properties of mobile support systems that would enable them to work effectively despite their extensive work movement. This is achieved with the aid of a case study involving the sales representatives of a medium-sized pharmaceutical company.

The remaining part of the paper is structured as follows. The second section outlines the research methodology. Then, in section 3, the paper presents evidence from the case study and discusses the performance challenges that the sales reps face before, during and after their daily sales trips. Section 4 discusses the implications of the study for the design of mobile support systems for the sales force. The paper concludes with some remarks and suggests areas for further research.

2. Research Approach

This paper reports on the initial empirical findings from research undertaken in the sales and marketing group of a subsidiary of a multinational pharmaceutical company (Pharma Co) employing 6000 people worldwide in 2003, about half of them engaged in sales and marketing activities. Pharma is a medium-sized company operating as a niche player with a particular expertise in the area of psychiatric and neurological disorders.

The company has a national sales team consisting of 14 sales representatives and four territorial sales managers. These sales representatives report to a sales manager who is ultimately responsible to the marketing manager.

We conducted five semi-structured interviews lasting on the average two hours with Pharma's sales and the marketing managers who supervise the sales force. The purpose was to document and validate the existing sales process, discuss their criteria in assessing and rewarding the reps' performance and identify activities that they regard as potential performance inhibitors for their sales reps. subsequently; data were collected through observation by the means of field sales trips. The field sales trip lasted an entire day and represented "an ordinary day" in the life of a Pharma sales rep.

The interviews were supplemented with informal interactions and discussions over lunch.

All the interviews and discussions were recorded, transcribed and subjected to content analysis using established qualitative coding techniques prescribed in qualitative research methodology. Throughout the research process, the field material was categorised into issues, then themes and then "made sense" of (Hayes (2001) by drawing on the theoretical approach that underpinned the research study.

3. Pre-, in- and Post-Mobility Challenges

This section draws on the detailed case material to indicate the difficulties that Parma's sales reps experience during the course of their everyday work activities. The paper assigned these challenges to three main categories, pre-, in- and post-mobility challenges. In the following we consider each key challenge posed to Pharma's sales reps performance in turn.

3.1 Pre-Mobility Challenges: Planning How to Deal with the Unpredictable

The first challenge that the reps face prior to starting their daily sales trips is the difficulty in predicting whether or not he/she can be received by the general practitioner (GP) with whom a meeting has been scheduled during the day. As the following extract from a sales rep illustrates, in many situations the sales rep fails to see the GP because of unpredictable circumstances that might make the doctor not available for the meeting.

"You never really know (with regard to meeting with GP). You should only hope that he will be there and, of course, face the reality that there may be a problem with your schedule. I sometimes call on a neurologist with whom I had a booking, I might be waiting outside her office; and then a nurse comes to me and says the doctor is too busy at the moment, "I am sorry you cannot see her today".

The uncertainty associated with the planned meetings with GPs makes it difficult for the sales rep to plan for an alternative activity if the meeting is unexpectedly cancelled. Indeed, in most cases, the cancellation happens at the last minute, when the rep is already waiting for the meeting outside the GP's office. As a result, if the meeting is cancelled the sales rep moves to the next sales visit scheduled for the day and waits in the car or in a cafeteria until the meeting time with the next GP, with the frustrating feeling that he/she will not meet the quota of five sales visits of the day.

Another challenge that pervades the pre-mobility stage was associated with preparation for the presentation that the sales rep will give during the following day's sales visits. Indeed, the reps have to visit their targeted GP at least 5 times a year. Prior to each sales visit, the reps review the content of the previous meetings held with the GP and try to gain new information not mentioned in previous meetings that the GP may find helpful and interesting. As one rep explained:

"The doctor would be pleased if you can provide her with new information she does not know... You should prove to the doctor that you are up to the task and that you know more than her".

A further difficulty that the reps face prior to starting their sales visits is adaptation to the shortcomings associated with the technological support they have (the laptop) in order to

make sure that the information they need during the working day is available when it is required. For example, given the fact that the reps know that they cannot get access anytime and anywhere to the information stored in their laptop or within the corporate database, they make sure to print out in the evening all the documents they consider would be useful during the following day's sales trip. However, the strategy of printing files on particular topics (for example, the day's schedule) is not always effective in adapting to the deficiencies associated with the technological support they have access to, as one rep explained:

"Usually I print the timetable for next day at night. Last night I forget to print any paper to remind me where to go and I didn't do it in the morning because I have a little daughter and I don't want to interrupt her sleep in order to get my briefcase. When I don't remember to print my schedule, then I don't want to do it the following morning, either, for fear of waking her up. Fortunately this morning I have only four meetings and I can memorise them when I check them on the laptop".

3.2 In-Mobility Challenges: Making the Most of Working Time

Kristoffersen and Ljungberg (2000) categorised people's mobility into three types: travelling, visiting and wandering. *Travelling* is the process of going from one place to another using some means of transport such as car or train. This kind of mobility refers to the mobility of people in a vehicle. *Wandering* is extensive local mobility in a local area. *Visiting* is spending time in one place for a certain time before moving on to another place. The visiting type of mobility refers to the process in which people spend time in a place on a transitory basis before moving on to another place.

The work of Pharma's sales reps exhibits all the above three modalities of mobility. They spend a considerable portion of their time travelling by car from one GP's location to another. Their daily work activities involve visiting when they spend time meeting the GPs in their offices or other places (i.e. restaurant). They sometimes exhibit the wandering type of mobility when they schedule meetings with many GPs located in the same building (e.g. hospitals). However, in addition to the above categories of mobility, there is another modality of mobility that emerges form observing Pharma's reps daily work activities in the field, which the paper labels as *waiting* (see figure 1). Waiting is spending time waiting for the scheduled activity to take place. It captures the situations of "in betweeness" among the activities that the rep carries out in a mobile work setting. It is the case when the reps arrive at the meeting place before the agreed time, possibly thanks to better than expected traffic conditions, or get their meeting cancelled by the GP and therefore go back to the car or some other place (e.g. a cafeteria) until the time for the next scheduled meeting comes.

In the following we discuss key challenges posed to the performance of Pharma's sales reps when they operate within each of the different modalities of mobility.



Figure 1: Four types of mobility (Adapted from Kristoffersen and Ljungberg (2000)

3.2.1 Barriers to Performance when Visiting

The key hindrances to effective working that Pharma's reps encounter when they are operating within the visiting modality of mobility are as follows.

Adaptation during short sales visits

A common challenge facing Pharma's reps is that GPs devote a short time to the meeting with them. In most cases the sales visit does not last more than 15 minutes. Moreover, they experience strong competition with reps from other competing companies for the time that the GP has set aside for meeting pharmaceutical sales reps. In some cases, hospitals discourage the GP from meeting pharmaceutical sales reps during ordinary working hours. Therefore, the GP schedules those meetings during their own short breaks (e.g. lunch time).

The short meeting time and the competition for it among the reps representing various pharmaceutical companies put pressure on Pharma's reps to be as much effective as possible during their short sales visits to GPs. One key method of improving Pharma's reps' effectiveness during sales visits is to make the GP realise that the meeting with the rep is intellectually rewarding as one rep mentioned:

"Every time you come, they (doctors) expect you to have something new. They also want to hear other doctors' opinions, their experience with the drug, they want you to deliver all the information you heard from other doctors. Even though you know your drug quite well, a doctor believes another doctor more than the rep".

A further difficulty that sales reps face during their sales visits is the need to adapt to the questions and issues that GP may raise. Indeed, to be effective during the sales call they need to demonstrate knowledge and assertiveness with regard to the various questions raised by the GP.

Laptop computers, though they contain valuable information in their hard drive, were not regarded by the sales reps as appropriate in supporting an unanticipated need for information during interactions with GPs. Their size, weight, and long boot-up time prohibit them from being regarded as convenient supportive technology. Therefore most of the reps do not take them on sales trips and if they do, they leave them in the car. Moreover, the company forbids the sales reps to use their laptops during sales calls. On the other hand, the time devoted to the meetings with doctors is too short to allow appropriate access to paper-based documents as a means to deal with unexpected information needs. Therefore the reps rely mainly on their own knowledge base stored in their memory.

Managing follow-up questions

During the sales visits Parma's reps face the situation in which the GP asks questions for which they do not have the answer. In such cases the reps would make a commitment to the GP about a date when they can supply the required information. They first make sure that they record the question(s) so that they will not forget the GP's information requests and then try to figure out which colleague can help in providing the answer.

The difficulty associated with GPs' follow-up questions is the long time it takes to provide an answer:

"If there is a question I can't answer, I need to find out who can answer and make a phone call to our product manager. Sometimes it takes days because the product manager may need to request the information from abroad (headquarters). When he gets the information, he submits it to me via e-mail but I need to go home to read the e-mail before getting back to the doctor"

The lack of access while on the move to such a basic communicative resource as e-mail by the reps contributes to lengthen the time it takes to provide the information to the GP. The reps can access e-mail only at the end of the day when they are at home via a dial-up to the head office. Therefore it might be the case that the product manager submits the answer to the rep in the morning, but the rep is not aware of it till the evening, when he/she gets home, which adds more time to the process of answering follow-up questions.

A further difficulty that the reps face in terms of dealing with follow-up questions is related to finding a fast way to contact the doctor and deliver the answers to their outstanding questions as one rep explained:

"Sometimes doctors may need things urgently; the quicker you deliver the information the better. The problem is how to reach the doctor. Some of them don't like us calling them during working hours".

The long time it takes to provide the doctors with answers to their questions may be detrimental to both the sales reps and the company. For the sales rep, a delay in answering the doctor's questions may affect their customer orientation as perceived by the GP. Moreover, the GP may be waiting for information related to an important Pharma's drug issue such as its side effects or interaction with other drugs. In this case, failure to satisfy the doctor's need for information would delay the decision to prescribe the drug till he/she gets the information from the rep.

Note- taking during sales visits

During the short meeting with GP, Pharma's reps rely mainly on their own memory for recording what they perceive as useful information such as the drug-related issues

discussed with the doctors or questions that the GPs have. For information that the reps perceive as highly important (i.e. questions needing a follow up), the rep writes it down in order not to forget, and then, enters the handwritten information into the laptop when there is sufficient time between meetings. As one rep explained:

"During meetings with doctors I try to memorise. If there is an important thing I write it on a piece of paper to make sure that things that were asked of me could be answered for sure. Then when I have sufficient time during the day, I try to open the laptop and input the information just to make sure it stays there and I don't have to find my piece of paper later on".

In the evening, once at home, the rep connects to the company's database and enters the sales reports of the day. Some reps leave reporting tasks till the weekend and input the sales reports of the whole week.

The availability gap

A further challenge that the reps face during their sales visits is what the paper terms as the availability gap. When doctors encounter an urgent need for information about Pharma's drugs, they try to make a call to the reps. However, during their sales visits, the reps put their mobile phone on the "meeting status" and thus they cannot answer incoming calls. After the sales visits, the reps may try to call back to the doctor who initiated the phone call but the doctor may be busy and not available to take the rep's call. The availability gap may result in the doctor lacking context-specific information that he/she may need to deal with a patient being treated. The doctor may contact the rep using e-mail to ask for the information needed. However, by the time the rep gets home at the end of the day, reads the e-mail and sends a reply to the doctor, the information may no longer be relevant to give the doctor what he/she needs to know.

3.2.2 Barriers to Performances when Travelling

Travelling from one location to another using the car is one of the most time-consuming activities for Pharma's reps. Pharma's reps spend on average more than a third of their working day on the road, in normal weather. The main challenge posed to the reps during travelling is how to make the long time they spend on the road more productive despite the physical and legal constraints (access to work resources, legislation prohibiting talking over a mobile phone while driving) resulting from driving the car.

I spend about half of the working day driving from one place to another. This time is too much to get wasted. The whole goes to listening to radio. I can't even reply to my customers' phone calls during this time."

3.2.3 Barriers when Wandering

A number of the reps' meetings with GPs take place in large hospitals where they may encounter many opportunities for sales leads given the hospital's large medical workforce as one rep explained:

"When you go to hospitals you know that there is a lot of potential for the same hospital. Even when you have only one scheduled meeting in the morning, you can reach lot of doctors during the morning if you can remember your contacts in the hospital. You can just call them and say that I am here. It is possible that somebody may be having a coffee break and automatically comes to the cafeteria where you can offer him coffee; his colleagues may also join him". The key challenge that the reps may face when they have a sales call within a hospital is how to get access to useful information about potential prospects within the hospital so that they can know who to call and whether or not he/she might be interested in meeting them.

"It is important that you have access to the information about the doctors within the hospital so that you can easily get a recall picture such as, for example, who knows me in this hospital, is there a doctor who once asked me to give him a call when I am in the hospital and the like".

3.2.4 Barriers when Waiting

The main hindrances to effective working that Parma's reps face when they are operating at the waiting modality of mobility are the ability to work in dead time periods, coordination with stationary colleagues and dealing with an impromptu information need.

Working in dead time

Periods of dead time refer to the amounts of time that take place during the working day and that Pharma's reps perceive as wasted because they unwillingly spend it without performing any work-related activity. In the case of Pharma's sales reps, the occurrence of dead time is frequent and has various causes. One cause is the difficulty in predicting its happening so that the reps can plan ahead for the kind of activities that would enable them to make a good use of it. For example, in the event of a last minute cancellation of a meeting the reps find it difficult to fill that time with a value-generating activity such as visiting another contact (see Fig. 2). Generally GPs require to be contacted in advance in order to arrange a meeting with the rep. Therefore the time devoted to the cancelled meeting turns to be a dead time, as one rep mentioned:

"When you have a long gap between your contacts, what you can do is to wait for the next meeting. You may try to visit another doctor but most of them like you to call them before hand, sometimes a few weeks in advance".

Another cause of dead time for Pharma reps is the lack of appropriate technological support that would enable the rep to perform a work-related activity during this time. A laptop computer is awkward to support the reps during dead time because of its size and also the long time it takes to get the device mobilised to provide the required support. The reps try to use the laptop generally in the car. However, if the rep faces short dead time (e.g. between two meetings in a hospital), and wants to use the laptop to perform a scheduled task or retrieve information, he/she is discouraged from doing that. This is because the rep figures out that by the time he/she gets to the car in the parking area and starts the laptop, the time for the next meeting will come. Therefore the rep may choose to use the short dead time just waiting outside the GP's office or in the hospital's cafeteria.

Coordinating with stationary colleagues

A further difficulty that Pharma's reps experience is coordinating with co-workers who are operating within a stationary work setting. The reps need to cooperate closely with field secretaries who partly arrange the rep's meetings with GPs. However, in some situations the lack of mutual awareness with regard to the actions undertaken by the reps and the secretary in terms of booking time for meetings with GPs can be detrimental to the rep's relationship with GPs:

"The worst thing that may happen is that when you have just booked a doctor for yourself and then for the same time the secretary makes you a booking with another doctor and they are both very important. Then you have to decide what to do, which one you have to transfer to another time. It is not easy as they are busy and you may not find another time to catch him or her"

The lack of a real-time awareness of the booking actions undertaken by both the secretary and the rep also hinders the ability of the secretary to book meetings with the GP, as one rep mentioned:

"Sometimes I tell my secretary that I have just written an e-mail to a doctor am waiting for his reply. Then my secretary is also waiting, she is a kind of engaged, she does not have all the potential that she would have in another case if she knows what is happening in my day. She needs to wait until I check the doctor's answer when I get access to my e-mails at the end of the day".

In some situations, even mobile phones fail to support the reps in alleviating this kind of coordination problem as one rep explained :

"It is not always possible to reach the secretary by phone, when I have some time and try to call and inform her about the days I suggested to doctors. I may find all the lines busy because there are four other reps trying to call her and all of us are served by the same secretary. When she tries to call me back, I may be in meetings or driving and not available to take her call"





Figure 2: A chart depicting the uncertainty the rep faces with regard to dealing with dead time

3.3 Post-Mobility Challenge: Achieving the Life/Work Balance

Once at home, Pharma's reps have to accomplish work-related activities that they were not able to do during the day, as one rep explained:

"When I come back home, I have to open the laptop and start doing reporting and administrative work. There I have the telephone line that allows me to connect to the company resources. I do my reports; I read and reply to e-mails, try to find information for doctors. I prepare expense reports and send the receipts to the head office so that my bank account gets updated. It takes too much time. Sometimes I do part of that on Friday night or Sunday morning. I have also to read reports and studies to answer doctors' questions".

The time that the reps devote to accomplish work-related tasks at home is used at the expense of their leisure and family time.

"I attach great value to not being obliged to open my laptop after 4 pm so I can fully concentrate on my little daughter, my hobbies and my everyday tasks at home. You don't get paid after 4 pm. It is quite embarrassing to keep working on Sunday morning at home".

4. Implications for the Design of Mobile Support Systems

In terms of the implications of this study for the design of support systems that can support pharmaceutical sales reps when they are operating in a mobile work setting, the study offers ways to improve the development of such systems in a number of possible respects. More specifically, mobile support systems that could have supported the reps participating in the study would have the following characteristics.

- Be running over a mobile client that would help the rep to work anytime. The device should have such physical characteristics as being easily portable, not obstructive to use during a meeting (e.g. with the doctor) and not requiring a lengthy boot-up time to be ready for action.
- Allow and manage a virtual shared space linking the sales rep with the doctors. The fact that doctors are stationary workers, spending most of their working day in an office next to their desktop computer, should be exploited to deal with the problems associated with the availability of the rep during working hours to satisfy doctors' impromptu information needs. For example, each time the doctor has a drug- related question he can enter it into the created virtual shared space, which may be running over the Internet. Then the rep would receive notification over his mobile device each time the doctor enters a question. When the rep has some time available (e.g. between two meetings), he may try to enter his answer to the shared page or seek collaboration from colleagues if he finds the question difficult to answer. The doctor may also use the shared virtual space to enter useful information about his meetings with the reps. Examples of such information may include cancellation of the next meeting, possible change of meeting time or some drug samples that the doctor may need.
- Support the fact that the reps' information need is often short-lived. In other words, they have only little time available to get the information that they may need to carry out the task at hand. This may be achieved through alerts consisting of information that the rep may use as arguments during his/her interaction with doctors, or doctors targeting related information. The alerts can be pushed to the rep's device by the marketing department, R&D department, a colleague or a third party such as a market research company. Likewise, the reps can receive alerts about upcoming e-mails that fit their predefined preferences in terms of the e-mails they want to check during the working day. Indeed, the reps may invest some time looking for information they feel they need to deal with a task at hand. However, because of their considerable mobility, they may not be able to find time to check possible information that would support them during their interactions with doctors. As a result, the standard pull paradigm of information may not be appropriate to satisfy the reps' highly situational and short-lived information. In addition, the time to access corporate resources should not be too long in order to ensure that the required information is relevant.
- Allow a monitoring of stationary colleagues', such as the field secretaries', actions more easily in order to ensure better coordination. This could be achieved by enabling the rep to check, irrespective of location, updates about the actions the secretaries have taken in terms of booking meeting times with doctors.
- Exploit the knowledge of the rep's current geographical position to provide him/her with targeted support that fits his/her predefined preferences and changes of context. In the case of an unexpected cancellation of a scheduled meeting, for example, knowledge of the rep's geographical location could help the service

provider to offer alternative contacts nearby that the rep might consider visiting, possibly together with route recommendations. Similarly, if the rep is holding meetings in a large hospital, the marketing department, using knowledge of his/her location can send alerts about possible sales leads in the hospital.

- Prevent forgetting of useful information. This would be achieved by providing the reps with convenient and time-effective ways for note-taking during or just after the sales visit. Solutions might include entering information about the sales visit by checking over a predefined sales report format or voice entry of useful sales visit information when the rep has only a short time to take notes and report activities. Appropriate support in terms of reporting sales visits and market-related information is important, as many stakeholders would benefit from the information if the rep made it available over the corporate system. First, there is first the rep him/herself, who can use the stored market- related information in order to perform his or her knowledge mediator role effectively. Other stakeholders include the other reps that can use the shared information in their own sales interaction. The company's management can benefit from the wealth of information that the rep could provide in designing sales campaigns and providing customer-targeting guidelines for the sales force.
- Support effective use of the time the reps spend driving from one location to another. This would involve enabling the rep to carry out, during driving time, activities that do not require the same physical and cognitive capabilities needed for driving the car (e.g. visual attention). Reps could, for example, make use of the time they spend driving to update their knowledge base by listening to updates about drug-related information or market intelligence. Likewise, the reps could use such time to make a voice-based report of their previous meeting. Similarly, during driving time, if the systems enabled the reps to detect another colleague who was driving, then the two reps could use such time to share knowledge with each other. Potentially other reps engaging in travelling could join in their discussions.

5. Conclusion

The paper explored the challenges that pharmaceutical sales representatives face when operating in a mobile work environment. The paper classifies such challenges as premobility, in-mobility and post-mobility challenges. In addition to this analysis, the paper discusses some implications of the study in terms of the features of mobile support systems that would support the reps in their daily work activities.

Mobile technologies could act as an enabler of effective mobile support systems for the sales force thanks to certain unique features that they offer. Further research would involve integrating the insights provided by this study into the continuous development of mobile technologies in order to develop value-adding applications that would enable the sales force to work effectively at any time.

References

Bellotti, V and S Bly (1996). Walking away from Desktop Computer: Distributed collaboration and mobility in a Product Design Team. In proceeding of the ACM conference on computer supported collaborative work. ACM press Boston ,MA.16 TH-20th November 1996.

- Churchil, G., Ford, N., Hartley, S., Walker, O. (1985), The Determinants of Salesperson Performance A Meta-Analysis, Journal of Marketing Research, 12, May, 130-118
- Crosby, L. A, Evans, K.R and Cowles, D. (1990), "Relationship quality in services selling: an Interpersonal influence approach" Journal of Marketing, vol. 54.
- Czeipiel, J.A. (1990), "Service encounters and service relationships: implications for research", Journal of Marketing, Vol.51
- Fagrell "Mobile knowledge ", Doctoral dissertation, Department of informatics, Gothenburg University, Swede,
- U.S department of Labor www.bls.gov.
- Goodhue. D, Wixom. B and Watson. H (2002). "Realizing Business Benefits Through CRM:Hitting the Right Target in the
- Hayes N. (2001). "Boundless and bounded interactions in the knowledge work process: the role of groupware technologies". Information and organization. Vol 11, pp 79-101
- Kodz , J. Atkinson. And Perryman, S (1997).Exchanging skill sales and marketing. Brighton :IES
- Kotler, Philip (1994), Marketing Management: Analysis, Planning, Implementation and Control, 8 th edition., Prentice Hall, NJ.
- Luff P. and C, Heath (1998). Mobility in Collaboration. In proceedings of the ACM conference of computer supported cooperative work. ACM press, Seattle, WA, USA.14th -18th November 1998.
- Kristoffersen, S and F. Ljungberg (2000). Mobility: From stationary to mobile work. In Planet Internet. (K.Braa,C. Sorensen and B.Dahlbom,eds.), Studentliteratur, Lund .pp. 41-64
- Sujan, H., Weitz, B., Kumar, N. (1994), Learning Orientation, Working Smart, and Effective Selling, Journal of Marketing, 58, July, 39-52.
- March S, S. A. Hevner and S. Ram (2000). Research Commentary: An Agenda for Information Technology Research in Heterogeneous and Distributed Environments. Information Systems Research. Vol.11, No 4, pp.327-341
- Wiberg. M. (2001), "In between mobile meetings": exploring seamless ongoing interaction support for mobile CSCW, Phd Dissertation, Umea University.Sweden.
- Weitz, B., Sujan, H. Sujan, M. (1986), Knowledge, Motivation and Adaptive Behavior: A Framework for Improving Selling Effectiveness, Journal of Marketing, 50, 174-191.

Research Paper 3

BenMoussa, C. (2006): "Supporting the Pharmaceutical Sales Force through Mobile Information and Communication Technologies: An Exploratory Investigation", In Proceedings of the Helsinki Mobility Roundtable, Helsinki, Finland: June 1-2, 2006.

Supporting the Pharmaceutical Sales Force through Mobile Information and Communication technologies: an Exploratory Investigation

Chihab BenMoussa Turku Centre for Computer Science Lemminkäisenkatu 14 A FIN-20520 TURKU FINLAND cbenmous@abo.fi

Abstract

Firms are increasingly rushing to invest in a variety of technologies or sales force automation (SFA) to increase the performance of their sales forces. Research has shown, however, that a high proportion of SFA projects fail. The high failure rate of SFA projects can be explained by the lack of appropriate planning, resulting in a gap between management and the sales force in perceptions and usefulness of SFA. This paper explores the barriers to performance that the pharmaceutical sales force face when operating in a mobile working setting, The paper also explored the perception of the sales force with regard to a number of mobile solutions that could provide the sales representatives with the necessary support to deal with the barriers to performance they face in the course of their everyday work. This is achieved through a case study of a midsized multinational pharmaceutical company.

Keywords: Mobile information and communications technologies, sales force, mobility, barriers to performance.

1. Introduction

Firms worldwide are investing significant sums in sales force automation (SFA) with the goal of improving the performance of their sales forces. SFA occurs when a firm applies information technology to enhance the performance of its sales force or to computerise routine tasks in the sales process (Honeycutt, 2005).

SFA appeared to provide firms with a competitive advantage (Dulaney 1996; Keillor et al. 1997). Some researchers even go so far as to claim that SFA is now a survival tool, something a firm adopts so as not to be at a competitive disadvantage (Erffmeyer & Johnson, 2001). However optimistic reports contrast sharply with other research that clearly states that the adoption and use of SFA/CRM technologies have been less successful than originally hoped (Rigby et al. 2002). The failure rates for SFA implementations have been reported to be as high as 55–80 per cent (Honeycutt, 2005; Rigby et al. 2002). According to a leading IT consulting agency, 60 per cent of sales personnel report not using available SFA technology (Dulaney, 1996). The main reason cited by sales representatives is that SFA did not help them in the most important aspects of their job: face-to-face customer meetings. As a result, given that firms invest between US\$5000 and US\$15,000 per salesperson in SFA projects, failure rates at even one half of this magnitude indicate that firms may not be recouping their technology investment (Honeycutt, 2005).

However, despite the growth of SFA initiatives, the potential efficiency and effectiveness SFA is perceived to bring to the sales force, and the magnitude of SFA failures, it is surprising that relatively few studies have addressed this important topic especially in the information systems discipline. Most researchers state that the level of SFA research is insufficient (Erffmeyer and Johnson, 2001, Jones et al. 2002, Pathasarathy & Sohi, 1997, Rivers & Dart, 1999, Speier& Venkatesh, 2002 and Widmier et al. 2002). For example, according to Honeycutt et al. 2005, the accelerating growth and significant investments made by industrial firms validate the significance of SFA research. Likewise, Erffmeyer observes that major literature reviews suggested sales force automation would be a promising area of research, yet noted that little has been forthcoming.

The literature about SFA adoption (e.g. Gohmann et al. 2005; Buehrer et al.2005; Jones et al., 2002; Robinson et al. 2005; Rangarajan, 2005) suggests that although the sales force may initially adopt the SFA technology, their full usage of the technology is not always guaranteed. Therefore the majority of the studies about adoption of SFA by the sales force point to the importance of convincing the sales force of the usefulness of SFA for their everyday work activities, "Unless the sales force buy into the CRM implementation it will fail" (Patton, 2001). According to Honeycutt et al.(2005) one common mistake individual firms make when promoting automation is focusing on technology features (e.g. wireless Internet access) instead of specific benefits (e.g. ability to check inventory and delivery dates instantly while talking to clients at their locations). However, there remains the unanswered question of how to convince the sales force of the usefulness of the SFA technology so that they can both adopt it and use it to its full potential. For example, although salespeople technology usage has been recently investigated, most of the studies focus on implementation issues either after implementation of the sales force technology or a few months prior to implementation, but after the decision of automation and the selection of technology has already been made by the management. No study has yet looked at what salespeople perceive as barriers to their performance in their everyday work activities prior to shopping for a technology solution and then, based on the results, identify the characteristics of the technological support that would enable them to overcome the barrier to performance they face. Knowledge of the sales force's barriers to performance in the field would not only enable management to select the appropriate SFA technology that would help the sales force to deal with the barriers they face, but would also provide convincing arguments that could show the usefulness of the technology to the sales force and thus ensure their acceptance. As Gilbert 2004 observed, in order to gain the sales force "buy-in", the benefits of SFA must be understood by management and explained to the sales force (Gilbert, 2004). Likewise, Gohmanna et al. (2005) state that when salespeople are excluded from the decision-making process they may view the adoption of SFA technology as an imposition at best or an odious addition to the job at worst. Indeed, when salespersons do not understand the benefits offered by new technology, they only see cost in the time and effort of using it.

Additionally, the majority of the studies of SFA technologies neglect one major dimension of the sales force's work activities, which is mobility. Work mobility is indeed one key dimension that characterises the work of sales representatives. Such mobile workers spend most of their working time out of their office, interacting with customers and attempting to bring new orders to their companies.

The advent of mobile information and communication technologies (M-ICT) has resulted in rapid growth in a number of mobile applications and services. This paper

defines M-ICT as information and communication applications run over a wireless network using a mobile device and in a wireless environment. A mobile device is any lightweight device connected to the Internet or other networks through wireless networking using any standard wireless communication protocol. They may include such devices as PDAs, communicators or smart-phones. How M-ICT can support these frontline ambassadors in their everyday tasks are key questions facing many stakeholders, including sales managers, today.

In order to study those topics (barriers to performance that the sales force faces when operating within a mobile work setting, and on how M-ICT could support them to overcome the barriers they face and enhance their overall performance), we carried out a case study of the sales force of midsized pharmaceutical company (Pharma). The purpose of the case study was to answer the following two research questions:

1) What barriers to performance do the pharmaceutical sales representatives face when they are operating in a mobile work environment?

2)What mobile solutions would allow the pharmaceutical sales representatives overcome the barriers they face in the field and enhance their overall performance?

2. Study Context

The research was undertaken in a subsidiary of a multinational pharmaceutical company (Pharma Co) employing 6000 people worldwide in 2003, about half of them engaged in sales and marketing activities. Pharma is a relatively small company operating as a niche player with particular expertise in the area of psychiatric and neurological disorders.

The company has a national sales team consisting of 14 sales representatives (sales reps) and seven territorial sales managers. These sales representatives report to a sales manager who is ultimately responsible to the marketing manager.

The main role of a Pharma sales rep is to meet physicians, nurses as well as prescribers in hospitals and pharmacists to provide information about the way the company's products operate, trying to emphasise their clinical benefits to patients and health professionals in terms of disease management. The purpose is to encourage the health professionals the sales reps they visit to prescribe Pharma's products rather than those of their competitors.

In addition to their daily encounters with health professionals (mainly physicians), Pharma's reps work duties include managing relationships with their customers. Relationship management with physicians involves providing them with any information they need related to the company's products, entertaining them in order to personalise the relationship with them as well as inviting and accompanying them to scientific conferences and congresses covering the scope of their medical interests. Pharma's sales reps duties also include administrative work. Their administrative tasks include preparing reports about both their daily sales encounters with healthcare professionals and the expenses they incur during their sales visits (i.e. catering provided to health-care professionals during sales meetings).

The management of Pharma's reps is based on an outcome system of compensation as well as autonomy in the field within certain regulatory guidelines. Pharma requires each sales rep to make five sales visits per day. The reward system is

then based on the number of face-to-face meetings held with target customers as well as the level of the company's product sales within the territory where the rep operates.

Pharma provides training for its sales force once per year. Each training course lasts three days and covers both sales and technical training programmes related Pharma products.

The information technology support that Pharma provides for its sales force includes a mobile phone and a laptop computer. The sales reps also have a sales support system that runs on their laptops and that enables them to store sales visits information and to connect their company's corporate database via a dial-up system

2. Study 1: A qualitative investigation

2.1 Method

We conducted five semi-structured interviews lasting on average two hours with Pharma's sales reps and the marketing managers who supervise the sales force. The purpose was to document and validate the existing sales process, discuss their criteria in assessing and rewarding the reps' performance and identify activities that they regard as potential performance inhibitors for their sales reps. Subsequently; data were collected through observation by means of field sales trips. The field sales trips lasted an entire day and represented "an ordinary day" in the life of a Pharma sales rep. Throughout the research process, the field material was categorised into issues, then themes and then "made sense" of (Hayes 2001) by drawing on the theoretical approach that underpinned the research study. Several interesting themes were found about both the barriers to performance that the reps face within the course of their everyday work life and the nature of their information they need when on the move. Such themes helped frame the survey to be used in the second study.

2.2. Results

2.2.1 Emerging barriers to performance in the field

Based on the thematic analysis of the qualitative field material, the paper assigns the barriers to performance the sales representatives face during the course of their everyday mobile work, into pre-, in- and post-mobility barriers to performance (see BenMoussa, 2005 for more details).

One barrier that the reps face prior to starting their daily sales trips is associated with preparation for the presentation that they will give during the following day's sales visits. The reps have to visit their targeted physician at least five times a year. Prior to each sales visit, the rep has to find time to review the content of the previous meetings held with the physician and to find out new information not mentioned in previous meetings that the physician may find helpful and interesting. Indeed, the reps' effectiveness in their meetings with physicians depends to a large degree on the extent to which the physician perceives that the meeting with the rep has been intellectually value-adding. In some cases based on such judgement the physician may decide about the future of the relationship with the rep.

A further difficulty that the reps face prior to starting their sales visits is adaptation to the shortcomings associated with the technological support they have (the laptop) in order to make sure that the information they need during the working day is available when and where it is required. For example, given the fact that the reps know that they cannot get access anytime and anywhere to the information stored in their laptop or within the corporate database, they make sure to print out in the evening all the documents they consider might be useful during the following day's sales trip. However, the strategy of printing files on particular topics (for example, the day's schedule) is not always effective in adapting to the deficiencies associated with the technological support they have access to, as one rep explained:

Usually I print the timetable for next day at night. Last night I forget to print any paper to remind me where to go and I didn't do it in the morning because I have a little daughter and I don't want to interrupt her sleep in order to get my briefcase. When I don't remember to print my schedule, then I don't want to do it the following morning, either, for fear of waking her up. Fortunately this morning I have only four meetings and I can memorise them when I check them on the laptop.

In-mobility barriers to performance refer to the challenges the rep face during their daily sales visits. The paper assigns such challenges to barriers to efficiency and barriers to effectiveness.

One barrier to efficiency the reps face during their daily sales trips is when a physician cancels an already arranged appointment. In many situations the sales rep fails to get received by the physician because of unpredictable circumstances that might make the doctor not available for the meeting as one rep explained:

You never really know (with regard to meeting a GP). You should only hope that he will be there and, of course, face the reality that there may be a problem with your schedule. I sometimes call on a neurologist with whom I had a booking, I might be waiting outside her office; then a nurse comes to me and says the physician is too busy at the moment, "I am sorry you cannot see her today".

As a result, if the meeting is cancelled the sales rep moves to the next sales visit scheduled in his/her day and waits in the car or in a cafeteria till the meeting time with the next physician comes, with the frustrating feeling that he or she will not fulfil his/her quota of five sales visits per day.

Another barrier to efficiency identified in the study is the difficulty in turning periods of dead time into productive ones. Dead time refers to the time during the working day that the rep perceives as wasted because it is spent without performing any work-related activity. Examples include time in transit between the day's scheduled meetings, time wasted as a result of a last minute cancellation of an already booked meeting with a physician, or time available because of less time than expected being spent with a physician. In the case of Pharma's sales reps, the occurrence of dead time is frequent and has various causes. One cause is the difficulty in predicting its happening so that the reps can plan ahead for the kind of activities that would enable them to make a good use of it. For example, in the event of a last minute cancellation of a meeting the reps find it difficult to fill that time with a valuegenerating activity such as visiting another contact. Generally physicians require to be contacted in advance in order to arrange a meeting with the rep. Therefore the time devoted to the cancelled meeting turns to be a dead time, as one rep mentioned

When you have a long gap between your contacts, what you can do is to wait for the next meeting. You may try to visit another doctor but most of them like you to call them beforehand, sometimes a few weeks in advance.

Another cause of dead time for Pharma reps is the lack of appropriate technological support that would enable the rep to perform a work-related activity during this time. A laptop computer appeared to be awkward to support the reps during dead time because of its size and also the time it takes to get the device mobilised to provide the required support. The reps try to use the laptop generally in the car. However, if the rep faces short dead time (e.g. between two meetings in a hospital), and wants to use the laptop to perform a scheduled task or retrieve information, he/she is discouraged

from doing that. This is because the rep figures out that by the time he/she gets to the car in the parking area and starts the laptop, the time for the next meeting will come. Therefore the rep may choose to use the short dead time just waiting outside the physician's office or in the hospital cafeteria.

A third barrier to efficiency that the reps face during their daily sales trips is the difficulty of accessing contact information when the reps have meetings in large hospitals. A meeting that takes place in a large hospital is a good opportunity for the reps to perform their prospecting activities. This is due to the large number of physicians working in large hospitals. A key enabler to help the reps search for new prospects in such hospitals is to have access, whenever they have time available (i.e. between meetings), to sales information such as the contact names of the physicians they know in the hospital. Then the rep could have those physicians with whom they have already built a relationship introduce him/her to their colleagues, during a coffee break for example. However, the reps store useful sales information in their laptops, which in most cases they do not carry with them. As a result, they rely mainly on the contact name they remember. The time available for performing prospecting activities is therefore spent just waiting for the following meeting.

The barriers to effectiveness the reps face during their sales trips are various and have many sources. One barrier to effectiveness is the difficulty the reps experience in terms of coordinating with field secretaries during sales trips. Such difficulty stems from that fact that the reps as mobile workers cannot be aware of the booking actions made by the secretaries during their sales trips. They need to wait until they are at home and connect to the corporate database. The field secretaries experience the same difficulty. In order to know the reps' opinion about possible meeting dates or the reps' actions with regard to contacting a specific physician, they need to wait until the rep enters the information into the corporate system. Such coordination difficulties result in problems such as booking a meeting with the same physician twice, which can be detrimental to the rep's relationship with physicians:

The worst thing that may happen is that when you have just booked a doctor for yourself and then for the same time the secretary makes you a booking with another doctor and they are both very important. Then you have to decide what to do, which one you have to transfer to another time. It is not easy as they are busy and you may not find another time to catch him or her

A second barrier to effectiveness is a long delay in providing physicians with answers to their outstanding questions. Outstanding questions refer to questions that the physician asks and to which the rep does not know the answer.

Sometimes doctors may need things urgently; the quicker you deliver the information the better.

In order for the rep to provide answers to such a question, he/she needs to look for the information him/herself. In most cases, the information-gathering process takes place at home, which increases the time; it takes for the rep to submit the answer to the physician. Also the reps may forward them to more specialised colleagues within the company. In this case the rep has to wait until the colleague submits the reply to the outstanding question. However, the inability to check e-mail while on the move extends the time it takes the rep to provide an answer to the physicians' outstanding questions. As a result it might be that the colleague from whom the rep seeks support with regard to a physician's outstanding question has already submitted an answer using e-mail to the rep during the working day. However, in the absence of access to e-mail in the field, the rep will not be aware of the colleague's reply until he or she gets home in the evening and accesses his or her corporate database.

A further barrier to effectiveness is physicians expecting reps to adapt to physicians' information requirements. Physicians require that the reps provide them with new information during each sales meeting as one rep explained:

The physician is pleased if you can provide her with new information she does not know...You should prove to the physician that you are up to the task and that you know more than her.

Also, the fact that physicians appreciate that the rep can provide them with the experiences of other physicians is another barrier to effectiveness the reps face during their sales encounters. Physicians often regard the opinion of their colleagues about the product the rep is promoting as more reliable than the arguments the rep provides them with, as one rep explained:

Every time you come, they (doctors) expect you to have something new. They also want to hear other doctors' opinions, their experience with the drug, they want you to deliver all the information you heard from other doctors. Even though you know your drug quite well, a doctor believes another doctor more than the rep.

The way the reps take and store useful information that they acquire during sales visits appeared to be a barrier to effectiveness. During the short meeting with physicians, the reps rely mainly on their own memory for recording what they perceive as useful information, such as drug-related issues discussed with the doctors or questions that the physicians have. For information that the reps perceive as highly important (i.e. questions needing a follow-up), the rep writes it down in order not to forget, and then, enters the handwritten information into the laptop when there is sufficient time between meetings. As one rep explained:

During meetings with doctors I try to memorise. If there is an important thing I write it on a piece of paper to make sure that things that were asked of me could be answered for sure. Then when I have sufficient time during the day, I try to open the laptop and input the information just to make sure it stays there and I don't have to find my piece of paper later on.

In the evening, once at home, the rep accesses the company's database and enters the sales reports for the day. Some reps leave reporting tasks till the weekend and input the sales reports for the whole week.

The time gap separating sales visits and the time when the reps enter information related to such visits to the corporate database affects the quality of the reports. Indeed, if the rep carries out the reporting activity at the weekend, then he/she will have to input on average 25 reports. Therefore quite a lot of useful information might be omitted or locked somewhere on a piece of paper. Such a time gap would also lead to a collaboration gap between reps in terms of sharing knowledge about physicianrelated experiences with the company's drugs. A rep may gain useful knowledge from his/her interactions with doctors. However, other reps cannot access such knowledge and use it as an argument during their sales visits even though they try to connect up to the office in order to access the corporate database, until the rep enters it into the corporate database at the end of the week.

A final barrier to effectiveness that reps face is the availability gap. When physicians feel an urgent need for information about Pharma's drugs, they try to make a phone call to the reps. However, during his or her sales visits, the reps put their mobile phone in meeting status and thus they cannot answer incoming calls. After the sales visit the rep may try to call back the physician who initiated the phone call, but the physician may be busy and not available to take the rep's call. Such an availability gap may result in the physician lacking context-specific information that he or she may need to deal with a patient being treated. Post-mobility challenges refer to the work-life balance that the reps attempt to achieve. Indeed, once at home, Pharma's reps have to accomplish work-related activities that they were not able to do during the day. The time that the reps devote to accomplishing work-related tasks at home is used at the expense of their rest and family time:

I put great value on not being obliged to open my laptop after 4 pm to fully concentrate on my little daughter, my hobbies and my everyday tasks at home. You don't get paid after 4 pm. It is quite embarrassing to keep working on Sunday.

Category	Type of Barriers
Pre-Mobility Barriers	 Preparation of sales visits and planning how to deal with physicians' questions Printing in advance all the documents that the reps regard as important for the following day's sales visits
In-Mobility Barriers	Barriers to efficiency • Unexpected cancellation of appointments by physicians • Difficulty in working productively in dead time periods including when driving from one location to another • Difficulty in accessing sales information to carry out prospecting activities Barriers to effectiveness • Managing physicians' outstanding questions • Note-taking during sales visits • Availability gap • Difficulty in adapting to physicians' information requirements in terms of providing new information during each sales trip and disseminating the experiences of other physicians with the company's drugs
Post - Mobility Barriers	 Carrying out administrative and information- gathering task at the expense of rest and family time.

Table 1:

Emerging barriers to performance that the reps face based on the data collected in the study1

Based on the themes identified in Study 1, a second study was conducted. For this study a survey was developed. The questionnaire was sent to the company's entire sales force. It was thought that confirmation of the themes identified in Study 1 with a survey would help confirm the validity of the thematic analysis conducted on the qualitative material collected in study1.

3.1 Method

The instrument used was a questionnaire that was e-mailed to each of the salespeople working in Pharma. The managers of Pharma regularly employ e-mail to communicate with their sales force. Once the e-mail survey was completed by the

salesperson, his/her response was sent directly to the researcher to maintain confidentiality. Respondents were assured of the confidentiality of the information they provided and that only averaged and anonymous data would be used in any report. The main themes of the questionnaire were:

- The nature of the work impediments that the sales representatives face when they operate within a mobile work setting,
- How the sales representatives perceive the possible impact of mobile solutions in terms of overcoming the barriers they face and enhancing their performance.

In the first part of the survey salespeople were asked to rank several statements about the barriers to performance they encounter during the course of their everyday work, on a five-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 1 to 5, where 1 equalled always facing the barrier to performance, 2 = often, 3 = sometimes, 4 = seldom and 5 = never.

In the second part of the questionnaire respondents were asked to assign points to several statements that describe solutions that would enable them to overcome the impediments and enhance their performance in the field, on a five-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 1 to 5, where , where 1 equalled "extremely unimportant" and 5 equalled "extremely important". Questions about the reps' frequency of usage of the information technology support (i.e. laptop) available to them were also asked.

3.2 Results

3.2.1Barriers to performance in the field

As shown in table 2, the percentage of Pharma's reps always or often, facing the barriers to performance ranges from a low 21% to a high 93%. While the percentage of the reps at least sometimes facing the barriers to performance ranges from a low 50% to a high 100%. The mode value of 9 out of the 14 barriers to performance is 2 or 1. These results directly replicate Study 1 results in terms of the barriers to performance the reps face during the course of their everyday work. The reps confirm the existence of the efficiency and effectiveness barriers to their performance identified in the qualitative study. In terms of the usage of laptop computer during sales trips, seventy-nine per cent of the reps report that they seldom or never use their laptop computer to find answers to physicians' questions that are difficult to answer. Ninety-two per cent of the reps also report that they seldom or never carry their laptop with them to each sales meeting with physicians. In order to get access to information whenever needed, the reps print out documents they think they may need before starting their daily sales trips. Indeed 71% of the reps report that prior to starting their sales trips, they always or often print out all documents they may need during sales trips. They also extend their working days to carry out administrative tasks that they are not be able to do in the field even when they have an opportunity in terms of dead time. These are performed at the expense of their rest and family time.

Table 2: Leading sources of barriers to performance for the sales reps interviewed. N=14

	Always or often*	Sometimes	Seldom or never ***	Mode	Mean	SD
How frequently do you face the following barriers to performance	%	%	%			
Performing administrative work at home	92.9	7.1	0.0	2.0	1.6	0.6
Printing out documents before sales trips that might be useful during sales trips	71.4	7.1	21.4	1.0	2.0	1.4
Making notes on paper about physicians' outstanding questions during sales visits	71.4	7.1	21.4	1.0	2.0	1.2
Physicians requiring to call in advance before arranging a meeting	64.3	0.0	35.7	2.0	2.8	1.6
Physicians requiring new information during each meeting	50.0	42.9	7.1	2.0	2.5	0.8
Difficulty of identifying alternative contacts to visit if an appointment is cancelled	57.1	28.6	14.3	2.0	2.6	0.8
Physicians appreciating hearing the opinion of other physicians about the company's products	50.0	50.0	0.0	2.0	2.5	0.5
Spending time gaps between meetings just waiting for the upcoming meeting to take place	50.0	28.6	21.4	2.0	2.7	1.1
Physicians not informing in advance in case they cancel an appointment	42.8	50.0	7.1	3.0	2.6	0.8
Difficulty in accessing sales contacts in large hospitals	42.9	28.6	28.6	2.0	2.7	1.1
Long delay in providing an answer to physicians ' outstanding questions harms my relationship with him or her	42.9	14.3	42.9	4.0	2.9	1.2
Coordinating with field secretaries during sales trips	21.4	50.0	28.6	3.0	3.1	0.9
Not checking e-mail during sales trips increases the time taken to provide physicians with answers to their outstanding questions	21.4	35.7	42.9	3.0	3.4	1.0
Physicians do not like me to call them during their work hours	21.4	35.7	42.9	3.0	3.3	0.9

*) Percentage of respondents who answered always = 1 or often = 2

**) Percentage of respondents who answered sometimes = 3
 ***) Percentage of respondents who answered seldom = 4 or never = 5

3.2.2 Overcoming the barriers

The survey also asked respondents to assign points to several statements that describe solutions that would enable them to overcome the barriers they face and enhance their performance in the field, on a scale of 1 to 5, where 1 equalled "extremely unimportant" and 5 equalled "extremely important". We classify such solutions into two groups: the productivity of working time-boosting solutions and effectiveness-enabling solutions (Tables 3 and 4).

Table 3: The importance reps assign to the productivity of working time-boosting solutions

	Unimportant *	Important**	Mode	Mean	SD
Scales 1-5	%	%			
How important is for you?					
Identifying alternative doctors to visit if a planned meeting is cancelled	0.0	85.7	5.0	4.4	0.7
Recording and reporting sales contact information after meeting	0.0	85.7	5.0	3.9	1.0
Receiving information alerts about new customers to visit during sales trips	0.0	85.7	5.0	4.4	0.9
Receiving information alerts about customers that have the highest potential in your territory during sales trips	7.1	71.4	5.0	3.8	1.1
Receiving information alerts about cancel- lation of appointments with physicians	14.3	64.3	5.0	3.9	1.3
Receiving information alerts about potential traffic jams during sales trips	21.4	35.7	3.0	2.6	1.2
Receiving information alerts about exhibitions and display during sales trips	35.7	21.4	2.0	2.8	1.1

*) Percentage of the respondents who answered 1 = extremely unimportant or 2 = unimportant **) Percentage of the respondents who answered 4 = important or 5 = extremely important

Table 4:

.

The importance the reps assign to the effectiveness-enabling-solutions for their performance in the field

Scale 1-5	Unimportant	Important	Mean	Mode	SD
	%	%			
How important is for you?					
Accessing field secretaries' booking actions while in the field	0.0	92.86	4.1	4.0	1.1
Providing physicians with straightforward answers to their questions	7.1	92.9	4.2	4.0	1.4
Accessing the company database for information before meetings with physicians	7.1	78.6	3.4	4.0	0.9
Checking e-mails during sales trips	14.3	71.4	3.9	4.0	1.4
Accessing physicians' sales visit information before meetings	0.0	57.1	3.7	4.0	0.6
Receiving information alerts about important events in the pharmaceutical industry,	21.4	50.0	3.1	3.0	1.1
Receiving information alerts about competition during sales trips	21.4	35.7	2.9	3.0	1.0
Learning about new or competitive products while driving from one location to another	42.8	28.6	3.1	2.0	1.3
Accessing other team members sales visits information	50.0	14.3	2.7	3.0	1.0

*) Percentage of the respondents who answered 1 = extremely unimportant or 2 = unimportant

**) Percentage of the respondents who answered 4 = important or 5 = extremely important

The survey findings reveal an overall positive opinion of the reps with regard most of the mobile solutions suggested to them, in terms of enhancing their performance as seen by them. The high importance the reps assign to almost all the solutions suggested to them in the survey reveal that that reps face a number of barriers that need to be removed. The majority of the reps rate as highly important for their performance a number of time-saving solutions such as the ability to make sales visit reports using available time during their sales trips or receiving alerts from physicians about potential cancellation of appointments.

Furthermore, a high proportion of the interviewed regard as highly important their ability to receive information alerts on various topics during sales trips that would support their actions and also save time that could be devoted to information-gathering activities. In addition, the possibility for the reps to access information just before a sales meeting with a physician is reported by the interviewed reps as highly important for their performance because, armed with fresh and pertinent information, they can be more responsive to the physician's questions and information needs, which in turn strengthen his or her relationship with the physician.

However, there are some solutions that have not been regarded by the reps as highly important for their performance in the field. For example, less than a third of the reps interviewed regard traffic-jam alerts as highly important for their performance in the field. This could be explained by the relatively low density of traffic in cities where the reps operate, which means that traffic jams are not a major source of time-wasting for the reps. Likewise, according to the survey results, only fourteen per cent of the interviewed reps regard accessing other team members' sales reports as highly important for their performance in the field. This would be due to the fact that the current reporting system that the reps use does not emphasise knowledge-sharing, such as storing a useful insight about a physician's experience with company drugs obtained by one rep for potential use by his/her colleagues

4. Discussion

Companies have invested in sales force automation in the hope of achieving the benefits it can provide in terms of enhancing the sales force's performance, increasing organisational knowledge about customers and building profitable long-term customer relationships. However the literature is clear in stating that the adoption of sales force automation has achieved less successful results than originally hoped (Rigby et al. 2002). These failures happened because a large proportion of the sales force either did not accept the technology or underutilised it. The lack of both appropriate planning of the SFA investment and communication of its benefits to the sales force account for the problems associated with SFA failure. Firms fail to clearly identify the business problems that need to be resolved and then match the appropriate technology to that dilemma. Erffmeyer's et al. 2001 study about firms' expectations from investing in SFA reveal that a limited number of the firms participating in their study were able to offer details with regard to the goals of their sales force automation. For example, the majority of respondents mentioned improving the sales force efficiency as a goal of SFA. However, when asked what specific areas need improvements, a typical response was "our goal is to get as many things automated as possible". Other studies report that mangers can be motivated to adopt a technology by the broad belief that by not acting other firms may gain a competitive advantage (Gilbert, 2004). The inability to articulate specific goals for SFA makes it difficult for firms to plan, communicate and evaluate the benefits of the SFA investment to the sales force. As a result the

sales force may perceive the SFA as just an added responsibility or a burden (Honeycutt et al. 2005).

The fast and ever-changing set of technological tools available to salespeople as in the case of mobile technologies, will continue to pose a challenge to sales managers in terms of selecting the technology the would result in the expected outcomes.

Consequently, it is very important that sales managers fully understand the barriers that hamper their sales force performance. Once the barriers are identified, sales managers can take steps to select and implement the ICT that matches the barriers' support requirements.

Knowledge of users' barriers to performance is particularly important when we are dealing with M-ICT. The physical and computational limitation of mobile devices makes them unfit for some tasks, e.g. providing an overview of large amounts of information. Indeed a number of studies treated mobile devices as a stand-alone technology to support the prospective users in carrying out their job related tasks. They do not relate mobile devices to other technological support available to the users and which can support them better than mobile technologies. However as Gebauer et al. (2004) showed, mobile applications can complement rather than replace existing applications and support in terms of supporting users to deal with specific tasks. Likewise Nielson (2001) argued that mobile technology support should be examined as one component among the "web-of-technologies" available to support the user's tasks and routines. Hence she suggested that mobile devices need to fulfil at least one of the following demands in order to be successful: (i) expand an already existing service or system by giving them mobility and making it possible to solve a set of specific tasks in a specific context; (ii) offer a solution to a well-defined, targeted task, i.e. provide here-and-now related information.

The results of both studies showed that salespeople face a number of barriers that impede their efficiency and effectiveness in the field. The negative impact of these barriers goes beyond their work performance, to affect even their family and rest time.

The ICT support available to the reps in the form of laptop and mobile phone does not appear to provide them with an appropriate support. The lack of relevant information that could support the reps' actions whenever needed appears to be the main source of most of the barriers the reps face during their sales trips. Useful information that could support both the reps' effectiveness and efficiency in the field might be available. However, they are not accessible when the reps experience a need for them to support their actions. The information is either locked in the corporate database, which the reps cannot access in the field or it is stored in a laptop computer that most of the reps use as a "desktop" at home. Additionally, useful insights remain locked in the reps' heads and are not shared with other reps or with the sales management. The inability to work whenever time is available is the main factor underlying the barriers to efficiency facing the reps. During their sales trips the reps have many opportunities, i.e. time, where they can carry out some of their daily work activities (i.e. administrative work). However, the reps' efforts to exploit such opportunities productively are hindered by the characteristics of the laptop, which does not support "any time work". As a result, the reps extend their working day at the expense of their rest time and work at home to carry out tasks that they could do during the sales trips if they had access to an appropriate information technology device.

When asked their opinion with regard to a set of mobile solutions that would enable them to overcome the barriers they face in the field, the sales reps were highly positive about the positive impact of such solutions on their performance as seen by them. Those solutions could be implemented thanks to key characteristics of M-ICT in terms of timely information support, ubiquitous terminals, adaptive communication and simple and natural input/output.

M-ICT can allow users to have a timely information support in a number of ways. First, with a mobile device and a wireless connection (i.e. GPRS or UMTS), the mobile user can have access to the Internet as well as diverse databases anytime time is available and irrespective of location to get the information he or she needs. Wireless bandwidth is increasing which supports the demands of business applications such as e-mail with attachments, multimedia contents and Web services. The current development of positioning technologies has the potential to enhance the timely information support enabled by mobile technologies.

The ubiquitous features of mobile terminals free the users from the time and space constraints that may impede their access to the information systems capabilities. This is a key characteristic of mobile information systems compared to traditional (wired) information systems, where users have to be in a specific place (the office, home) in order to use the system's capabilities (Keen and Mackintosh, 2001). For instance technologically speaking mobile digital calendars are not very different from their PC based calendar systems, but they naturally incorporate portability benefits, a key desired feature in calendaring (Sell 2006). Similarly as the mobile device is "always on" it enables the user to get access to the mobile system's functionalities anytime and with reduced booting time compared to laptop computers, especially in situations where the user has only little units of time to satisfy his information and communication need.

Another attribute of M-ICT is that it provides flexibility in terms of the communication medium that the rep could select when it comes to collaboration and coordination in the field with co-workers. The communication medium carrying the information support can take such forms as SMS, MMS, e-mail, phone call, pushed alert or real-time access to database. The selection of the communication medium would depend on both the environment where the rep is operating (e.g. face-to-face meeting with a customer, in a train or restaurant) and his or her information support value chain (provider versus receiver of the support).

A hand and eye-free approach using audio based augmentation would enable the user to simultaneously perform other tasks while listening or speaking (Martin, 1989). This is of great interest for the sales reps whose information support need is both time-independent and space-independent. Speech augmentation would provide the reps with a simple and natural mechanism to enhance the productivity of their working time even in situations where their cognitive and physical capabilities are engaged by other activities such as driving the car.

5. Limitations and suggestions for future research

This study has limitations. Perhaps the most important limitation of the current study is the single company frame. However, the choice of the single-case study focus has been inspired by the wish to control contextual factors (e.g. market and organisational factors). Within the sales force research context, many researchers have warned of the danger of pooling data from a number of unrelated industries and product types in an attempt to generalise. Furthermore, lumping together data from different firms has been mentioned as a potential explanation for the mixed findings in research investigating information technologies and performance (Schillewaert and Ahearne, 2001). Also, it is possible that the results of the study may not represent the population of interest, salespersons in general.

As always in science limitations open avenues for future research. One avenue would be to replicate the current study and confirm the validity of our exploratory finding using another pharmaceutical firm and a larger sample. Another avenue would be to carry out a similar study in a different industry than the pharmaceutical context. This would make it possible to study similarities and differences among industries when it comes to M-ICT support to the sales force.

References

BenMoussa C. (2005) "Supporting sales representatives on the move: A study of the information needs of pharmaceutical sales representatives", In *Proceedings of the 18th Bled e-conference*, Bled, Slovenia, June 2005.

Buehrer, R.E., Senecal, S., Pullins, E.B. (2005) "Sales force technology usage: Reasons, barriers, and support". *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol.34, No.4, pp.389-398.

Bush.A, Moore.J, and Rocco.R. (2005) "Understanding sales force automation outcomes: A managerial perspective", *Industrial marketing management journal*, Vol.34, Issue 4, pp 369-377.

Darwin, R. (2004) "CRM market size and trends in 2003", Hewson Group (February).

Dulaney, K. (1996) "The automated sales force", American Demographics (October), pp. 56-63.

Erffmeyer R.C. and Dale A. J. (2001) "An exploratory study of sales forces automation practices: Expectations and realities". *Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management*, Vol.21.No.2, pp. 167-175.

Honeycutt, J.E. (2005) "Technology improves sales performance-doesn't?" *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol.34, No.4, pp.301-304.

Honeycutt, J.E., Thelen, T.D., Thelen, T.S., Hodge, S.K. (2005) "Impediments to sales force automation" *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol.34, No.4, pp.313-322.

Galvin, J. (2002) "Increase SFA adoption with sales process mapping, *Gartner Group* Research Report SPA-18-2377.

Gebauer, J., Shaw, M.J. (2004) "Success factors and impacts of mobile business applications: Results from a mobile e-procurement study", *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, Vol.8, No.3, pp.19-41.

Gilbert. (2004) "No strings attached", Sales and Marketing Management (July), pp. 22-27.

Gohmann, S.F., Guan, J., Barker, R.M., Faulds, D.J (2005) "Perceptions of sales force automation: Difference between sales force and management", *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol.34, No.4, pp.337-343.

Hayes N. (2001) "Boundless and bounded interactions in the knowledge work process: the role of groupware technologies". *Information and organization*. Vol 11, pp 79-101.

Jones, E., Sundaram, S., Chin, W. (2002) "Factors leading to sales force automation use: A longitudinal analysis", *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, Vol.22, No.3, pp.145-156.

Keen, P., and Mackintosh, R. (2001) "The freedom economy: gaining the m-commerce edge in the era of the wireless Internet', Berkeley, CA: Osborne/Mcgraw-Hill.

MacInnes, P. (1998). "Sales reps play the field". Computer Dealer News, 29.

Nielson, C. (2001) "Designing to support mobile work with mobile devices", *Doctoral Dissertation*, Department of Computer Science, University of Aarhus, Denmark.

Pathasarathy, M and Ravipreet, S. (1997) "Sales force automation and the adoption of technological innovations by salespeople: theory and implications, *Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing*, Vol.12, No.3, pp.196-208.

Patton, S. (2001) "The truth about CRM", CIO Magazine ", Vol.14, pp. 16-23.

Rangarajan, D., Jones, E., and Chin, W. (2005) "Impact of sales force automation on technologyrelated stress, effort, and technology usage among salespeople", *Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management*, Vol.34, pp-345-354.

Robinson, L., Marshall, G.W., Stamps, M. (2005) "An empirical investigation of technology acceptance in a field sales force setting", *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol.34, No.4, pp.407-415.

Rigby, D.K., Reichheld, F.F., and Schefter, P. (2002) "Avoid the four perils of CRM" *Harvard Business Review*, Vol.80, No.2, pp. 101–108.

Rivers, L.M., and Dart, J. (1999) "The acquisition and use of sales force automation by mid-sized manufacturers", *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management, Vol.* 19, No.2, pp. 59–73.

Sell. A., Walden, P. (2006) "Mobile digital calendar: An interview study", In *Proceedings of the 39th Hawaii international conference on systems science, Hawaii, USA, 4th-7th January, 2006.*

Speir, C., and Venkatesh, V. (2002) "The hidden Minefields in the adoption of sales force automation technologies", *Journal of Marketing*, Vol.66, No.3, pp.98-111.

Widmier, S., Jackson, D.W., and McCabe, D.B. (2002) "Infusing technology into personal selling". *Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management*, Vol. 22, No.3, pp.189-198.
Research Paper 4

BenMoussa, C. (2006): "Mobile Information and Communication technologies in the Context of the Pharmaceutical Sales Force Work". TUCS Technical Reports Publications, No. 749, ISBN 952-12-1692.



Mobile Information and Communication Technologies in the Context of the Pharmaceutical Sales Force Work

Chihab BenMoussa

Åbo Akademi University, Institute for Advanced Management Systems Research

TUCS Technical Report No749, February 2006

Abstract

We need to understand how effective implemented information and communication technologies are and to derive lessons from them. Firms have invested in a variety of technologies to enable their sales force to achieve better performance. However, research has shown that the failure rate of such investment is high. This paper investigates the effectiveness of a mobile information and communication support system designed to help the sales force of a medium-sized pharmaceutical company in dealing with the barriers to performance they face when operating within a mobile work setting. The paper also examines issues associated with the implementation of such a system. The results show that the members of the sales force were pleased with their firm's initiative to invest in the mobile information and communication support system. However, they were underutilising it in terms of dealing with a number of barriers to performance they face in the field. The study suggests that in order to enhance the adoption of technology by the sales force, training that goes beyond technical issues and focuses on the sales force's way of working is the key.

Keywords: Mobile information and communication technologies, sales force, barriers to performance, training.

IAMSR Mobile Commerce laboratory

1. Introduction

The evidence for a positive impact of information technology on selling success is becoming increasingly compelling. For example, various researchers have found that new technologies increase the efficiency and effectiveness of salespeople, especially through their ability to improve communication between the salesperson, the buying organisation, and the selling firm (Keillor et al. 1997; Swenson & Parrella, 1992) and by enabling salespeople to accomplish more activities for the same effort and thereby make their jobs easier (Widmier et al. 2002). In addition, others have provided evidence that by increasing available selling time, enhancing communication and allowing faster access to relevant and timely information, sales force automation (SFA) can increase the overall quality of the sales effort, partly by facilitating a greater understanding of the selling situation (Rivers & Dart, 1999). Engle & Barnes (2000) found that both managers and sales representatives believed sales technology tools to be useful in job performance and empirically supported the linkage between higher sales performance and technology.

However, those optimistic reports contrast sharply with other research that clearly states that the adoption and use of SFA/CRM technologies have been less successful than originally hoped (Rigby et al. 2002). The failure rates for SFA implementations have been reported to be as high as 55–80% (Galvin 2002; MacInnes, 1998). According to a leading IT consulting agency, 60 per cent of sales personnel report not using available SFA technology (Dulaney, 1996). The main reason cited by sales representatives is that SFA did not help them in the most important aspects of their job: face-to-face customer meetings. Honeycutt (2005) then made the point that given the fact that firms invest between US\$5000 and US\$15,000 per salesperson in SFA projects; failure rates of even one-half this magnitude imply that firms may not be recouping their technology investment (Honeycutt, 2005).

Given the magnitude of both SFA investment and its failures, many scholars (Erffmeyer & Johnson, 2001; Jones et al. 2002; Pathasarathy & Sohi, 1997; Rivers & Dart, 1999; Speier & Venkatesh, 2002; Widmier et al. 2002) have called for more research in this area. As Buehrer (2005) argued, the pressing question now seems to be "How we can prevent repetition of any firm's failures in information technology investment?"

The purpose of this study is to investigate the effectiveness of a mobile information and communication support system designed to help the sales force of a medium-sized pharmaceutical company in dealing with the barriers to performance they face when they are operating in a mobile work setting. The study also aims at examining issues and deriving lessons associated with the implementation of the mobile information and communication support system. The next section positions our work with regard to earlier research on information technology adoption. Section 3 outlines the research approach chosen. Section 4 provides a description of the research site. Section 5

illustrates the nature of the barriers to performance the sales force members face in the field. Section 6 provides a description of the implemented mobile system. Sections 7 and 8 analyse the findings of the study.

2. Theory and Research Questions

2.1. Technology Acceptance Model

Research on technology adoption has a long tradition in the area of information technology. The most widely used framework is the technology acceptance model (Davis, 1989).

The technology acceptance model (TAM) attempts to explain the determinants of computer use across a broad range of end-user computing technologies and populations. According to TAM an individual's acceptance of information technology is based on two beliefs: perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use. Perceived usefulness is defined as the prospective user's subjective probability that using a specific technology will increase his/her job performance (Davis et al. 1989). Perceived ease of use refers to the degree to which the prospective user expects the technology to be free of effort (Davis, 1989). TAM suggests that perceived ease of use influences perceived usefulness. Indeed, other things being equal, the easier the system is to use, the more useful it can be (Venkatesh & Davis, 2000). Moreover, effort saved by improved ease of use may be reused to carry out more work for the same effort (Davis, 1989).

TAM has been revised and elaborated in various ways. One extension of TAM focuses on extending the perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use constructs. For example, Chau (1996) expands the construct of perceived usefulness into two different constructs: perceived near-term usefulness and perceived long-term usefulness. Near-term usefulness refers to how the user perceives the capability of the technology to improve his performance while long-term perceived usefulness refers to the user's career prospects or social status. His study revealed that near-term perceived usefulness has the most significant influence on intention. Also it had a significant and positive influence on long-term usefulness. That is, a user who perceives the technology as useful in accomplishing his or her tasks is predisposed to believe it will help him or her in his future career. Another extension of the original TAM goes to the definition of the antecedents of perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness.

Venkatesh & Davis (2000) introduced TAM 2. It extended the original model by defining the external variables of perceived usefulness in terms of social influence processes (subjective norm, voluntariness, and image) and cognitive processes (job relevance, output quality, result demonstrability and perceived ease of use). According to TAM 2, subjective norms influence perceived usefulness via both internalization, a process by which, when one perceives that an important referent thinks one should use a system, one incorporates the referent's belief into one's own belief; and identification, in which people use the system to achieve status and influence within their work group and thereby improve their performance. With increasing experience of using the system, users rely less on social information but continue to judge the system's usefulness on the basis of the benefits they could achieve in terms of their status by using the system (Venkatesh & Davis, 2000).

Venkatesh (2000) focused on the antecedents of ease of use in three studies involving employees from three different organisations. He developed a model of the antecedents of the perceived ease of use construct. The model suggests that control (defined as the individual perception of the availability resources to perform the specific behaviour), intrinsic motivation (defined as the degree of a user's computer playfulness), and emotion (defined as the individual's anxiety when he or she is faced with the situation of using a computer) are anchors that influenced users' early perceptions of the ease of use of a new system.

Venkatesh et al. (2003) developed a unified model (UTAUT) based on studies of eight prominent models in IS adoption. According to Lee et al. (2004), UTAUT is the most intensive elaboration of TAM.

UTAUT posits three direct determinants of intention to use: performance expectancy, effort expectancy and social influence as well as two direct determinants of usage behaviour (intention and facilitating conditions).

Performance expectancy is defined as "the degree to which an individual believes that using the system will help him or her to attain gains on performance; effort expectancy is defined as the degree of ease associated with the use of the system; social influence refers the degree to which an individual perceives that important others believe that he or she should use the new system. Facilitating conditions are defined as the degree to which an individual perceives that an organisational and technical infrastructure exists to support the use of the system. According to UTAUT, the effect of performance expectancy on a user's behavioural intention is stronger for men and younger workers; the effects of effort expectancy on behavioural intention are stronger for women, older workers and those with limited experience; the effects of social influence on behavioural intention are stronger for women, older workers, under the condition of mandatory use and with limited experience. The effect of facilitating conditions on usage is significant only in conjunction with the moderating effects of age and experience. UTAUT was empirically examined and found to outperform the eight individual models, including TAM.

2.2. Information System Success Model

Delone & McLean (1992) developed a model of information systems success based on a review of 100 papers containing empirical IS success measures published in 1981-1987. They synthesise the success measures they identify into a six-factor taxonomy of IS success: System quality, information quality, IS user, user satisfaction, individual impact and organisational impact.

According to the DeLone & McLean model (1992) the quality of an information system together with the quality of information will lead to both use of the system and user satisfaction. This use then leads to an individual impact resulting in some organisational impact.

DeLone & McLean do not provide any empirical validation to their models. However, elements of the model have been subject to empirical tests (Seddon & Kiew, 1994; Rai et al., 2002). For example, Seddon & Kiew (1994) tested five of the nine relationships and found them to be significant.

Despite being used widely, the model has been subject to criticism and calls for respecification and extension. For example, according to Alter (2000) the distinction between the work system and the information system that supports it does not appear clearly in the DeLone & McLean success model. As a result, the model's constructs can be interpreted differently depending on whether they are seen from the perspective of a work system or an information system. For example, while information quality can be measured in terms of the demands of a work system; the same construct can be measured from an information system perspective based on the information *per se* regardless of whether the information is needed or not by the work system. For example Seddon (1997) suggests a respecification of the DeLone & McLean model by disentangling the process model from the variance models and separating the variance model of IS success.

Based on the calls for respecification and extension of their original IS success model, Delone & McLean (2003) have provided an update of such a model. They extend it by adding a new construct which is service quality, and combining the individual and organisational impact constructs into a single variable, "net benefits". According to this updated model, information quality, system quality and service quality, singularly or jointly, affect both intention to use and user satisfaction in a process sense. User satisfaction will lead to increased intention to use and thus use. Both use and user satisfaction will result in certain net benefits from the perspective of a system stakeholder (e.g. user, sponsor of the owner of the system) that would either reinforce subsequent use and user satisfaction in the event of positive benefits; or result in decreased use and potential discontinuance if the net benefits are negative.

Delone & McLean (2003) recommend that the researcher should carefully define the stakeholders and the context in which net benefits are to be measured. The same recommendation is provided by Seddon et al. (1999) in his discussion of the dimensions of IS success. Such authors argue that different measures of IS effectiveness or success are required for different

contexts. According to Delone & McLean (2003), no single variable is better than another; the choice of success variables is often a function of the objective of the study and the organisational context.

2.3 Adoption research for the sales force

Much of the research on SFA has been conducted by marketing researchers and has dealt with issues associated with the adoption of SFA by salespeople. They focused on either the variables that moderate salesperson usage of these technologies, the technologies used to perform certain sales management activities, or the consequences of SFA implementations.

Pathasarathy & Sohi (1997) propose a two-stage model outlining a myriad of variables involved with planning, purchasing, training, and use of information technology by salespeople. The first stage of the model identifies theoretical impact of organisational issues that influence the decision to adopt a SFA system. The second stage of the model explores the factors that potentially influence the adoption of SFA by individual salespersons. This results in what they term as dual adoption first by the organisation, and then by the sales force.

Robinson et al. (2005) test the concept of technology acceptance in a field sales setting and explore the linkage of this concept with the outcome measure of adaptive selling and job performance for salespeople. They found that salespeople who believe that a technology tool will be useful will also have a positive attitude towards using that tool. Additionally, they found that perceived ease of use also has an indirect impact on a salesperson's attitude toward using a technology through its relationship to perceived usefulness. When a salesperson perceives that a technology will be free of added effort (or that it reduces effort), he or she may take the opportunity to redirect the unused effort toward other tasks. This will allow more work to be accomplished for the same effort, hence greater productivity. Ease of use will have a direct effect on usefulness to the extent that the increased ease of use contributes to working more efficiently and improving performance.

Jones et al. (2002) performed a longitudinal study to investigate which individual variables influenced salespeople's intention and infusion of a new SFA system. They found that salespersons' attitudes (perceived usefulness, attitude towards the new system and compatibility) have an impact on intention to use a new SFA system prior to implementation. However, personal innovativeness, attitudes towards the new system and facilitating conditions have greater effect on how extensively the new system is used.

A noteworthy study on SFA adoption is by Speir & Venkatesh (2002). Their longitudinal study presented data that support favorable salesperson reactions to SFA immediately after release. However, negative perceptions of the SFA technology emerged after six months of use. Further, they found that salespeople with stronger professional commitment indicated more

negative job-related perceptions as experience with the SFA technology increased.

Schillewaert et al. (2005) study 229 salespeople from different industries in order to investigate their adoption of information technology. In their study the authors used TAM to better understand perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use of SFA. They also examined such constructs as personal innovativeness, computer self-efficacy, training, technical support, supervisor support, peer usage, and customer interest. The results of their studies indicate that usefulness is a fundamental driver of the use of sales technology by the sales force and ease of use is a secondary driver. Also they found that salespersons' technological innovativeness and the role of supervisor are significant factors in the adoption of technology. Their recommendations to sales managers include hiring technologically innovative salespersons, training the sales force to use technology based upon impact on job performance and, more importantly, the sales managers should lead by example since their sales forces are likely to emulate them.

Avlontis et al. (2004) tested a model of antecedent variables such as social, organisational and individual factors on CRM perceived usefulness and ease of use to predict user satisfaction, acceptance and performance based on a sample of 240 salespersons. The results of their study indicate that salespersons who found the technology useful and easy to use were more likely to both adopt it and use it. The authors recommend managers to set accurate expectations and that the sales force should be involved in the design and implementation of SFA. Also the authors highlight the role of sales managers in the sales force acceptance process through the support and encouragement they could provide to their sales members.

Ranjarajan et al. (2005) examined the impact of sales force automation on technology-related stress, effort and technology usage among salespeople. Their study showed that role conflict increases when salespersons believe that the time used to master the technology could be better used to talk to customers. As a result, they encourage managers to clarify expectations tied to the technology and to invest in a technology that salespeople perceive to be useful. They also recommend that sales managers should minimise the complexity of integrating technology into the everyday work routines of the sales force by providing support to reduce the increased work demand caused by the technology and increase successful adoption of the technology.

Three observations emerge from the above literature review:

<u>First</u>, a considerable research endeavour on technology adoption has focused on tackling the phenomenon from a variance theory perspective. Variance models assert that for some populations, if all other things are equal, variance in any one of the independent variables is necessary and sufficient to cause variance in dependent variables. That is, variation in the predictors (e.g. users' behaviour as in the case of TAM, or system quality and information quality in the DeLone & McLean model) accounts for variation in outcome (e.g. IS use).

While variance models provide useful insights in terms of explaining variances assumed to occur inside the "black box", they provide little explanation of how and why the predictors and outcomes are related This results in providing partial guidance to the practitioner who is interested not only in knowing the dynamics between the pieces of the system implementation puzzle but also how such pieces should be arranged in order to attain the expected system success (Newman & Robey, 1992).

Moreover, variance models posit an invariant relationship between antecedents and outcomes by assuming that the antecedent is necessary and sufficient to cause the outcome (Markus & Robey, 1988). Such an assumption is too stringent for social phenomena such as assessing the success of an information system. Additionally, the increasingly costly failures of information systems development projects calls more for studies that could integrate insights collected from actual experience in order to derive lessons to guide practitioners in the complex process of information system development and implementation. Several scholars indeed have argued for the need to develop alternative approaches such as process models that could complement, refine, and mutually inform the variance models in the area of information technology implementation (Newman & Robey, 1992; Markus & Robey, 1988, Sarker & Lee, 2002; Chan, 2000). In process theory the precursor is assumed to be insufficient to cause the outcome but is held to be merely necessary. However, as Markus & Robey (1992) observed, necessary conditions alone cannot constitute a satisfactory theory (water may be necessary for the growth of plants, it is not sufficient for the purpose). Mohr (1982) has observed, however, that necessary conditions can compromise a satisfactory causal explanation when they are combined in a recipe that strings them together in such a way as to tell the story of how the outcome occurs whenever it occurs. Outcomes are partly predictable from knowledge of the process, not from the level of predictor variables.

<u>Second</u>, despite the high failure rate of SFA projects, reported in some cases to be as high as 55–80 per cent, (Honeycutt, 2005; Galvin 2002; MacInnes, 1998), few studies have taken steps to investigate the reasons for such failures and the lessons learned from the various experiences with SFA implementations. This is important because as Jones et al. (2002) point out, given the magnitude of SFA failures, firms cannot afford to continue investing in SFA technology while getting lacklustre result; which in turn may result in the sales force becoming stagnant and obsolete. Another apparent problem of SFA studies is that they have been applied to tasks that are too broad, or sometimes to the salesperson's job in general (e.g. while several researchers warn that the lack of task focus in evaluating IS causes mixed results and may lead to findings which cannot be generalised to task-dependent situations (see e.g. Goodhue & Thompson; Karahanna & Straub, 1999).

Similarly many studies on technology adoption by sales forces have focused on a broad definition of the SFA /CRM without a robust definition of the technology under study (e.g. Schillewaert et al, 2005; Rangarajan et al, 2005; Avlontis et al, 2005; Jones et al, 2002). As Erffmeyer et al. (2002) point out SFA still means different things to different people. While one firm may consider adding a fax machine as SFA, another may see SFA as providing the sales force with mobile phones or laptop computers. Yet another may see SFA as selling products or services via the Internet. Also most of the studies examining SFA adoption by the sales force have tackled the phenomena using variance models that they subject to empirical testing using statistical techniques in order to draw conclusions about the sales force population. Few studies have investigated the adoption and implementation issues associated with an accurately defined set of sales technologies aimed at supporting precise sales force tasks and within the sales force's natural work environment (e.g. in the field).

<u>Third</u>, few studies of SFA implementation have assessed the success of the investment in terms of achieving the ultimate objective, which is net benefits to stakeholders. Scholars and practitioners need to understand better the success or failure of investment in sales technologies not only from an information systems perspective (e.g. use of the SFA technologies by the sales force) but also in terms of the net benefit to the work system that the technology is supposed to support and to the various stakeholders. We believe that technology adoption is important only if it leads to net benefits for such main stakeholders as the individual salesperson, his or her organisation or the customer. Alter (2000) indeed made a point when he builds the analogy between the work system and the information system that supports it as Siamese twins that are distinguishable but still so deeply connected that examining them separately is meaningless. However, reviewing the literature on the SFA systems make it obvious that such a link between the two systems is not clear. For example, very few studies have considered a dependent variable other than the sales force's own reported usage of the system. Two exceptions are the recent work by Ahearne et al. (2005), who integrate in their study such performance measures as call productivity and percentage of quotas achieved, and Robinson et al. (2005) who used outcome measures of adaptive selling. Also, a review of the instruments (e.g. questionnaires) used in a number of studies examining the antecedents or the consequences of SFA implementations, shows that the questionnaire statements are too general and do not reflect deeply the every day realities of the work system (e.g. nature of tasks, barriers that impede the performance of the tasks) within which the sales force operates and that the technology under study is aimed at supporting.

2.4 Research Questions

Based on the recommendations of DeLone & McLean (2003), this study sets at the outset the dimension against which to analyse the effectiveness of the implemented mobile system. Such a dimension is the extent to which the system supports the sales representatives (reps) in dealing with the barriers to performance they face during the course of their everyday mobile work.

The choice of the barriers to performance as a dimension against which to evaluate the implemented mobile system has a number of advantages.

First, focusing on the barriers to performance as a dimension of IS success would enable us to achieve the balance between the work system and the information system when analysing IS effectiveness that Alter (2000) calls for. Indeed, using such a dimension would enable us to evaluate the effectiveness from the work system perspective while analysing issues associated with the information system if the objective of the work system is not achieved (i.e. failure to support the reps to deal with the barriers to performance they face).

Second, removing the barriers to performance reps face in the field would benefit many stakeholders: (i) the individual salesperson through enhancing his or her efficiency and effectiveness, (ii) the organisation, which would achieve a better bottom line value from improving the performance of its sales force and (iii) the customers, who would benefit from a better experience (e.g. better service, better information) as a result of the removal of the barriers that impede the performance of the sales force with whom they interact.

Third, several scholars (e.g. Goodhue et al. 1995; Karahanna & Straub, 1999) recommend a task focus as a basis for a strong diagnostic tool to evaluate whether information systems and services in a given organisation are meeting user needs. In this study we focus on specific barriers that impede reps' efforts to carry out their everyday tasks. Therefore, the research questions for the present study are as follows:

1) To what extent does the mobile system implemented support the sales force in removing the barriers to performance it faces in the field?

2) What are the issues associated with implementing the mobile system?

3. Research Approach

Two complementary data collection methods were used in this research. The first method is observation (i.e. shadowing) in the field. According to Barley & Kunda (2001), although the interview method is especially useful for "understanding how people make sense of their work and the issues they believe important", it is not a credible source of information on "what people actually do or how they do it" (p.84). They argued that observation-based techniques should be mixed with interview methods.

However, applying an observation method raises some practical difficulties to the researcher. Observation techniques require the researcher to spend an extended period of time in the field (Myers, 1999) and be close together with the subjects. As Kakihara (2003) argued, this makes sense only if the field could be geographically defined and fixed (like office, factory, or home). The sales representatives, the main subjects of this field work, were operating in different regions of the country and they extensively move across various geographical areas. They rarely visit their head office. Furthermore, the sales representatives will constantly feel that the researcher will interfere with the sales process.

In order to deal with the above research constraints, I first collected data by shadowing one sales representative in the field. Then I used the material collected from observing the sales representative to design a survey involving all company's sales force. As Lyytinen & Yoo (2002) argued, studying emerging mobile and nomadic work environments requires considerable tailoring of the research methodology. In order to collect highly contextualised data of work practices, researchers need to adapt their research strategy in order to benefit from the strength of certain research methods while dealing with obstacles they may encounter especially in terms of the availability of informants.

Member validation (Lincoln & Guba, 1984) was used as a part of the research method. Executive and detailed reports describing barriers to performance, issues associated with the implemented mobile system and recommendations were presented to the company's sales manager and the reps. This resulted in minor changes when the reps' sales management team approved our description of the barriers the reps face in the field.

4. Site Description and Selection

The research was undertaken in a subsidiary of a multinational pharmaceutical company (Pharma), employing 6000 people worldwide in 2003, about half of them engaged in sales and marketing activities. Pharma is a relatively small company operating as a niche player with particular expertise in the area of psychiatric and neurological disorders.

The company has a national sales team consisting of 14 sales representatives. These sales representatives report to a sales manager who is ultimately responsible to the marketing manager.

The main role of a Pharma's sales rep is to meet physicians, nurses as well as prescribers in hospitals and pharmacists to provide information about the way the company's products operate. It is up to him/her to emphasise the clinical benefits to patients and health professionals in terms of disease management. The purpose is to encourage the health professionals to prescribe Pharma's products rather than those of the competitors. In addition to their daily encounters with health professionals (mainly physicians), Pharma's reps work duties include managing relationships with their customers. Relationship management with physicians involve providing them with any information they need related to the company's products, entertaining them in order to personalise the relationship with them as well as inviting and accompanying them to scientific conferences and congresses covering the scope of their medical interests. Pharma's sales reps work duties also include performing administrative work. Administrative tasks include preparing reports about both their daily sales encounters with healthcare professionals and the expenses they incur during their sales visits (e.g. catering provided to healthcare professionals during sales meetings). Pharma's sales reps are also responsible for categorising the healthcare professionals they plan to visit into groups based on their prescribing potential. On the basis of this profiling the sales rep decides on the frequency of sales visits as well as the intensity of customer relationship effort he/she should devote to each targeted health professional. Once the sales rep groups the health professionals, he/she coordinates with field secretaries in order to book appointments with them. Pharma has four secretaries who coordinate with all the sales reps. According to Pharma's sales manager, field secretaries are responsible for booking two-thirds of the appointments with healthcare professionals; the rest are performed by the reps.

The management of Pharma's reps is based on a system of compensation as well as autonomy in the field within certain regulatory guidelines. Pharma requires each sales rep to make five sales visits per day. The reward system is then based on the number of calls (face-to-face meetings held) with targeted customers as well as the level of the company's product sales within the territory where the rep operates. Pharma provides training to its sales force once a year. The course lasts three days and covers both sales and technical training programmes related to Pharma's products.

Before implementation of the mobile system, the information technology support that Pharma provides to its sales force included a mobile phone and a laptop computer. The sales reps have also a sales support system run over their laptops and that enables them to store sales visits information and to access their company's corporate database via a dial-up system.

5. Understanding the barriers to performance the sales reps face in the field

In order to understand the nature of the barriers to performance the sales reps face during the course of their everyday life mobile work, we first collected data through observation by the means of two field sales trips.

The field sales trips lasted an entire day and represented "an ordinary day" in the life of a Pharma sales rep. In the field, the interviews were supplemented with informal interaction and discussions over lunch with the reps. All the interviews and discussions were recorded, transcribed and subjected to content analysis using established qualitative coding techniques prescribed in qualitative research methodology. The thematic analysis of the qualitative field material led to a list of emerging barriers to performance faced by reps in the field.

5.1Emerging barriers to performance in the field

Based on the thematic analysis of the qualitative field material, we assigned the barriers to performance the sales representatives face during the course of their everyday mobile work, into pre-, in- and post-mobility barriers to performance.

One barrier that the rep faces prior to starting his daily sales trips is associated with preparing for the presentation that he will give during the following day's sales visits. The reps have to visit their targeted physician at least five times year. Prior to each sales visit, the rep has to find time to review the content of previous meetings held with the physician and try to find out new information not mentioned in previous meetings that the physician may find helpful and interesting. Indeed, the reps' effectiveness in their meetings with physicians depends to a large degree on the extent to which the physician perceives that the meeting with the rep has added intellectual value. In some cases this may lead the physician to decide the future of the relationship with the rep.

A further difficulty that the rep faces prior to starting their sales visits is adaptation to the shortcomings associated with the technological support they have (the laptop) in order to ensure that the information they need during the working day is available when and where it is required. For example, given the fact that the rep knows that he cannot access the information stored in his laptop or within the corporate database at any time and anywhere, he makes sure to print out in the evening all the documents he believes would be useful during the following day's sales trip. However, the strategy of printing files on particular topics (for example, the day's schedule) is not always effective in adapting to the deficiencies associated with the technological support they have access to; as the rep explained:

Usually I print the timetable for next day at night. Last night I forgot to print any paper to remind me where to go and I didn't do it in the morning because I have a little daughter and I don't want to interrupt her sleep in order to get my briefcase. When I don't remember to print my schedule, then I don't want to do it the following morning, either, for fear of waking her up. Fortunately this morning I have only four meetings and I can memorise them when I check them on the laptop.

In-mobility barriers to performance refer to the challenges the rep faces during their daily sales visits. The paper assigns such challenges to barriers to efficiency and barriers to effectiveness.

One barrier to efficiency the rep faces during his daily sales trips is when a physician cancels an already arranged appointment. In many situations the sales rep fails to meet the physician because of unpredictable circumstances that might make the physician not available for the meeting as the rep explained:

You never really know (with regard to meeting with the physician). You should only hope that he will be there and, of course, face the reality that there may be a problem with your schedule. I sometimes call on a neurologist, with whom I had a booking, I might be waiting outside her office; and then a nurse comes to me and says the physician is too busy at the moment, "I am sorry you cannot see her today.

As a result, if the meeting is cancelled the sales rep moves to the next sales visit scheduled in his/her day and waits in the car or in a cafeteria till the time to meet the next physician, with the frustrating feeling that he or she will not meet his or her five sales visits quota of the day.

Another barrier to efficiency identified in the study is the difficulty in turning periods of dead time into productive ones. Dead time refers to the time during the working day that the rep perceives as wasted because they unwillingly spend it without performing any work-related activity. Examples include time in transit between the day's scheduled meetings, time wasted as a result of a last-minute cancellation of a meeting already booked with a physician, or time available because of less time than expected being spent with a physician. In the case of Pharma's sales rep, the occurrence of dead time is frequent and has various causes. One cause is the difficulty in predicting its happening so that the rep can plan ahead for the kind of activities that would enable them to make a good use of it. For example, in the event of a last-minute cancellation of a meeting, the rep finds it difficult to fill that time with a value-generating activity such as visiting another contact. Generally physicians require to be contacted in advance in order to arrange a meeting with the rep. Therefore the time devoted to the cancelled meeting turns to be a dead time; as the rep mentioned:

When you have a long gap between your contacts, what you can do is to wait for the next meeting. You may try to visit another doctor but most of them like you to call them on before hand, sometimes a few weeks in advance.

Another cause of dead time for Pharma rep is the lack of appropriate technological support that would enable the rep to perform a work-related activity during dead-time periods. A laptop computer appeared to be awkward to support the rep during dead time because of its size and also the time it takes to get the device mobilised to provide the required support. The rep generally tries to use the laptop in the car. However, if the rep faces short dead time (e.g. between two meetings in a hospital), and wants to use the laptop to perform a scheduled task or retrieve information, he/she is discouraged from doing that. This is because the rep figures out that by the time he/she gets to the car in the parking area and starts the laptop, the time for the next meeting will come. Therefore the rep may choose to use the short dead time just waiting outside the physician's office or in the hospital cafeteria.

A third barrier to efficiency that the rep faces during their daily sales trips is the difficulty of accessing contact information when the rep have meetings in large hospitals. A meeting that takes place in a large hospital is a good opportunity for the rep to perform his prospecting activities. This is due to the large number of physicians working in large hospitals. A key enabler to help the rep to search for new prospects in such hospitals is to have access, whenever they have time available (i.e. between meetings), to sales information such as the contact names of the physicians they know in the hospital. Then the rep could have those physicians with whom they have already built a relationship introduce him/her to their colleagues, during a coffee break for example. However, the rep stores useful sales information in their laptops, which in most cases they does not carry with him. As a result, he relies mainly on the contact name they remember. The time that could be spent prospecting for new contacts is therefore spent just waiting for the following meeting.

Travelling from one location to another using the car appears to be another source of barriers to efficiency for the rep. Pharma's rep spends on average more than a third of his working day on the road, in normal weather. The main challenge posed to the rep during travelling is how to make the long time they spend on the road more productive despite the physical and legal constraints (access to work resources, legislation prohibiting talking over a mobile phone while driving) resulting from driving the car; as the rep explained:

I spend about half of the working day driving from one place to another. This time is too much to get wasted. The whole goes to listening to radio. I can't even reply to my customers' phone calls during this time.

The barriers to effectiveness the rep faces during their sales trips are various and have many sources. One barrier to effectiveness is the difficulty the rep experiences in terms of coordinating with field secretaries during sales trips. Such difficulty stems from the fact that the rep as mobile workers cannot be aware of the booking actions made by the secretaries during their sales trips. He needs to wait until he is at home and connect to the corporate database. The field secretaries experience the same difficulty. In order to know the rep's opinion about possible meeting dates or the rep's actions with regard to contacting a specific physician, they need to wait until the rep enters the information into the corporate system. Such coordination difficulties result in problems such as booking a meeting with the same physician twice, which can be detrimental to the rep's relationship with physicians:

The worst thing that may happen is that when you have just booked a doctor for yourself and then for the same time the secretary makes you a booking with another doctor and they are both very important. Then you have to decide what to do, which one you have to transfer to another time. It is not easy as they are busy and you may not find another time to catch him or her.

A second barrier to effectiveness is delay in providing physicians with answers to their outstanding questions. Outstanding questions refer to questions that the physician asks during the sales meeting and to which the rep does not know the answer.

Sometimes doctors may need things urgently; the quicker you deliver the information the better.

In order for the rep to provide answers to such a question, he/she needs to look for the information him/herself. In most cases, the informationgathering process takes place at home, which increases the time it takes for the rep to submit the answer to the physician. Also the rep may forward them to more specialised colleagues within the company. In this case the rep has to wait until the colleague submits the reply to the question. However, the inability to check e-mail while on the move extends the time it takes the rep to provide an answer to the physicians' questions. As a result it might be that the colleague from whom the rep seeks support with regard to a physician's outstanding question has already submitted an answer using email to the rep during the working day. However, in the absence of an access to e-mail in the field, the rep will not become aware of the colleague's reply until he/she gets home in the evening and accesses the corporate database. A further barrier to effectiveness is the adaptation to physicians' information requirements. Physicians require that the rep provides them with new information during each sales meeting; as the rep explained:

The physician would be pleased if you can provide her with new information she does not know...You should prove to the physician that you are up to the task and that you know more than her.

Also, the fact physicians appreciate that a rep may be able to provide them with the experiences of other physicians is another barrier to effectiveness the rep faces. Physicians often regard the opinion of their colleagues about the product the rep is promoting as more reliable than the arguments the rep gives them; as the rep explained:

Every time you come, they (doctors) expect you to have something new. They also want to hear other doctors' opinions, their experience with the drug, they want you to deliver all the information you heard from other doctors. Even though you know your drug quite well, a doctor believes another doctor more than the rep.

The way the rep takes and store useful information that they acquire during sales visits appeared to be a barrier to effectiveness. During the short meeting with physicians, the rep relies mainly on his memory for recording what they perceive as useful information such as the drug-related issues discussed with the physicians or questions that the physicians have. For information that the rep perceives as highly important (i.e. questions needing a follow-up), the rep writes it down so as not to forget, and then enters the handwritten information into the laptop when there is sufficient time between meetings. As one rep explained:

During meetings with doctors I try to memorise. If there is an important thing I write it on a piece of paper to make sure that things that were asked of me could be answered for sure. Then when I have sufficient time during the day, I try to open the laptop and input the information just to make sure it stays there and I don't have to find my piece of paper later on.

In the evening, once at home, the rep accesses the company's database and enters the sales reports of the day. Some reps leave reporting tasks till the weekend and input the sales reports of the whole week.

Post-mobility barriers refer to the work-life balance that the rep attempts to achieve. Indeed, once at home, the rep has to accomplish work-related activities that he was not able to do during the day. The time that the rep devotes to accomplishing work-related tasks at home is used at the expense of their rest and family time; as the rep explained:

I attach great value to not being obliged to open my laptop after 4 pm to fully concentrate on my little daughter, my hobbies and my everyday tasks at home. You don't get paid after 4 pm. It is quite embarrassing to keep working on Sunday morning at home.

5.2 Survey

In order to validate and complement the findings of the qualitative study as to the barriers to performance discussed in section 5.1, a survey involving all Pharma's 14 reps was conducted.

The instrument used was a questionnaire that was e-mailed to each of the salespeople working in Pharma. The managers of Pharma use regularly e-mail to communicate with their sales force. Once the e-mail survey was completed by the salesperson, his/her response was sent directly to the researcher to maintain confidentiality. Respondents were assured of the confidentiality of the information they provided and that only averaged and anonymous data would be used in any report. In the survey, salespeople were asked to rank the statements about the barriers to performance they encounter during the course of their everyday work life on a five-point Likert-type scale; ranging from 1 to 5, where 1 equalled always facing the barrier to performance, 2 = often, 3 = sometimes, 4 = seldom and 5 = never. Responses were received from all 14 sales reps. The data were collected and analysed as to the nature of the barriers to performance faced by the sales reps in the field in summer 2004 prior to implementation of the mobile system.

The data were collected and analysed as to the nature of the barriers to performance faced by the sales reps in the field in summer 2004 prior to implementation of the mobile system. Table 1 provides the results of the survey.

Table 1: Survey results of leading sources of barriers to performance for the sales reps

	Always or	Sometimes	Seldom or never	Mode	Mean	SD
	often*	%	***			
How frequently do you face the following barriers to performance	70		70			
1. Performing administrative work at home	92.9	7.1	0.0	2.0	1.6	0.6
2. Printing out documents before sales trips that might be useful during sales trips	71.4	7.1	21.4	1.0	2.0	1.4
 Making notes on paper about physicians' outstanding questions during sales visits 	71.4	7.1	21.4	1.0	2.0	1.2
4. Physicians requiring a call in advance before arranging a meeting	64.3	0.0	35.7	2.0	2.8	1.6
5. Physicians requiring new information during each meeting	50.0	42.9	7.1	2.0	2.5	0.8
 Difficulty of identifying alternative contacts to visit if an appointment is cancelled 	57.1	28.6	14.3	2.0	2.6	0.8
 Physicians appreciating hearing the opinion of other physicians about the company's products 	50.0	50.0	0.0	2.0	2.5	0.5
 Spending time gaps between meetings just waiting for the coming meeting to take place 	50.0	28.6	21.4	2.0	2.7	1.1
9. Physicians not informing in advance in case they cancel an appointment	42.8	50.0	7.1	3.0	2.6	0.8
10. Difficulty in accessing sales contacts in large hospitals	42.9	28.6	28.6	2.0	2.7	1.1
11.Long delay in providing an answer to physicians' outstanding questions harms my relationship with him or her	42.9	14.3	42.9	4.0	2.9	1.2
12.Difficulty in coordinating with field secretaries during sales trips	21.4	50.0	28.6	3.0	3.1	0.9
13. Physicians do not like me to call them during their work hours	21.4	35.7	42.9	3.0	3.3	0.9

*) Percentage of respondents who answered always = 1 or often = 2 **) Percentage of respondents who answered sometimes = 3 ***) Percentage of respondents who answered seldom = 4 or never = 5

6. The mobile system implemented

The mobile system implemented consists of providing members of the sales force with wireless access to the business information stored in their company's database, e-mail, calendaring, enterprise applications and to the Internet. Such mobile applications are run over a Nokia 9500 Communicator. In addition to office tools (e.g. Word and Excel, e-mail attachments, PowerPoint editor and viewer), the communicator includes Bluetooth and an integrated camera. It also supports both voice and messaging services such as multimedia messaging (MMS), e-mail, text messaging (SMS) and fax (see www.nokia.com) for more details). The sales reps can also synchronise data between their communicator and desktop. The mobile system runs over the GPRS network.

With the implemented mobile system the reps can check e-mail, view and edit attachments. They can also create presentations, adjust their calendar, locate crucial customer information in the corporate database, instant-message colleagues, enter and upload sales visits reports to the company customer database.

Implementation of the mobile system was carried out by a software development company. In addition to implementing the system, the company was responsible for providing training to the sales force as well as support. The training was basically technical and consisted of introducing the mobile system to the sales force and teaching them how to operate its basic functionalities.

7. Study 1: A qualitative Investigation

7.1 Method

In order to explore both the extent to which the implemented mobile system supported the reps in dealing with the barriers to performance we discussed in section 5 and issues associated with the implementation of the system, we collected data through observation on two field sales trips. The purpose of the field sales trips was (i) to observe the rep's application of the mobile system in order to deal with the barriers to performance discussed in section 5.1, (ii) to evaluate the extent to which the sales force uses the system to deal with the barriers, and (iii) to assess the nature of the difficulties the reps experiences in terms of integrating the mobile system into their everyday work life.

In the field interviews were supplemented with informal interaction and discussions over lunch with the rep. All the interviews and discussions were recorded, transcribed and subjected to content analysis using established qualitative coding techniques prescribed in qualitative research methodology.

7.2. Results

As a result of observing the rep's behaviour in the field a major theme surfaced. The rep uses the mobile system only in case the usefulness of the system is apparent to him in terms of dealing with a particular barrier. In other words, although the system has the potential to provide support for certain barriers, if the rep cannot figure out how it would be useful for that purpose, he will not use it. The rep finds the mobile system useful and thus uses it to deal with such barriers as long delays in dealing with physicians' questions, reducing periods of dead time in the field, updating his knowledge base before the meeting with physicians and coordinating with field secretaries in the field. For example, in terms of dealing with delays in answering physicians' outstanding questions, the rep explained:

I think the mobile system is a big help. This device is useful in making things much faster. When I send the question to my colleague in the office, the workload has gone from your shoulder. Then I just wait for the answer. I mailed one question to the leader of medical affairs just after the meeting with a doctor. He sent me the answer straight back and then I was able to contact my doctor again in the same day.

Likewise, the rep uses the system to perform administrative work between meetings in the field.

The main benefits from the device come mainly from entering and uploading daily reports as well as reading and answering e-mail messages. Just after visiting physicians I write my reports and send the information to the office, which saves to me lot of time at home to do such a task.

Similarly, the rep uses the mobile system in updating his knowledge base in the field before meeting the physicians:

To have access all the time is a big help. The biggest benefit I believe is that if something important happens, you can get it by e-mail. The stress level goes down. All the information about what is happening in the market comes to me by e-mail.

I also use the device to check my colleagues' reports and if there is something dramatic we call each other. Also when visiting a doctor I can find out if he or she works with other products my colleagues are promoting. I try to open the door to my colleague. I can then call the secretary and ask her to book the meeting for my colleague.

Also the mobile system seemed to be useful for the rep in terms of dealing with the barrier associated with coordination with field secretaries in the field:

If a change happens to my visit, my secretary calls me and says have you noticed that from your mobile. Sometimes the day is so hectic that you don't have time to call the secretary, so I connect to the system and check the booking she made for me with physicians.

The rep also finds the mobile system useful in terms of the support it provides for dealing with physicians information requirements through access in the field to e-mail alerts, as the rep explained:

Yesterday we received an e-mail alert form a rep about a side effect of a drug that's very useful for my visits with the physicians. Sometimes my colleagues also send information about rumours if the competition tries to disarm the

sales force. This is important because if you don't have the mobile device, you don't have the information.

However, for such barriers as difficulty in identifying alternative contacts to visit if an appointment is cancelled; difficulty in accessing sales contacts in large hospitals; physicians, Physicians requiring new information during each meeting; physicians appreciating hearing the opinion of other physicians about the company's products, the rep does not find the mobile system useful and did not use it for those purposes.

An additional theme also emerges from observing the rep's behaviour in the field. A number of functions that would support the rep's tasks in the field have not been fully exploited. For example, although the system provides presentation applications such PowerPoint, the rep still uses an overhead when making presentations to groups of physicians in hospitals. Likewise, the rep still prints in advance documents (i.e., agenda) that he thinks he might need during sales trips:

I can check the agenda from the mobile device but then of course in the morning I print it out at home. Despite having such a connection you can have a double the paper version and the mobile version just to make sure.

Similarly although the mobile system provides a calendar application enabling the rep to book subsequent meetings with a physician during a sales encounter with him or her, the rep does not use it during his sales meeting with the physicians.

The long time required to get a connection to the mobile system's application seems to be a barrier for the rep in terms of using the system, as he explained:

Sometimes you need to do a lot of work to access the information. The mobile is quite slow when you have to access applications or download certain information.

To summarise, results of the exploratory study suggests that the mobile system has been used by the rep to deal with certain barriers for which the system's usefulness was apparent to him. However, the system remains under-utilised in terms of helping the rep to minimise or remove other barriers that affect his efficiency and effectiveness in the field (e.g. identifying an alternative physician to visit in the event of an unexpected cancellation of a meeting, providing physicians with both new information during sales visits and the experiences with other physicians). For those barriers the rep lacks knowledge about how the mobile system could support him in dealing with them. As a result although the system has the potential to provide the necessary support, it is not used, as its usefulness is not apparent to the rep. Fig1. proposes a preliminary framework that summarize the findings of study 1.

The results suggest that firm could increase the reps' usage of the system by providing training that goes beyond the technology to focus on the reps'

work system. Training from a work-system perspective would demonstrate to the reps how the various features of the system could support their tasks and help them to deal with the barriers they encounter. In the light of such knowledge the rep could assess the usefulness of the system's features in connection with his or her tasks as well as the barriers to performance he or she faces, and decide which features of the system to integrate into his or her everyday tasks (c.f. figure 1). The constructs in Figure 1 represent the relationship between events and outcomes in a process way. That is an outcome can occur only if the condition occurs.



Fig.1. Preliminary Framework based on results of study1

8. The survey

On the basis of the themes identified in Study 1, and findings from earlier studies, a second study was conducted. For this study a survey was developed. The questionnaire was sent to all the company's sales force. It was thought that confirmation of the themes identified in Study 1 with a survey would reinforce the validity of the observations derived from the qualitative material collect in Study 1.

8.1 Method

The instrument used was a questionnaire. The design of the questionnaire was based on the information collected during the field sales trips, the literature about information technology adoption as well as input from the company sales managers. An initial draft of the questionnaire was sent to the company sales managers for input and approval. The initial version of the questionnaire was later refined with the help of a pre-test involving one sales rep, the reps' sales manager and an academic expert, which led to some adjustments: some questions were modified to increase their clarity for the respondents, others were deleted or added.

The questionnaires were distributed as attachments via e-mail to all the company's sales representatives. Pharma's managers regularly use e-mail to communicate with the reps. The e-mail addresses of the sales representatives were provided by the company sales manager.

Once the e-mail survey was completed by the salesperson, his/her response was sent directly to the researcher to maintain confidentiality. Respondents were assured of the confidentiality of the information they provided and that only averaged and anonymous data would be used in any report. Out of the 14 members of the sales force, 13 responses were received.

The specific constructs included in the questionnaire are summarised in the following:

• Perceived usefulness

Seddon, 1997, defines perceived usefulness as "the degree to which the stakeholder believes that using a particular system has enhanced his or her job performance or his or her group's performance." Perceived usefulness was measured by adapting Davis's instrument to specifically reference the usefulness of the mobile system in dealing with the barriers to performance the reps face. Also, the future-orientation of Davis's instrument was changed to reflect past usage. Ratings were made on a five-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 1 to 5, where 1 equalled agree with the statement, 2 = partially agree, 3 = don't know, 4 = partially disagree and <math>5 = disagree.

• Perceived ease of use

Davis, 1989, defines perceived ease of use as "the degree to which the prospective user expects the technology to be free of effort". Perceived ease of use "was measured by adapting Davis's instrument to specifically include factors observed in the field study that make the system difficult to use, such as slow data connection, small screen and keyboard. Responses were measured on a five-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 1 to 5, where 1 equalled agree with the statement, 2 = partially agree, 3 = don't know, 4 = partially disagree and <math>5 = disagree.

Perceived ease of integration

Ease of integration reflects the degree to which the rep perceives that he/she was provided with appropriate training and support to use the mobile system in order to deal with barriers to performance faced. Perceived ease of integration was measured by adapting the instrument developed by Jones et al. (2002). All the responses were measured on a five-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 1 to 5, where 1 equalled agree with the statement, 2 = partially agree, 3 = don't know, 4 = partially disagree and <math>5 = disagree.

• Usage of mobile system

System usage refers to the frequency with which the system was used by the reps to carry out a list of operations in the field, on a scale of 1 to 5, where 1 equals always using the mobile system to carry out the operation described by the statement, 2 = often, 3 = sometimes, 4 = seldom, 5 = never. System usage was measured by adapting an instrument developed by Engel and Barnes (2000). All responses were measured on a scale of 1 to 5, where 1 equals always using the mobile system to carry out the operation described by the statement, 2 = often, 3 = sometimes, 4 = seldom, 5 = never.

We also included in the questionnaire internal factors that have been shown to influence users' adoption of information technology. Such factors include personal innovativeness, subjective norms, and compatibility with existing systems. Including such factors was aimed at "controlling" their impact when validating the proposition, as recommended by Lee, 1989.

• Personal innovativeness

Personal innovativeness refers to the degree to which an individual is relatively earlier in adopting new ideas than other members of a group (Jones et al. 2002). Personal innovativeness was measured by adapting a three-item instrument developed by Jones et al. (2002). Responses were measured on a five-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 1 to 5, where 1 equalled agree with the statement, 2 = partially agree, 3 = don't know, 4 = partially disagree and 5 = disagree.

• Subjective norms

Subjective norms indicate the degree to which a person perceives that his or her superiors, peers and customers would want him or her to use a particular system (Jones et al. 2002). Subjective norms were measured by adapting an instrument developed by Jones et al. (2002). Responses were measured on a five-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 1 to 5, where 1 equalled agree with the statement, 2 = partially agree, 3 = don't know, 4 = partially disagree and 5 = disagree.

• Compatibility with existing systems

Compatibility with existing systems is defined as the degree to which the innovation fits with the adopters' existing values, previous experiences, and current needs Jones et al. (2002). Compatibility with existing systems was measured by adapting a three-item instrument developed by Jones et al. (2002). Responses were measured on a five-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 1 to 5, where 1 equalled agree with the statement, 2 = partially agree, 3 = don't know, 4 = partially disagree and <math>5 = disagree.

The questionnaire also included two open questions. One was related to suggestions about how the mobile system could be further improved to fit their job requirements. The other was about the number of weekly hours the sales force members carry out work-related tasks at home both before and after implementation of the mobile system.

The initial version of the questionnaire was later refined with the help of a pre-test involving one sales rep, the reps' sales manager and an academic expert, which led to some adjustments: some questions were modified to increase their clarity for the respondents, others were deleted or added.

Table 2 Respondent demographic information

Characteristics	Frequency	Percentage %	
Gender			
Male	8	57	
Female	6	43	
Education:			
Some college			
Institute	4		
Polytechnics	6		
University degree	4		
	Mean	Range	
Age (a years)	36	28-56	
Sales experience (years)	6	1-22	

8.2 Results

The survey results show that the majority of the reps interviewed regard the mobile system as compatible with their work (cf. Table 3) and they do not use it just because of the influence of their colleagues or supervisor (cf. Table 4). The majority find it easy to use in general (cf. table 5); despite some reported barriers such as slow data communication, small screen and keyboard, which were a problem for certain reps. Moreover, more than half report that they have access to the support they need if they face a problem in operating the mobile (cf. Table 4). Additionally, more than the half of the interviewed reps agrees with the statement that when they need work-related information in the field about physicians they should visit, they find it available in their company database (cf. Table 6). The results also reveal certain innovativeness among the reps in terms of using information technology (cf. Table 7).

With regard to perceived usefulness of the mobile system, the results show that for certain barriers that do not require advanced training in terms of showing how the mobile system could support the rep in dealing with them; the perceived usefulness of the majority of the reps was high. Those barriers include (i) making productive use of dead time during sales visits (e.g. sending and receiving e-mails, preparing sales reports), (ii) difficulty in coordinating with field secretaries in the field; and (iii) carrying out workrelated tasks at home (cf. Table 8). For example, 85 per cent of the reps report that the mobile system allows them to do administrative work, such as sales reports, when encountering time gaps between meetings while 70 per cent agree that the mobile system frees them from spending time at home on doing work-related activities. Additionally 85 per cent of the reps report that the mobile system allows them to better coordinate with field secretaries during sales trips.

For those barriers the basic technical training the reps received in operating the system (e.g. learning how to access the corporate database, enter and

upload sales reports, compose e-mails), allows the reps to assess how the capabilities of the system could support them in dealing with such barriers, and thus the usefulness of the system was apparent.

However, for other barriers such as (i) unexpected cancellation of an appointment with a physician, (ii) dealing with physicians' information requirements in terms of providing them with both new information and the experiences of other physicians with the company's drugs, and (iii) responding quicker to the questions doctors 'outstanding questions; the majority of the reps do not regard the system as useful (cf. Table 8). As an example only 46 per cent of the reps interviewed agree that the mobile system allows them to identify an alternative physician to visit in the event of the unexpected cancellation of an appointment, with mode and values of 4 and 3 respectively. Similarly, fewer than a third of the reps interviewed agree with the statement that the mobile system allows them to inform physicians about the experiences other physicians have had with the company drugs they are promoting, with mode and mean values of 4 and 3.3 respectively. Also only the half of the reps agree with the statement that the mobile system allows them to respond quicker to the questions doctors ask during sales visits if they do not have an immediate answer

The finding regarding the reps' usage of the mobile system in the field, corroborate the findings about the reps perceived usefulness of the mobile system. The reps use the mobile system in order to deal with the barriers for which the system's usefulness is quite obvious to them. Indeed, the reps use the mobile system's solutions to deal with such barriers as (i) making productive use of dead time during sales visits, (ii) difficulty in coordinating with field secretaries in the field, and (iii) carrying out work-related tasks at home. For those barriers the majority of the reps perceive the mobile system support as useful (cf. Table 9). For example, 100 per cent of the reps interviewed report that they always or often use the mobile system in the field to read and answer their e-mail messages.

Additionally, 85 per cent of the reps interviewed report that they always or often use the mobile system to enter and send reports from sales visits when they have time gaps between meetings. Similarly, 69 per cent of the reps always or often use the mobile system to retrieve information alerts received from team members

However, the majority of the reps interviewed do not seem to fully integrate the mobile system to deal with other barriers such as (i) unexpected cancellations of appointments with physicians, (ii) dealing with physicians' information requirements in terms of providing them with both new information and the experiences of other physicians with the company's drugs, and (iii) responding quicker to the questions doctors 'outstanding questions For those barriers, the survey shows a similar pattern for the reps' perceived usefulness of the mobile system. That is, the majority of the reps do not perceive the mobile system as useful in helping them deal with those barriers (cf. Table 9). As an example, only 39 per cent report that they always or often use the mobile system to identify an alternative physician to visit. Additionally, only 39% of the reps always or often use the system in order to provide information to doctors about the questions they ask during sales visits and for which you did not have an immediate answer.

Moreover, in terms of using the system in order to deal with physicians' information requirements, i.e. providing physicians with both new information and the experiences of other physicians with the company's drugs, only a minority of the reps interviewed use the mobile system in the field for that purpose. For instance, 54 per cent of the reps report that they seldom or never use the mobile system before the sales visit in order to obtain useful information to provide to doctor. Additionally, sixty-nine per cent of the reps interviewed report that they seldom or never use the mobile system in the field in order to learn about new events in the pharmaceutical world during periods of free time. Furthermore, 62 per cent of the reps report that they seldom or never retrieve in the field work-related information from the Internet. When asked about accessing team members' sales visits information in the field in order to obtain information about physicians' experiences with the company products that the rep could use during his or he own sales visits, 62 per cent of the reps report that they seldom or never use the mobile system for that purpose (cf. Table 9).

Regarding the barrier of responding quicker to the questions doctors 'outstanding questions, only 39% of the reps report that they always or often use the mobile system in the field in order to provide information to doctors about the questions they ask during sales visits and for which the reps do not have answers.

The survey's results show that training in terms of operating the system to support the reps' everyday work activities does not seem sufficient for more than half of the reps interviewed. The reps need advanced training that would provide them with guidance about how the features of the mobile system could support them in terms dealing with those barriers. This was shown by the fact that more than the half of the reps disagree with the statement that the training they received, which was merely technologydriven, was sufficient. Likewise, more than the half of the reps disagrees with the fact that they find the information they were given about the capabilities of the mobile system sufficient. Also, more than half of the interviewees report that it would be useful if they could get help and support on how to use each feature of the mobile system to support their tasks and enhance their performance (cf. Table 7). The reps' answers to the open question about how the mobile system could be further improved to suit their job requirements strengthened such a pattern. More training in terms of using the system's capabilities was the second most frequently mentioned suggestion for improvements; as one rep wrote:

Everybody knows the basic features. What now should be done is to organise a new training event to go through all the possibilities that you can use the communicator for. I doubt that very many of us truly know all that can be done with the communicator The results of the survey appear to parallel what was found in the earlier qualitative field study. Study 1 showed that the rep uses the mobile system only in case the usefulness of the system is apparent to him in terms of dealing with a particular barrier. In other words, although the system has the potential to provide support for certain barriers, if the rep cannot figure out how it would be useful for that purpose, he will not use it. Study 1 also identified that providing training that goes beyond the technology to focus on the reps' work system, i.e training from a work-system perspective is a good way to increase the mobile system by the sales reps. Training from the work system perspective would demonstrate to the reps how the various features of the system could support their tasks and help them to deal with the barriers they encounter. In the light of such knowledge the rep could assess the usefulness of the system's features in connection with his or her tasks as well as the barriers to performance he or she faces, and decide which features of the system to integrate into his or her everyday tasks.

Table 3 Compatibility with existing systems

	Agree * %	Disagree % **	Mode	Mean	SD
Using the mobile system is compatible with all aspects of my work	77.0	8.0	2.0	2.0	0.9
I think that using the mobile system fits well with the way I like to work	92.0	8.0	2.0	1.8	0.9
I think that using the mobile system fits into my work style	92.0	8.0	2.0	1.8	0.8

*) Percentage of respondents who answered agree = 1 or partially agree = 2

**) Percentage of respondents who answered disagree = 5 or partially disagree = 4

Table 4 Subjective norms

	Agree * %	Disagree % **	Mode	Mean	SD
I use the mobile system because my colleagues think I should use it	0.0	77.0	5.0	4.5	0.9
I use the mobile system because my superiors want me to use it	31.0	54.0	5.0	3.5	1.7

*) Percentage of respondents who answered agree = 1 or partially agree = 2

**) Percentage of respondents who answered disagree = 5 or partially disagree = 4

Table 5 Perceived ease of use

	Agree* %	Disagree**%	Mode	Mean	SD
Learning to operate the mobile system	92.3	7.7	2.0	1.8	1.1
was easy for me					
I find it easy to become skilful in using	69.2	15.4	2.0	2.4	1.1
the mobile system					
I find the mobile system easy to use in	76.9	7.7	2.0	2.1	0.9
accomplishing my everyday work duties					
Slow data communication (connection	61.5	23.1	2.0	2.5	1.0
to the database and downloading of					
files takes too long) is a barrier for me					
in terms of using the mobile system					
I find it difficult to type information	46.2	46.1	4.0	2.9	1.1
using the communicator					
I find it difficult to read information	38.5	61.5	4.0	3.4	1.2
retrieved from the database using the					
communicator					
The small screen of the communicator	38.5	53.8	2.0	3.4	1.3
(compared to the laptop) is a barrier					
for me in terms of using the mobile					
system in the field					

*) Percentage of respondents who answered agree = 1 or partially agree = 2 **) Percentage of respondents who answered disagree = 5 or partially disagree = 4

Table 6 Perceived ease of integration of the mobile system

	Agree *%	Disagree **%	Mode	Mean	SD
When I need work-related information in the field about doctors I should visit, I find it available in my company database	69.2	15.4	2.0	2.3	0.9
I have access to the support I need if I face a problem in operating the mobile	61.5	7.7	2.0	2.2	0.9
It would be helpful for me if I could get help and support on how to use each feature of the mobile system to support my tasks and enhance my performance	61.5	7.7	2.00	2.4	0.8
It will be helpful for me if I could access non-company databases to obtain work- related information (i.e. market information) during sales trips	38.5	15.4	3.0	2.8	0.9
I find it difficult to know how all the capabilities of the mobile system could support my tasks in the field	30.7	46.2	4.0	3.1	1.0
I find the training I receive about operating the mobile system sufficient	15.4	53.8	4.0	3.4	0.8
I find the information I was given about the capabilities of the mobile system sufficient	7.7	61.5	4.0	3.6	0.8

*) Percentage of respondents who answered agree = 1 or partially agree = 2 **) Percentage of respondents who answered disagree = 5 or partially disagree = 4

Table 7 Personal innovativeness

	Agree * %	Disagree % **	Mode	Mean	SD
If I heard about a new information technology,	61.6	30.8	2.0	2.5	1.1
I would look for ways to experiment with it					
Among my peers, I am usually first to try out	38.5	46.1	2.0	3.2	1.1
new information technology					
In general I consider myself quite innovative	38.5	38.5	2.0	3.0	0.9
when it comes to information technology					

*) Percentage of respondents who answered agree = 1 or partially agree = 2 **) Percentage of respondents who answered disagree = 5 or partially disagree = 4

Table 8 Perceived usefulness of the mobile system

	Agree * %	Disagree % **	Mode	Mean	SD
Using the mobile system allows me: to do my administrative work (i.e. sales reports) when I face time gaps betweens	84.6	15.4	1.0	1.5	1.1
meetings to better coordinate with field secretaries during sales trips	84.6	7.7	1.0	1.7	0.9
to free myself from spending time at home on	69.2	30.8	2.0	2.6	1.4
to enhance the quality of my sales visits reports	61.5	23.1	2.0	2.5	1.3
to respond quicker to the questions doctors ask during sales visits if I don't have an immediate answer	53.9	23.0	2.0	2.5	1.1
to identify an alternative physician to visit in the event of an unexpected cancellation of an appointment with a physician	46.1	46.2	4.0	3	1.6
not to print documents I think I would need	38.4	46.2	5.0	3.2	1.6
to inform doctors about experiences other doctors have had with the company drugs I am promoting	30.7	53.9	4.0	3.3	1.3
to provide doctors with new information about the company drugs during each sales visit	15.4	69.2	4.0	3.7	0.9

*) Percentage of respondents who answered agree = 1 or partially agree = 2 **) Percentage of respondents who answered disagree = 5 or partially disagree = 4

Table 9 Sales force usage of the mobile system

	Always or often %	Sometimes %	Seldom or never %	Mean	Mode	SD
How frequently do you use your mobile system in the field to:						
Read and answer e-mail messages	100.0	0.0	0	1.5	2.0	0.5
Enter and send sales visit reports during sales trips when	84.6	0.0	15.4	1.8	1.0	1.1
Retrieve information alerts received from team members	69.2	7.7	23.1	2.5	2.0	1.2
Retrieve information alerts received from the office	61.5	7.7	30.8	2.5	2.0	1.1
Retrieve sales reports before meeting the doctor	53.9	23.1	23.1	2.7	2.0	1.1
Provide information to doctors about the questions they ask during sales visits and for which you did not have an immediate answer	38.5	23.1	38.5	3.0	2.0	1.2
Identify alternative doctors to visit when a planned visit is not possible	38.5	38.5	23.1	2.8	3.0	1.1
Access field secretaries' booking actions when you have free time in the field	30.7	38.5	30.8	2.9	3.0	1.1
Access your calendar in the field to book meetings with physicians	30.7	46.2	23.1	2.8	3.0	1.1
Access the company's database before the sales visit in order to obtain useful information to provide to doctors	23.1	23.1	53.9	3.5	4.0	1.3
Identify new doctors to visit in your territory (i.e. when you have meetings in large hospitals)	23.0	46.2	30.8	3.2	3.0	0.9
Access your calendar during the visit with a doctor to book ahead future meetings with him or her	15.4	15.4	69.2	3.6	4.0	0.9
Provide useful information about doctors' questions to team members	15.4	23.1	61.6	3.6	4.0	1.0
Learn about the company products when you have free time in the field	15.4	23.1	61.6	3.6	4.0	1.0
Learn about competitive products when you have free time in the field	7.7	38.5	53.9	3.5	3.0	0.9
Learn about events in the pharmaceutical industry when you have free time in the field	7.7	23.1	69.3	3.8	4.0	0.9
Retrieve useful work-related information from the Internet	7.7	30.8	61.5	3.7	4.0	0.9
Retrieve team members' sales reports	7.7	30.8	61.5	3.7	4.0	0.9

*) Percentage of respondents who answered agree = 1 or partially agree = 2

**) Percentage of respondents who answered disagree = 5 or partially disagree = 4

9. Discussion

The results of the study show that the sales force was in general pleased with the initiative to adopt the mobile system. The majority report that mobile system is compatible with all aspects of their work, and fits well with both their work style and the way they like to work. They also used it in order to deal with certain barriers for which its usefulness was clear to them. However, in terms of dealing with other barriers the system was not fully exploited by all members of the sales force. The study also raised a major implementation issue: Training. Many IT scholars have indeed argued that facilitating conditions such as training and support have a favourable impact on technology use (see e.g. Good & Stone, 2000; Venkatesh et al., 2003; Davis, 1989; Igbiria & Tan, 1997). Research reports in adoption of information technology by sales forces also supported such a hypothesis (Jones et al. 2002; Ahearne, 2005; Buehrer et al. 2005). Those researchers recommend providing users with the necessary knowledge of how to operate the technology in order to enhance its adoption. However, to our knowledge none of those studies took the step of specifying the nature of such training as would enhance adoption by the sales force. In those studies training has been examined broadly together with other variables, such as support, and both those variables were included within the facilitating condition construct. Moreover, training was approached in the technology adoption studies mainly from the technical perspective, i.e. providing users with instructions and quidelines on how to operate the technology (Ahearne et al. 2005)

The results of our study suggest that the sales force needs not only technology-driven training (e.g. learning how to operate the technology) but also training from the work-system perspective. In other words, training needs to provide guidance to the sales force on how the various capabilities of the technology could support their tasks and performance. The majority of the reps participating in the study were not satisfied with the training they had received, which was merely technical. On the other hand, they were favourably disposed to the idea of receiving training that would enable them to uncover how the various capabilities of the implemented mobile system would support their everyday tasks. Indeed, in a number of information systems implementations, firms tend to provide the salespersons with quick technical training and leave them with the task of uncovering applications of the system to support their work, believing that their sales force already understands enough of PC basics to make it work. Erffmeyer's et al. (2001) study about firms' expectations from investment in SFA, reveal that a limited number of firms participating in their study offer training to support their SFA efforts. They also found that a third of the sales representatives were frustrated by the way training was handled. Such an attitude was expressed in a comment by one national sales manager participating in their study: "the owners think this is overvalued. They refer to my laptop and training as "executive time suckers".

The study also shows that perceived usefulness is a condition that precedes the usage of the system's capabilities by the sales force. This is in line with what has been found in sales and, more generally, information technology adoption (Schillewaert et al. 2005; Avlontis et al. 2004; Ranjarajan et al. 2005). Indeed, as Jones et al. (2002) argue because of the nature of their job, salespeople are autonomous decision-makers who are accustomed to assessing the features, advantages, and benefits of a new product or service. Therefore when it comes to using the capabilities of an implemented technology, they are more likely to adopt only the ones that they regard as useful in supporting them in their everyday work routines.

In terms of the design of a mobile information support for the sales force, our study has some implications. The study shows that information alerts constitute a preferred approach by the reps to updating their knowledge. The survey indicates that only a minority of the reps frequently use the mobile system to access the corporate database during sales visits in order obtain information to give to physicians. Likewise, a minority of the reps connect to the mobile system in the field to update their market and technical knowledge in the field when faced with periods of free time. On the other hand, the results indicate that about two thirds of the reps frequently use the system to retrieve information alerts that their colleagues and the head office send to them on different topics such as drug-related information, intelligence information or physicians' questions.

Furthermore, the survey's results reveal that the mobile system can enhance knowledge-sharing among the reps. However, management support is needed to encourage the members of the sales force to share knowledge with each other. For example, the study shows that sales visits reports are an information source where the reps could enter sales visits information, including the nature of questions that physicians they visit ask or useful information about physicians' experiences with company products. Then other reps could access this information and use it as an argument during their sales encounters with physicians. However, the results indicate that the majority of the reps report that they do not frequently retrieve team members' reports from sales visit in order to obtain useful information about physicians' experiences that they can use during their own sales visits. This could be explained by the fact that the current reporting system does not emphasise knowledge-sharing activities, such as storing a useful insight about a physician's experience with company drugs gleaned by one rep, for potential use by his/her colleagues. The current reporting system is mainly used as a medium to provide activity records to the sales management team and to enable the rep to store and subsequently review issues discussed in his or her meeting with the physician. As a result, a sales rep may not think it is important to review another team member's sales report if the report contains mainly sales records or the rep's personal observations about his/her meeting with the physician. As a result companies should consider encouraging the reps to see the reporting task as more of a knowledgesharing activity than an administrative duty. The management team could encourage the reps to include in their sales reports information that they perceive as useful about physicians' questions and experiences with the company drug. The company can then collect such insights based on the reps' sales reports and re-distribute the useful insights to all the sales force in the form e-mail information alerts, after checking them for accuracy and adding their own comments and evaluations.
Limitation and further research

A possible limitation of the current study is that it is restricted to a single company. However, the choice of the single-case focus has been inspired by the wish to control contextual factors (e.g. market and organisational factors). It was important to obtain responses from salespersons that operate within a similar context in terms of the arrays of technology available to them and the meaning of "performance" for them. Furthermore, within the sales force research context, many researchers have warned of the danger of pooling data from a number of unrelated industries and product types when attempting to generalise. Furthermore, lumping together data from different firms has been mentioned as a potential explanation for the mixed findings in research investigating information technologies and performance (Ahearne & Schillewaert, 2001). The use of self-reported measures instead of actual usage information is another limitation of our study. Thus, additional studies replicating the results obtained here, in a larger research setting and using actual usage data, would confirm the validity of the findings.

One interesting future avenue of research would be to test the framework from this study in another setting, involving a larger sales force, to examine whether the insights derived form the present case study will survive other empirical testing. Another interesting avenue would be to re-examine the adoption of the mobile system by the sales force after receiving training from the work-system perspective in order to see the actual contribution of such training to enhancing their adoption.

References

Ahearne, M., Jelinek, R., Rapp, A. (2005) "Moving beyond the direct effect of SFA adoption on salesperson performance: Training and support as key moderating factors", *Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management*, Vol.34, No.4, pp.379-388.

Ahearne, M., and Schillewaert, N. (2001) "The effects of information technology on salesperson performance", *eBusiness Research Centre Working papers*, Penn State university, pp.1-47.

Alter, S. (1999) "The Siamese twin problem: a central issue ignored by dimensions of information system effectiveness", *Communications of AIS, Vol.* 2, No.20, pp.40-55.

Avlonitis, G., Panagopoulos, N.G. (2005) "Antecedents and consequences of CRM technology acceptance in the sales force", Industrial Marketing Management, Vol.34, No.4, pp.355-368.

Barley, S.R., and Kunda, G (2001) "Bringing Work Back In", Organization and Science, Vol.12, No. 1, pp.76-95.

BenMoussa,C.(2005) "Supporting Sales Representatives on the Move: A Study of the Information Needs of Pharmaceutical Sales Representatives", in the proceedings of the18th Bled e-conference, Bled, Slovenia, 6th-8th June, 2005.

Buehrer, Richard E., Senecal, Sylvain, Bolman Ellen, P. (2005) "Sales force technology usage-Reasons, barriers, and support: An exploratory investigation". *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol. 34, No. 4, pp. 389-398.

Chau, P.Y.K. (1996) "An empirical assessment of a modified technology acceptance model", *Journal of management information systems*, Vol.13, No.2, pp.185-204

Chan, Y.E. (2000) "IT value: the Great difference between qualitative and quantitative and individual and organizational measures" *Journal of Management Information Systems*, Vol. 7, No.3, pp. 281-300

Chau, P.Y.K., and Hu, P.J. (2002) "Examining a model of information technology acceptance by individual professional: an exploratory study", *Journal of Management Information Systems*, Vol.18, No.4, pp. 191-229.

Davis, F.D. (1989) "Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology", *MIS Quarterly*, Vol. 13, No.3, pp.319-340.

Davis, F.D., Bagozzi, R.P., and Warshaw, P.R. (1989) "User acceptance of computer technology: a comparison of two theoretical models", *Management Science*, Vol.35, No.8, pp.982-1003.

DeLone, W. H and McLean, E.R. (1992) "Information System Success: The Quest for the dependent variable", *Information Systems Research*, Vol. 3, No.1, pp.60-95

DeLone, W. H and.McLean, E.R. (2003)"The DeLone and McLean Model of Information Systems Success: A ten-year update", *Journal of Management Information System*, Vol. 19, No.4, pp9-30.

Dulaney, K. (1996) "The automated sales force", American Demographics (October), pp. 56–63.

Erffmeyer R.C. and Johnson, D.A. (2001) "An exploratory study of sales forces automation practices: Expectations and realities". *Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management*, Vol.21.No.2, pp. 167-175.

Engel, R.L., Barnes, M.L. (2000) "Sales force automation usage, effectiveness and cost-benefit in Germany, England and United States", *Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing*, Vol.15, No.4, pp.216-241.

Galvin, J. (2002) "Increase SFA adoption with sales process mapping, Gartner Group Research Report SPA-18-2377.

Good, D.J., Stone, R.W. (2000) "The impact of computerization on marketing performance", *Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing*, Vol. 15, No.34.

Goodhue, D.L., and Thompson, R.L (1995), "Task technology fit and individual performance", *MIS Quarterly*, Vol.19, No.2, pp.213-236

Honeycutt, E.D. (2005) "Technology Improves sales Performance-doesn't it?, Industrial Marketing Management, Vol.34, No.4, pp.301-304.

Jones, E., Sundaram, S., & Chin, W.(2002) "Factors leading to sales force automation use: A longitudinal analysis", *Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management, Vol.22, pp.145-156.*

Igbaria, M., Guimaraes, T., and Davis G.B (1995). "Testing the determinants of microcomputer usage via a structural equation model", *Journal of Management Information Systems*, Vol.11, No.4, pp.87-114

Kakihara, M. (2003) "Emerging work practices of ICT-enabled mobile professionals", Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, LSE, U.K., available at http://www.kakihara.org/pub.htm [accessed on December 11, 2005].

Karahanna, E., Straub, D.W., and Chervany, N.L. (1999) "Information technology adoption across time: a cross-sectional comparison of preadoption and post-adoption beliefs", MIS Quarterly, vol.23, No.2, pp.183-213.

Keillor, B.D., Parker, R.C., and Pettijohn ,C.E. (1999) "Sales Force Performance Satisfaction and Aspects of Relational Selling: Implications for Sales Managers", *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, Winter, pp.101-115.

Kettinger, W.J and Lee, C.C. (1995) "Perceived service quality and user satisfaction with the information service function", Decision Sciences, 25, 5/6, pp.737-765

Lee, Y.H., Kozar, K.A., and Larsen, K.R.T. (2004) "The technology acceptance model: past, present, future", Communications of AIS, Vo.12, Article 50, pp.752-780

Lincoln, Y.S and Guba, E.G .(1984), "Naturalistic Inquiry". Beverrly Hills, CA: Sage Publications.

Lyytinen, K., Yoo, Y (2002) "Research commentary: the next wave of nomadic computing", *Information System Research*, Vol.13, No.4, pp.377-388.

MacInnes, P. (1998) "Sales reps play the field". Computer Dealer News, No.29.

Markus, M.L., Robey, D. (1988) "Information technology and organizational change: causal structure in theory and research management", *Management Science*, Vol. 34, No.5, pp.583-598

Mohr, L.B (1982) "Explaining organizational behaviour", Jossey-Bass, San Fransisco

Myers, M.D. (1999) "Investigating information systems with ethnographic research, Communications of AIS, Vol.2, No.23, pp.1-20Mohr, L.B (1982) "Explaining organizational behaviour", Jossey-Bass, San Fransisco

Newman, M., Robey, D. (1992) "A social process model of user-analyst relationship", *MIS Quarterly*, Vol.16, No. 2, pp.249-266

Parthasarathy and Sohi, R.S. (1997)"Sales force automation and the adoption of technological innovations by salespeople: theory and implications, *Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing*, Vol.12, No.3, pp.196-208.

Rangarajan, D., Jones, E., Chin, W. (2005) "Impact of sales force automation on technology-related stress, effort, and technology usage among salespeople", Industrial Marketing Management, Vol.34, No.4, pp-345-354.

Rigby, D.K., Reichheld, F.F., and Schefter, P. (2002) "Avoid the four perils of CRM" Harvard Business Review, Vol.80, No.2, pp. 101–108.

Rivers, L.M., and Dart, J. (1999) "The acquisition and use of sales force automation by mid-sized manufacturers", Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management, Vol. 19, No.2, pp. 59–73.

Robinson, Leroy, Jr., Marshallb Greg, W., Stamps, Miriam, B., (2005), "An empirical investigation of technology acceptance in a field sales force setting", *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol.34, No.4, pp.407-415

Sarker, S., Lee, A.S. (2002) "Using a case study to test the role of three key social enablers in ERP implementation", *Information and Management*, Vol. 40, pp.814-829

Seddon, P.B., Staples, D.S. Patnayakun, R., Bowtell, M.J. (1999) "The dimensions of information systems success", Communication of the Association of Information Systems. Vol.2, No.3.

Seddon, P.B. (1997) "A respecification and extension of the DeLone and McLean Model of IS success" Information Systems Research. Vol. 8, No. 3, pp.240-253.

Seddon, P.B, Kiew, M.Y. (1994) "A partial test and development of DeLone and McLean's model of IS success. In proceeding of the International Conference of Information Systems, Vancouver, Canada, pp.99-110

Schillewaert, N., Ahearnw, M., Frambach, R.T., Moenaert, R.K. (2005) "The adoption of information technology in the sales force", *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol.34, pp.323-336

Speir, C., and Venkatesh, V. (2002) "The hidden Minefields in the adoption of sales force automation technologies", *Journal of Marketing*, Vol.66, No.3, pp.98-111

Swenson, M.L & Parrella, A. (1992) "Cellular telephones and the national sales force", *Journal of Personnel Selling and Sales Management*, Vol.12, No.4, pp.67-74.

Venkatesh, V., and Davis, F.D. (1996) "A theoretical extension of the technology acceptance model: four longitudinal field studies", Management Science, Vol. 46, No.2, pp.186-204

Venkatesh, V., Morris, M.G., and Ackerman, P.L. (2000) "A longitudinal field investigation of gender differences in individual technology adoption decision making processes", Organizational Behaviour and Human Decision Processes, Vol.86, pp.33-60

Venkatesh, V., and Davis, F.D. (1996) "A model of the antecedents of perceive ease of use: development and test" Decision Sciences, Vol.27, No.3, pp.451-481

Venkatesh, V. (2000)" Determinants of perceived ease of use: integrating control, intrinsic motivation, and emotion into the technology acceptance model", Information System Research, Vol.11, No.4, pp.342-365.

Venkatesh, V and Davis, F.D. (2000) "A theoretical extension of the technology acceptance model: four longitudinal field studies", *Management Science*, Vol.46, No.2, pp. 186-204.

Venkatesh, V., Morris, M.G., Davis, F.D. (2003) "User acceptance of information technology: toward unified view", MIS quarterly, Vo.27, No.3, pp.425-478

Venkatesh, V., Morris, M.G., Davis, G.B., and Davis, F.D. (2003) "User acceptance of information technology: toward a unified view", MIS Quarterly, Vol.27, No.32, pp.425-478

Venkatesh, V., Speier, C., and Morris, M.G. (2002) "User acceptance enablers in individual decision making about technology: toward an integrated model" Decision Sciences, Vol.33, No.2, pp.297-316. Widmier, Scott, Jackson, Donald W., &McCabe, Deborah Brown (20029 "Infusing technology into personal selling", *Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management*, Vol. 22, No.3, pp.189-198.

Research Paper 5

BenMoussa, C. (2004): "A Task-based Framework for Mobile Applications to Enhance Salespersons' Performance", In Proceedings of IFIP TC8 Conference on Mobile Information Systems, Oslo Norway, 15-17 September 2004.

A TASK-BASED FRAMEWORK FOR MOBILE APPLICATIONS TO ENHANCE SALESPERSONS' PERFORMANCE

Subtitle

Chihab BenMoussa

Turku Centre for Computer Science Lemminkäisenkatu 14 A FIN-20520 TURKU FINLAND

- Abstract: The paper suggests a framework for mobile applications aimed at supporting salespersons` tasks for greater performance when they are operating within a highly mobile work environment. To do so the paper starts by providing a review of mobile technologies characteristics in terms of mobile devices, connectivity and mobile applications. After deriving a set of propositions, the paper offers some concluding remarks and suggests areas for future research
- Key words: Mobile technologies, Salespersons performance, salespersons tasks, task technology fit

1. INTRODUCTION

The role of the professional selling has expanded and changed dramatically in recent years. Instead of merely selling products, today's sales persons are expected to serve customers as consultants who offer expert advice on improving customer's life style or making their business operations more profitable. They operate like micro marketing-managers in the field. Buyers are becoming increasingly skilful at obtaining value of their expenditures. Salespersons now usually deal with professional buyers or purchasing agents who base their buying decisions on the representative's delivery of quality and service and how the product will affect their company's profit. Such rapidly growing sophistication of professional buyers and their increasing access to information will continue to challenge salespersons to find new sources and faster methods of obtaining information despite their constant move. Additionally, the unique nature of selling with its mobility requirements, time demand, psychological strain, work-related role stress and performance orientation continue to put unusual pressure on salespersons.

The advent of access to services through mobile and wireless devices has resulted in a fast growing of a number of mobile applications and service. Mobile (or wireless) applications, despite being different in their nature, they share a common characteristic that distinguishes them from their wire-line counterpart: They put the user at the centre of information and communication through the provision of location specific information, personalization, immediacy, and service availability (Durlacher, 2001). These characteristics would enable the development of innovative mobile applications to support firms' salespersons for greater performance despite their high work mobility. How and which mobile applications can support these frontline ambassadors in their sales efforts are key questions facing a number of stakeholders including sale managers today.

The paper suggests a task-based framework for developing mobile applications to support salespersons` tasks when they are operating within a highly mobile work environment. To do so the paper starts by providing a review of mobile technologies characteristics in terms of mobile devices, connectivity and mobile applications. After deriving a set of propositions, the paper offers some concluding remarks and suggests areas for future research

2. MOBILE TECHNOLOGIES OVERVIEW

A complex, interconnected set of technologies provides the basis on which mobile applications and services can be built. Similar to traditional information systems (IS), mobile technologies can be reviewed according to three dimensions: mobile devices corresponding to the hardware in IS, network connectivity and applications (software).

2.1 Mobile Devices

Mobile technologies bring back to discourse the issues associated with devices that can be used to access and utilize IS functionality. Laptop PCs have extended IS functionality by enabling workers to bring their digital work with them whenever they were going. Gradually smaller devices have been developed. Personal Digital Assistant (PDA) such as Psion, Palm and Windows CE based palm tops, and operating systems such as WinCE, EPOC and PalmOS have emerged for mobile users. Smartphones, a combination of a mobile phone and a PDA have increasingly become popular and hold a great promise. They include versions of Nokia communicators, Handspring Treo, smartphone devices form vendors such as Orange, Samsung and AT&tT Wireless version (www.synchrologic.com).

For the purpose of this paper, a mobile device is any device connected to the Internet or other networks through wireless networking using any standard wireless communication protocol. They include such devices as laptop PCs, Tablet PCs, PDAs, smartphones and WAP enabled phones.

Mobile devices can be assessed according to the three dimensions: usability, capability and cost. Usability includes such characteristics as portability, micro-mobility, display and input characteristics. Portability as determined by the device's weight and size is a significant usage factor for the mobile workforce. Device's micro-mobility as describes by Luff and heath (1998) is inherent in the physical objects in that they may be moved about and be shared between people to support communication (i.e. during a meeting).

Device's capability include such characteristics as processing power, amount of local storage, battery life, available connection options, location-awareness and security factors (see for example, Tarassewich et al. 2002, Ovum 2003, synchrologic 2003 for discussions of open issues).

The device 's cost factor includes procurement cost, support and add-in cost. Add-in cost is the cost resulting from adding other functionality to an existing type of device such as a cell phone. An example is mobile software applications that add processing and other functionality to cell phones (Gebauer et al., 2002)

Mobile devices differ in terms of their usability, capability and cost characteristics. Such differences give raise to tradeoffs particularly between device capability and device usability. For instance a Laptop Pc offers some good features in terms of processing power, memory, display and input /output characteristics, but they are often awkward to use on the move. Indeed, a laptop is able to receive a document anywhere that a network can be established with computers back at the office. However once the document is received, the laptop cannot be spatially reoriented at the microlevel, during a face-to-face meeting in a way that a PDA or a smartphone allows. Additionally, The Laptop's procurement and maintenance cost are far high compared to PDAs or smartphones.

2.2 Connectivity

In addition to mobile devices, networking support is crucial to support a mobile workforce without constant physical access to stationary IS. Mobile and wireless networks are experiencing significant progress in the form of wireless local area network (WLAN), Satellite-based Networks, Wireless Local Loops, Mobile Internet Protocol and Wireless Asynchronous Transfer Mode Network (see for example Varshney 2002 for more details about such technologies). One emerging technology is bluetooth, a short-range, point-to-multipoint data transfer, which provides low cost short-range radio link for wireless connecting.

Distinguishing factors for network connectivity include Network capacity (i.e. bandwidth), geographic network availability and connection fees. Significant efforts are in course to enhance mobile and wireless network' bandwidth. In addition, developments in mobile middleware platforms contribute in optimising for low bandwidth, intermittent connections as well as the amount of processing required at the mobile device.

Network availability, including roaming across multiple networks and the mobile user location's environment (outdoor, indoor, underground); might be a significant functionality factor for mobile applications and services, in particular those supporting an on the move workforce. An example is location based mobile applications and services, which rely on positioning technologies such as GPS and Cellular positioning technologies. The positioning accuracy of such technologies depends on whether the user is in an indoor environment (i.e. a building), a rural or dense urban area. (BenMoussa, 2004).

Current developments in wireless and mobile connectivity in the form of the third generation mobile communication systems (3G) hold a great promise in providing a faster and reliable access time to users and reducing the total cost of access and transfer of data across multiple networks. Some firms started developing 4G technologies and global standards. NTT DoCoMo, Inc. announced in 2003 plans for a field trial of 4G mobile communication systems.

2.3 Applications

Although mobile technologies such as mobile phones and PDAs were first developed as consumer products rather than business solutions, a

number of innovative companies have adopted those technologies as enablers for their process innovation` initiatives (Kakihara et al. 2003). Traditionally, the use of mobile technologies in business environment has been concentrated in supporting sales process and logistics (i.e. the cases of Fritto-lay, UPS). The introduction of wireless digital networks has made it possible to transfer data cost effectively and potentially increase the added value of mobile applications through the provision of location sensitive information.

The paper categorizes mobile application and services into the three functional categories: the connective, the interactive and the proactive mobile application and services. The following outline the three analytical categories of mobile application and services.

2.3.1 Connective mobile applications

Connective mobile applications involve basically a mobile and a wireless client accessing a centralized service. An example of connective mobile applications includes accessing wirelessly Intranet functionality via a mobile device. The user sends information requests to the server, which in turns serves, the relevant information back to the user. Another example is accessing wirelessly a WAP or I-mode site.

2.3.2 Interactive mobile applications

Mobile interactive applications support the generation of information through communication between people. Obviously the best example of interactive mobile applications is the mobile phone itself (Sorrensen et al., 2002). The SMS functionality supports short text messages can also be considered interactive mobile applications. As is the instant messaging services, such as ICQ, AOL, and MSN messenger service for pocket PC 2002. Other examples of interactive mobile applications include e-mail systems and Awareware supporting mutual awareness through synchronous or asynchronous modes of awareness employing visual or verbal media.

2.3.3 **Proactive mobile applications**

Proactive mobile applications are aimed at supporting mobile users in responding proactively to potential changing environmental trends. Based on the user's situational context and changing environment, the service provider delivers content without receiving a request from him/her. An indicative example of mobile applications could be the use of mobile wireless client in managing the supply chain allowing dispersed actors to interact with the parameters governing the supply chain and respond proactively to potential malfunction (i.e. lost or delayed orders).

3. FRAMEWORK FOR MOBILE APPLICATIONS TO SUPPORT SALESPERSONS TASKS

The paper now suggests three propositions for developing mobile applications aimed at supporting salespersons for greater performance.

 \checkmark Categorising sales persons tasks by the areas that might be affected by mobile technologies,

 \checkmark Fitting mobile technologies characteristics with salespersons' task requirement in order to increases the applications' chance to succeed,

 \checkmark Involving actively the salespersons in the design, development and implementation of mobile applications can increase the success chance of such applications.

3.1 Categorizing Salespersons Tasks by the Areas of Mobile Support

The paper suggests that categorising salespersons tasks based on the areas that mobile technologies can support, would provide a rich resource in terms of delivering a targeted support to salespersons in order to handle the tasks at hand. Salespersons tasks can thus constitute the point of departure in terms of developing salespersons' mobile applications. Using tasks as unit of analysis for supporting knowledge workers in general has been emphasised by many authors (Hackman, 1969; Druckar, 1999; Byström, 1999; Perry et all, 2001, luff and Heath, 1998). For instance, Druckard points out that understanding knowledge workers' tasks is the first requirement in tackling knowledge workers ' productivity. One reason for this, Druckard said, stems form the fact that unlike manual work, knowledge work does not program the worker. (Luff et all, 2000) have shown that the misunderstanding of the mature of tasks that workers perform can be problematic and lead to technologies being used in unexpected ways. For example they describe a situation in which a mobile device was introduced onto a building site to replace a paper allocation sheet used to record the amount of time workers spent on particular aspects of a job. The system was supposed to provide a mobile resource for the workers to help them monitor problems as they occur and to support in situ discussion with other people on the site. What happened in actual use however differed form the intent. Instead of being used as a communication tool to support the mobility of the worker around the site, it was used primarily as a data documentation device. This occurred

because the device impeded certain important features of collaborative work practices of the workers and the other workers when on the site.

The paper proposes the following categorisation of salespersons tasks based on the review of the determinants of salespeople performance and the characteristics of mobile technologies.

3.1.1 Information tasks

Mobile technologies can enable salespeople to collect and have access to information irrespective of their locations, which would have an impact on the areas of prospecting and customer relationship management.

In prospecting, salespersons can be supported by having access anywhere and anytime to customize the list of prospects together with additional information about customer's buying history, real time orders, and latest events in the customer's business, which may enable them to qualify prospects and apply target selling.

In the field, mobile technologies can also enable salespersons to obtain up-to date information about the prospect and use it during the sales call to adapt to sales situations and to overcome objections. In addition, Mobile technologies can give the sales force the ability to check the availability and prices of any products, and thus deliver feasible promises. Salespersons can also configure products to reflect customers needs and wants, while with the customer, by having access to communication with the company's technical specialist. Furthermore, awareness of salespersons' location can enable useful information about the customer to be delivered to them so that they can reflect it during their sales call.

3.1.2 Interaction Tasks

Information contained in sales call, expenses and calendar reports from salespersons is vital to sales managers' ability to both adapt their marketing strategies and manage salespeople. Mobile technologies can help sales persons in reporting such information any time and irrespective of their locations. Also, ubiquitous access to e-mails and corporate data by salespersons may enable them to make themselves readily available to interact with their accounts and address their problems and question, which would have a positive impact on their customer orientation. Indeed the customer requires, in today's highly competitive world, timely and accurate information, fast response to questions and the ability to work with salespersons that can provide these things (Engel et all, 2000). In addition mobile technologies would make it possible to salespersons, irrespective of

their locations, to seek support from both their colleagues and managers should they face an unexpected challenging sales problem.

3.1.3 Planning Tasks

Mobile technologies can enable salespersons to better manager their time and reorganize their contacts irrespective of their locations so that they can focus on the most profitable accounts and use their dead time more productively. This time generally occurs between tasks and between meetings, in which salespersons usually have little control over the resources available to them. For instance, pharmaceutical sales reps often visit doctors to provide them with information on what is available as order brochures on products in which the doctor is interested. Frequently the doctor is not available and the representative wants to find a nearby alternative contact. If there is no alternative contact to visit, then the time for waiting for the doctor to become available may turn to be dead time for the sales representative. With mobile technologies, the sales rep can turn this dead time into a productive one by performing non-selling tasks such as completing and sending expense reports to her company, preparing invoices or writing and sending thanks letters to customers. These reduce the time that sales reps have to spend in the office to perform routine tasks and thus allow them to spend more time selling. Indeed, despite the problems associated with laptop computer in terms of carrying behaviour, weight and booting time, Hewlett Packard found that salespeople using laptop computers spent 27 percent more time with customers, earned 10 percent more sales and achieved three times the productivity of sales reps who did not use laptops (Taylor, 1987). Using dead time more efficiently may occur in a variety of locations (i.e. trains, airports, airplanes, hotels rooms, office buildings, etc).

3.2 Fitting Salespersons' Task Requirements With Mobile Technologies characteristics

After reviewing mobile technologies characteristics in terms of devices, processing and network connectivity, the paper suggested a categorisation of salespersons tasks based on the areas that can be affected by mobile technologies, the paper derived three categories of salespersons tasks: information tasks, interaction tasks, planning tasks and mobile tasks. The paper now suggests that each of the above mentioned category of tasks has specific requirements in terms of mobile technologies characteristics, and that a fit between mobile technologies characteristics and the requirements of the tasks with respect to content, processing, device portability, device micro-mobility, retrieval and location based alerts can support the success of

salespersons 'mobile applications in terms of achieving the expected benefits. Figure one refers to a framework of mobile applications to support salespersons' tasks when they are operating within a mobile work environment.

The paper proposes that salespersons perform a variety of tasks with different purposes, which impose requirements that cannot fit the characteristics of a specific mobile device. For instance a laptop is able to receive a document anywhere that a network connection can be established with a computer back at the office. But once the document is received, the laptop cannot be spatially reoriented at the micro-level, for example during a face-to-face interaction in a way that a PDA or a smart phone can allow. Additionally a mobile phone can be appropriate for alerts and notification to support information tasks as well as simple interaction tasks (i.e. inventory checking, price inquiry or product inquires) but difficult to use it for interaction tasks involving a data processing or complex information analysis such as reports on customers' business or key accounts profitability.

In contrast the laptop, given its size and functionality can support salespersons in performing such tasks. However for alerts and notifications, laptop might not be an adequate medium given their size, weight and booting requirement.

The tasks also impose requirements in terms of the content. For instance information tasks require an adaptation of the content so that it can fit with other requirements such as device portability or micro-mobility and thus make the information relevant to the situation faced by the salesperson. Content about products, market or prospects' business should be adapted so that they can fit with the portability characteristics of mobile phones or PDAs and thus they can be used at the moment of relevance (i.e. during customer interaction).

Travel is a key component of salespersons' work. Studies have shown that before the trip, workers face unpredictability with respect to the nature of information and artefact that they need during a trip. (Perry et all. 2000). As a result, they plan ahead to take thinks that they just feel they would need. The purpose is to make sure that documents and information are available in the appropriate form when and where needed to support unanticipated information and communication need. In theory laptops can support this type of impromptu document access because they offer the potential flexibility to open unanticipated documents from hard disk or over network connections. However Perry et al. 2000 behaviour study of 17 mobile professionals from a variety of professions (management personnel, sales staff, consultant, medical workers, civil servant and media) revealed that while 70% of the participants they studied have access to a laptop, only about a half took them to the trip and those participants bringing their laptop do not necessarily take them to meeting. Furthermore according to such a study, the use of connected laptops to access information was hindered because laptops themselves were subject to planning (should they be taken or not). This was due to the laptop carrying behaviour (i.e. size, weight, risk of theft) conflicts with potential use in supporting unanticipated documents and communication needs.

3.3 Involving Salespersons in Applications' Design, Developments and Implementation

The paper suggests that the real benefits of developing mobile applications to support salespersons' tasks come from their use in actual selling and customer interaction. Therefore salespersons should be encouraged to use such application. This raises the need of the acceptance of such applications by salespersons. The paper proposes that involving salespersons in the design, development and implementations of such applications can insure good information of the applications' design, which in turn can have a positive impact on the quality of support the applications provide. Delone and Mclean (1992) model supports this proposition. DeLone and McLean believe that the information technology system' quality, together with the quality of information will lead to the utilisation of the information technology. This utilization then leads to an individual impact resulting in an organizational impact. They also point out that utilisation also interacts with user satisfaction. Additionally, involving actively salespersons in the different stages of applications development process might lead to new innovative ideas in terms of the use of the new technologies that salespersons can come up with based on their experience.



Figure 1: Fit between salespersons task requirements and mobile technologies capabilities as enabler of the success of mobile applications to support salespersons performance

CONCLUSION

The paper has proposed a framework for mobile applications to support salespersons tasks .The paper suggested a categorisation of salespersons tasks based on the areas that can be affected by mobile technologies. The paper then derived three categories of salespersons tasks: information tasks, interaction tasks and planning tasks. The paper also suggests that each of the above mentioned category of tasks has specific requirements in terms of mobile support and that a fit between mobile technologies characteristics and the requirements of the tasks in terms of content, processing, device portability, device micro-mobility, retrieval and location-based alerts can increase the success of salespersons 'mobile applications in terms of achieving the expected benefits. The paper also proposes that involving actively salespersons in the design, the development and implementation of the applications can increase the chances of developing high quality application; which in turn would affect positively their acceptance by salespersons and thus their use during sales situations.

It is worth mentioning that the use of mobile technologies may result in some consequences that salespersons may not welcome. Perhaps the most immediate drawback of extensive use of mobile technologies by salespersons is the problem of "information and interaction overload". In addition, some salespersons may perceive mobile applications and services as threat of their freedom in the field and thus may be reluctant to adopt them.As the acceptance of mobile applications and services by salespersons goes beyond the scope of this paper, future research is needed to both address acceptance issues associated with mobile applications and services and translate the rapid development of mobile technologies into innovative and value adding solutions for the sales force.

REFERENCES

Amabile, Teressa (1983). The social Psychology of Creativity: A componential conceptualisation ". Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 45 (August) 357-376.

Anderson R, (1995). Essential of personal selling: the new professionalism. Prentice Hall, NJ

BenMouss Chihab (2004)."Supporting salespersons through location based mobile applications and services". IFIP World computer congress,

Behrman D, Perreault W (1984). The role stress model of the performance and satisfaction of industrial salespersons. Journal of marketing. Vol.48 (Fall 1984), 9-12-

Boles, Johnston, Hair (1997). Role Stress, Work-Family Conflict and Emotional Exhaustion: inter-relationships and effects on some work-related situations. Journal of personal selling &sales management. Volume XVII, number 1 (winter 1997, Pages 17-28)

Churchil, G., Ford, N., Hartley, S., Walker, O. (1985), The Determinants of Salesperson Performance:

A Meta-Analysis, Journal of Marketing Research, 12, May, 130-118.

Davenport T, (1993). Process innovation: Reengineering work through information technology. Harvard business school press. Boston, USA.

Daft R and R.h Lengel (1986) "organizational Information Requirements, Media Richness, and structural design "Management Science 36 (6), 689-703

Drucker, P. Knowledge-worker productivity: The Biggest challenge", California Management Review 41 (Winter 1999): 79-94.

Dubinsky, Alane J., Roy D. Howell, Thomas N, Ingram, and Danny N.Bellenger (1986)"Salesforce Socialization" Journal of Marketing, 50 (October), 192-207

Durlacher Research Report, 2001. M-commerce Durlacher Research Institute (April, 2000) available at http://www.durlacher.com

Goodhue D, and Thompson R. (1995). "Task Technology Fit and Individual Performance". MIS Quarterly.

Girard, K (1998) "Stats not good for sales technology" Computer world 32, 14 (April 6), 29

Good D. J and R.J Schultz (1997) "Technological Teaming as a marketing strategy" Industrial marketing management 26, 5 (September) 413-412

J. L. Funk "Key Technological Trajectories and the Expansion of Mobile Internet Applications" proceeding of Stockholm mobility Roundtable 2003

Kakihara, M. and C. Sørensen (2003). Mobile Urban Professionals in Tokyo: Tales of Locational, Operational, and Interactional Mobility. In *Proceedings of the 2nd Stockholm Mobility Roundtable*. Stockholm, Sweden

Kotler, Philip (1994), Marketing Management: Analysis, Planning, Implementation and Control, 8 ed., Prentice Hall, NJ

Paul Luff, Christian Heath (1998), Mobility in collaboration. Proceedings of the 1998 ACM conference on Computer supported cooperative work

Paul Markovits (1988), "Direct selling is alive and well", sales and marketing management, August PP 76-79

Marshall, Greg W., Moncrief, William C. and Felicia G. Lassk (1999), The Current State of SalesForce Activities, Industrial Marketing Management, 28, 87-98.

Robert F.Vizza and T.E,. Chambers, (1971) Time and Territorial Management for the Salesman, The sales executive club of NewYork), p 97

Thayer Taylor, (1987) "Hewlett- Packard gives sales reps a competitive edge" Sales and marketing management, pp 36-37

Peterson, G,S (1997) High impact sales force automation. St Lucie press, Boca Raton Fl

Sichel, DE, (1997). The computer Revolution, Brookings Institute, New York, NY.

Sujan, H., Weitz, B., Kumar, N. (1994), Learning Orientation, Working Smart, and Effective Selling, Journal of Marketing, 58, July, 39-52.

Sujan, H., Weitz, B.A., and M. Sujan (1988), Increasing Sales Productivity by Getting Salespeople to Work Smarter, Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management, August, 9 19.

Sulek, J., Maruchek, A. (1992), A Study of the Impact of an Integrated Information Technology on the Time Utilization of Information Workers, Decision Sciences, 23, 1174-1191.

Tarasewich, P., R. C. Nickerson, and M. Warkentin (2002) "Issues in Mobile ECommerce", *Communication of the AIS* 8, pp. 41-64.

Taylor, TC (1993) "Getting in Step with computer age" Sales and marketing managemen, 145, 3 (March), 52-59.

Thetyi, O (2000) "Radical Makeovers: How three companies use strategic planning, Training, and Support to Implement Technology on a Grand Scale" Sales and Marketing Management 152, 4 8April) 78-88

Weitz, B., Sujan, H, Sujan, M. (1986), Knowledge, Motivation and Adaptive Behavior: A Framework for Improving Selling Effectiveness, Journal of Marketing, 50, 174-191. Skiba, Brian, Johnson, Mairi, Dillon, Michael (2000) "Moving in mobile media mode".Lehman Brothers, 2000, http:// www.entsoftware.com

Schafter S. (1997) "Supercharged sell"Inc technology supplement 19, 9 (June 14) 100-106

Varshney, U., and R. Vetter (2001) "A Framework for the Emerging Mobile Commerce Applications", Proceedings of the 34th Hawaii International Conference on System

Sciences.

Research Paper 6

BenMoussa, C. (2003): "The effects of mobile commerce on salespersons' performance", In Proceedings of the Second International Conference on Mobile business, Vienna, Austria, 23 th-24 th June, 2003.

EFFECTS OF MOBILE COMMERCE ON SALESPERSONS PERFORMANCE

Chihab BenMoussa

Turku Centre for Computer Science Lemminkäisenkatu 14 A FIN-20520 TURKU FINLAND cbenmous@abo.fi

Abstract

The paper proposes a conceptual model of the effect of mobile commerce on salespersons performance. To do so it draws from the personnel selling literature to identify variables that have been shown to be important determinants of salespersons performance. Then the paper relates such variables to mobile commerce properties in terms of information, location and interaction.

The paper begins with a rapid overview of mobile commerce's properties in terms of information, interaction and location. Then a section discussing the main determinants of salespersons performance follows. A third section is devoted to the elaboration of a set of propositions related to the effects of mobile commerce on salespersons performance. The fourth section discusses the research framework of a project that aimed at providing an empirical support to the propositions that the paper suggests.

1. INTRODUCTION

Some 50 years ago Peter Drucker coined the phrase "knowledge workers" and insisted on the need for managers in the post capitalist society to manage their knowledge workers for greater productivity. He even went to the extreme and considered that the survival of every business will depend on the performance of its knowledge workers. Later, perhaps in frustration, he claims that, when it comes to our understanding of knowledge-workers' productivity, "we are in the year 2000 roughly when we were in the year 1900 in terms of (understanding how to improve) the productivity of manual workers" (Drucker, 1999). Today, both academic and practitioner communities would agree on the importance of enhancing knowledge workers productivity for corporate competitiveness. In an attempt to boost their knowledge workers' productivity, organizations have invested heavily in information technology (IT). However, the expected benefits of such investments in terms of productivity do not seem to be realized. Productivity has been relatively stagnant (Sichel, 1997). One possible cause of this gap separating IT investments and their impact in terms of knowledge workers' productivity is that most IT support to knowledge workers have been designed with stationary work setting in mind. In order to benefit from IT support, workers often have to be in a specific place (typically the office), use a specific tool (their personnel computer) and adapt to how the knowledge is stored and organized. However, Knowledge workers spend a considerable portion of their time on the move. And during their extensive geographical movement, knowledge workers are often away from their desktop computers, which contain most of the information they need and impose rigid constraints on how and where they can be used.

Salespersons are typical examples of knowledge workers who are constantly on the move and yet rely on the access to information at the moment of relevance in order to accomplish their work. Indeed, the role of the professional selling has expanded and changed dramatically in recent years. Instead of merely selling products, today's sales persons are expected to serve customers as consultants who offer expert advice on improving customer's life style or making their business operations more profitable. They operate like micromarketing managers in the field (Anderson, 1995). Buyers are becoming increasingly skilful at obtaining value of their expenditures. Salespersons now usually deal with professional buyers or purchasing agents who base their buying decisions on the representative's delivery of quality and service and how the product will affect their company's profit. Such rapidly growing sophistication of professional buyers and their increasing access to information will continue to challenge sales persons to find new sources and faster methods of obtaining information despite their constant move. Mobile commerce (M-commerce) thanks to its unique attributes may bring the solution to salespersons.

The paper proposes a conceptual model of the effect of mobile commerce on salespersons performance. To do so it draws from the personnel selling literature to identify variables that have been shown to be important determinants of salespersons performance. Then the paper relates such variables to mobile commerce properties in terms of information, location and interaction. A third section is devoted to the elaboration of a set of propositions. The fourth section discusses the research framework of a project that aimed at providing an empirical support to the propositions that the paper suggests.

2. DIMENSIONS OF MOBILE COMMERCE IMPACT

There are many definitions of m-commerce with differing emphases. Keen and Mackintosh define Mcommerce as the extension of electronic commerce from wired to wireless computers and telecommunications, and from fixed locations to anytime, anywhere, and anyone. (May, 2001) argues that when something is mobile it means that its primary usage environment is a mobile one. On the other hand, mobility in itself and mobile technology is not necessarily a value; the freedom created and supported with the technology is the key issue. Durlacher defines M-commerce as "any transaction with a monetary value that is conducted via a mobile telecommunication network". The focus in this definition lies on the exchange of products and services that is associated with a monetary value. (Skiba, et al, 2000) take a slightly different approach and define M-commerce as the "use of mobile hand-held devices to communicate, inform, transact and using text and data via connection to public or private networks". They specifically list any kind of service that can be provided by the mobile device, thus expanding the mere commercial character through communicative and informative services. If we break down the above definitions into their activity components they may include (i) solutions for information sharing, networking, e-commerce in the Internet (ii) solutions for wireless connectivity anytime, anywhere, and (iii) solutions for personal, portable and localized information, which enables transactions (Carlsson 2000).

M-commerce comprises technologies designed both to improve business processes and also to open new business opportunities for salespersons and their enterprises. In particular, these stem from three dimensions of M-commerce, namely:

2.1Ubiquitous Access to Information

M-commerce puts the user in the centre of information and communication. Information comes to the user instead of the user looking for it. Users can have access anytime and anywhere to relevant information either from his/her home office or from external content providers. For a kind of professionals who particularly move extensively and rarely stay in one place for a long time such as salespersons, ubiquitous access to information is a key enabler of their effectiveness. Indeed, their extensive movement makes them away form the "benevolent dictator", their desktop computers, which contain most of the information they need and impose rigid constraints on how and where they can be used.

2.2Location:

The application of mobile technology allows an elimination of the spatial dimension of business processes. This is of particular importance for salespersons who work at various locations: in their own office, at clients' offices, at other members' offices, at work sites, on train, plane and car, in a

hotel room, and so on. Kristoffersen and Ljungberg (2000) describe three distinct modalities of mobile work. First, travelling is the process of going from one place to another in a vehicle such as by train, car and plane. This type of mobility seeks to capture the mobility of people in a vehicle. Second, visiting is spending time in one place for a certain period of time before moving on to another place, for example, spending in a hotel room or a construction site. Third, wandering is extensive local mobility in a building or local area. Salespersons ' everyday work practices exhibit all of these modalities of mobility. Such modalities of mobility impose rigid constraints on workers particularly in terms of both the uncertainty they experience with regard to information and resources they may need to solve the task at hand and the way long distance collaboration is conducted and coordinated. With M-commerce salespersons can overcome the challenges associated such modalities of mobility through the ability to remain 'on-line' regardless their location and receive actionable and useful information based on the awareness of their location.

2.3 Interaction

Asynchronous communications enabled by emails has made co-workers interactions with others more flexible. However, as (Kakihara and Sorensen, 2001) notice, asynchronous communication inevitably creates time lag. Until a receiver of an email actually goes to his computer and read the email, the communication does not come into effect in practice. Moreover, email communication requires a computer and software, which are mostly fixed to a certain location such as an office and home. M-commerce enhances interaction among distributed workers and others by enabling them to send and receive emails and have access to corporate resources regardless of their location. More interestingly, web-enabled mobile phone enables them to forward email on their mobile phone immediately after its reception no matter where they are, and, in urgent cases, reply from their mobile phone. Furthermore, access to corporate resources of locations would enable salespersons to take benefit form the knowledge of their colleagues at the moment of relevance.

3. DETERMINANTS OF SALESPERSONS PERFORMANCE

The determinants of salespersons performance have attracted a number of empirical researches in the personal selling literature. More than 100 studies have addressed this issue (Churchill at al. 1985). Such studies examined the determinants of salespersons performance from many angles ranging from the power of psychological factors to the impact of organizational/environmental elements, motivation, satisfaction and knowledge. The following list summarises the main variables that those researches have shown to be predictors of salespersons performance.

3.1 Sales Skills

Market and Technical Knowledge

Market knowledge pertains to sales rep's knowledge about the industry he/she serves and about the business in general. Sales reps deal more and more with professional buyers or purchasing agents who base their buying decisions on the representative's delivery of quality and services and on how the product will affect their companies' profits. Sales people who can demonstrate that they have studied the customer's business and understand the customer's problems will be able to build long-term relationship based on mutual trust, respect and professionalism (Anderson, 1995). Therefore successful reps regularly stay alert to trends in their customers' industries, read annual reports of their customers, their competitors and their own companies. They also study analysis of all these companies prepared by financial companies.

Technical knowledge reflects the development and use of technical expertise such as product applications, specifications and customer use situation (Behrman and Perreault. 1982).

The importance of information gathering skills and activities is well recognized in the personnel selling literature (e.g. Ingram and La Forge 1997; Moncrief, 1986). For instance, (Sujan et al.1988)

suggest that a salesperson's effectiveness and knowledge can be enhanced by providing them with market research information and encouraging them to unitise knowledge. In order to provide sales reps with market and technical knowledge, some companies invested in knowledge repositories and intranets. Alas, Most of such systems fail to mobilize the required knowledge to support salespersons in action. Sales reps are often on the move and thus away from their desktop computers that contain market and technical knowledge they may need.

Target Selling

Target selling is defined as a salesperson's ability to identify, select, and call on profitable customers (Kotler 1994). Often called the "80-20", the concentration principle says that most of salesperson's sales, costs and profits come from a relatively small proportion of customers and products. Avon sells its cosmetic products in over 50 countries, but only 8 countries account for 86 percent of the company's sales and 90% of its profits (Markovits, 1988). USV Pharmaceutical company increased its sales 250 percent over four years by eliminating sales calls on 330,000 small accounts in order to concentrate on 70,000 major ones (Vizza, Chambers, 1971). The importance of effective prospecting for a salesperson's success is well recognized in selling textbooks (e.g. Stanton and Spiro 1999).

Efficient Time Management

Successful salespeople understand that their success depends not only on their effectiveness but also their efficiency (Anderson 1995). That is why time management is recognized as one of prerequisite of salespersons' effectiveness. The most successful sales people learn how to avoid daily time traps so that they can get the most out of each working hour. Green (1987) stresses this issue in the statement "how a salesperson allocates his or her time across activities directly affects his or her performance and therefore impacts a firm's sales and profits." Henry (1975) maintains that three factors contribute to selling success: number of sales calls, quality of sales calls and allocation of sales efforts. The first and third of these factors contribute to time allocation, implying that greater allocation of effort will result in greater selling success (Weeks et al. 1990). Dead time is one example of time traps that hurts many salespersons efficiency. This time generally occurs between tasks and between meetings, in which sales persons usually have little control over the resources available to them. McGraw Hill's study of 239 salespeople across 198 different companies reveals that salespeople spend on the average about 25% of their time just waiting for interviews with clients and travelling.

3.2 Sales Behaviours

Adaptive Selling

Salespeople's adaptive selling behaviours are characterized by altering sales approach across and during customer contacts (Weitz et all, 1986; Sipro and Weitz 1990; Sujan 1986). Through the practice of adaptive selling, salespeople exploit the unique opportunities of personal selling. Salespeople have the possibility to implement a sales presentation that is tailored to that customer, as opposed to a canned presentation across all customers. In addition, they can sense customer reactions during call and make instant adjustments (Weitz et all. 1986). The personal selling literature proposes that adaptive selling can be improved by providing salespeople with the necessary market information and resources such that they can link insights from other sales situations to the customer contacts in which they are currently engaged (Weitz et al.1986). Ubiquitous access to information about customer's buying history, real time orders, latest events in the customer's business would enable the sales rep to exploit information her /she receives to adapt to each individual interaction (Marshall et all. 1999).

Customer Orientation

Customer orientation can be viewed as the practice of the marketing concept at the level of individual salesperson and customer. The marketing concept calls for an integrated, company wide approach in which all the firm's activities are directed toward providing customer satisfaction and establishing mutual beneficial relationship (Saxe and weitz, 1982). The American Management Association reports

that 65% of the average company sales come from its present, satisfied customers (Anderson, 1995). Furthermore it is as twice as expensive to win a new account, as it is to increase sales from an existing account. Access to relevant corporate data by sales persons may enable them to make themselves readily available to address customer problems and question. Reducing the time it takes to deal with a client concern or difficulty may have a positive impact on customer orientation. Indeed, customer orientation is a key enabler of buyer-seller relationship developments (Lawler, 1992).

3.3 Salespersons' Morale

Intrinsic rewards

Organizational psychologist have pointed out that there are two orientations with which people approach their work. In one, people find the work itself enjoyable. They like their jobs and think work is fun that is they find the content of their work intrinsically rewarding. Another orientation is to think of work as just something that must be done (Sujan et al, 1988). Sales managers, who concentrate on creating intrinsic rewards in selling among salespersons-through setting the job up to be fun and work rewarding in itself- are likely to be more successful at encouraging adaptive selling and improving the productivity of sales force (Amabil, 1983 Sujan et all, 1988,).

Salesperson may experience role stress when they receive incompatible sets of expectations or when they are uncertain what type of job behaviour to perform in a given work situation (Behrman and Perreault 1984). Because the sales rep is often in the field and isolated physically and psychologically from day to day interactions at the home office, there is reduced opportunity of communication between the rep and the manager, which aggravates ambiguity (Behrman et al, 1984).

Role stress may result in emotional exhaustion, a situation when individuals are facing seemingly overwhelming demands on their time and energy. Researchers suggest that one possible way to reduce the negative effects associated with work stress and emotional exhaustion involves providing a supportive work environment to workers (Boles J et all, 1997). Emotional exhaustion appears to be more prevalent in boundary spanning positions such as salespeople (Singh et al., 1994).

Work Family Balance

Conflict between work requirements and family concerns can be found across all work environment. However, the unique nature of selling with its time demand, psychological strain, work-related role stress and performance orientation can put unusual pressure on the salespersons (Dubinsky et al., 1986). According to (Boles et. 1997) reducing work family conflict may result in lowering sales persons perception of emotional exhaustion.

4. EFFECTS OF MOBILE COMMERCE ON SALESPERSONS PERFORMANCE

In an effort to uncover the added value mechanisms and the impact of information technology on productivity, several authors have proposed that studies should include intermediate benefits of information technology (Mooney, Gurbaxan &Kennneth, 1996). According to Huber's (1990) theory of the effects of advanced information technology, the benefits in individual and organizational effectiveness occur "indirectly " through the positive impact the technology has on information and communication processes. Mooney et all. (1996) assert that information technology may have automational or efficiency impact (e.g. doing things more quickly and cheaply), and informational and transformational outcomes (e.g. doing things more effectively). As depicted in Figure 1, the paper suggests that M-commerce properties in terms of ubiquitous access to information, location and interaction can affect salespersons performance through their impact on such mediator variables of salespersons 'performance as sales skills, sales behaviour and salespersons morale. Thus based on the review of the determinants of salespersons performance and the relevant properties of M-commerce in terms of information, location and interaction, the paper now discuss a set of three propositions towards a model of the impact of M-commerce on salespersons performance. The three propositions are as follows.

1. M-commerce properties in terms of information, location and interaction have a positive effect on salespersons performance through their impact on sales reps' sales skills,

2. M-commerce properties in terms of information, location and interaction have a positive effect on salespersons performance through their impact on sales reps' sales behaviour,

3. M-commerce properties in terms of information, location and interaction have a positive effect on salespersons performance through their impact on sales reps' morale.

After elaborating on the three propositions, the paper presents the research framework of a project that aims at providing a mobile support system to the salespersons of one of the Finnish food manufacturers).



Figure 1: Conceptual Model of the Effect of Mobile Commerce on Sales persons

4.1. Effects of M-commerce on salespersons' sales skills

M-commerce may make sales reps able to receive actionable and useful information on demand at the moment of relevance and regardless of their location and extensive movement. For instance, a sales rep can obtain the latest information about a customer either from his/her home office or an external content provider (i.e. Reuters) while en route to the customer. The sales rep can then integrate the information he/she receives to tailor the sales approach he /she has prepared for the sales call, overcome customer objections or adapt to opportunities that may arise during the sales call. Also, a sales rep can transmit real time customer data or key information about competitors moves to his/her home office, interact with his/her colleagues, irrespective of his/her location, about the possible reactions and adapt his/her call plan accordingly. For instance, Frito-Lay the PepsiCo's snack businesses company introduction of handheld computers to its route sales force enabled a fast and efficient coordination among field force, marketing managers and manufacturing. Marketing managers use the data flowing from the field to evaluate the results of promotions and decide on new product introductions more rapidly. Manufacturing uses the information to reduce overproduction and the incidence of stale products (Davenport, 1993).

With mobile commerce, sales reps can receive irrespective of their location information about client's orders, product's profitability, promotions and thus can adjust anytime their call schedule to adequately target those customers with the highest potential at the right time. Furthermore, key information about competition attacks pushed by corporate intelligence system to sales reps regardless of their location may enable them to react to competitor's moves at the right time and coordinate with people in the main office in order to protect their key accounts.

M-commerce can enable sales reps to use more efficiently their time through it impact on dead time. This time generally occurs between tasks and between meetings, in which workers usually have little control over the resources available to them. For instance, pharmaceutical sales reps often visit doctors to provide them with information on what is available as order brochures on products in which the doctor is interested. Frequently the doctor is not available and the representative wants to find a nearby alternative contact. If there is no alternative contact to visit, then the time for waiting for the doctor to become available may turn to be dead time for the sales representative. With m-commerce, the sales rep can turn this dead time into a productive one by performing non-selling tasks such as completing and sending expense reports to her company, preparing invoices or writing and sending thanks letters to customers. These reduce the time that sales reps have to spend in the office to perform routine tasks and thus allow them to spend more time selling. Indeed, despite the problems associated with laptop computer in terms of carrying behaviour, weight and booting time. Hewlett Packard found that salespeople using laptop computers spent 27 percent more time with customers, earned 10 percent more sales and achieved three times the productivity of sales reps who did not use laptops (Taylor, 1987). Using dead time more efficiently may occur in a variety of locations (i.e. trains, airports, airplanes, hotels rooms, office buildings, etc). Additionally, sales reps spend considerable portion of their time on the road. Awareness of their geographical position by the network can allow relevant alerts and support to be send to them which, may save the time they would spend on non-productive task caused by for instance by traffic jam, restaurant searching or waiting for the car to be repaired. Examples of alerts that may be pushed by the network are "there is a traffic jam two kilometres ahead, use the alternative highway", "there is a restaurant offering 10% discount in avenue X". I have a breakdown, in nowhere, send me a tow truck".

Ubiquitous access to information about customer's buying history, real time orders, latest events in the customer's business would enable the sales rep to exploit information her /she receives to adapt to each individual interaction (Marshall et all. 1999). The portability characteristic of mobile devices makes it possible for the sales rep to receive alerts and reflect them in the sales approach during the sales interaction. Indeed mobile devices support the notion of micro mobility, the mobility inherent in physical objects in that they may be moved about and be shared between people to support communication (Luff and Heath, 1998).

4.2. Effects of M-commerce on salespersons sales behaviour

Ubiquitous access to e-mails and corporate data by salespersons may enable them to make themselves readily available to address customer problems and question. Furthermore, access to corporate data regardless of locations may enable salesperson to check the availability of inventories, interact with colleagues about the delivery date and thus provide the customer with realistic promises. Keeping promises is indeed a main determinant of trust, which is in turn a major factor affecting long-term relationship. For instance a smart mobile application that can use the appointments on the salesperson's calendar and link it to the corporate Custom relationship management applications may have a positive impact of the salesperson's ability to deal with customer questions and adapt to difficult situations that may arise during the call. With such an application the salesperson can receive anytime and anywhere useful alerts about the sales call he/she planning to visit, ensuring that he can answer any question that may arise during the sales call.

4.3. Effects of M-commerce on salespersons morale

Mobile commerce can reduce role stress and emotional exhaustion among salespersons by enabling them to have access irrespective of their location to relevant information that they may need in order to solve a task at hand or deal with an unexpected selling situation. Furthermore ubiquitous interaction enabled by M- commerce would make it possible to salespersons, irrespective of their locations, to seek support from both their colleagues or managers should they face an unexpected challenging sales problem. M-commerce may help fostering intrinsic interest among salespersons through mobile entertainment and role stress reduction. Mobile entertainment may add fun to salespersons' work by enabling them to have access, irrespective of their location to on-demand games, songs and videos. Additionally, sales managers can use mobile games as training tools that can add fun to salespersons work. For instance best and most experienced salespeople in the company can contribute in developing the content of mobile games in such areas as role-playing or selling situations. Salespeople can then access anytime and anywhere (i.e. train, airport, hotel) such mobile games and thus turn a dead time to a productive one by benefiting from a training program while having fun.

M-commerce may help salespersons mitigate the impact of work-family conflict through its impact on time management especially with regard to using dead time to handle urgent family issues (i.e. mobile shopping, bill payments, mobile banking), better scheduling of their daily activities and ubiquitous access to relevant information that would allow them to engage in smart selling. Furthermore, the ability of salespersons, despite their extensive movement, to know anytime and anywhere the location of their teenagers would provide them with assurance about their ability to react in time to problems that their teenagers especially problematic ones may experience, which would enable them to concentrate more on their selling activities.

5. RESEARCH FRAMEWORK

5.1 Objectives

To assess the effects of M-commerce on salespersons performance and to identify the critical success factors for the development of a mobile support system to salespersons, we will conduct a research project at one of the Finnish food companies (FinFood). More specifically, the project aims at developing a mobile knowledge mobilisation system for the salespersons of such company. Broken down into its component parts, the objectives of the research process are therefore to:

- (i) Evaluate the current capabilities of FinFood company to support its sales persons for greater performance,
- (ii) Identify routines and solutions that such persons regard as bottlenecks,
- (iii) Develop data and information handling solutions that will improve the salespersons productivity,
- (iv) Develop and test a mobile support system for FinFood 's sales force.

5.2 Approach

After a brief orientation to acquaint study team members with the operations and system environment, the following activities will be undertaken.

- <u>Review of background information about FinFood</u> to include the salespersons workflow processes their output and their customers as well as salespersons' performance measures that the company uses. This preliminary information will be gathered form the company's studies and reports as well as interviews with managers,
- <u>Interview salespersons</u> to identify their weekly work program, examine how they carry out their activities and what they believe helps or hinders them in their work performance,
- <u>Perform an ethnographic study</u> to identify salespersons communicative and informational requirements,
- <u>Formulate design proposals</u> based on the empirical findings and the mobile technologies capabilities,
- Discuss the design proposals with salespersons in workshops,
- Develop a prototype based on one of the design proposals,
- Validate the prototype under real salespersons work conditions.

CONCLUSION

The paper has proposed a model of the effect of m-commerce on salespersons performance. The model suggests that m-commerce's properties in terms of information; location and interaction can have effects on salespersons' performance via their impact on such mediating variables as sales skills, sales behaviour and salespersons' morale. It is worth mentioning that m-commerce may result in some consequences that salespersons may not welcome. Perhaps the most immediate drawback of extensive use of mobile technologies by salespersons is the problem of "interaction overload". Anytime and anywhere connectivity may becomes everywhere/all-the-time connectivity; which may result in the danger of users becoming "too connected". In such a case a reengineering of salespersons' business process may be appropriate to mitigate such a drawback.

REFERENCES

Amabile, Teressa (1983). The social Psychology of Creativity: A componential conceptualization ". Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 45 (August) 357-376.

Anderson R, (1995). Essential of personal selling: the new professionalism. Prentice Hall, NJ

Behrman D, Perreault W (1984). The role stress model of the performance and satisfaction of industrial salespersons. Journal of marketing. Vol.48 (Fall 1984), 9-12-

Boles, Johnston, Hair (1997). Role Stress, Work-Family Conflict and Emotional Exhaustion: interrelationships and effects on some work-related situations. Journal of personal selling &sales management. Volume XVII, number 1 (winter 1997, Pages 17-28)

Carlsson C, (2000). Mobile commerce and value added services. The impact of Intelligent IT. Institute for Advanced Management System Research.

Davenport T, (1993). Process innovation: Reengineering work through information technology. Harvard business school press. Boston, USA.

Drucker, P. Knowledge-worker productivity: The Biggest challenge", California Management Review 41 (Winter 1999): 79-94.

Dubinsky, Alane J., Roy D. Howell, Thomas N, Ingram, and Danny N.Bellenger (1986)"Salesforce Socialization" Journal of Marketing, 50 (October), 192-207

Durlacher Research Report, 2001. M-commerce Durlacher Research Institute (April, 2000) available at http://www.durlacher.com

Kakihara M & Sørensen C. (2002). Mobility: An Extended Perspective. Proceedings of the Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences Big Island, Hawaii, January 7-10.

Kakihara & Sørensen. Post-Modern' Professional Work and Mobile Technology. The 25th Information Systems Research Seminar in Scandinavia. Copenhagen, Danemark.

Keen P.et al, 1991, (2001). The Freedom Economy, Osborne/ McGrew-Hill, USA.

Krestoffersen, s. and lijungberg, F. 1999. Making place to make IT work: Empirical explorations of HCI for Mobile CSCW. In GROUP'99: Proceedings of the International ACM SIGGROUP Conference on Supporting Group Work (Phoenix, AZ, Nov. 14–17), ACM Press, New York, NY, 276–285.

May, P, (2001). Mobile Commerce, Cambridge University Press.

Churchil, G., Ford, N., Hartley, S., Walker, O. (1985), The Determinants of Salesperson Performance: A Meta-Analysis, Journal of Marketing Research, 12, May, 130-118.

Huber, G. (1990), A Theory of the Effects of Advanced Information Technologies or Organizational Design, Intelligence, and Decision Making, Academy of Management Review, 15, 1, 47-71.

Paul Markovits (1988), "Direct selling is alive and well", sales and marketing management, August PP 76-79

Kotler, Philip (1994), Marketing Management: Analysis, Planning, Implementation and Control, 8 ed., Prentice Hall, NJ.

Marshall, Greg W., Moncrief, William C. and Felicia G. Lassk (1999), The Current State of Sales Force Activities, Industrial Marketing Management, 28, 87-98.

Robert F.Vizza and T.E,. Chambers, (1971) Time and Territorial Management for the Salesman, The sales executive club of NewYork), p 97

Thayer Taylor, (1987) "Hewlett- Packard gives sales reps a competitive edge" Sales and marketing management, pp 36-37

Mooney, John G., Gurbaxani, Vijay and Kenneth L. Kraemer (1996), A Process Oriented Framework for Assessing the Business Value of Information Technology, The DATA BASE for Advances in Information Systems, Spring, 27, 2, 68-81.

Sichel, DE, (1997). The computer Revolution, Brookings Institute, New York, NY.

Sujan, H., Weitz, B., Kumar, N. (1994), Learning Orientation, Working Smart, and Effective Selling, Journal of Marketing, 58, July, 39-52.
Sujan, H., Weitz, B.A., and M. Sujan (1988), Increasing Sales Productivity by Getting Salespeople to Work Smarter, Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management, August, 9 19.

Sulek, J., Maruchek, A. (1992), A Study of the Impact of an Integrated Information Technology on the Time Utilization of Information Workers, Decision Sciences, 23, 1174-1191.

Weitz, B., Sujan, H. Sujan, M. (1986), Knowledge, Motivation and Adaptive Behavior: A Framework for Improving Selling Effectiveness, Journal of Marketing, 50, 174-191.

Skiba, Brian, Johnson, Mairi, Dillon, Michael (2000) "Moving in mobile media mode".Lehman Brothers, 2000, http:// www.entsoftware.com

Weeks W, Kahle Lynn. Salespeople's time use and performance. Journal of personal selling &sales management. Vol X (February 1990), pp. 29-37.

Turku Centre for Computer Science TUCS Dissertations

- 36. Jouni Smed, Production Planning in Printed Circuit Board Assembly
- **37. Vesa Halava**, The Post Correspondence Problem for Marked Morphisms
- **38. Ion Petre**, Commutation Problems on Sets of Words and Formal Power Series
- **39.** Vladimir Kvassov, Information Technology and the Productivity of Managerial Work
- **40. Franck Tétard**, Managers, Fragmentation of Working Time, and Information Systems
- 41. Jan Manuch, Defect Theorems and Infinite Words
- 42. Kalle Ranto, Z₄-Goethals Codes, Decoding and Designs
- 43. Arto Lepistö, On Relations between Local and Global Periodicity
- 44. Mika Hirvensalo, Studies on Boolean Functions Related to Quantum Computing
- **45. Pentti Virtanen**, Measuring and Improving Component-Based Software Development
- **46.** Adekunle Okunoye, Knowledge Management and Global Diversity A Framework to Support Organisations in Developing Countries
- 47. Antonina Kloptchenko, Text Mining Based on the Prototype Matching Method
- 48. Juha Kivijärvi, Optimization Methods for Clustering
- 49. Rimvydas Rukšėnas, Formal Development of Concurrent Components
- 50. Dirk Nowotka, Periodicity and Unbordered Factors of Words
- **51. Attila Gyenesei**, Discovering Frequent Fuzzy Patterns in Relations of Quantitative Attributes
- 52. Petteri Kaitovaara, Packaging of IT Services Conceptual and Empirical Studies
- 53. Petri Rosendahl, Niho Type Cross-Correlation Functions and Related Equations
- 54. Péter Majlender, A Normative Approach to Possibility Theory and Soft Decision Support
- **55. Seppo Virtanen**, A Framework for Rapid Design and Evaluation of Protocol Processors
- 56. Tomas Eklund, The Self-Organizing Map in Financial Benchmarking
- **57. Mikael Collan**, Giga-Investments: Modelling the Valuation of Very Large Industrial Real Investments
- 58. Dag Björklund, A Kernel Language for Unified Code Synthesis
- **59. Shengnan Han**, Understanding User Adoption of Mobile Technology: Focusing on Physicians in Finland
- 60. Irina Georgescu, Rational Choice and Revealed Preference: A Fuzzy Approach
- 61. Ping Yan, Limit Cycles for Generalized Liénard-type and Lotka-Volterra Systems
- 62. Joonas Lehtinen, Coding of Wavelet-Transformed Images
- **63.** Tommi Meskanen, On the NTRU Cryptosystem
- 64. Saeed Salehi, Varieties of Tree Languages
- 65. Jukka Arvo, Efficient Algorithms for Hardware-Accelerated Shadow Computation
- **66. Mika Hirvikorpi**, On the Tactical Level Production Planning in Flexible Manufacturing Systems
- 67. Adrian Costea, Computational Intelligence Methods for Quantitative Data Mining
- 68. Cristina Seceleanu, A Methodology for Constructing Correct Reactive Systems
- 69. Luigia Petre, Modeling with Action Systems
- 70. Lu Yan, Systematic Design of Ubiquitous Systems
- 71. Mehran Gomari, On the Generalization Ability of Bayesian Neural Networks
- **72. Ville Harkke**, Knowledge Freedom for Medical Professionals An Evaluation Study of a Mobile Information System for Physicians in Finland
- 73. Marius Cosmin Codrea, Pattern Analysis of Chlorophyll Fluorescence Signals
- 74. Aiying Rong, Cogeneration Planning Under the Deregulated Power Market and Emissions Trading Scheme
- **75. Chihab BenMoussa**, Supporting the Sales Force through Mobile Information and Communication Technologies: Focusing on the Pharmaceutical Sales Force

Turku Centre *for* Computer Science

Joukahaisenkatu 3-5 B, 20520 Turku, Finland | www.tucs.fi



University of Turku

- Department of Information Technology
- Department of Mathematics



Åbo Akademi University

• Department of Information Technologies



Turku School of Economics

• Institute of Information Systems Sciences

ISBN 952-12-1746-4 ISSN 1239-1883